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NOTICE OF ANNUAL STOCKHOLDERS’ MEETING 
     June 29, 20074    June 29, 20 

Dear Stockholder: 
 
 Please be advised that CROWN EQUITIES, INC. (CEI) will hold its annual meeting 
(ASM) of stockholders VIRTUALLY1 on May 27, 2025 (Tuesday) at 2:00 p.m. 
 
 The agenda of the meeting shall be as follows: 
 

1. Call to Order 
2. Certification of Notice and Determination of Quorum 
3. Approval of the Minutes of the Previous Annual Stockholders’ Meeting held on 

May 28, 2024 
4. President’s Report 
5. Ratification of all acts of the Board, the Board Committees and Management 

during their term 
6. Election of Directors 
7. Appointment of the External Auditor for 2025-2026 
8. Other Matters 
9. Open Forum 
10. Adjournment 

 
Attached is the rationale for the above agenda items for reference. 

 
Stockholders of record as of April 11, 2025 are entitled to notice of, and may attend 

and/or participate in the ASM, or any adjournment thereof, via proxy and remote 
communication, and vote in absentia. 

 
Should you choose to participate in the ASM via remote communication and to cast 

your votes in absentia, please notify the Office of the Corporate Secretary at 
<asm_emails@crownequitiesinc.com> and submit the complete supporting documents no 
later than May 17, 2025. The detailed registration and voting procedures may be accessed at   
<https://www.crownequitiesinc.com/investor/>, and in the Guidelines for Participation via 
Remote Communication and Voting in Absentia (the “Guidelines”) appended to the 
Information Statement.  

 
In case you wish to appoint a proxy for the meeting, you may accomplish a proxy form 

(which need not be notarized) together with complete supporting documents indicated in the 
Guidelines and submit the same to the office of the Corporate Secretary at the 33rd Floor, The 
Orient Square, F. Ortigas Jr. Road, Ortigas Center, Pasig City via courier delivery or by email 
to <asm_emails@crownequitiesinc.com> on or before May 17, 2025.  

 
1 Through remote or electronic means of communication (Zoom). During the meeting, the presiding officer will 
be at the principal office of the CEI. 

CROWN EQUITIES 
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Proxies and supporting documents submitted shall be validated on May 19, 2025 at the 5th

Floor Crown Center, 158 Jupiter cor. N. Garcia Streets, Bel-Air, Makati City.

Stockholders who have successfully registered may cast their votes and will be provided
the link for the meeting. For complete information on the ASM, please visit
<https/trww.crownequitiesinc.cony'investoy'>.

Your attendance is eamestly requested.



 

 
 
 

Rationale for Agenda Items: 
 

 
Agenda Item No. 3: Approval of Minutes of the Annual Stockholders’ Meeting Held on May 
28, 2024 

 
The Minutes of the annual stockholders’ meeting held on May 28, 2024 were prepared within the 
period prescribed by pertinent laws, rules and regulations. The results of the annual stockholders’ 
meeting were also disclosed with The Philippine Stock Exchange, Inc. after the annual meeting. 
The Board of Directors recommends the shareholders to consider subject minutes for approval on 
May 27, 2025. 
 
Agenda Item No. 4: Approval of Annual Report for the Year 2024 

 
The Company’s 2024 performance results have been duly summarized in the Annual Report, 
which includes the Audited Financial Statements (AFS) of the Company for the year ended 2024. 
The AFS have been reviewed by the Audit Committee and the Board of Directors, and have been 
audited by the external auditors who expressed an unqualified opinion on the aforementioned 
financial statements. The Annual Report is posted in the Company’s website. 

 
Agenda Item No. 5:  General ratification of the acts of the Board of Directors, Board Committees 
and the Management from the date of the last annual stockholders’ meeting up to the date of 
this meeting 

 
The Company’s performance in 2024, as detailed in the Annual Report, is attributed to the strategic 
directions and key policies set by the Board of Directors which were effectively executed and 
complied with by management in conformance with good corporate governance and ethical best 
practices. 
 
Agenda Item No. 6: Election of Directors for 2025-2026 

 
The Company’s Nomination Committee has pre-screened the list of candidates for directors. Their 
proven competence, expertise and qualifications based on current regulatory standards, will help 
sustain the Company’s solid performance for the benefit of all its shareholders.  

 
Agenda Item No. 7: Appointment of External Auditor 

 
Based on the recommendation of the Audit Committee, the Board will appoint the Company’s 
external auditors for the fiscal year 2025. This is pursuant to the Securities and Exchange 
Commission’s rotation requirement of external auditor every five (5) years under SRC Rule 68 
(3)(b)(iv). The external auditor to be appointed is a leading auditing firm in the country and is duly 
accredited with the SEC.  
 
 
 
 



 

 

 
 

 

CROWN EQUITIES, INC. 

2025 ANNUAL STOCKHOLDERS’ MEETING 
May 27, 2025 

 

 

PROXY 
 

 

I/We, the undersigned stockholder/s of CROWN EQUITIES, INC. (CEI), appoint/s ____________________________ / 

the Chairman of the meeting as my/our attorney and proxy, with power of substitution, to represent and vote 

____________________________ shares registered in my/our name, at the Annual Meeting of the Stockholders of CEI on 

May 27, 2025, and at any of the adjournments thereof, for the purpose of acting on the following matters:    
 

 FOR AGAINST ABSTAIN 

    
I. Approval of the minutes of the previous 

Annual Stockholders’ Meeting held on May 28, 
2024 
  

   

II. President’s Report   
 

 

   

III. Ratification of all acts of the Board, the Board 
Committees and Management during their 
term  
 

   

IV. Election of Directors FOR AGAINST ABSTAIN 
 

  a) Vote equally all nominees or distribute 

or cumulate my shares to nominee/s 
listed below (in alphabetical order):  

 

 Clare D. Alvarez 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

________ 
   SHARES 

 

 

 

 

 

 ________ 
    SHARES 

 

 

 

 

 

 ________ 
    SHARES 

Emilio S. De Quiros, Jr.  

________ 
    SHARES 

 ________ 
    SHARES 

 ________ 
    SHARES 

Manuel Estanislao Dimaculangan 
 

 

________ 

    SHARES 

 ________ 
    SHARES 

 ________ 
    SHARES 

Christopher Brian C. Dy  

________ 
    SHARES 

 ________ 
    SHARES 

 ________ 
    SHARES 

Romuald U. Dy Tang  

________ 

    SHARES 

 ________ 
    SHARES 

 ________ 
    SHARES 

Rodolfo B. Fernandez  

________ 
    SHARES 

 ________ 
    SHARES 

 ________ 
    SHARES 

George L. Go  

________ 
    SHARES 

 ________ 

    SHARES 

 ________ 

    SHARES 

Patrick Warren D. Go  

________ 
 ________  ________ 

CROWN EQUITIES 
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    SHARES     SHARES     SHARES 
Nixon Y. Lim  

________ 

    SHARES 

 ________ 

    SHARES 

 ________ 

    SHARES 

Eugene B. Macalalag  

________ 
    SHARES 

 ________ 
    SHARES 

 ________ 
    SHARES 

Conrado G. Marty  

________ 

    SHARES 

 ________ 
    SHARES 

 ________ 
    SHARES 

Ramon A. Recto  

________ 
    SHARES 

 ________ 
    SHARES 

 ________ 
    SHARES 

Reynaldo V. Reyes  

________ 
    SHARES 

 ________ 

    SHARES 

 ________ 

    SHARES 

Melvin Andrew O. Vergara  

________ 
    SHARES 

 ________ 
    SHARES 

 ________ 
    SHARES 

Wilfrido V. Vergara  

________ 
    SHARES 

 ________ 

    SHARES 

 ________ 

    SHARES 

    

 b) Withhold authority to vote for all 

nominees listed above. 
 

   

 c) Withhold authority to vote for 

nominees listed:  
 

   

 

________________________      ________________________      ________________________ 

 

________________________      ________________________      ________________________ 
 

 

V. Appointment of External Auditor – R.G. 

Manabat & Co.  
 

  

 

 
THIS PROXY SHOULD BE RECEIVED BY THE OFFICE OF THE CORPORATE SECRETARY TOGETHER WITH OTHER 

DOCUMENTARY REQUIREMENTS ON OR BEFORE MAY 17, 2025, SATURDAY, THE DEADLINE OF SUBMISSION OF PROXIES. 

  
THIS PROXY IS NOT REQUIRED TO BE NOTARIZED, AND WHEN PROPERLY EXECUTED, WILL BE VOTED IN THE MANNER AND 

AS DIRECTED HEREIN BY THE STOCKHOLDER(S). IF NO DIRECTION IS MADE, THIS PROXY WILL BE VOTED ‘FOR’ THE ELECTION OF ALL 

NOMINEES AND FOR THE APPROVAL OF THE MATTERS STATED ABOVE, AND FOR SUCH OTHER MATTERS AS MAY PROPERLY COME 

BEFORE THE MEETING IN THE MANNER DESCRIBED IN THE INFORMATION STATEMENT AND/OR AS RECOMMENDED BY MANAGEMENT 

OR THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS. 

  
THIS PROXY SHALL CONTINUE UNTIL SUCH TIME THAT THE SAME IS WITHDRAWN BY ME/US THROUGH NOTICE IN WRITING 

DELIVERED TO THE OFFICE OF THE CORPORATE SECRETARY BEFORE THE DATE OF ANY SUCH MEETING OR ADJOURNMENT(S) THEREOF.  

 

AS APPLICABLE, I/WE HEREBY CONSENT TO THE PROCESSING OF MY/OUR PERSONAL INFORMATION FOR PURPOSES OF THE 

CEI ANNUAL STOCKHOLDERS’ MEETING.  
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I/we have hereunto affixed my/our signature this __________________, at ________________. 

 

 
 

 

Printed Name of Stockholders                                        DATE    

 

 

 

 

 

Signatures of Stockholder(s) / Authorized Signatory 
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SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION 

 

SEC FORM 20-IS 

 

INFORMATION STATEMENT PURSUANT TO SECTION 20 

OF THE SECURITIES REGULATION CODE 

 

1. Check the appropriate box: 

 

[     ] Preliminary Information Statement 

 

[ X ] Definitive Information Statement 

 

2. Name of Registrant as specified in its charter:   CROWN EQUITIES, INC. 

 

3. PHILIPPINES 

 Province, country or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization 

 

4. SEC Identification Number:     39745  

 

5. BIR Tax Identification Code:    002-837-461 

 

6. Crown Center, 158 N. Garcia corner Jupiter Street, Bel Air, Makati City             1209         

 Address of principal office                            Postal Code 

 

7. Registrant’s telephone number, including area code: (632) 8899-0081, (632) 8899-0455 

 

8. Date, time and place of the meeting of security holders 

 

  May 27, 2025 (Tuesday) at 2:00 PM 

The meeting will be conducted virtually and participation for stockholders will be via 

remote communication (Zoom). During the meeting, the presiding officer will be at the 

principal office of the Corporation. 

 

9. Approximate date on which the Information Statement is first to be sent or given to security holders  

   

  May 6, 2025  

 

10. In case of Proxy Solicitations:  (N/A) 

 

 Name of Person Filing the Statement/Solicitor: ______________________________________ 

 

 Address and Telephone No.: _____________________________________________________ 

 

11. Securities registered pursuant to Sections 8 and 12 of the Code or Sections 4 and 8 of the RSA 

(information on number of shares and amount of debt is applicable only to corporate registrants): 

 

 Title of Each Class              Number of Shares of Common Stock 

                   Outstanding or Amount of Debt Outstanding 

         

 Common Shares            14,959,999,950 (as of April 30, 2025) 

 

12. Are any or all of registrant's securities listed in a Stock Exchange? 

 

 Yes    X      No _______ 

 

 If yes, disclose the name of such Stock Exchange and the class of securities listed therein:  

                                

 Philippine Stock Exchange / Common Shares         
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INFORMATION REQUIRED IN INFORMATION SHEET 

 

 

 

 

1. Date, Time, and Place of Meeting of Security Holders 

 

(a) Date, time and place of meeting of security holders 

 

May 27, 2025 (Tuesday) at 2:00 PM 

The meeting will be conducted virtually and  participation for stockholders will 

be via remote communication. During the meeting, the presiding officer will be at 

the principal office of the Corporation. 

 

Complete mailing address of the principal office of the registrant 

 

Crown Center 

N. Garcia St. Cor. Jupiter St. 

Bel-air, Makati City, 1209 

 

(b) Approximate date on which the Information Statement is first to be sent or given to security 

holders: 

 

May 6, 2025 

 

2. Dissenter’s Right for Appraisal 

 

When a proposed corporate action would involve a substantial and fundamental change in the 

Corporation in the cases provided by law, a stockholder may exercise his appraisal rights. Pursuant to 

Section 80 of the Revised Corporation Code of the Philippines, a stockholder has a right to dissent and 

demand payment of the fair value of his share: (i) in case any amendment to the articles of  incorporation  

has  the  effect  of  changing  or  restricting  the  rights  of  any  stockholders or class of shares or 

authorizing preferences over the outstanding shares or extending or  shortening the term of corporate 

existence; (ii) in case of any sale, lease, mortgage or disposition of all or substantially all of the corporate 

property or assets; (iii) in case of merger or consolidation; and (iv) in case of investment of corporate 

funds for any purpose other than the primary purpose of the corporation. 

 

The procedure for the exercise of a stockholder’s appraisal right as provided in Section 81 of the Revised 

Corporation Code is as follows: 

 

(1) A stockholder shall have dissented to such corporate action;  

 

(2) Within thirty (30) days after the date on which the vote was taken, the dissenting stockholder 

shall make a written demand on the Corporation for payment of the fair value of his shares.   

 

  Failure to make the demand within such period shall be deemed a waiver of the appraisal 

right.  

 

(3) Within ten (10) days after demanding payment for his shares, the dissenting stockholder shall 

submit to the Corporation the certificate(s) of stock representing his shares for notation 

thereon that such shares are dissenting shares. His failure to do so shall, at the option of the 

Corporation, terminate his appraisal rights.  

 

(4) No demand for payment as aforesaid may be withdrawn by the dissenting stockholder unless 

the Corporation consents thereto.  

 

WE ARE NOT ASKING YOU FOR A PROXY 

AND YOU ARE NOT REQUESTED TO SEND US A PROXY 
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(5) If the corporate action is implemented or effected, the Corporation shall pay to such dissenting 

stockholder, upon surrender of the certificate(s) of stock representing his shares, the fair value 

thereof as of the day prior to the date on which the vote was taken, excluding any appreciation 

or depreciation in anticipation of a merger if such be the corporate action involved. 

 

(6) If within a period of sixty (60) days from the date the corporate action was approved by the 

stockholders, the dissenting stockholder and the Corporation cannot agree on the fair value of 

the shares, it shall appraised and determined by three (3) disinterested persons, one of whom 

shall be named by the stockholder, another by the Corporation, and the third by the two (2) 

thus chosen.  

 

(7) The findings of a majority of the appraisers shall be final, and their award shall be paid by the 

Corporation within thirty (30) days after such award is made.  No payment shall be made to 

any dissenting stockholder unless the Corporation has unrestricted retained earnings in its 

books to cover such payment.   

 

(8) Upon payment of the agreed or awarded price, the stockholder shall forthwith transfer his 

shares to the Corporation. 
 

There are no matters to be presented to the stockholders for approval which may give rise to the exercise 

of a dissenter’s right of appraisal. 

 

3. Interest of Certain Persons in or Opposition to Matters to be Acted upon 

 

No directors or officers, nominees for election as directors, and associates of any of the aforementioned 

persons of the Corporation have any substantial interest in any matter to be acted upon other than the 

election to office. In addition, no director has informed the Corporation in writing that he intends to 

oppose any action to be taken by the Corporation at the meeting. 

 

4. Voting Securities and Principal Holders Thereof 

 

There is only one class of capital stock issued and outstanding – common shares. 

 

(a.) The number of shares outstanding and entitled to vote in the stockholders’ meeting is 

14,959,999,950 shares as of April 30, 2025. 

 

(b.) The record date for purposes of determining stockholders entitled to vote in the meeting is April 

11, 2025. A stockholder is entitled to cumulative voting in the election of directors (by which he 

can cumulate his shares and give one candidate as many votes as the number of directors to be 

elected multiplied by the number of his shares shall equal) or he may distribute them on the same 

principle among as many candidates as he shall see fit; provided that the total number of votes cast 

by him shall not exceed the number of shares owned by him as shown in the books of the corporation 

multiplied by the whole number of directors to be elected. There are no conditions precedents for 

the exercise of the cumulative voting rights in the election of directors. 

 

(c.) Each shareholder holding Common Shares as of April 11, 2025 is entitled to as many votes as there 

are directors to be elected. Thus, if there are fifteen (15) directors to be elected, each Common Share 

is entitled to fifteen (15) votes. Such shareholder may cumulate and cast all his votes in favor of 

one candidate or distribute them among as many candidates as he shall see fit, provided that the 

total number of votes cast by him does not exceed the number of shares owned by him multiplied 

by the number of directors to be elected.  
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(d.) As of April 30, 2025, the number of common shares owned and held by non-Philippine nationals 

is 121,761,900 shares, representing approximately 0.81% of the total issued and outstanding shares 

of the Corporation.  

 

(e.) Security Ownership of Certain Record and Beneficial Owners and Management of the Corporation. 

 

Security Ownership of Certain Record and Beneficial Owners 

 

The persons known to the Corporation to be directly or indirectly the record or beneficial owner of more 

than five (5%) of the Corporation’s voting securities as of April 30, 2025 are as follows: 

 

(1) 

Title of 

Class 

(2) 

Name, address of record 

owner and relationship with 

Issuer 

(3) 

Name of beneficial 

owner and 

relationship with 

record owner 

(4) 

Citizenship 

(5) 

No. Of Shares 

held 

(6) 

Percent of 

Ownership 

Common 

Shares 

PCD Nominee Corp.1 

37/F Tower 1 Enterprise 

Center Ayala Ave. corner 

Paseo de Roxas, Makati City 

Stockholder 

 

Various shareholders 

 

 

 

 

Filipino 

 

 

 

 

13,985,944,479 93.49% 

 

 

As of April 30, 2025, the following are known to the Corporation as the PCD participants holding 5% 

or more of the Corporation’s voting securities:  

 

Name Address No. of Shares Percent of 

Shareholdings 

Guild Securities, Inc. 

Clare D. Alvarez 

President 

 

Unit 1215 Tower One & Exchange 

Plaza, Ayala Avenue, Makati City 

9,272,937,110 66.30% 

Marian Securities, Inc. 

Richard L. Lee 

President 

Unit 1710-1711, 17th Floor, 

Philippine Stock Exchange Tower, 

5th Avenue cor. 28th Street 

Bonifacio Global City, Taguig City 

 

1,074,772,600 7.68% 

 TOTAL 10,757,050,710 73.98% 

 

To the best knowledge of the Corporation, no security holder has created a voting trust for the purpose 

of conferring upon a trustee the right to vote pertaining to shares of stock of the Corporation. 

 
1 PCD Nominee Corp. (PCD), a wholly owned subsidiary of Philippine Central Depository, Inc., is the registered owner of 

shares in the books of the Corporation’s transfer agents in the Philippines.  The beneficial owners of such shares are PCD’s 

participants, who hold the shares on their behalf or in behalf of their clients.  
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Security Ownership of Management 

 

Security Ownership of Management and Directors as of April 30, 2025 is as follows: 
 

 d       – these are directly owned by the aforementioned director or officer 
db1   – 132,950,000 of these are registered in one of the PCD member companies but beneficially owned by the director while 623,992,500 

are indirectly beneficially owned by the director through Mrs. Rosie D. Go.  
db2 – 181,412,000 of these are registered in one of the PCD member companies but beneficially owned by the director 
db3 – 22,536,000 of these are registered in one of the PCD member companies but beneficially owned by the director 
db4 – 10,000,000 of these are registered in one of the PCD member companies but beneficially owned by the director 
db5 – 500,000 of these are registered in one of the PCD member companies but beneficially owned by the director 
db6 – 86,970,000 of these are registered in one of the PCD member companies but beneficially owned by the director 
db7 – 18,740,000 of these are registered in one of the PCD member companies but beneficially owned by the director 
db8 – 77,700,000 of these are registered in one of the PCD member companies but beneficially owned by the director 

  

There are no arrangements that may result in a change in control of the Corporation, nor has there been 

any change in control since the beginning of the last fiscal year. 

 

5. Directors and Executive Officers 

 

The general management of the Corporation is vested in a board of competent directors, committees 

and officers, elected in accordance with the Corporation’s By-Laws, as amended to date, and its Manual 

on Corporate Governance (“the Manual”). As required under its Manual, the Corporation has 

independent members of the Board of Directors. An independent director means a person who, apart 

from his fees and shareholdings, is independent of management and free from any business or other 

relationship which could, or could reasonably be perceived to materially interfere with his exercise of 

independent judgment in carrying out his responsibilities. 

 

  

Title of Class Names of Beneficial Owner 

Amount and Nature 
of Beneficial 
Ownership Citizenship 

Percent of 
Ownership 

  
A. Directors 

   

Common Shares 
Common Shares 
Common Shares 
Common Shares 
Common Shares 
Common Shares 
Common Shares 
Common Shares 
Common Shares 
Common Shares 
Common Shares 
Common Shares 
Common Shares 
 

George L. Go 
Clare D. Alvarez 
Nixon Y. Lim 
Patrick D. Go 
Wilfrido V. Vergara 
Ramon A. Recto 
Christopher Brian C. Dy 
Reynaldo V. Reyes 
Manuel E. Dimaculangan 
Conrado G. Marty 
Melvin O. Vergara 
Emilio S. De Quiros, Jr. 
Rodolfo B. Fernandez 
 

              774,638,380 db1 
              663,539,302 db2              
             431,948,000   d 

1,107,859,260 db3 
24,833,600 db4 
11,968,000 db5 
8,582,000    d 

        550,000 db6                 
500,000 db7  
88,008    d 
11,000    d 

                   11,000    d 
                       10,088    d 

 

Filipino 
Filipino 
Filipino     
Filipino  
Filipino 
Filipino 
Filipino 
Filipino 
Filipino 
Filipino 
Filipino 
Filipino 
Filipino 

 

5.178% 
4.435% 
2.887% 
7.405%               
0.166% 
0.080%           
0.057%   
0.004% 

       0.003%     
  0.001% 

nil 
 nil 

   nil 
 

 B. Executive Officers    

Common Shares 
Common Shares  
 

Romuald Dy Tang  
Eugene B. Macalalag  

87,992,000 db8 

20,000,088   d                    

               

Filipino 
Filipino 

 

0.588% 
0.133% 

 All Directors and Officers as a 
Group 

 

        3,132,530,726  20.94% 
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(a) Below is a list of incumbent directors and executive officers of the Corporation and their respective 

business experiences for the past five (5) years: 

 

Mr. George L. Go, 83 years old, Filipino, is presently the Chairman of the Board of 

Directors of the Corporation. He has been a Director of the Corporation since 1995. He is 

also the Chairman of the Nominations Committee and a Member of the Executive 

Committee, Investment Committee and the Compensation and Remuneration Committee. 

Mr. Go is also the Chairman of the Board of Healthcare Systems of Asia Philippines, Inc., 

Fortmed Medical Clinics Makati, Inc. Mr. Go earned his bachelor’s degree in Economics 

from Youngstown University, U.S.A and completed an Advanced Management Program 

in Harvard Business School, U.S.A. 

 

Mr. Wilfrido V. Vergara, 80 years old, Filipino, has been the Vice Chairman of the Board 

of Directors of the Corporation since May 2002. He is the Chairman of the Executive 

Committee, the Investment Committee and the Compensation and Remunerations 

Committee. Mr. W.V. Vergara is the Chairman of the Board of Directors of Argent Capital 

Holdings Corporation and also the Vice Chairman of Fortmed Medical Clinics Makati, Inc. 

and Healthcare Systems Asia Philippines, Inc. He is also a Director of Parkfield Land 

Holdings, Inc. Mr. Vergara obtained his Bachelor’s Degree in Economics from the Ateneo 

de Manila University. 

 

Mr. Romuald U. Dy Tang, 73 years old, Filipino, has been a member of the Board of 

Directors of the Corporation since 2008 and was elected President of the Corporation in 

May 2010. Mr. Dy Tang is also a Member of the Executive Committee, Nominations 

Committee, the Compensation and Remuneration Committee and Investment Committee. 

He is likewise a Director and President of Argent Capital Holdings, Inc. and a member of 

the Board of Directors of Healthcare Systems of Asia Philippines, FortMED Medical 

Clinics Makati, Inc. and Parkfield Landholdings, Inc. Mr. Dy Tang earned his Bachelor of 

Science in Business Administration from De La Salle University, Manila. 

 

Mr. Patrick D. Go, 57 years old, Filipino, has been a Director of the Corporation since 

1995. He is the Treasurer and the Compliance Officer of the Corporation.  He also serves 

as the Treasurer of Healthcare Systems of Asia Philippines, Inc., Fortmed Medical Clinics 

Makati, Inc. He is a director and the Treasurer of Argent Capital Holdings CorpPrior to 

that, he was Vice President at Banco De Oro. Mr. Go is a graduated from San Francisco 

State University, U.S.A in 1992 earning a Bachelor of Science degree in both Finance and 

Real Estate. He is the son of Mr. George L. Go. 

 

Mr. Eugene B. Macalalag, 57 years old, Filipino, has been a member of the Board of 

Directors of the Corporation since May 2003. He is the First Vice President of the 

Corporation. Mr. Macalalag is also the President and Director of Healthcare Systems of 

Asia Philippines, Inc. and FortMED Medical Clinics Makati, Inc. He is also the President 

of Crown Central Properties Corp. and Parkfield Landholdings, Inc.  and a director of 

Argent Capital Holdings Corporation. He joined Crown Equities, Inc., in April 1996. Mr. 

Macalalag graduated Magna cum Laude from the Divine Word University of Tacloban and 

holds a Bachelor of Science degree in Commerce – Accounting. He earned his Masters 

degree in Business Administration from the De La Salle University, Manila. 

 

Mr. Ramon A. Recto 92 years old, Filipino, has been an Independent Director of the 

Corporation since May 2002. He is a Member of the Audit Committee and the Nominations 

Committee. Mr. Recto was the President of Marcventures Holdings, Inc. and Lepanto 

Consolidated Mining Corporation. Mr. Recto obtained both of his Bachelor’s Degrees in 

Electrical Engineering and in Mechanical Engineering from the University of the 

Philippines. He also earned his Master’s Degree in Industrial Management from the same 

University. 
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Mr. Conrado G. Marty 79 years old, Filipino, has been a member of the Board of Directors 

of the Corporation since 2006. Mr. Marty is also a member of the Audit Committee of the 

Corporation. He is the Chairman of Universal LMS Finance and Leasing Corporation and 

is also the Vice Chairman of Hariphil Asia Resources Inc. Mr. Marty holds a Bachelor in 

Business Administration Major in Accounting from University of the East and is a Certified 

Public Accountant. He obtained his Master in Business Administration major in Finance 

from the Wharton School, University of Pennsylvania.  

 

Mr. Manuel E. Dimaculangan, 58 years old, Filipino, serve as an independent director of 

the corporation since 2022. He is the President and CEO of Pacific World Security. He is 

also an independent Director of Coyiuto Securities. 
 

Mr. Melvin O. Vergara, 53 years old, Filipino, has been a member of the Board of 

Directors since May 2011. He is also currently a Director of Healthcare Systems of Asia 

Philippines, Inc. and FortMED Clinics Makati. He was a Consultant of the same company 

from 2000 to 2002. He earned his Degree in Business Administration from the University 

of Sto. Tomas. He is the son of Wilfrido V. Vergara. 

 

Mr. Christopher Brian C. Dy, 40 years old, Filipino, is the Assistant Vice President of the 

Corporation. Mr. Dy has been a member of the Board of Directors of the Corporation since 

May 2011. He is also the Vice President of Crown Central Properties Corporation. He also 

served as the purchasing officer of Fortmed Medical Clinics in 2010. He earned his Bachelor 

of Science in Management, Major in Management Communications Technology from the 

Ateneo de Manila University. He is the son of Mr. Romuald U. Dy Tang. 

 

Mr. Nixon Y. Lim, 54 years old, is a seasoned business leader with extensive experience 

in the manufacturing and packaging industries. He is an accomplished professional with 

wide experience in the business world, operations management, and corporate governance. 

He holds a Bachelor of Science in Physics from De La Salle University, Manila, which he 

completed in 1991. His leadership roles are impressive; he serves as the Chairman, 

President, and CEO of Steniel Manufacturing Corporation, and the President of several 

affiliated companies   Greenstone Packaging Corporation, Lamitek Systems, Inc., 

Greenkraft Corporation, and GreenSiam Resources Corp. including SMC Subsidiaries 

Steniel Cavite Packaging Corporation and Steniel Mindanso Packaging  Corporation. His 

diverse portfolio of companies reflects his entrepreneurial spirit and expertise in driving 

business growth across various sectors.  
 

Atty. Rodolfo B. Fernandez, 68 years old, Filipino, is an independent director of the 

Corporation. He is also the Chairman of the Corporate Governance Committee and member 

of the Audit Committee and Board Risk Oversight Committee. Atty. Fernandez is currently 

an independent director of Medco Holdings, Inc. and sits in the board of Reference Group 

Financial Services, Inc. He is also a director and corporate secretary of The Organization 

of Property Stakeholders. He was formerly Chief Compliance and AMLA Officer of BPI 

Family Savings Bank, Head of Compliance and Legal of BPI Asset Management and Trust 

Group (AMTG) and BPI Mutual Fund Companies, Head of the BPI Account Management 

4, Chief Legal Counsel of Far East Bank and Trust Co., and Head of Legal and Product 

Development of FEBTC – Trust Department. An expert and lecturer on estate planning, he 

obtained his Bachelor of Laws from the UP College of Law and his AB Political Science 

from the University of Santo Tomas. 

 

Mr. Reynaldo V. Reyes, 82 years old, is an independent director of both the Corporation 

and Argent Capital Holdings, Inc. He is also a Member of the Corporate Governance 

Committee, Related Party Transaction Committee, and Investments Committee. Mr. Reyes 

spent his most productive years as a military serviceman from age 17 to compulsory 

retirement at age 56. He served as a PAF line pilot, Squadron Commander, Wing 

Commander and went on to become Air Division Commander stationed in Zamboanga, 



 

8 

 

Mindanao after which he was placed in command of the Western Command (WESCOM) 

in charge of Palawan and the West Philippine Sea. He had modest exposure in business 

management while detailed at the Defense Department as head of the Defense Management 

Division and Deputy Assistant Secretary for Comptrollership. There he served in 

concurrent capacity as Senior Vice President of the AFP pension fund performing a wide 

range of functions from lending, treasury management and managing property holdings of 

the fund. He was a member of the Philippine Stock Exchange from 1999 to 2006, being 

then the Chairman and President of stock brokerage firm Public Securities Corporation. He 

was at the same time President and CEO of an investment house, Resources and 

Investments Corporate House Inc. (RICH). He served as Director of the Securities Clearing 

Corporation (SCCP), and also as member of the PSE Listing Committee. Mr. Reyes 

graduated from the Philippine Military Academy in 1964 with a Bachelor’s Degree. His 

in-service career training included courses in Resource Management at the US Naval Post 

Graduate School in Monterey, USA; Industrial College of the US Armed Forces; 

Command and Staff Course at the Air University, Montgomery, Alabama, USA and 

ADMU MBA off-campus course. 

 

Mr. Emilio S. de Quiros, Jr., 76 years old, is an Independent Director of the Corporation. 

He is also a Member of the Compensation and Remuneration Committee, Board Risk 

Oversight Committee, Related Party Transaction Committee, and Investments Committee. 

Mr. De Quiros is also an independent director of Atlas Consolidated Mining and 

Development Corporation, an independent director of Sunlife Investment Management & 

Trust Corporation and an Independent Director of Capital Markets Integrity Corporation. 

He was previously the President and Chief Executive Officer of the Social Security System 

(SSS) and also served as a Director of Belle Corporation, UnionBank of the Philippines, 

Philex Mining Corporation and Philhealth Insurance Corporation. Prior to his appointment 

as President of SSS, he served as Executive Vice President of Bank of the Philippine 

Islands and President of Ayala Life Insurance Inc., Ayala Plans Inc. and a director of BPI 

Bancassurance, Inc. Mr. De Quiros graduated from Ateneo de Naga with a Bachelor of 

Arts in Economics degree (Cum Laude), and holds a Master of Arts in Economics degree 

from University of the Philippines. 

 

Ms. Clare D. Alvarez, has been a member of the Board of Directors of the Corporation 

since 2022. She is the President, CEO and Nominee of Guild Securities, Inc. Ms. Alvarez 

is also the Co-Founder of Universe 8 Holdings Inc - a holding company with interests in 

food and beverage, pharmaceutical retail, distribution and entertainment. She graduated 

from the Asian Institute of Management with honors.  

 

Mr. Billy John E. Sia, 41 years old, Filipino, currently serves as the Vice President of the 

Corporation.  He is also a director of Crown Central Properties Corp.  He has a combined 

17 years of experience in controllership, audit and information technology in industries 

such as banking, real estate and manufacturing.  Mr. Sia graduated from De La Salle 

University, Manila in 2005 earning a Bachelor of Science degree in Accountancy and a 

Bachelor of Arts degree in Political Science.  He placed 19th in the May 2006 CPA 

licensure examination. 

 

Attendance in Board Meetings 

 

Below is the attendance of the Directors for the meetings held as of December 2024: 

 

 No. of Meetings 

Attended 

Total No. of 

Meetings 
Percentage 

George L. Go 5 5 100% 

Wilfrido V. Vergara 5 5 100% 

Romuald Dy Tang 5 5 100% 
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Clare D. Alvarez 5 5 100% 

Christopher Brian C. Dy 5 5 100% 

Patrick D. Go 5 5 100% 

Nixon Y. Lim 5 5 100% 

Eugene B. Macalalag 5 5 100% 

Conrado G. Marty 5 5 100% 

Ramon A. Recto 5 5 100% 

Melvin O. Vergara 5 5 100% 

Emilio S. De Quiros, Jr. 5 5 100% 

Manuel E. Dimaculangan 5 5 100% 

Rodolfo B. Fernandez 5 5 100% 

Reynaldo V. Reyes 5 5 100% 

 

 

Directorships in other reporting companies: 

 

Within the last five (5) years, the following directors are also directors of other reporting 

companies as listed below: 

 

Mr. Emilio S. De Quiros, Jr., Lead independent director of Atlas Consolidated Mining & 

Development Corporation. 

 

Mr. Nixon Y. Lim, Chairman, President and CEO of Steniel Manufacturing Corporation. 

 

Atty. Rodolfo B. Fernandez, independent director of Medco Holdings, Inc. 

 

(a) Significant Employees 

 

The Corporation has no employee who is not an executive officer but is expected to make a significant 

contribution to the business. 

 

(b) Family Relationships 

 

Mr. Patrick Warren D. Go, Compliance Officer and member of the Board of Directors, is the son of 

Mr. George L. Go, Chairman of the Board of Directors. Mr. Melvin O. Vergara is the son of Mr. 

Wilfrido V. Vergara, Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors while Mr. Christopher Brian C. Dy is 

the son of Mr. Romuald U. Dy Tang, President. Aside from the foregoing, no other directors or 

executive officer are related up to the fourth civil degree either by consanguinity or affinity. 

 

The Corporation has no controlling or parent company. 

 

(c) Involvement in Certain Legal Proceedings  

 

The Corporation has no knowledge of the involvement of the current directors and executive officers, 

in any legal proceedings as defined in the Securities Regulation Code for the last five years up to the 

date of this report. 

 

Further, the Corporation is not involved in or aware of any material legal proceedings, tax assessments 

and tax cases in court or other regulatory bodies as at and for the year ended December 31, 2024,  that 

may significantly affect the Corporation, or any of its subsidiaries or affiliates. 

 

(d) Certain Relationships and Related Transactions 

 

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the other 

party or exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial and operating decisions. 
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Parties are also considered to be related if they are subject to common control or common significant 

influence over the other party in making financial and operating decisions. Parties are also considered 

to be related if they are subject to common control or common significant influence. Related parties 

may be individuals or corporate entities. Transactions between related parties are on arm’s length basis 

in a manner similar to transactions with non-related parties.  

 

During the last three years, there were no transactions or series of similar transactions with or involving 

the Corporation or any of its subsidiaries in which a director, executive officer, nominee for election as 

a director or stockholder owning ten percent (10%) or more of total outstanding shares and members of 

their immediate family, had or is to have a direct or indirect material interest. 

 

There are no known related party transactions other than those described in Note 22 (Related Party 

Transactions) of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements incorporated herein by reference. 

 

(e) The Corporation has no controlling or parent company. 

 

(f) Independent Directors  

 

The independent directors, through the Nomination Committee, are identified, screened, endorsed  and 

nominated for election to the Board of Directors in accordance with Rule 38 of the Securities Regulation 

Code, as amended (“SRC”).   

 

The Nomination Committee, created by the Board under its Corporate Governance Manual, endorsed 

the following persons for re-election to regular membership in the Board of Directors at the forthcoming 

annual stockholders’ meeting:  

 

Clare D. Alvarez 

Christopher Brian C. Dy 

Romuald U. Dy Tang 

George L. Go 

Patrick Warren D. Go 

Nixon Y. Lim 

Eugene B. Macalalag 

Conrado G. Marty 

Ramon A. Recto 

Melvin Andrew O. Vergara 

Wilfrido V. Vergara 

   

The Nomination Committee also conducted the nomination of independent directors in accordance with 

SRC Rule 38. The recommendations have been signed by the nominating stockholder together with the 

acceptance and conformity by the would-be nominees. There were only four (4) nominations made. The 

Nomination Committee, after pre-screening the qualifications of the nominees, endorsed the re-election 

of the following incumbent independent directors: 

 

Mr. Emilio S. de Quiros, Jr. 

Mr. Manuel E. Dimaculangan 

Mr. Rodolfo B. Fernandez 

Mr. Reynaldo V. Reyes 

 

as the only and final candidates for Independent Directorship. They were nominated by Mr. Noel Z. 

Bundalian, a stockholder of the Corporation and to the Corporation’s knowledge, there is no relationship 

between the nominees for independent directors and Mr. Bundalian. 

 

All four nominees for Independent Directorship each has a cumulative term of less than nine (9) years 

as independent directors of the Corporation, in compliance with SEC Memorandum Circular (‘MC’) 

No. 19, Series of 2016. 
 

Pursuant to the SEC Rules on the Nomination and Election of Independent Directors, there will be no 

more nominations on the floor during the stockholders’ meeting as the final list of candidates will be 

the basis for the election of the four (4) independent directors.  

 

The abovementioned nominated persons will be presented to the Corporation’s shareholders for election 

at the annual stockholders’ meeting. Each director shall hold office for one (1) year from the time of his 
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election until his successor is duly elected and qualified. The abovementioned nominated persons will 

be presented to the Corporation’s shareholders for election at the annual stockholders’ meeting. The 

nominated individuals possess all the qualifications and none of the disqualifications provided in the 

SRC and its Implementing Rules and Regulations.   

 

Further, no director has resigned or declined to stand for re-election to the Board of Directors since the 

date of the last Annual Shareholders’ Meeting because of a disagreement with the Corporation any 

matter relating to its operations, policies or practices. 

 

The members of the Nomination Committee are as follows: 

 

Mr. George L. Go – Chairman  

Mr. Wilfrido V. Vergara – Member  

Mr. Romuald U. Dy Tang – Member  

Mr. Ramon A. Recto – Member 

 

The members of the Nomination Committee and the other committees are appointed during the 

organizational board meeting held right after the annual shareholders’ meeting. All members attended 

the sole meeting of the Nomination Committee meeting held for the year 2024. 

 

6. Compensation of Directors and Executive Officers 

 

Board Remuneration: 

 

The Board receives a per diem of P20k per meeting. No other arrangement is made with anyone except 

that each Board member is entitled to a proportionate share in the profit sharing as declared and as 

approved by the Board of Directors. There are no outstanding warrants or options held by directors and 

officers. There are no actions to be taken with regard to election, any bonus or profit-sharing, change in 

pension/retirement plan, granting of or extension of any options, warrants or rights to purchase any 

securities. 

 

The Corporation’s Executive Officers consist only of the following key personnel: the Chairman, Vice-

Chairman, President, First Vice-President and Treasurer. 

 

The aggregate compensation paid or incurred during the last two fiscal years and estimated to be paid 

in the ensuing fiscal year to the Executive Officers and Directors of the Corporation are as follows:    

  

COMPENSATION OF DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS 
Name and Principal Position Year Salary/Fees Bonus Other Annual 

Compensation 

Total 

Compensation of Executive Officers* 

 George L. Go, Chairman 

 Wilfrido V. Vergara, Vice Chairman 

 Romuald U. Dy Tang, President 

 Eugene B. Macalalag, First VP  

 Patrick  D. Go, Treasurer 

 Billy John E. Sia, VP 

 

2025 (Est.) 

 

P13.00 million 

 

P3.00 million 

  

P16.00 million 

2024 
 

P12.40 million 

 

P5.20 million 

  

P17.60 million 

2023 
 

P10.10 million 

 

P5.50 million 

  

P 15.60 million 

All Other Directors and Officers as a 

Group 

2025 (Est.) P 3.50 million P 1.00 million  P 4.50 million 

2024 P 3.20 million P 1.70 million  P 4.90 million 

2023 P 3.20 million P 2.50 million  P 5.70 million 

   
* The Chairman, President, First Vice President and Treasurer are the only executive officers of Crown Equities, Inc. 

 

As provided in the Corporation’s by-laws, directors shall receive a reasonable per diem allowance for 

their attendance at each meeting. Further, as compensation, the Board shall receive and allocate an 

amount of not more than ten percent (10%) of the net income before income tax of the Corporation 
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during the preceding year. Such compensation shall be determined and apportioned among the Directors 

in such manner as the Board may deem proper. 

 

7. Independent Public Accountants 

 

During the annual stockholders meeting held on May 28, 2024, the firm of R.G. Manabat & Co. was 

appointed as auditors for the fiscal year 2024. At the annual stockholders’ meeting, authorized 

representatives of R.G. Manabat & Co. are expected to be present and they will have the opportunity to 

make a statement if they desire to do so and are expected to be available to respond to appropriate 

questions.  

 

In compliance with SRC Rule 68, as amended par. 3(b)(ix) on the five (5) year rotation of the External 

Auditor, the Corporation engaged R.G. Manabat & Co. for the examination of the Corporation’s 

financial statements for the years ended 2024. Previously, the Corporation engaged Reyes Tacandong 

& Co. as its External Auditor for the years ended 2023, 2022, 2021, 2020 and 2019. The Corporation 

is compliant with the rotation requirement of its external auditor as required under SRC Rule 68 

(3)(b)(iv) as it changed its external auditor for the year 2024. 

 

The Corporation has had no material disagreement with R.G. Manabat & Co. on any matter of 

accounting principle or practices or disclosures in the Corporation’s financial statements.  

 

During the 2025 annual stockholders’ meeting, R.G. Manabat & Co. will be endorsed and recommended 

to the shareholders to be re-appointed as the Company’s external auditor for the fiscal year 2025. 

 

For the audit of the Corporation’s financial statements, the aggregate fee billed by the independent 

auditors was P1.02 million in 2024, P1.25 million in 2023, and P1.14 million in 2022. There were no 

other professional fees billed by the independent auditors during the year.  The Audit Committee 

reviews all proposals for services to be rendered by the independent auditor. In the last two (2) years, 

the Corporation did not engage the independent public accountants for any services other than the 

regular conduct of independent audit of the year-end financial statements. 

 

The members of the Audit Committee are as follows:  

 

Mr. Conrado G. Marty – Chairman  

Mr. Rodolfo B. Fernandez – Member  

Mr. Ramon A. Recto – Member 

 

8. Compensation Plans 

 

Stock Options, Warrants or Rights Plan 

 

On May 31, 2002, the stockholders approved a stock option plan for directors and executive officers of 

the Corporation as may be designated by the Board.   

 

The Corporation’s stock option plan entitles, on grant date, the directors and executive officers of the 

Corporation to purchase shares of stock of the Corporation at par value or book value, whichever is 

higher. The underlying shares subject to the stock option plan covers 2,400,000,000 common shares 

representing 10% of the authorized capital stock of the Corporation. The stock option shall be subject 

to vesting according to such schedule as shall be approved by the BOD, provided that vesting shall lapse 

after five years from entitlement date, and provided further that with respect to executive officers, 

vesting shall expire upon their resignation from the Corporation. The number of underlying common 

shares in respect of outstanding options and/or the exercise price shall be correspondingly adjusted in 

the event of any stock dividend declaration, stock split, merger, consolidation, or the similar or 

analogous change in the corporate structure or capitalization of the Group. The terms and conditions of 

the stock option plan may be amended by the resolution of the BOD, except that any increase in the 
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maximum number of shares or any decrease in the exercise price shall require the approval of 

stockholders representing at least two-thirds of the outstanding capital stock. 

 

No stock option has been granted from the time the stock option plan was approved. 

 

Description of Corporation’s Securities 

 

(a) Common Stock 

 

The shares of the Corporation which are issued and outstanding are common shares having dividend 

and voting rights.  There are no material rights of security holders owning common shares other than 

those provided by law. There is no current provision in the Articles of Incorporation or By-laws of the 

Company that would delay, defer, or prevent a change in control of the Corporation. 

 

As amended by the Board of Directors and Stockholders in its meeting held on April 23, 1996 and May 

7, 1996, respectively, the Corporation’s Articles of Incorporation provides that no holder of any class 

of shares of the Corporation shall have as such holder, any pre-emptive right to acquire, purchase or 

subscribe to any share of the capital stock of any class of the Corporation which it may issue or sell 

whether out of the number of shares authorized or out of shares of the capital stock of any class of the 

Corporation  acquired  by  it  after  the  issue  thereof;  nor  shall  any  holder  of  any  class  of  shares  

of  the Corporation have as such shareholder, any pre-emptive right to acquire, purchase, or subscribe 

to any obligation which the Corporation may issue or sell that shall be convertible into or exchangeable 

for any shares of the capital stock of any class of the Corporation or to which shall be attached or 

appertain any warrant or any instrument that shall confer upon the owner of such obligation, warrant or 

instrument the right to subscribe to or to acquire or purchase from the Corporation, any share of its 

capital stock of any class. 

 

There are no other classes of capital stock authorized for issue by the Corporation. 

 

(b) Stock Options 

 

On May 2, 2002, the Board has authorized the implementation of a stock option plan for directors and 

executive officers of the Corporation as maybe designated by the Board of Directors. Please refer to 

Item 8 above for the details of the stock option. 

 

(c) Securities subject for Redemption Call 

 

Except in respect of common shares of the Corporation which are the underlying shares for the stock 

option plan, there are no securities of the Company subject to redemption or call. 

 

9. Authorizations or Issuance of Securities Other Than for Exchange 

 

On May 28, 2024, stockholders’ of the Corporation approved the declaration of property dividends to 

be paid at an entitlement ratio of 0.10 common share for every one (1) CEI common share held by all 

eligible stockholders as of record date and payment date to be determined by the Management of CEI, 

subject to the necessary regulatory approvals. On September 30, 2019, the Corporation issued stock 

dividends in the amount of Ten Percent (10%) of the issued and outstanding shares of stock, or one 

billion, three hundred fifty-nine million, nine hundred ninety-nine thousand, nine hundred ninety 

(1,359,999,990) shares pursuant to the stock dividend declaration approved by the Corporation on 

February 26, 2019 and ratified by the stockholders at the annual stockholders’ meeting held on May 7, 

2019.  

 

10. Modification or Exchange of Securities 
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No action will be presented for shareholders’ approval at this year’s annual meeting which involves the 

modification of any class of the Corporation’s securities, or the issuance of one class of the 

Corporation’s securities in exchange for outstanding securities of another class 

 

11. Financial and Other Information 

 

The Consolidated Audited Financial Statements of the Corporation for the year ended December 31, 

2024 are attached as Annex A. The Management’s Discussion & Analysis is incorporated in the 

attached Management Report.  

 

Representatives of the Corporation’s external auditor, R.G. Manabat & Co., are expected to be present 

at the annual stockholders’ meeting, and they will have the opportunity to make a statement if they 

desire to do so and are expected to be available to respond to appropriate questions from stockholders. 

The Corporation has no material disagreement with R.G. Manabat & Co., on any matter of accounting 

principle of practices or disclosures in the Corporation’s financial statements. 

 

12. Mergers, Consolidations, Acquisitions, and Similar Matter 

 

No action will be presented for shareholders’ approval at this year’s annual meeting regarding mergers, 

consolidations, acquisitions and similar matter. 

 

 

 

 

13. Acquisition and Disposition of Property 

 

No action will be presented for shareholders’ approval at this year’s annual meeting in respect of any 

acquisition or disposition of property of the Corporation. 

 

14. Restatement of Accounts 

 

The Corporation is not taking any action which involves the restatement of any of its assets, capital or 

surplus accounts. 

 

15. Action with Respect to Reports and Other Proposed Action 

 

During the Annual Stockholders’ Meeting held on May 28, 2024 via remote communication, a total of 

10,285,849,819 shares were present, in person or by proxy, representing approximately 68.76% of the 

outstanding shares of the Corporation. 

 

The Stockholders approved the Minutes of the Previous Annual Stockholders Meeting held last May 

23, 2023, ratified the resolutions passed by its Board of Directors and the President covering the period 

from May 23, 2023 up to May 28, 2024, and noted the Management and Financial Reports for 2023. 

The Stockholders likewise cast all their votes equally in favor of the 15 individuals nominated as 

Directors who shall serve for the ensuing year and until their successors are duly elected and qualified. 

 

The following matters with respect to minutes of the stockholders’ meeting of the Company and 

resolutions adopted by its Board of Directors will be presented for approval during the stockholders’ 

meeting:  

 

a) Minutes of the annual meeting of stockholders held on May 28, 2024, appended to this 

Information Statement. These minutes fully reflect the proceedings during the meeting, 

including:  

 

1) a description of the voting and vote tabulation procedures used in the previous meeting;  
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2) a description of the opportunity given to stockholders to ask questions and a record of 

the questions asked and answers given;  

 

3) a record of the voting results for each agenda item; and  

 

4) the list of directors and officers and a description of stockholders who participated in 

the meeting, certified duly certified to by the Corporate Secretary, and verified and 

validated by the Company’s Stock Transfer Agent, Professional Stock Transfer, Inc. 

 

These minutes were posted in the Company’s website within twenty-four (24) hours from 

adjournment of the meeting. The office of the Corporate Secretary has in its custody the full 

list and names of stockholders who participated in meeting.  

 

b) General approval and ratification of the acts of the Board of Directors, its Committees, and the 

Management during their term of office commencing from the date of the last annual 

stockholders’ meeting up to the date of this year’s meeting. These are covered by Resolutions 

of the Board of Directors and were entered into or made in the ordinary course of business, the 

significant acts or transactions which are covered by appropriate disclosures with the Securities 

and Exchange Commission and Philippine Stock Exchange, Inc. 

 

There are no other matters that would require approval of the stockholders.  

 

For the period ended December 31, 2024, there are no known related party transactions other than those 

described in Note 23 (Related Party Transactions) of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

incorporated herein by reference. 

 

There is likewise no material information on the current stockholders and their voting rights requiring 

disclosure.  

 

All stockholders as of Record Date are entitled to vote in absentia for this meeting by registering and 

voting through the Company’s secure online voting facility. For the detailed discussion of stockholders’ 

voting rights and voting procedures, please refer to Item 19 (Voting Procedures) and the “Guidelines 

for Participation via Remote Communication and Voting in Absentia” appended to this Information 

Statement. 

 

There is no action to be taken with respect to any report of the Corporation or of its directors, officers 

or committees, except for the approval of the minutes of the previous annual meeting of the Corporation. 

 

At the annual meeting, shareholders will be asked to approve and ratify the acts of the Board of Directors 

during their term of office. The matters for stockholders’ ratification are acts of the Board for the 

previous year up to the date of the annual meeting which were entered into or made in the ordinary 

course of business, the significant acts or transactions of which are covered by appropriate disclosures 

with the Securities and Exchange Commission and The Philippine Stock Exchange, Inc.:  

 

Date of Disclosure Subject 

February 27, 2024 Results of the meeting of the regular meeting of the Board of Crown 

Equities held on February 27, 2024. 

1. Setting the annual stockholders’ meeting on May 28, 2024; 

1. Setting the record date to April 19, 2024.  

May 5, 2025 Board of Directors approval of dividend declaration, subject to the 

further approval of the stockholders and under such terms and 

conditions as may be determined suitable by the Management of CEI 

May 28, 2024 Results of the Annual Stockholders’ Meeting and Organizational Board 

Meeting of Crown Equities held on May 28, 2028 via Remote 

Communication (Zoom). 
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Date of Disclosure Subject 

May 28, 2024 2. Stockholders’ approval of Property Dividend Declaration to be 

paid at an entitlement ratio of 0.10 common share for every one 

(1) CEI common share held by all eligible stockholders as of 

record date and payment date to be determined by the 

Management of CEI, subject to the necessary regulatory 

approvals. 

May 31, 2024 Submission of the Integrated Annual Corporate Governance Report 

February 25, 2025 Results of the meeting of the regular meeting of the Board of Crown 

Equities held on February 25, 2025. 

1. Setting the annual stockholders’ meeting on May 27, 2025; 

Setting the record date to April 11, 2025.  

February 26, 2025 Update on stock dividend declaration approved by the Board last 

February 28, 2023 that was not presented for stockholders’ approval 

during the 2023 Annual Stockholders Meeting on May 23, 2023 based 

on subsequent management decision 

 

16. Matter Not Required to be Submitted 

 

There is no action to be taken with respect to any matter which is required to be submitted to a vote of 

security holders. 

 

 

17. Amendment of Charter, By-Laws or Other Documents 

 

There is no action to be taken with respect to any amendment of the Corporation’s Articles of 

Incorporation, By-Laws and other charter documents which is required to be submitted to a vote of 

security holders. 

 

18. Other Proposed Actions 

 

Other than the matters indicated in the Notice and Agenda included in this Information Statement, there 

are no other actions proposed to be taken at the annual meeting. 

 

19. Voting Procedures, Requirement and Method of Counting 

 

The following are observed in the conduct of election, appointment, ratification or approval:  

 

(a.) Manner of Voting. Stockholders of record are entitled to one (1) vote per share.  

 

For the purpose of electing directors, a stockholder may vote such number of his shares for as many 

persons as there are directors to be elected or he may cumulate said shares and give one candidate 

as many votes as the number of directors to be elected multiplied by the number of his shares, or 

he may distribute them in the same principle among as many candidates as he shall see fit.   

 

There is no manner of voting prescribed in the Corporation’s Amended By-Laws. Hence, unless 

required by law, or demanded by a stockholder present or represented at the meeting and entitled 

to vote thereat, voting need not be by ballot and will be done by show of hands, viva voce, or by 

balloting.  The Corporation’s Corporate Secretary shall be authorized to count all votes cast.  

 

(b.) Voting Requirements. 

 

With respect to the election of  directors,  candidates  who  received  the highest number of votes 

shall be declared elected. With respect to the ratification of acts of the Board of Directors and  

Management, the  approval  of  the  audited  financial  statements,  the  appointment  of  the  
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independent auditor, and the approval of the minutes of the previous stockholders’ meeting, the 

vote of the stockholders  representing  majority  of  the  outstanding  capital  stock  entitled  to  vote  

and represented in the meeting is required.  

 

With respect to the ratification of the amendments of the Articles of Incorporation pursuant to the 

extension of the corporate term form another fifty (50) years, the vote of the stockholders 

representing two-thirds (2/3) of the outstanding capital stock entitled to vote and represented in the 

meeting is required.  

 

(c.) Method of Counting Votes. 

 

Counting of votes will be done by the Corporate Secretary or his authorized representative(s), with 

the assistance of the representatives of the stock transfer agent of the Corporation. All votes 

attaching to the shares of stock, owned by stockholders whose proxies were received by the 

Corporation will be cast in accordance with the instructions given or authority granted under the 

proxies where such shares have voting rights. 

 

For this year’s Annual Stockholders’ Meeting, the Board of Directors approved a resolution 

allowing the stockholders to participate in the meeting via remote communication and to vote in 

absentia. 

 

Stockholders as of Record Date and their proxy holders who have successfully registered their 

intention to participate in the annual meeting via remote communication and to vote in absentia, 

duly verified and validated by the Company, shall be allowed to cast their votes on specific agenda 

items, including the election of directors. Votes will be tabulated and counted at the close of voting 

for each agenda item during the meeting.  

 

The detailed guidelines for participation and voting for this meeting are set forth in the “Guidelines 

for Participating via Remote Communication and Voting in Absentia” appended as Schedule “A” 

to this Information Statement. 

 

  



 

SIGNATURE PAGE 

 

 

After reasonable inquiry and to the best of my knowledge and belief, I certify that the information set 

forth in this report is true, complete, and correct. This report is signed in the City of Makati on this 

____________. 

 

 

CROWN EQUITIES, INC. 

 

 

 

 

MARK O. VERGARA 

Corporate Secretary 
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REPORT ACCOMPANYING INFORMATION STATEMENT 

 

REQUIRED UNDER SRC RULE 20 

 

 

(A) Consolidated Audited Financial Statements  

 

The Corporation’s consolidated audited financial statements for the period ended December 31, 2024 

together with the Statement of Management Responsibility for Financial Statements are attached, and 

made an integral part thereof  

 

(B) Changes in and Disagreements with Auditor on Accounting and Financial Disclosure 

 

There were no changes in and disagreements with accountants on accounting and financial disclosures. 

for the recent fiscal year.   

 

(C) Management Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operation 

 

The Corporation has adopted all the relevant Philippine Financial Reporting Standards (PFRS) in its 

financial statements. The Corporation’s financial statements for 2024 and the comparatives presented 

for 2023 and 2022 comply with all presentation and disclosure requirements. 

 

Management’s discussion of the Corporation’s financial condition and results of operation presented 

below should be read in conjunction with the attached audited consolidated financial statements of the 

Corporation and its subsidiaries. 
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(1) Changes in Financial Position and Results of Operation 

 

Financial Condition 

Period end March 31, 2025 versus Period end December 31, 2024  

 

 

Total assets posted a modest increase to P=2.59 billion as of March 31, 2025, from P=2.58 billion 

as of December 31, 2024, reflecting overall stability in the asset base during the first quarter. 

 

• Cash and cash equivalents and short-term investment, which are maintained to meet liquidity 

requirements, decreased by a total of P=6.32 million during the first quarter, primarily due to 

expenditures related to the acquisition of investment properties and new equipment. 

 

• Current receivables rose by 20% to P=70.15 million as of March 31, 2025, primarily driven by 

revenue generated from real estate sales and receivables from a joint venture partner. 

 

• Investment in quoted shares grew by 13% to P=95.62 million as of March 31, 2025 as a result 

of additional acquisitions and favorable changes in market valuation. 

 

• The 7% decrease in inventories was largely attributable to the cost of sold real estate units 

recognized as revenue for the first quarter of 2025. 
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Total liabilities posted a slight increase of P=1.38 million, reaching P=218.74 million as of March 

31, 2025, from P=217.36 million as at December 31, 2024.  

 

• Security deposits grew by 24%, driven by new tenant move-ins and contract renewals of 

existing tenants. 

 

Total equity increased by P= 13.83 million as a result of income recognized for the first quarter 

of 2025.  
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Results of Operations 

For three months ended March 31, 2025 versus March 31, 2024  

 

 

• Total revenues for the first quarter of 2025 amounted to P=47.98 million, representing a 60% 

increase compared to the same period in 2024.   

 

• Real estate revenues—compromising sales, interest income and rental income—

contributed 60% of consolidated revenues for the first quarter 2025. Real estate sales 

from Palma Real Residential Estates and Cypress Towers rose significantly to P=20.95 

million due to increased revenue recognition from accounts that reached the collection 

threshold. Interest income from installment contracts declined to P=3.18 million as more 

accounts reached maturity. Meanwhile, rental income from office leases at Crown Center, 

as well as condominium units and parking spaces at Cypress Towers, increased to P=4.67 

million, driven by escalation clauses in existing lease agreements. 
 

• Revenue from medical services reached P=17.88 million in the first quarter of 2025, 

contributing 37% to consolidated revenues and underscoring the healthcare segment’s 

consistent contribution to overall performance. 

 

• Dividend income rose by 59%, attributable to higher dividends received from investments 

in quoted shares. 
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• Gross income increased to P=33.38 million in the first quarter of 2025 from P=20.02 million in 

the same period of 2024. This corresponds to a gross profit margin of 70% in 2025, up from 

67% in the prior year, driven by higher overall revenue. 

 

• Consolidated net income for the first quarter of 2025 more than doubled to P13.83 million, 

up from P6.22 million in the same period in 2024. Net income margin also improved from 

21% to 29%, despite an increase in operating expenses. 
 

 

Calendar Year Ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 

 

Total assets as of year-end 2024 amounted to P2.58 billion consisting of P979.98 million total 

current assets and P1.60 billion in non-current assets.  Investment Properties makeup 47% of 

total assets while Cash and Cash Equivalents and Short-term Investments, both held for 

immediate liquidity requirements, constitute 28% . 

 

Investment in Quoted Shares is a major component of current assets amounting to P84.57 

million. Inventories come in third largest amounting to P74.26 million which is mainly 

composed of the house units and lot units inventory of Palma Real and a few in Cypress 

Towers.  Receivables of P58.46 million include installment contracts receivable which pertain 

to real estate sales. These are collectible in various installment periods of between one to 15 

years and earn interest at 10% to 16% per annum.  

 

Out of the total P1.60 billion non-current assets, P1.21 billion pertains to investment properties 

consisting mostly of properties in Taguig, Batangas, and Bulacan.  The increase in Investment 

Properties in 2024 resulted from the completion of the consolidation of the land assets in 

Taguig. 
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Total liabilities amounted to P217.36 million of which P176.40 million represent customers’ 

deposits, closing fees, and trade liabilities including liabilities to doctors, contractors, and 

suppliers.  

  

There were no other significant movements in the equity accounts during the year except for 

changes in retained earnings coming from the net income for the year. 
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Results of Operation 

 

Total consolidated revenues amounted to P117.44 million of which P34.39 million or 29% 

came from realized real estate sales and related interest on installment contracts receivable. 

Revenue on real estate sales declined 66% in 2024 due to fewer recognition from existing 

projects. Sales on medical services, which made up 52% of consolidated revenues in 2024, 

declined by 10%. Rental income and dividend income accounted for 14% and 4% of revenues, 

respectively. 

 

Meanwhile, total costs and expenses in 2024 amounted to P140.65 million with direct costs 

decreasing by 23% to P42.07 million, owing to volume of real estate sales. Direct costs for 

real estate sales were at P6.09 million, 66% decrease from last year while direct costs for 

services also decreased from last year last year at P30.81 million. In the contrary, general 

operating expenses increased from P96.81 million to P98.58 million in 2024.  
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Net other income increased by 29% to P57.40 million in 2024 as a result of interest income 

earned on bank placements and recoveries in foreign exchange rates and market value of 

quoted shares. 

 

Net income for the year 2024 amounted to P28.55 million compared to P53.03 million in the 

previous year.  

 

 

Calendar Year Ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 

 

 

Total assets as of year-end 2023 amounted to P2.54 billion consisting of P1.05 billion total 

current assets and P1.49 billion in non-current assets. Investment Properties makeup 42% of 

total assets while Cash and Cash Equivalents and Short-term Investments, both held for 

immediate liquidity requirements, constitute 31% while.    

 

Next to Cash and Cash Equivalents of P767.72 million, Investment in Quoted Shares is a major 

component of current assets amounting to P85.87 million. Inventories come in third largest 

amounting to P77.83 million which is mainly composed of the house units and lot units 

inventory of Palma Real and a few in Cypress Towers. Receivables of P65.20 million include 

installment contracts receivable which pertain to real estate sales. These are collectible in 

various installment periods of between one to 15 years and earn interest at 10% to 16% per 

annum.  

 

Out of the total P1.49 billion non-current assets, P1.07 billion pertains to investment properties 

consisting mostly of properties in Taguig, Batangas, and Bulacan.  
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Total liabilities amounted to P204.31 million of which P196.05 million represent customers’ 

deposits, closing fees, and trade liabilities including liabilities to doctors, contractors, and 

suppliers.  

  

There were no other significant movements in the equity accounts during the year except for 

changes in retained earnings coming from the net income for the year. 
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Results of Operation 

 

Total consolidated revenues amounted to P170.43 million of which P79.35 million or 47% 

came from realized real estate sales and related interest on installment contracts receivable 

while P68.70 million or 40% came from sale of medical services. Rental income and dividend 

income accounted for 9% and 3% of revenues, respectively. 

 

The total revenues for 2023 was lower than that of the previous year. Revenue mix changed 

during the year with real estate sales decreasing to 44% of total revenue and sale of medical 

services increased to 5% of total revenue. Rental and dividend income accounted for 11% of 

total revenue.   

 

Meanwhile, total costs and expenses in 2023 amounted to P151.76 million with direct costs 

decreasing by 23% to P54.95 million, owing to volume of real estate sales. Direct costs for 

real estate sales were at P17.95 million, 50% decrease from last year while direct costs for 

services remained the same as last year at P32.19 million. General operating expenses 

decreased from P103.87 million to P96.82 million in 2023.  
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Net other income for 2023 amounted to P44.33 million including interest income on bank 

placements amounting to P33.72 million. For 2022, net other income amounted to P35.62 

million including interest income on bank placements amounting to P11.01 million 

 

Net income for the year 2023 amounted to P53.02 million compared to P68.47 million in the 

previous year.  

 

 

Calendar Year Ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 

 

Total assets as of year-end 2022 amounted to P2.50 billion consisting of P1.01 billion total 

current assets and P1.49 billion in non-current assets. Investment Properties makeup 43% of 

total assets while Cash and Cash Equivalents and Short-term Investments, both held for 

immediate liquidity requirements, constitute 26%. 

 

Next to Cash and Cash Equivalents of P611.60 million, Investment in Quoted Shares is a major 

component of current assets amounting to P161.85 million. Inventories come in third largest 

amounting to P88.99 million which is mainly composed of the house units and lot units 

inventory of Palma Real and a few in Cypress Towers. Receivables of P71.21 million include 

installment contracts receivable which pertains to real estate sales. These are collectible in 

various installment periods of between one to 15 years and earn interest at 10% to 16% per 

annum.  

 

Out of the total P1.49 billion non-current assets, P1.07 billion pertains to investment properties 

consisting mostly of properties in Taguig, Batangas, and Bulacan.  
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Total liabilities amounted to P201.10 million of which P156.18 million represent customers’ 

deposits, closing fees, and trade liabilities including liabilities to doctors, contractors, and 

suppliers.  

  

There were no other significant movements in the equity accounts during the year except for 

changes in retained earnings coming from the net income for the year. 
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Results of Operation 

 

Total consolidated revenues amounted to P222.78 million of which P132.24 million or 59% 

came from realized real estate sales and related interest on installment contracts receivable 

while P65.47 million or 29% came from sale of medical services Rental income and dividend 

income accounted for 6% and 5% of revenues, respectively. 

 

The total revenues for 2022 was higher than that of the previous year. Revenue mix changed 

during the year with real estate sales decreasing to 51% of total revenue and sale of medical 

services increased to 29% of total revenue. Rental and dividend income accounted for 11% of 

total revenue.   

 

Meanwhile, total costs and expenses in 2022 amounted to P175.29 million with direct costs 

increasing by 9% to P71.42 million, owing to higher volume of real estate sales and sale of 

medical service. Direct costs for real estate sales was at P35.67 million while direct costs for 

services increased by 19% to P35.19 million. General operating expenses increased from 

P89.64 million to P103.87 million in 2022.  

 

Net other income for 2022 amounted to P35.62 million including interest income on loans and 

bank placements amounting to P12.01 million. For 2021, net other income amounted to P56.38 

million including interest income on loans and bank placements amounting to P3.18 million 

 



 

33 

 

Net income for the year 2022 amounted to P68.47 million compared to P94.65 million in the 

previous year.  

 

Key Performance Indicators  

 

The Corporation measures its performance based on the utilization of assets and the return on 

its investments.  

 

 

Period end March 31, 2025 versus Period end December 31, 2024 

 
 

Indicator 
As of Formula 

Mar. 2025 Dec. 2024  

Current Ratio 5.61x 5.53x 
𝐶𝑢𝑟𝑟𝑒𝑛𝑡 𝐴𝑠𝑠𝑒𝑡𝑠

𝐶𝑢𝑟𝑟𝑒𝑛𝑡 𝐿𝑖𝑎𝑏𝑖𝑙𝑖𝑡𝑖𝑒𝑠
 

Cash Ratio 
 

3.68x 

 
3.67x 

𝐶𝑎𝑠ℎ 𝑎𝑛𝑑 𝐶𝑎𝑠ℎ 𝑒𝑞𝑢𝑖𝑣𝑎𝑙𝑒𝑛𝑡𝑠

𝐶𝑢𝑟𝑟𝑒𝑛𝑡 𝐿𝑖𝑎𝑏𝑖𝑙𝑖𝑡𝑖𝑒𝑠
 

Debt-Equity Ratio 0.09x 
 

0.09x 
 

Debt-Asset Ratio 0.08x 
 

0.08x 
𝑇𝑜𝑡𝑎𝑙 𝐿𝑖𝑎𝑏𝑖𝑙𝑖𝑡𝑖𝑒𝑠

𝑇𝑜𝑡𝑎𝑙 𝐴𝑠𝑠𝑒𝑡𝑠
 

Asset-Equity Ratio 1.09x 
 

1.09x 

𝑇𝑜𝑡𝑎𝑙 𝐴𝑠𝑠𝑒𝑡

𝑇𝑜𝑡𝑎𝑙 𝐸𝑞𝑢𝑖𝑡𝑦
 

Investment Ratio 0.47x 
 

0.47x 
𝑇𝑜𝑡𝑎𝑙 𝐼𝑛𝑣𝑒𝑠𝑡𝑚𝑒𝑛𝑡 𝑎𝑛𝑑 𝐴𝑑𝑣𝑎𝑛𝑐𝑒𝑠

𝑇𝑜𝑡𝑎𝑙 𝐴𝑠𝑠𝑒𝑡
 

Gross Income Margin 69.57% 
 

64.18% 
𝐺𝑟𝑜𝑠𝑠 𝐼𝑛𝑐𝑜𝑚𝑒

𝑁𝑒𝑡 𝑅𝑒𝑣𝑒𝑛𝑢𝑒𝑠
 

Net Income Margin 28.83% 24.31% 
𝑁𝑒𝑡 𝐼𝑛𝑐𝑜𝑚𝑒 

𝑁𝑒𝑡 𝑅𝑒𝑣𝑒𝑛𝑢𝑒𝑠
 

Return on Assets 2.14% 1.12% 
𝑁𝑒𝑡 𝐼𝑛𝑐𝑜𝑚𝑒

𝐴𝑣𝑒𝑟𝑎𝑔𝑒 𝑇𝑜𝑡𝑎𝑙 𝐴𝑠𝑠𝑒𝑡𝑠
 

Earnings (Loss) Per 

Share 
0.00068 0.00147 

𝑁𝑒𝑡 𝐼𝑛𝑐𝑜𝑚𝑒 𝑎𝑓𝑡𝑒𝑟 𝑀𝑖𝑛𝑜𝑟𝑖𝑡𝑦 𝐼𝑛𝑡𝑒𝑟𝑒𝑠𝑡

𝑇𝑜𝑡𝑎𝑙 𝑆ℎ𝑎𝑟𝑒𝑠 𝑆𝑢𝑏𝑠𝑐𝑟𝑖𝑏𝑒𝑑
 

  

Total Liabilities

Total Equity
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• Liquidity 

Current ratio and cash ratio increased to 5.61x and 3.68x, respectively. The group maintained 

a sound liquidity position as of March 31, 2025. 

 

• Solvency / Leverage 

Leverage stance remained the same at the end of the first quarter of 2025 with debt-equity 

ratio at 0.09x, debt-asset ratio at 0.08x and asset-equity ratio at 1.09x due to the group’s 

efficient management of its liabilities. The group has a nil interest coverage ratio as it has not 

incurred any interest expense for the period. 

 

• Investment 

The group’s investment ratio remained positive at 0.47x as of March 31, 2025 and December 

31, 2024, respectively. 

 

• Profitability 

Gross income margin remains at a relatively high level at 69.57% while net income margin 

increased to 28.83% for the first quarter of 2025.  

 

• Return on Assets 

The annualized return on assets as of March 31, 2025 increased to 2.14% due to higher 

realized income for the quarter compared to 1.12% for the whole year of 2024. 

 

• Earnings per Share 

The company’s earnings per share for the first quarter of 2025 is 0.00068 compared to 

0.00147 earnings per share as of December 31, 2024. The number of outstanding shares 

remained the same as the previous year 2024. 
 

 

Period end December 31, 2024 versus Period end December 31, 2023 versus Period end December 

31, 2023 

 

 

Indicator 
As of 

Formula 
Dec 2024 Dec 2023 Dec 2022 
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Current Ratio 5.53x 6.65x 6.39x 
𝐶𝑢𝑟𝑟𝑒𝑛𝑡 𝐴𝑠𝑠𝑒𝑡𝑠

𝐶𝑢𝑟𝑟𝑒𝑛𝑡 𝐿𝑖𝑎𝑏𝑖𝑙𝑖𝑡𝑖𝑒𝑠
 

Cash Ratio 

 

3.67x 

 

4.84x 

 

3.87x 

𝐶𝑎𝑠ℎ 𝑎𝑛𝑑 𝐶𝑎𝑠ℎ 𝑒𝑞𝑢𝑖𝑣𝑎𝑙𝑒𝑛𝑡𝑠

𝐶𝑢𝑟𝑟𝑒𝑛𝑡 𝐿𝑖𝑎𝑏𝑖𝑙𝑖𝑡𝑖𝑒𝑠
 

Debt-Equity 

Ratio 

0.09x 0.08x 0.09x 
𝑇𝑜𝑡𝑎𝑙 𝐿𝑖𝑎𝑏𝑖𝑙𝑖𝑡𝑖𝑒𝑠

𝑇𝑜𝑡𝑎𝑙 𝐸𝑞𝑢𝑖𝑡𝑦
 

Debt-Asset 

Ratio 

0.08x 0.08x 0.08x 
𝑇𝑜𝑡𝑎𝑙 𝐿𝑖𝑎𝑏𝑖𝑙𝑖𝑡𝑖𝑒𝑠

𝑇𝑜𝑡𝑎𝑙 𝐴𝑠𝑠𝑒𝑡𝑠
 

Asset-Equity 

Ratio 

1.09x 1.08x 1.09x 
𝑇𝑜𝑡𝑎𝑙 𝐴𝑠𝑠𝑒𝑡

𝑇𝑜𝑡𝑎𝑙 𝐸𝑞𝑢𝑖𝑡𝑦
 

Interest 

Coverage 

Ratio 

 

n/a 

 

n/a 

 

n/a 

𝐸𝑎𝑟𝑛𝑖𝑛𝑔𝑠 𝑏𝑒𝑓𝑜𝑟𝑒 𝐼𝑛𝑡𝑒𝑟𝑒𝑠𝑡 𝑎𝑛𝑑 𝑇𝑎𝑥𝑒𝑠

𝐼𝑛𝑡𝑒𝑟𝑒𝑠𝑡 𝐸𝑥𝑝𝑒𝑛𝑠𝑒
 

Net Profit 

Margin 

24.31% 31.11% 30.73% 
𝑁𝑒𝑡 𝐼𝑛𝑐𝑜𝑚𝑒 

𝑁𝑒𝑡 𝑅𝑒𝑣𝑒𝑛𝑢𝑒𝑠
 

Investment 

Ratio 
0.47x 0.42x 0.43x 

𝑇𝑜𝑡𝑎𝑙 𝐼𝑛𝑣𝑒𝑠𝑡𝑚𝑒𝑛𝑡 𝑎𝑛𝑑 𝐴𝑑𝑣𝑎𝑛𝑐𝑒𝑠

𝑇𝑜𝑡𝑎𝑙 𝐴𝑠𝑠𝑒𝑡𝑠
 

Return on 

Assets 
1.12% 2.11% 2.77% 

𝑁𝑒𝑡 𝐼𝑛𝑐𝑜𝑚𝑒 

𝐴𝑣𝑒𝑟𝑎𝑔𝑒 𝑇𝑜𝑡𝑎𝑙 𝐴𝑠𝑠𝑒𝑡𝑠
 

Earnings Per 

Share 
0.00147 0.00264 0.00339 

𝑁𝑒𝑡 𝐼𝑛𝑐𝑜𝑚𝑒 𝑎𝑓𝑡𝑒𝑟 𝑀𝑖𝑛𝑜𝑟𝑖𝑡𝑦 𝐼𝑛𝑡𝑒𝑟𝑒𝑠𝑡

𝑇𝑜𝑡𝑎𝑙 𝑆ℎ𝑎𝑟𝑒𝑠 𝑆𝑢𝑏𝑠𝑐𝑟𝑖𝑏𝑒𝑑
 

 

 

 

Liquidity 

 

In 2024, current ratio decreased to 5.53x as of December 31, 2024 compared to 6.65x as 

of December 31, 2023 resulting from decrease in cash as a result of additions to 

investment property. Cash ratio likewise decreased to 3.67x as of December 31, 2024 

from 4.84x as of December 31, 2023. 

 

Current ratio increased to 6.65x as of December 31, 2023 compared to 6.39x as of 

December 31, 2022 resulting from increase in cash and cash equivalents and decrease in 

accounts and other payables. Cash ratio increased to 4.84x as of December 31, 2023 from 

3.87x as of December 31, 2022. 

 

Solvency/Leverage 

 

As of December 31, 2024, debt-equity ratio increased to 0.09x from 0.08x last year. 

Meanwhile, debt-asset ratio remained at 0.08x from the same ratio as of December 31, 

2023. Asset-equity ratio increased to 1.09x as of December 31, 2024 as there is increase 

in both assets and equity. The Company has a nil interest coverage ratio as it has zero 

loans and therefore no interest expense was incurred in 2024. 

 

Debt-equity ratio on December 31, 2023 decreased to 0.08x from 0.09x as of December 

31, 2022. Meanwhile, debt-asset ratio remained at 0.08x from the same ratio December 

31, 2022. Asset-equity ratio decreased to 1.08x as of December 31, 2023 from 1.09x as 

of December 31, 2022. The Company has a nil interest coverage ratio as it has zero loans 

and therefore no interest expense was incurred in 2023. 
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Investment Ratio 

 

Investment ratio increased to 0.47x as of December 31, 2024, from 0.42x as of December 

31, 2023 due to additions to investment properties. 

 

Investment ratio decreased to 0.42x as of December 31, 2023, from 0.43x as of December 

31, 2022 due to depreciation of asset for lease. 

 

Profitability 

 

Net income margin for the year 2024 was lower than the previous year, decreasing to 

24.31% compared to 31.11% in 2023 lower realized real estate sales and related interest 

on installment contracts receivable. 

 

Net income margin for the year 2023 was higher than the previous year, increasing to 

31.11% compared to 30.73% in 2022 due to gain on sale of marketable securities and 

higher interest income on placements. 

 

Return on Assets 

 

There was a decrease in net income as of December 31, 2024 resulting to a lower return 

on assets at 1.12% from 2.11% as of December 31, 2023. 

 

Return on assets decreased to 2.11% as of December 31, 2023 from 2.77% as of 

December 31, 2022 as a result of lower net income in 2023. 

 

Earnings Per Share 

 

Earnings per share decreased to P=0.00147 as of December 31, 2024 compared to P=

0.00264 as of December 31, 2023.  Income attributable to shareholders of the Corporation 

decreased while Corporation’s average number of outstanding shares remained the same 

from the previous year. 

 

Earnings per share decreased to P=0.00264 as of December 31, 2023 compared to P=

0.00339 as of December 31, 2022.  Income attributable to shareholders of the Corporation 

decreased while Corporation’s average number of outstanding shares remained the same 

from the previous year. 

 
 

(i) Past and Future Financial Condition with Particular Emphasis on the Prospects for the 

Future 

 

The Corporation continues to generate revenues from its real estate projects, particularly 

Cypress Towers and Palma Real Residential Estates. Aggregate revenue of real estate sales and 

related interest on installment contracts receivable amounted to P34.39 million. The healthcare 

business, on the other hand, generated P61.51 million during the year.  

 

The Palma Real Residential Estates is expected to continue selling. The project continues to 

market house and lot packages intended to promote community build-up. Future sales are still 

expected to be realized as Palma Real is now accessible both from the Sta. Rosa-Tagaytay road 

and from the Mamplasan exit of the South Luzon Expressway via the Cavite-Laguna 

Expressway.  
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The FortMED clinics have seen improvements in earnings for the past two years. The clinic 

operations are focused on sustaining profitability through calibrated market positioning paired 

with continuous improvement in process efficiency. 

 

The Corporation has no known trends, demands, commitments, events or uncertainties in the 

present operations of the Company that is likely to result in the Company’s liquidity increasing 

or decreasing in any material way. It is not aware of any events that will trigger direct or 

contingent financial obligation that is material to the company, including any default or breach 

of any note, loan, lease, or other indebtedness or other financing arrangements requiring to 

make payments. Furthermore, there is no significant amount in trade payables that has not been 

paid within the stated trade terms. There are no material off-balance sheet transactions, 

arrangements, obligations (including contingent obligation), and other relationships of the 

company with unconsolidated entities or other persons created during the reporting period.  

 

The Corporation has no material commitment for capital expenditure. Management is not 

aware of any trends, events or uncertainties that have or will have material impact on net sales 

or revenues or income from continuing operations neither of its operating subsidiaries nor of 

any seasonal aspects that had a material effect on the financial condition or results of operation 

of the Company. 

 

The Corporation and its subsidiaries have neither issued nor invested in any financial 

instruments or complex securities that will make them susceptible to the effects of any global 

financial condition. It has neither foreign currency denominated nor local peso denominated 

loans. The Corporation's financial risk exposure is limited to its investments in the equities 

market reported as Investments in Quoted Shares in its balance sheet though insignificant 

compared to the Corporation's total asset base. Moreover, these investments are always marked 

to market thus reflecting the most verifiable values available. The Corporation's risk 

management policies are religiously observed and fair values of investments are reviewed by 

the Executive Committee on a regular basis. 

 

(ii) Material Change 

 

(i) Any known trends, events or uncertainties (material impact on liquidity)  

 

The Corporation has no known trends, demand, commitments, events or uncertainties in 

the present operations of the Corporation that is likely to result in the Corporation’s 

liquidity increasing or decreasing in any material way.  

 

(ii) Events that will trigger direct or contingent financial obligation that is material to the 

Corporation, including any default or acceleration of an obligation.   

 

The Corporation is not aware of any events that will trigger direct or contingent financial 

obligation that is material to the Corporation, including any default or acceleration of an 

obligation.   

 

(iii) All material off-balance sheet transactions, arrangements, obligations (including contingent 

obligations), and other relationships of the Corporation with unconsolidated entities or 

other persons during the reporting period.   

 

There are no material off-balance sheet transactions, arrangements, obligations (including 

contingent obligation), and other relationships of the Corporation with unconsolidated 

entities or other persons created during the recent fiscal year.   

 

(iv) Description of any material commitments for capital expenditures, general purpose of such 

commitments, expected sources of funds for such expenditures.  
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As of the date of this report, the Corporation has no material commitment for capital 

expenditure.  

 

(v) Any known trends, events or Uncertainties (Material Impact on Sales) 

 

Except for the impact of the Covid19 pandemic which slowed down patient visits in 

Fortmed Clinics, there are no known trends, events or uncertainties that would have 

potential material impact on revenues. 

 

(vi) Any Significant Elements of Income or Loss (from continuing operations) 

 

There are no significant elements of income or loss (from continuing operations). 

 

(vii) Causes of Any Material Changes from Period to Period of Financial Statements which shall 

include vertical and horizontal analyses of any material item (5%) 

  

The causes for and material changes from 2020-2021 are explained above and in Item 6(1) 

of the Annual Report (SEC Form 17-A) of the Corporation. 

 

(viii) Seasonal Aspects that have Material effect on the Financial Statements 

 

There are no seasonal aspects that has a material effect on the financial statements. 

 

(D)  Brief Description of the General Nature and Scope of Business of the Corporation 

 

The Corporation is a Filipino-owned publicly-listed investment holding corporation. Through its 

subsidiaries, the Corporation acquired various real estate properties to be developed into 

commercial, industrial, residential, or mixed-use areas.  The Corporation also has investments in 

healthcare business particularly in two medical ambulatory care clinics.  

 

The subsidiaries of the Corporation that are already in operation are FortMed Medical Clinics 

Makati Inc., Crown Central Properties Corporation, Healthcare Systems of Asia Philippines, Inc., 

and Argent Capital Holdings Corporation. Parkfield Land Holdings, Inc. is still in the pre-operating 

stage.    

 

The Corporation’s main business is investment holding. It acquires, develop and sell real estate 

properties, either through its own subsidiaries or through tie-ups with major real estate and property 

development companies. The Corporation markets the real estate properties either through its in-

house marketing group or through third party brokers and agents. The Corporation also delivers 

medical and health care services to outpatients through its ambulatory care centers. All of the 

Corporation’s revenues are generated locally.  

 

There are several players in the real estate industry competing for developments in prime areas. 

Historically, the industry has been led by highly-capitalized firms. Although these companies have 

been leading the industry, the Corporation has been focusing on residential development through 

niche markets. The Corporation aims to continue developing real estate where opportunities for 

growth are identified. At present, the location and price of the residential units offered by the 

Corporation give it an edge in the competition. The previous pandemic, however, dampened the 

market as a result of declining buyer power.  

 

Property development businesses involve significant risks including the risks that construction may 

not be completed on schedule or within the allocated budget; and that such projects may not achieve 

the anticipated sales.  In addition, real estate development projects typically require substantial 

capital expenditure during construction and it may take years before the projects generate cash 

flows. 
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Increasing threat from competition has been the main risk in the healthcare business. Growth in the 

number of healthcare providers delivering similar services has been affecting profitability across 

companies. Moreover, the business is characterized by substantial recurring capital expenditure for 

medical technology in order to provide a comprehensive healthcare service. However, being a basic 

necessity, the healthcare business could likewise provide sustainable revenues. 

 

As a business in the real estate and health care services, the Corporation does not rely on a few 

customers ensuring the continuity of revenue streams for the company. Furthermore, the 

Corporation does not rely on a limited number of suppliers in providing products and services that 

may contribute to risks of non-performance of the Corporation. The Corporation also does not have 

any major supply contracts. 

 

The Corporation does not have any patents, trademarks, copyrights, licenses, franchises, 

concessions, or royalty agreements held. As it currently stands, there are no government regulations 

specifically covering the Corporation’s business. There is a possibility that the government may 

impose certain regulations which may include securing special permits, imposing regulatory fees 

and controls over the Corporation’s products and services but these types of regulations would not 

be a hindrance to the Corporation’s business. Furthermore, the costs incurred for purposes of 

complying with environmental laws consist primarily of payments for mandated fees for the 

issuance of business permits which are standard in the industry and is minimal. 

 

The Corporation did not spend significant amount on developmental activities during the last three 

fiscal years. 

 

The Corporation and its subsidiaries currently employ 68 officers and staff, including 41 medical 

and administrative officers and staff in the healthcare operations. There is no existing Collective 

Bargaining Agreement between the Corporation and its employees. There are no supplemental 

benefits or incentive arrangements with the employees, aside from those provided by law.    

 

a. Real Estate and Property Development 

 

1. Crown Equities, Inc. 

 

The Cypress Tower is a residential condominium complex composed of three buildings: the 

Altiva Tower, the Belmira Tower, and the Celesta Tower. Residents enjoy a good view of 

the Laguna Lake to the east as well as the Manila Bay to the west. The Cypress Tower boasts 

of its perfect accessibility from either the north or the south of Metro Manila via the 

Circumferential Road 5. The Corporation likewise sell house units in Palma Real 

Residential Estate. 

 

The Corporation also owns real estate property in Sto. Tomas, Batangas.  Some of the 

properties are still in the process of titling. The properties are mostly located in Brgy. San 

Miguel, Sto. Tomas, Batangas, about 56 kilometers from the central business district of 

Makati City. It is accessible by any land transport from Manila via the South Luzon 

Expressway and the Maharlika highway. The Corporation also owns real estate property in 

Taguig City, consisting of a contiguous land parcel located on the periphery of Fort 

Bonifacio Global City. 

 

In 2024, the Corporation as a separate entity generated revenue of P56.05 million, 

representing 39% of total revenue of CEI and its subsidiaries, the Group, P11.16 million of 

which came from recognized sale of real estate units and related interest on installment 

contracts receivable and P20.30 million from rental income. 

 

2. Crown Central Properties Corporation 
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Crown Central Properties Corporation (CCPC) was incorporated on September 3, 1996 as a 

joint venture between the Corporation and Solid Share Holdings, Inc., now Federal Land, 

Inc., an affiliate of a major banking group. In October 2003, CCPC entered into a 

Memorandum of Agreement with Sta. Lucia Realty and Development, Inc. whereby the 

former shall contribute land and its improvements while the latter shall be responsible for 

completing the development of a subdivision project.  The agreement called for a 60%-40% 

sharing of revenues in favor of CCPC.  The project was completed and marketing is on-

going. 

 

The subdivision, named Palma Real Residential Estates, is strategically located near the 

boundary of Sta. Rosa and Biñan, in the province of Laguna, a few minutes away from 

educational institutions in the area such as Don Bosco and De La Salle University.  Among 

residential subdivisions in its class, Palma Real is one of those nearest to these educational 

institutions.  Although competition is considered tight given the number of residential 

subdivisions within its five-kilometer radius, Palma Real enjoys an advantage given its 

proximity to these schools, the industrial park, the commercial district in the area, and access 

via the Mamplasan exit of the South Luzon Expressway connecting to the Sta. Rosa-

Tagaytay highway. The subdivision is also accessible via the Cavite-Laguna Expressway 

(CALAX). 

 

CCPC contributed 16% to the total revenue of the Group in 2024 having aggregate revenue 

of P23.23 million from Palma Real Residential Estates sales.   
 

3. Parkfield Land Holdings, Inc. 

 

Parkfield Land Holdings, Inc. (PLHI), a 75%-owned subsidiary of the Corporation, was 

incorporated on April 11, 2001 primarily to acquire, develop, sell and hold for investment 

real estate properties.  PLHI owns parcels of land located in San Jose del Monte, Bulacan.    

 

PLHI has no significant business developments involving the properties and does not intend 

to develop its properties within the next twelve months. 

 

b. Healthcare 

 

Healthcare System of Asia Phils., Inc. 

  

Healthcare System of Asia, Phils. (HSAPI), Inc. was established on July 26, 1996 to deliver 

medical and health care services and healthcare systems, in general. Presently, HSAPI has 

two operational ambulatory care clinics: the FortMED Medical Clinics – Makati, which 

started operations in 1997, and FortMED Medical Clinics – Sta. Rosa, which started 

operations in 1998. 

 

The two FortMED Clinics provide a wide range of medical services at reasonable prices. 

These clinics house diagnostic and ambulatory treatment apparatus including ultrasound 

machines and modern laboratory equipment. The clinics offer cardio-pulmonary testing, 

radiologic procedures, laboratory blood chemistry and hematology, and sub-specialist 

consultation. 

 

Competition in this type of business is generally dictated by factors such as the reputation 

of doctors associated with and actually practicing in the clinic, availability of highly 

effective facilities, and quality of professional health service. Location and accessibility are 

also critical competitive factors in this industry. 

 

FortMED-Makati is strategically located in Bel-Air Village, Makati which is easily 

accessible to both residents and employees in the Makati business district. FortMED-Sta. 
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Rosa is in Greenfield Business Park, Sta. Rosa, a booming commercial district in the vicinity 

of a light industrial park which is home to multinational companies. 

 

The clinics offer a fast one-stop shop type of professional service and easy accessibility to 

results through the clinics’ proprietary clinic information system and computerized 

processes. The clinics also provide private duty nurses to address the need for professional 

health care in clients’ premises. 

 

The FortMED Clinics are accredited by the Department of Health (DOH). Necessary 

licenses have been secured from the DOH to operate the various facilities of the clinics 

including the radiology and laboratory facilities which is also licensed by the Dangerous 

Drug Board (DDB).  License to operate is secured from the Department of Health on a 

regular basis.   

 

The unique focus of medical practice at FortMED is to assist the patient and family in 

obtaining comprehensive interdisciplinary health care that is both accessible and acceptable. 

The concepts of patient participation, patient education, health promotion and illness 

prevention are basic parts of the integrated treatment plan. The professional staff recognizes 

the importance of technological and cultural dimensions of health and their influences on 

the individual, families, and communities serviced. The physicians also recognize their 

responsibility to respect each patient without bias, assisting the patient to make sound 

decisions about their health care. 

 

FortMED Clinics generated aggregate revenue of P61.51 million in 2024 representing 43% 

of the Group’s revenues. 

 

c. Investment Holding 

 

Argent Capital Holdings Corporation 

  

Argent Capital Holdings Corporation (ACHC) was incorporated and registered with the SEC 

on August 28, 2019. A wholly-owned subsidiary, ACHC was established to engage in 

investing activities.  

 

(E) Directors and Executive Officers 

 

(a.) The incumbent directors and executive officers of the Corporation are as follows: 

 

Mr. George L. Go, 83 years old, Filipino, is presently the Chairman of the Board of Directors of 

the Corporation. He has been a Director of the Corporation since 1995. He is also the Chairman of 

the Nominations Committee and a Member of the Executive Committee, Investment Committee and 

the Compensation and Remuneration Committee. Mr. Go is also the Chairman of the Board of 

Healthcare Systems of Asia Philippines, Inc., Fortmed Medical Clinics Makati, Inc. Mr. Go earned 

his bachelor’s degree in Economics from Youngstown University, U.S.A and completed an 

Advanced Management Program in Harvard Business School, U.S.A. 

 

Mr. Wilfrido V. Vergara, 80 years old, Filipino, has been the Vice Chairman of the Board of 

Directors of the Corporation since May 2002. He is the Chairman of the Executive Committee, the 

Investment Committee and the Compensation and Remunerations Committee. Mr. W.V. Vergara is 

the Chairman of the Board of Directors of Argent Capital Holdings Corporation and also the Vice 

Chairman of Fortmed Medical Clinics Makati, Inc. and Healthcare Systems Asia Philippines, Inc. 

He is also a Director of Parkfield Land Holdings, Inc. Mr. Vergara obtained his Bachelor’s Degree 

in Economics from the Ateneo de Manila University. 

 

Mr. Romuald  U. Dy Tang, 73 years old, Filipino, has been a member of the Board of Directors of 

the Corporation since 2008 and was elected President of the Corporation in May 2010. Mr. Dy Tang 
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is also a Member of the Executive Committee, Nominations Committee, the Compensation and 

Remuneration Committee and Investment Committee. He is likewise a Director and President of 

Argent Capital Holdings, Inc. and a member of the Board of Directors of Healthcare Systems of 

Asia Philippines, FortMED Medical Clinics Makati, Inc. and Parkfield Landholdings, Inc. Mr. Dy 

Tang earned his Bachelor of Science in Business Administration from De La Salle University, 

Manila. 

 

Mr. Patrick D. Go, 57 years old, Filipino, has been a Director of the Corporation since 1995. He is 

the Treasurer and the Compliance Officer of the Corporation.  He also serves as the Treasurer of 

Healthcare Systems of Asia Philippines, Inc., Fortmed Medical Clinics Makati, Inc. He is a director 

and the Treasurer of Argent Capital Holdings Corp Prior to that, he was Vice President at Banco De 

Oro. Mr. Go is a graduated from San Francisco State University, U.S.A in 1992 earning a Bachelor 

of Science degree in both Finance and Real Estate. He is the son of Mr. George L. Go. 

 

Mr. Eugene B. Macalalag, 57 years old, Filipino, has been a member of the Board of Directors of 

the Corporation since May 2003. He is the First Vice President of the Corporation. Mr. Macalalag 

is also the President and Director of Healthcare Systems of Asia Philippines, Inc. and FortMED 

Medical Clinics Makati, Inc. He is the President of Crown Central Properties Corp. and Parkfield 

Landholdings, Inc.  Mr. Macalalag is a director of Argent Capital Holdings Corporation. He joined 

Crown Equities, Inc., in April 1996. Mr. Macalalag graduated Magna cum Laude from the Divine 

Word University of Tacloban and holds a Bachelor of Science degree in Commerce – Accounting. 

He earned his Masters degree in Business Administration from the De La Salle University, Manila. 

 

Mr. Ramon A. Recto 92 years old, Filipino, has been an Independent Director of the Corporation 

since May 2002. He is a Member of the Audit Committee and the Nominations Committee. Mr. 

Recto was the President of Marcventures Holdings, Inc. and Lepanto Consolidated Mining 

Corporation. Mr. Recto obtained both of his Bachelor’s Degrees in Electrical Engineering and in 

Mechanical Engineering from the University of the Philippines. He also earned his Master’s Degree 

in Industrial Management from the same University. 

 

Mr. Conrado G. Marty 79 years old, Filipino, has been a member of the Board of Directors of the 

Corporation since 2006. Mr. Marty is also a member of the Audit Committee of the Corporation. He 

is the Chairman of Universal LMS Finance and Leasing Corporation and is also the Vice Chairman 

of Hariphil Asia Resources Inc. Mr. Marty holds a Bachelor in Business Administration Major in 

Accounting from University of the East and is a Certified Public Accountant. He obtained his Master 

in Business Administration major in Finance from the Wharton School, University of Pennsylvania.  

 

Mr. Manuel E. Dimaculangan, 58 years old, Filipino, serve as an independent director of the 

corporation since 2022. He is the President and CEO of Pacific World Security. He is also an 

independent Director of Coyiuto Securities.  
 

Mr. Melvin O. Vergara, 53 years old, Filipino, has been a member of the Board of Directors since 

May 2011. He is also currently a Director of Healthcare Systems of Asia Philippines, Inc. and 

FortMED Clinics Makati. He was a Consultant of the same company from 2000 to 2002. He earned 

his Degree in Business Administration from the University of Sto. Tomas. He is the son of Wilfrido 

V. Vergara. 

 

Mr. Christopher Brian C. Dy, 40 years old, Filipino, is the Assistant Vice President of the 

Corporation. Mr. Dy has been a member of the Board of Directors of the Corporation since May 2011. 

He is also the Vice President of Crown Central Properties Corporation. He also served as the 

purchasing officer of Fortmed Medical Clinics in 2010. He earned his Bachelor of Science in 

Management, Major in Management Communications Technology from the Ateneo de Manila 

University. He is the son of Mr. Romuald U. Dy Tang. 

 

Mr. Nixon Y. Lim, 54 years old, is a seasoned business leader with extensive experience in the 

manufacturing and packaging industries. He is an accomplished professional with wide experience 
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in the business world, operations management, and corporate governance. He holds a Bachelor of 

Science in Physics from De La Salle University, Manila, which he completed in 1991. His leadership 

roles are impressive; he serves as the Chairman, President, and CEO of Steniel Manufacturing 

Corporation, and the President of several affiliated companies Greenstone Packaging Corporation, 

Lamitek Systems, Inc., Greenkraft Corporation, and GreenSiam Resources Corp. including SMC 

Subsidiaries Steniel Cavite Packaging Corporation and Steniel Mindanso Packaging  Corporation. 

His diverse portfolio of companies reflects his entrepreneurial spirit and expertise in driving business 

growth across various sectors.  
 

Atty. Rodolfo B. Fernandez, 68 years old, Filipino, is an independent director of the Corporation. 

He is also the Chairman of the Corporate Governance Committee and member of the Audit 

Committee and Board Risk Oversight Committee. Atty. Fernandez is currently an independent 

director of Medco Holdings, Inc. and sits in the board of Reference Group Financial Services, Inc. 

He is also a director and corporate secretary of The Organization of Property Stakeholders. He was 

formerly Chief Compliance and AMLA Officer of BPI Family Savings Bank, Head of Compliance 

and Legal of BPI Asset Management and Trust Group (AMTG) and BPI Mutual Fund Companies, 

Head of the BPI Account Management 4, Chief Legal Counsel of Far East Bank and Trust Co., and 

Head of Legal and Product Development of FEBTC – Trust Department. An expert and lecturer on 

estate planning, he obtained his Bachelor of Laws from the UP College of Law and his AB Political 

Science from the University of Santo Tomas. 

 

Mr. Reynaldo V. Reyes, 82 years old, is an independent director of both the Corporation and Argent 

Capital Holdings, Inc. He is also a Member of the Corporate Governance Committee, Related Party 

Transaction Committee, and Investments Committee. Mr. Reyes spent his most productive years as 

a military serviceman from age 17 to compulsory retirement at age 56. He served as a PAF line pilot, 

Squadron Commander, Wing Commander and went on to become Air Division Commander 

stationed in Zamboanga, Mindanao after which he was placed in command of the Western 

Command (WESCOM) in charge of Palawan and the West Philippine Sea. He had modest exposure 

in business management while detailed at the Defense Department as head of the Defense 

Management Division and Deputy Assistant Secretary for Comptrollership. There he served in 

concurrent capacity as Senior Vice President of the AFP pension fund performing a wide range of 

functions from lending, treasury management and managing property holdings of the fund. He was 

a member of the Philippine Stock Exchange from 1999 to 2006, being then the Chairman and 

President of stock brokerage firm Public Securities Corporation. He was at the same time President 

and CEO of an investment house, Resources and Investments Corporate House Inc. (RICH). He 

served as Director of the Securities Clearing Corporation (SCCP), and also as member of the PSE 

Listing Committee. Mr. Reyes graduated from the Philippine Military Academy in 1964 with a 

Bachelor’s Degree. His in-service career training included courses in Resource Management at the 

US Naval Post Graduate School in Monterey, USA; Industrial College of the US Armed Forces; 

Command and Staff Course at the Air University, Montgomery, Alabama, USA and ADMU MBA 

off-campus course. 

 

Mr. Emilio S. de Quiros, Jr., 76 years old, is an Independent Director of the Corporation. He is 

also a Member of the Compensation and Remuneration Committee, Board Risk Oversight 

Committee, Related Party Transaction Committee, and Investments Committee. Mr. De Quiros is 

also an independent director of Atlas Consolidated Mining and Development Corporation, an 

independent director of Sunlife Investment Management & Trust Corporation and an Independent 

Director of Capital Markets Integrity Corporation. He was previously the President and Chief 

Executive Officer of the Social Security System (SSS) and also served as a Director of Belle 

Corporation, UnionBank of the Philippines, Philex Mining Corporation and Philhealth Insurance 

Corporation. Prior to his appointment as President of SSS, he served as Executive Vice President of 

Bank of the Philippine Islands and President of Ayala Life Insurance Inc., Ayala Plans Inc. and a 

director of BPI Bancassurance, Inc. Mr. De Quiros graduated from Ateneo de Naga with a Bachelor 

of Arts in Economics degree (Cum Laude), and holds a Master of Arts in Economics degree from 

University of the Philippines. 
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Ms. Clare D. Alvarez, has been a member of the Board of Directors of the Corporation 
since 2022. She is the President, CEO and Nominee of Guild Securities, Inc. Ms. Alvarez is 
also the Co-Founder of Universe 8 Holdings Inc - a holding company with interests in food 
and beverage, pharmaceutical retail, distribution and entertainment. She graduated from 
the Asian Institute of Management with honors.  
 

Mr. Billy John E. Sia, 41 years old, Filipino, currently serves as the Vice President of the 

Corporation.  He is also a director of Crown Central Properties Corp.  He has a combined 17 years 

of experience in controllership, audit and information technology in industries such as banking, real 

estate and manufacturing.  Mr. Sia graduated from De La Salle University, Manila in 2005 earning 

a Bachelor of Science degree in Accountancy and a Bachelor of Arts degree in Political Science.  He 

placed 19th in the May 2006 CPA licensure examination. 

 

(b.) Significant Employees 

 

The Corporation has no employee who is not an executive officer but is expected to make a 

significant contribution to the business. 

 

(c.) Family Relationships 

 

Mr. Patrick Warren D. Go, Compliance Officer and member of the Board of Directors, is the son 

of Mr. George L. Go, Chairman of the Board of Directors. Mr. Melvin O. Vergara is the son of Mr. 

Wilfrido V. Vergara, Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors while Mr. Christopher Brian C. Dy 

is the son of Mr. Romuald U. Dy Tang, President. Aside from the foregoing, no other directors or 

executive officer are related up to the fourth civil degree either by consanguinity or affinity. 

 

(d.) Involvement in Certain Legal Proceedings  

 

The Corporation has no knowledge of the involvement of the current directors and executive 

officers, in any legal proceedings as defined in the Securities Regulation Code for the last five (5) 

years up to the date of this report. 

 

Further, the Corporation is not involved in or aware of any material legal proceedings, tax 

assessments and tax cases in court or other regulatory bodies as at and for the year ended December 

31, 2024,  that may significantly affect the Corporation, or any of its subsidiaries or affiliates. 

 

(e.) Certain Relationships and Related Transactions 

 

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the 

other party or exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial and operating 

decisions. Parties are also considered to be related if they are subject to common control or common 

significant influence over the other party in making financial and operating decisions. Parties are 

also considered to be related if they are subject to common control or common significant influence. 

Related parties may be individuals or corporate entities. Transactions between related parties are 

on arm’s length basis in a manner similar to transactions with non-related parties.  

 

During the last three years, there were no transactions or series of similar transactions with or 

involving the Corporation or any of its subsidiaries in which a director, executive officer, nominee 

for election as a director or stockholder owning ten percent (10%) or more of total outstanding 

shares and members of their immediate family, had or is to have a direct or indirect material interest. 
 

(f.) The Corporation has no controlling or parent company. 

 

 

 



 

45 

 

(F) Market Price and Dividends 

 

(a) Market Price 

 

The Corporation’s securities are traded only in the Philippine Stock Exchange and no market for 

the shares is expected to be developed outside the Philippines.  For the last two (2) years, the highs 

and lows of stock market prices for Crown Equities, Inc.’s equity shares are as follows: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

As of March 31, 2025, the closing price of the Corporation’s common shares was 0.0530, thus 

resulting in a market capitalization of P1,107,039,996.30 (based on 14,959,999,950 outstanding 

common shares). 

 

(b) Holders  

 

There were 362 shareholders of CEI as of April 30, 2025. The top 20 stockholders on record as of 

April 30, 2025 are as follows: 

 

 NAME CITIZENSHIP 
TOTAL 

SHARES 
% 

1 PCD NOMINEE CORP.   Filipino / Others 13,985,944,479 93.4889 

2 TONG, MARIE LOUISE Y.   Filipino 245,905,000 1.6438  

3 TONG, ROBIN Y.   Filipino 245,905,000 1.6438  

4 TONG, WELLINGTON Y.   Filipino 245,905,000 1.6438  

5 DAVID GO SECURITIES, CORP.  Filipino 30,800,000 0.2059  

6 
GCV MANAGEMENT & CONSULTING 

CORPORATION  
Filipino 24,085,600 0.1610  

7 ACUNA, EMMANUEL E.   Filipino 20,213,600 0.1351  

8 PINPIN, ELISA T.   Filipino 13,200,000 0.0882   

9 ALCANTARA, EDITHA   Filipino 8,800,000 0.0588  

10 ONG, RODERICK PHILIP Filipino 8,800,000 0.0588  

11 RIEZA, RENE DANIEL S.   Filipino 8,800,000 0.0588  

12 KATSUTOSHI, SHIMIZU   Filipino 6,160,000 0.0412  

13 ONGSIAKO, MARGARITA   Filipino 5,438,400 0.0364  

14 
LEE II, ANTHONY PETER BRYAN 

TIONG   
Filipino 5,280,000 0.0353  

15 PO, ALFONSO L. &/OR LETTY PO   Filipino 4,400,000 0.0294  

16 REYES, MICHAEL   Filipino 4,400,000 0.0294  

17 TE, LUIS SOW Filipino 4,400,000 0.0294  

18 WARD MANAGEMENT CORPORATION Filipino 4,400,000 0.0294  

19 JOCELYN N. YUJUICO ITF CHILDREN Filipino 3,520,000 0.0235 

20 ACUNA, ROSARIO Filipino 3,080,000 0.0206 

  HIGH LOW 

2025 January – March 0.012 0.057 

    

2024 October – December  0.066 0.053 

 July – September 0.083 0.060 

 April – June 0.097 0.068 

 January – March 0.120 0.058 

    

2023 October – December  0.081 0.073 

 July – September 0.085 0.073 

 April – June 0.087 0.073 

 January – March  0.100 0.073 
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As of April 30, 2025, the number of PCD Nominee-lodged common shares owned and held by non-

Philippine nationals is 114,809,020.  
 

(c) Dividends 

 

• On February 26, 2019, the Board of Directors (BOD) declared ten percent (10%) stock 

dividends to be distributed to the shareholders, subject to the necessary corporate and 

regulatory approvals, if any.  

 

• There were no stock dividends declared on common shares prior to 2019.  

 

• On May 4, 2024, the BOD approved the declaration of property dividends at an entitlement 

ratio of 0.10 common shares, to be issued from treasury shares, for every one common 

share. This supersedes BOD’s approval of stock dividend declaration on February 28, 

2023, which was not presented for stockholder’s approval. 

 

• Except for the availability of retained earnings, there are no restrictions that limit the ability 

of the Corporation to pay dividends on common equity and no such restriction is expected 

to arise in the future. 

 

(d) Recent Sales of Unregistered or Exempt Securities including Recent Issuance of Securities 

Constituting an Exempt Transaction 

 

In the last three (3) years, the Corporation has not sold unregistered or exempt securities, 

nor has it issued securities constituting an exempt transaction. 

 

(G)  Compliance with Leading Practices on Corporate Governance 

 

(a) Evaluation System 

 

Since the implementation of its Manual on Corporate Governance in 2003, compliance with it has 

been satisfactory and no sanction has been imposed on any member of the organization for 

deviating from the Manual. The Corporation ensures that its directors, officers and employees are 

familiar with and adhere to this Manual on Corporate Governance. 

  

The Corporation adopted and implemented its Manual on Corporate Governance in 2003 to 

institutionalize the principles of good corporate governance in the entire organization and to 

supplement its By-Laws. The Corporation maintains four (4) independent directors in its Board and 

has designated a Compliance Officer to oversee the implementation of the Manual. Pursuant to the 

Manual, the Corporation created a Nomination Committee to pre-screen and shortlist all candidates 

nominated to become a member of the Board. A Compensation and Remuneration Committee was 

also formed to develop policies on executive remuneration; and an Audit Committee to check all 

financial reports and to provide oversight on financial management functions. 

 

In addition to the foregoing committees, the Corporation has a five-member Executive Committee 

that regularly meets to discuss the Corporation’s day-to-day operation. 
 

To ensure optimum Board performance, the Corporation conducts annual performance evaluations 

of the Board of Directors, its individual members and Board Committees. Through the evaluation 

process, directors identify areas for improvement, as well as other forms of assistance that they may 

need in the performance of their duties. The Board reviews the results of these evaluations and 

agrees on clear action plans to address any issues raised.  

 

The  Manual defines the Corporation’s compliance system and identifies the roles and 
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responsibilities of the Board and Management in relation to corporate governance. It contains the 

Corporation’s policies on disclosures and transparency, corporate governance and the rights and 

protection of stakeholders. 

 

(b) Measures on Leading Practices of Good Corporate Governance 

 

The Board of Directors shall review the Manual from time to time and recommend the amendment 

thereof with the goal of achieving better transparency and accountability. The Compliance Officer 

continues to evaluate the compliance of the Corporation, its directors, officers, and employees with 

its existing Manual, which may be amended from time to time. 

 

(c) Any Deviation from the Manual 

 

There was no material deviation in compliance with the Manual for the year 2024. 

 

(d)  Improvement of the Corporate Governance 

 

In 2017, the Corporation amended its Manual to comply with the Revised Code of Corporate 

Governance. 

 

The Corporation has adopted the policy of reviewing its Manual on an annual basis at the Board 

level with the aim of constantly improving its corporate governance. 
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Undertaking to Provide Annual Report 

 

 

The Corporation undertakes to provide, without charge, each stockholder a copy of the 

Corporation’s Annual Report on SEC Form 17-A upon written request to the Corporation 

addressed to: 

 

 

ATTY. MARK O. VERGARA 

Corporate Secretary 

5/F Crown Center 

158 N. Garcia Corner Jupiter Streets 

Makati City 

 

 

At the discretion of the Corporation, a charge may be made for exhibits, provided such charge 

is limited to reasonable expenses incurred by the Corporation in furnishing such exhibits.



 

SCHEDULE A 

 
 

 
 

 
CROWN EQUITIES, INC. 

2025 ANNUAL STOCKHOLDERS’ MEETING 
May 27, 2025 at 2:00 p.m. 

 
Guidelines for Participating via Remote Communication and Voting In Absentia 

 
The 2025 Annual Stockholders’ Meeting (“ASM”) of Crown Equities, Inc. (“CEI” or the 
“Company”) will be held on May 27, 2025, Tuesday, at 2:00 p.m. Stockholders of record as of 
April 11, 2025 are entitled to notice of, to attend and, to participate in and vote at the ASM or 
any adjournment thereof. 
 
CEI will not be conducting a physical ASM. Stockholders may attend, vote at, and participate 
in, the ASM via proxy and remote communication or in absentia. 
 
Pursuant to Sections 23 and 57 of the Revised Corporation Code and SEC Memorandum 
Circular No. 6-2020, which allow voting in absentia, the Company has set up the following 
procedure for stockholder registration, participation via remote communication and voting in 
absentia on the ASM agenda items.  
 
Stockholders who vote in absentia or who participate via remote communication shall be 
deemed present for purposes of quorum. 
 
(1) Pre-ASM Registration and Validation Procedures 
 
Stockholders who choose to participate in the ASM via remote communication and cast their 
votes in absentia must notify the Corporate Secretary no later than May 17, 2025 by submitting 
the complete supporting documents with transmittal letter to the Office of the Corporate 
Secretary at Martinez Vergara & Gonzalez Sociedad located at the 33rd Floor, The Orient 
Square, F. Ortigas Jr. Road, Ortigas Center, Pasig City via COURIER/PERSONAL DELIVERY 
OR by sending scanned copies of the foregoing via EMAIL to 
<asm_emails@crownequitiesinc.com> . 
 
Scanned copies of the documents submitted as attachments via email must be in clear copies 
in JPG or PDF format, with each file size not exceeding 2MB.  
 
The Office of the Corporate Secretary, via-email reply within three (3) business days from 
receipt of the documents, will either confirm successful registration and provide the link and 
meeting details to the Company’s 2025 ASM OR require resubmission in case of deficient 
documents. Should you not receive an e-mail reply within three (3) business days from receipt 
of your submission, please call +632 8687 1195.  
  

CROWN EQUITIES 
 

I    N   C   O   R    P   O   R    A   T    E   D 
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Documentary Requirements 
 

Certificated Individual Stockholders 
  

1. Stockholder’s valid government-issued ID2 with photo, signature and personal 
details, preferably with residential address 

2.  Stock certificate number/s 
3.  A valid and active e-mail address and contact number of the stockholder 
4. In case of proxy appointment, a duly accomplished and signed proxy indicating 

the votes on the agenda items.  
  

Certificated Multiple Stockholders or Joint Owners 
  

1. Valid government-issued ID3 of ALL stockholders–- with photo, signature and 
personal details, preferably with residential address  

2.  Stock certificate number/s 
3.  A valid and active e-mail address and contact number of the authorized 

representative 
4. Proof of authority of stockholder voting the shares signed by the other registered 

stockholders, for shares registered in the name of multiple stockholders (need 
not be notarized) 

5. In case of proxy appointment, a duly accomplished and signed proxy indicating 
the votes on the agenda items.  

  
Certificated Corporate/Partnership Stockholders 

  
1. Secretary’s Certification of Board resolution attesting to the authority of the 

representative to participate by remote communication for and on behalf of the 
Corporate/Partnership  

2.  Stock certificate number/s 
3. Authorized representative’s valid government-issued ID4 with photo, signature 

and personal details, preferably with residential address  
4.  A valid and active e-mail address and contact number of the authorized 

representative 
5. In case of proxy appointment, a duly accomplished and signed proxy indicating 

the votes on the agenda items.  
  

Stockholders with Shares under PCD Participant/Broker Account 
  

1. Certification from broker as to the number of shares owned by the stockholder 
2. Stockholder’s valid government-issued ID5 with photo, signature and personal 

details, preferably with residential address 
3.  A valid and active e-mail address and contact number of the stockholder 
4. In case of proxy appointment, a duly accomplished and signed proxy indicating 

the votes on the agenda items.  

 

 
2 E.g. passport, driver’s license, unified multipurpose ID 
3 Same as above 
4 Same as above 
5 Same as above 
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(2) Online Voting 
 
Stockholders who have successfully registered will be duly notified via email by the Office of 
the Corporate Secretary. Registered stockholders may then cast their votes for the agenda 
items by accomplishing the print-out of CEI’s ballot form. The ballot form can be accessed and 
downloaded from CEI’s website at <https://www.crownequitiesinc.com/investor/>. 
 
 

Steps for Voting  
  
1. Access and download the ballot form. 
  
2. Vote on each agenda item on the ballot print-out. 

 
Kindly refer to the rationale for agenda items appended to the Notice of Meeting for a brief 
description of each agenda item. 

   
  2.a. Stockholders may vote “Yes”, “No”, or “Abstain” on each agenda item for 

approval. 
   
 2.b. For the election of directors, a stockholder has the following options: 

 
i. vote for all nominees; 
ii. withhold vote for any of the nominees; or 
iii. vote for certain nominees only 

 
Reminder: A stockholder (a) may vote such number of his/her shares for as many 
persons as there are directors to be elected, or (b) may cumulate said shares and give 
one (1) candidate as many votes as the number of directors to be elected (15 
Directors) multiplied by the number of his shares shall equal, or (c) may distribute 
them on the same principle among as many candidates as he/she shall see fit, 
provided, that the total number of votes cast shall not exceed the number of shares 
owned by the stockholder. 

  
3. Upon finalizing his/her vote, the stockholder can submit the ballot by sending a 

clear, scanned copy thereof in JPG or PDF format to 
<asm_emails@crownequitiesinc.com> no later than May 26, 2025. 
 
The e-mail attachment file size must not exceeding 2MB. 

 
(3) ASM Proper  
 
Stockholders who have successfully registered can participate via remote means of 
communication by accessing the link and meeting details provided by the Office of the 
Corporate Secretary. Instructions on how to join the meeting will also be provided to registered 
stockholders in the confirmation of registration via e-mail reply from 
<asm_emails@crownequitiesinc.com> .  
 
The meeting proceedings shall be recorded and adequately maintained by the Company in 
video and/or audio format, and will be made available to participating stockholders upon 



 

4 

 

request. Stockholders may access the recording of the ASM by sending an e-mail request to 
<asm_emails@crownequitiesinc.com> . 
 
Open Forum 
 
The Company will hold an Open Forum during a portion of the virtual ASM, during which 
the meeting’s moderator will read and where representatives of the Company shall endeavor 
to answer as many of the matters or issues raised by stockholders as time will permit. 
 
Stockholders may send their questions/comments in advance by sending an email with the 
subject head “ASM 2025 Open Forum” to <asm_emails@crownequitiesinc.com> not later 
than 5:00 p.m. of May 26, 2025. Stockholders may also course their comments and/or questions 
during the ASM through the remote platform. 
 
Matters or issues raised and received but not entertained during the Open Forum due to time 
constraints will be addressed separately by CEI through the stockholders’ email address.  
 
For any clarifications on the foregoing procedures, or for any other ASM-related queries, 
please contact the Office of the Corporate Secretary at <asm_emails@crownequitiesinc.com> 
or the Company at <asm_emails@crownequitiesinc.com>. 
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS 
 
 
 
The Stockholders and Board of Directors 
Crown Equities, Inc. 
5th Floor Crown Center 
158 Jupiter cor. N. Garcia Sts. 
Bel-Air Makati City 
 
Opinion 
 
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Crown Equities, Inc. and 
Subsidiaries (the “Group”), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at December 31, 2024, and the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of 
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes, comprising material accounting policies 
and other explanatory information. 
 
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all 
material respects, the consolidated financial position of the Group as at December 31, 
2024, and its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the 
year then ended in accordance with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards (PFRS) 
Accounting Standards. 
 
Basis for Opinion 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing (PSAs).  
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our 
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants in the Philippines (Code of Ethics), together with the ethical 
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements in the 
Philippines, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
these requirements and the Code of Ethics. We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
 



Key Audit Matters 
 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most 
significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period.  
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a 
separate opinion on these matters. 
 
Revenue Recognition 
Refer to Notes 2 and 17 to the consolidated financial statements for the disclosures 
regarding the Group’s revenue recognition. 
 
The Risk 
 
Revenue is an important measure used to evaluate the performance of the Group and is 
generated from various sources. It is accounted for when control of the goods or 
services is transferred to the customer over time or at a point in time, at an amount that 
reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for 
those goods or services. While revenue recognition and measurement is generally not 
complex for the Group, revenues may be inappropriately recognized in order to improve 
business results and achieve revenue growth in line with the objectives of the Group, 
and with certain incentives tied up to the overall financial performance, thus increasing 
the risk of material misstatement. 
 
Our Response 
 
We performed the following audit procedures, among others, on revenue recognition: 
 
▪ We evaluated and assessed the revenue recognition policies in accordance with 

PFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, for contracts with customers and 
PFRS 16, Leases, for lease contracts.  
 
As part of our revenue recognition testing for real estate sales, we evaluated 
management’s basis of the buyer’s equity by comparing this to the historical analysis
of sales collections from buyers with accumulated payments above the collection 
threshold. We traced the analysis to cancelled sales monitoring and supporting 
documents such as Notice of Cancellations. 

 
▪ We evaluated and assessed the design and operating effectiveness of the key 

controls over the revenue process. 
 
▪ We performed test of details to ascertain accuracy and occurrence of revenue 

recognized through examination of related contracts with customers and relevant 
supporting documents of the samples selected, i.e., Health Maintenance 
Organization (HMO) contracts, billing statements and patient’s Statement of
Accounts (SOA) for sale of services; Contracts to Sell (CTS), Deeds of Absolute 
Sale (DOAS), invoices and/or official receipts and bank deposits slips for real estate 
sales; and lease contracts and other relevant supporting documents for rental and 
other revenue.  

 
▪ We performed recalculation procedures over interest income on real estate sales 

and dividend income from investments in quoted shares. 

 
 

 
 
 



▪ On a sampling basis, we performed sales cut-off procedures by testing sales 
transactions on varying numbers in the last month of the financial year and in the 
first month of the following financial year to relevant supporting documentation as 
indicated above, to assess whether these sales transactions are recognized in the 
appropriate financial year. 

 
▪ We tested journal entries posted in revenue accounts based on high risk criteria, 

including inspection of the source documentation to assess the validity of the 
business rationale and substantiation of corroborating evidence. 

 
Valuation of Investment Properties 
Refer to Note 10 to the consolidated financial statements for the disclosure regarding the 
Group’s investment properties. 
 
The Group’s investment properties, which are carried at cost, amounted to  
P1.21 billion as at December 31, 2024, or approximately 47% of the total consolidated 
assets. 
 
The Risk 
 
The valuation of investment properties account is significant to our audit because it 
involves significant management judgment and use of assumptions by management 
when selecting the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs used to determine fair 
value for disclosure purposes and in assessing events or circumstances that may 
indicate the impairment of these assets. 
 
Our Response 
 
We examined supporting documents such as contracts, DOAS, Tax Declaration of Real 
Property, Transfer of Certificate of Title, supplier invoices and/or official receipts to 
validate additions to investment properties. 
 
To determine fair value, we obtained the latest external appraisal reports and evaluated 
appropriateness of assumption and valuation method used and completeness of the 
information relied upon in the reports. We also evaluated the independence, 
competence and objectivity of the external expert engaged by the management to value 
the investment properties by ensuring that the expert is an accredited appraiser by the 
Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC).   
 
We have also reviewed the reasonableness of the assumptions used to estimate the fair 
value of the Group’s investment properties by: (1) testing raw land’s value by referring to
the value of similar properties; (2) testing condominium units and parking slots with the 
current fair value based on comparable properties; (3) utilizing the carrying values for 
building and land improvements; and (4) performing sensitivity analysis on assumptions 
used in determining the fair values.  
 
Goodwill Impairment Assessment 
Refer to Note 12 to the consolidated financial statements for the disclosure regarding the 
Group’s goodwill. 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 



The Group has goodwill amounting to P21.74 million as at December 31, 2024 which 
arose from the Group’s business acquisition transactions in 2014. Such goodwill has
been allocated to the Group’s cash-generating units (CGUs), comprising investment 
properties and the operations of a subsidiary.  Management has undertaken an annual 
impairment review in respect of this goodwill in accordance with the requirements of 
PAS 36, Impairment of Assets, and concluded that there was no impairment as at 
December 31, 2024. 
 
The Risk 
 
We consider this matter significant considering that the management’s assessment
process requires significant judgment and estimation and is based on assumptions 
which are subject to higher level of estimation uncertainty, subjectivity, and complexity in 
determining a number of key assumptions, such as growth rate, discount rate and gross 
margin for value-in-use (VIU), and fair values and estimated costs of disposal for fair 
value less costs of disposal (FVLCD).  
 
Our Response 
 
We obtained understanding of the goodwill impairment process and evaluated the 
design and implementation of relevant controls within the process. We performed 
retrospective review over management’s prior year projection and assumptions to
assess the reasonableness of the management estimation process and their ability to 
achieve them. 
 
For value-in-use, we evaluated the key assumptions applied, such as revenue growth 
rate and gross margin by comparing them to the historical performance of the CGU, 
industry/market outlook, and other relevant external data. We tested the parameters 
used in the determination of the discount rate against market data taking into account 
the specific circumstances that applies to the Group. We performed our own sensitivity 
analysis on the key assumptions, such as discount rates and growth rates, used to 
assess the extent of change that individually would be required for the goodwill to be 
impaired.  For FVLCD, we assessed the reasonableness of the determination of fair 
values based on the nature of the assets that make up the CGU and the estimation of 
the costs of disposal by comparing the assumption to actual historical data. We also 
performed our own sensitivity analysis on the key assumptions relating to adjustments to 
fair values and estimated costs of disposal. We involved our own valuation specialist to 
review our evaluation of the appropriateness of the methodologies applied and the 
assumptions used by management for calculation of VIU and FVLCD. 
 
We also evaluated the adequacy of the Group’s disclosures about those assumptions to
which the outcome of the impairment test is most sensitive, specifically those that have 
the most significant effect on the determination of the recoverable amounts of each 
CGU. 
 
Other Matter 
 
The consolidated financial statements of the Group as at and for each of the three years 
in the period ended December 31, 2023 were audited by another auditor who expressed 
an unmodified opinion on those consolidated financial statements on March 26, 2024. 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 



Other Information 
 
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises 
the information included in the SEC Form 20-IS (Definitive Information Statement), SEC 
Form 17-A and Annual Report for the year ended December 31, 2024, but does not 
include the consolidated financial statements and our auditors’ report thereon. The SEC
Form 20-IS (Definitive Information Statement), SEC Form 17-A and Annual Report for 
the year ended December 31, 2024 are expected to be made available to us after the 
date of this auditors’ report. 
 
Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other 
information and we will not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 
 
In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is 
to read the other information identified above when it becomes available and, in doing 
so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audits or otherwise 
appears to be materially misstated. 
 
Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the 
Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated 
financial statements in accordance with PFRS Accounting Standards, and for such 
internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of 
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due 
to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for 
assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, 
matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless 
management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no 
realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial 
reporting process. 
 
Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated 
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with PSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.  
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually 
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements. 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 



As part of an audit in accordance with PSAs, we exercise professional judgment and 
maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 
 
▪ Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial 

statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures 
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control. 

 
▪ Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design 

audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose 
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control. 

 
▪ Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 

accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management. 
 
▪ Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis

of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on 
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the 
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures 
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or 
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern. 

 
▪ Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial 

statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial 
statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that 
achieves fair presentation. 

 
▪ Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence 

regarding the financial information of the entities or business units within the Group 
as a basis for forming an opinion on the group financial statements.  We are 
responsible for the direction, supervision and review of the audit work performed for 
purposes of the group audit.  We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 



We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, 
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any 
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 
 
We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied 
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and communicate with them 
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our 
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards 
applied. 
 
From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine 
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial 
statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe 
these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter 
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing 
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such 
communication. 
 
The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditors’ report is
Emerald Anne C. Bagnes. 
 
 
R.G. MANABAT & CO. 
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Partner 
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SEC Accreditation No. 83761-SEC, Group A, valid for the audit of annual financial 
  statements for the year ended December 31, 2024 and up to audit of annual financial 
  statements for the year ended December 31, 2025, pursuant to SEC Notice dated  
  April 4, 2025 
Tax Identification No. 102-082-332 
BIR Accreditation No. 08-001987-012-2024 
  Issued July 17, 2024; valid until July 17, 2027 
PTR No. MKT 10467166 
  Issued January 2, 2025 at Makati City 
 
 
April 15, 2025 
Makati City, Metro Manila 
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS ON  
COMPONENTS OF FINANCIAL SOUNDNESS INDICATORS 
 
 
 
The Stockholders and Board of Directors 
Crown Equities, Inc.  
5th Floor Crown Center 
158 Jupiter cor. N. Garcia Sts. 
Bel-Air Makati City 
 
We have audited, in accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing, the consolidated 
financial statements of Crown Equities, Inc. and Subsidiaries (the “Group”) as at and for
the year ended December 31, 2024, and have issued our report thereon dated  
April 15, 2025. 
 
Our audit was made for the purpose of forming an opinion on the consolidated financial 
statements taken as a whole. The Supplementary Schedule on Financial Soundness 
Indicators, including their definitions, formulas, calculation and their appropriateness or 
usefulness to the intended users, are the responsibility of the Group’s management.
These financial soundness indicators are not measures of operating performance 
defined by Philippine Financial Reporting Standards (PFRS) Accounting Standards and 
may not be comparable to similarly titled measures presented by other companies. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



This schedule is presented for the purpose of complying with the Revised Securities 
Regulation Code Rule 68 issued by the Securities and Exchange Commission, and is 
not a required part of the consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with 
PFRS Accounting Standards. The components of these financial soundness indicators 
have been traced to the consolidated financial statements as at and for the year ended 
December 31, 2024 and no material exceptions were noted. 
 
 
R.G. MANABAT & CO. 
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Partner 
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  statements for the year ended December 31, 2025, pursuant to SEC Notice dated  
  April 4, 2025 
Tax Identification No. 102-082-332 
BIR Accreditation No. 08-001987-012-2024 
  Issued July 17, 2024; valid until July 17, 2027 
PTR No. MKT 10467166 
  Issued January 2, 2025 at Makati City 
 
 
April 15, 2025 
Makati City, Metro Manila 
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS  
ON SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 
 
 
 
The Stockholders and Board of Directors 
Crown Equities, Inc. 
5th Floor Crown Center 
158 Jupiter cor. N. Garcia Sts. 
Bel-Air Makati City 
 
We have audited, in accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing, the consolidated 
financial statements of Crown Equities, Inc. and Subsidiaries (the “Group”) as at and for
the year ended December 31, 2024, included in this Form 17-A, and have issued our 
report thereon dated April 15, 2025. 
 
Our audit was made for the purpose of forming an opinion on the consolidated financial 
statements taken as a whole. The supplementary information included in the following 
accompanying additional components is the responsibility of the Group’s management.
Such additional components include: 
 

▪ Reconciliation of Retained Earnings Available for Dividend Declaration; 
▪ Map of Group of Companies within which the Company belongs; and 
▪ Supplementary Schedules of Annex 68-J. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



This supplementary information is presented for purposes of complying with the Revised 
Securities Regulation Code Rule 68 and is not a required part of the consolidated 
financial statements. Such supplementary information has been subjected to the 
auditing procedures applied in the audit of the consolidated financial statements and, in 
our opinion, is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the consolidated 
financial statements taken as a whole. 
 
 
R.G. MANABAT & CO. 
 
 
 
 
EMERALD ANNE C. BAGNES 
Partner 
CPA License No. 0083761 
SEC Accreditation No. 83761-SEC, Group A, valid for the audit of annual financial 
  statements for the year ended December 31, 2024 and up to audit of annual financial 
  statements for the year ended December 31, 2025, pursuant to SEC Notice dated  
  April 4, 2025 
Tax Identification No. 102-082-332 
BIR Accreditation No. 08-001987-012-2024 
  Issued July 17, 2024; valid until July 17, 2027 
PTR No. MKT 10467166 
  Issued January 2, 2025 at Makati City 
 
 
April 15, 2025 
Makati City, Metro Manila 
 
 
 



CROWN EQUITIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2024 
(With Comparative Figures As At December 31, 2023) 

   

 Note 2024 2023 

ASSETS    

Current Assets    
Cash and cash equivalents 4, 27, 28  P649,740,893 P767,717,527 
Short-term investments 5, 27 73,708,106 17,790,000 
Investments in quoted shares 6, 27 28 84,571,666 85,865,768 
Receivables - net 7, 27, 28 58,460,186 65,200,713 
Inventories 8 74,257,660 77,831,881 
Other current assets 9, 27, 28 39,236,824 40,021,408 

Total Current Assets  979,975,335 1,054,427,297 

Noncurrent Assets     
Installment contracts receivable - net of 

current portion 7, 27, 28 63,924,667 81,243,140 
Loans receivable - net of current portion 7, 27, 28 9,753,006 10,032,911 
Investment properties  10 1,209,864,212 1,072,639,762 
Property and equipment 11 261,880,156 271,392,417 
Goodwill 12 21,740,604 21,740,604 
Deferred income tax assets - net 26 12,214,596 12,486,216 
Other noncurrent assets 13, 27, 28 16,528,587 19,001,107 

Total Noncurrent Assets  1,595,905,828 1,488,536,157 

  P2,575,881,163 P2,542,963,454 

    

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY    

Current Liabilities    
Accounts and other payables 14, 27, 28 P176,404,536 P157,301,572 
Income tax payable  754,349 1,162,508 

Total Current Liabilities  177,158,885 158,464,080 

Noncurrent Liabilities    
Net retirement benefits liability 15 29,744,978 26,979,499 
Deferred income tax liabilities - net 26 6,237,125 6,461,899 
Security deposits 25 4,217,691 4,140,506 

Total Noncurrent Liabilities  40,199,794 37,581,904 

Total Liabilities  217,358,679 196,045,984 

Equity     
Capital stock 16 1,977,523,246 1,977,523,246 
Additional paid-in capital 16 118,570,274 118,570,274 
Other equity reserves  (20,175,638) (18,771,021) 
Treasury stock - at cost 16 (481,523,251) (481,523,251) 
Retained earnings  603,673,585 581,666,853 

Equity attributable to equity holders of the 
Parent Company  2,198,068,216  2,177,466,101 

Non-controlling interests 16 160,454,268 169,451,369 

Total Equity  2,358,522,484 2,346,917,470 

  P2,575,881,163 P2,542,963,454 

    

See Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
 



CROWN EQUITIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024 
(With Comparative Figures for the Years Ended December 31, 2023 and 2022) 

  

 Note 2024 2023 2022 

REVENUE 17    
Sale of services  P61,505,146 P68,697,725 P65,470,038 
Real estate sales  21,574,140 63,181,118 112,671,264 
Rental income 25 16,981,328 16,622,127 14,455,349 
Interest income from installment 

contracts receivable 7 12,819,848 16,170,301 19,571,409 
Dividend income 6 4,561,348 5,757,732 10,611,771 

  117,441,810 170,429,003 222,779,831 

DIRECT COSTS 18 42,067,189 54,946,219 71,418,756  

GROSS INCOME  75,374,621 115,482,784 151,361,075 

SELLING AND 
ADMINISTRATIVE 
EXPENSES 19 (98,582,221) (96,817,649) (103,874,676) 

OTHER INCOME - Net 22 57,395,403 44,332,582 35,622,109 

NCOME BEFORE INCOME TAX  34,187,803 62,997,717 83,108,508 

INCOME TAX EXPENSE 26 5,633,034 9,971,329 14,638,863 

NET INCOME  28,554,769 53,026,388 68,469,645 

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE 
INCOME (LOSS)     

Items that will not be 
reclassified subsequently to 
profit or loss     

Remeasurement gain on net 
retirement benefits liability - 
net of tax 15 1,120,700 324,267 1,824,004 

Unrealized fair value loss on 
financial assets at fair value 
through other comprehensive 
income (FVOCI)  13 (2,493,532) -     -     

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE 
INCOME  P27,181,937 P53,350,655 P70,293,649 

NET INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE 
TO     

Equity holders of the Parent 
Company  P22,006,732 P39,529,284 P50,664,302 

Non-controlling interests  6,548,037 13,497,104 17,805,343 

  28,554,769 53,026,388 68,469,645 

Forward     

 

 
 



  

 Note 2024 2023 2022 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE 
INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE 
TO     

Equity holders of the Parent 
Company  P20,602,115 P39,797,194 P52,436,950 

Non-controlling interests  6,579,822 13,553,461 17,856,699 

  P27,181,937 P53,350,655 P70,293,649 

BASIC/DILUTED EARNINGS 
PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE 
TO EQUITY HOLDERS OF 
THE PARENT COMPANY 24 P0.0015 P0.0026 P0.0034 

     

See Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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CROWN EQUITIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024 
(With Comparative Figures for the Years Ended December 31, 2023 and 2022) 

  

 Note 2024 2023 2022 

CASH FLOWS FROM 
OPERATING ACTIVITIES     

Income before income tax   P34,187,803 P62,997,717 P83,108,508 
Adjustments for:     

Depreciation 18, 19, 21 16,786,984 14,820,040 12,205,647 
Retirement benefits costs 15 4,259,751 3,800,306 9,786,814 
Loss on cancellation or 

forfeiture 22 770,996 220,531 105,448 
Interest income from:     

Cash in banks and short-
term placements 4 (36,684,748) (32,547,888) (9,136,837) 

Installment contracts 
receivable 7 (12,819,849) (16,170,301) (19,571,409) 

Loans receivable 7, 22 (663,527) (41,167) (999,999) 
Unrealized foreign exchange 

gains - net 22 (5,086,318) (970,289) (5,172,968) 
Dividend income 6, 17 (4,561,348) (5,757,732) (10,611,771) 
Unrealized losses (gains) on 

changes in fair value of 
investments in quoted 
shares 6, 22 (3,051,300) 6,069,675 2,871,773 

Gain on redemption of short-
term investments 22 (2,071,808) (1,160,356) (1,876,698) 

Unrealized gain on changes 
in fair value of short-term 
investments 5 (758,106) -     -     

Reversal of allowance for  
impairment losses on 
receivables 7, 22 -     (523,257) (112,289) 

Gain on sale of investment 
properties 10, 22 -     -     (26,401,480) 

Operating income (loss) before 
working capital changes  (9,691,470) 30,737,279 34,194,739 

Decrease (increase) in:     
Short-term investments  (53,088,192) (16,629,644) 1,876,698 
Investments in quoted shares  4,345,402 69,915,702 51,558,127 
Receivables  25,024,928 10,279,943 (15,932,821) 
Inventories  1,745,525 10,310,938 22,832,603 
Other current assets  1,842,284 1,716,748 8,706,914 

Increase (decrease) in:     
Accounts and other payables  5,690,979 857,836 (8,536,929) 
Security deposits  77,185 563,108 434,928 

Cash generated from (absorbed 
by) operations  (24,053,359) 107,751,910 95,134,259 

Interest received  48,556,110 48,759,356 29,708,245 
Dividends received  4,561,348 5,757,732 10,611,771 
Income taxes paid  (6,367,916) (13,102,627) (16,806,138) 
Retirement benefits paid 15 -     (342,547) (3,712,500) 

Net cash flows provided by 
operating activities  22,696,183 148,823,824 114,935,637 

Forward     



  

 Note 2024 2023 2022 

CASH FLOWS FROM 
INVESTING ACTIVITIES     

Collections of loans receivable:     
Interest 22 P663,527 P   -     P   -     
Principal 7 262,464 15,497 20,000,000 

Additions to:     
Investment properties 10 (125,321,205) (3,194,600) (1,985,256) 
Property and equipment 11 (5,766,048) (14,581,251) (15,122,225) 

Increase in other noncurrent 
assets  (21,013) -     -     

Loan granted to a third party 7 -     (10,310,872) -     
Proceeds from sale of 

investment properties 10 -     -     31,432,500 

Net cash flows provided by 
(used in) investing activities  (130,182,275) (28,071,226) 34,325,019 

CASH FLOWS FROM A 
FINANCING ACTIVITY     

Dividends paid to non-
controlling interests 16 (15,576,860) -     (31,153,846) 

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) 
IN CASH AND CASH 
EQUIVALENTS  (123,062,952) 120,752,598 118,106,810 

EFFECT OF FOREIGN 
EXCHANGE RATE 
CHANGES ON CASH AND 
CASH EQUIVALENTS  5,086,318 970,289 5,172,968 

CASH AND CASH 
EQUIVALENTS AT 
BEGINNING OF YEAR  767,717,527 645,994,640 522,714,862 

CASH AND CASH 
EQUIVALENTS AT END OF 
YEAR 4 P649,740,893 P767,717,527 P645,994,640 

 

See Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. 

 
 
 



CROWN EQUITIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

AS AT AND FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024 
 
 
 
1. General Information 

 
Corporate Information 
Crown Equities, Inc. (“CEI” or the “Parent Company”) was incorporated and
registered with the Philippine Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) on 
October 24, 1969. The registration was extended for another 50 years in 2018. 
Under the Revised Corporation Code of the Philippines (the “RCC”), which was
signed into law on February 20, 2019, a corporation with certificate of incorporation 
issued prior to the effective date of the RCC and which continues to exist shall have 
perpetual existence. Accordingly, the Parent Company has perpetual corporate term. 
The Parent Company is an investment holding company, currently engaged in the 
business of real estate development and healthcare through its subsidiaries. Its 
shares of stock are listed on the Philippine Stock Exchange (PSE). The Parent 
Company is also the ultimate parent company. 
 
The Parent Company’s registered office is located at 5th Floor Crown Center, 158
Jupiter cor. N. Garcia Sts., Bel-Air Makati City. 
 
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of CEI and the following 
subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”): 
 

Subsidiary 
% of 

Ownership 
Nature of  
Business 

Principal Place of 
Business 

Crown Central Properties, 
Corp. (CCPC) 

48% Real Estate Biñan, Laguna 

Parkfield Land Holdings, Inc. 
(PLHI) 

75% Real Estate Makati City 

Healthcare Systems of Asia 
Philippines, Inc (HSAPI) 

97% Holding Makati City 

Fortmed Medical Clinics 
Makati, Inc. (FMCMI) (a) 

97% Healthcare Makati City 

Argent Capital Holdings 
Corporation (ACHC) 

100% Holding Makati City 

(a) Indirectly owned through HSAPI. 

 
CCPC 
CCPC was incorporated and registered with the SEC on September 3, 1996 and is 
engaged in acquiring, developing and selling real estate properties. CCPC has 
completed projects in Palma Real Residential Estates, located in Biñan, Laguna  
(see Note 25). 
 
Management has determined that the Parent Company has control over the financial 
and operating policies of CCPC through representation on the Board of Directors of 
CCPC (see Note 3). 
 
PLHI 
PLHI was incorporated and registered with the SEC on April 11, 2001 and is 
engaged in acquiring, developing and selling real estate properties. As at  
December 31, 2024 and 2023, PLHI holds parcels of land for undeterminable future 
use. 
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HSAPI 
HSAPI was incorporated and registered with the SEC on July 26, 1996 as an 
investment holding company. HSAPI owns 100% interest ownership in FMCMI. 
 
FMCMI 
FMCMI was incorporated and registered with the SEC on January 21, 1997 and is 
engaged in providing and delivering medical and health care services. FMCMI has 
two clinics located in Makati City and Sta. Rosa City, Laguna. 
 
ACHC 
ACHC was incorporated and registered with the SEC on August 28, 2019 and is 
engaged in investing activities. 
 
 

2. Summary of Material Accounting Policy Information 
 
Basis of Preparation and Statement of Compliance 
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in compliance with 
Philippine Financial Reporting Standards (PFRS) Accounting Standards. PFRS 
Accounting Standards are based on International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) Accounting Standards issued by the International Accounting Standards 
Board (IASB). PFRS Accounting Standards, which are issued by the Philippine 
Financial and Sustainability Reporting Standards Council (FSRSC), consist of PFRS 
Accounting Standards, Philippine Accounting Standards (PASs) and Philippine 
Interpretations. 
 
The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorized for issue by the 
Executive Committee on April 8, 2025, as authorized by the Board of Directors 
(BOD). 
 
Functional and Presentation Currency 
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Philippine Peso (Peso), the 
Group’s functional currency. All values are rounded to the nearest Peso except when 
otherwise indicated. 
 
Basis of Measurement 
The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared on a 
historical cost basis, except for the following which are measured using alternative 
basis at each reporting date: 
 

Account Measurement basis 

Short-term investments designated at fair 
value through profit or loss (FVTPL) 

Fair value 

Investments in quoted shares Fair value 
Investments in unquoted shares 

designated at fair value through other 
comprehensive income (FVOCI) 

Fair value 

Net retirement benefits liability Present value of the defined 
benefit obligation less fair value 
of plan assets 
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Adoption of Amendments to Standards  
The accounting policies adopted in the preparation and presentation of the Group’s
consolidated financial statements are consistent with prior years, except for the 
adoption of the following amended accounting pronouncements which became 
effective January 1, 2024. The Group has not early adopted any other standard or 
amendment that has been issued but is not yet effective. 
 
Unless otherwise indicated, adoption of these amendments did not have an impact 
on the consolidated financial statements of the Group. 
 
The nature and impact of each new standard and amendment are described below: 
 
▪ Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback (Amendments to PFRS 16, Leases) 

The amendments confirm the following:  
 
• On initial recognition, the seller-lessee includes variable lease payments 

when it measures a lease liability arising from a sale-and-leaseback 
transaction.  

 
• After initial recognition, the seller-lessee applies the general requirements for 

subsequent accounting of the lease liability such that it recognizes no gain or 
loss relating to the right of use it retains. counterparty, but conversion options 
that are classified as equity do not affect classification of the liability as 
current or noncurrent.  

 
• A seller-lessee may adopt different approaches that satisfy the new 

requirements on subsequent measurement.  For example, the seller-lessee 
could determine the lease payments to be deducted from lease liability as 
expected lease payments or as equal periodic payments over the lease term, 
with the difference between those payments and amounts actually paid 
recognized in profit or loss. 

 
The amendments are applied retrospectively in accordance with PAS 8, 
Accounting Polices, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors, to sale-and-
leaseback transactions entered into after the date of initial adoption of  
PFRS 16.  

 
▪ Classification of Liabilities as Current or Noncurrent - 2020 amendments and 

Non-Current Liabilities with Covenants - 2022 amendments (Amendments to
PAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements) 
To promote consistency in application and clarify the requirements on 
determining whether a liability is current or noncurrent, the amendments: 
 
a. removed the requirement for a right to defer settlement of a liability for at 

least twelve months after the reporting period to be unconditional and instead 
requires that the right must have substance and exist at the end of the 
reporting period; 

 
b. clarified that only covenants with which a company must comply on or before 

the reporting date affect the classification of a liability as current or non-
current and covenants with which the entity must comply after the reporting 
date do not affect a liability’s classification at that date; 

 
c. provided additional disclosure requirements for non-current liabilities subject 

to conditions within twelve months after the reporting period to enable the 
assessment of the risk that the liability could become repayable within twelve 
months; and 
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d. clarified that settlement of a liability includes transferring an entity’s own
equity instruments to the counterparty, but conversion options that are 
classified as equity do not affect classification of the liability as current or 
noncurrent. 

 
▪ Supplier Finance Arrangements (Amendments to PAS 7, Statement of Cash 

Flows, and PFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures) 
The amendments introduce new disclosures about a company’s supplier finance
arrangements that would enable users of financial statements to assess the 
effects of those arrangements on the entity’s liabilities and cash flows, and the
company’s exposure to liquidity risk. Under the amendments, a company
discloses in aggregate for its supplier finance arrangements:  
 
a. the terms and conditions of the arrangements; 
 
b. beginning and ending carrying amounts and associated line items of the 

financial liabilities that are part of a supplier finance arrangement, 
distinguishing those for which suppliers were already paid, and range of 
payment due dates including those for comparable trade payables not part of 
a supplier finance arrangement; and 

 
c. the type and effect of non-cash changes in the carrying amounts.  
 
The amendments also add supplier finance arrangements as an example to the 
existing disclosure requirements on factors a company might consider when 
providing specific quantitative liquidity risk disclosures about its financial 
liabilities.  
 
A company is not required to disclose comparative information for any prior 
reporting periods, information on carrying amounts for which suppliers already 
received payment and range of payment due dates as at the beginning of the 
annual reporting period the company first applies the amendments, and 
information for any interim period within the annual reporting period in which the 
company first applies those amendments.  

 
Future Changes in Accounting Policies 
A number of amendments to standards are effective for annual periods beginning 
after January 1, 2024. However, the Group has not early adopted the following 
amended standards in preparing these consolidated financial statements. The Group 
is still in the process of assessing the impact of the new standards. Unless otherwise 
stated, none of these are expected to have a significant impact on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.  
 
Effective January 1, 2025  
 
▪ Lack of Exchangeability (Amendments to PAS 21, The Effects of Changes in 

Foreign Exchange Rates) 
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Effective January 1, 2026  
 
▪ Amendments to the Classification and Measurement of Financial Instruments 

(Amendments to PFRS 9, Financial Instruments, and PFRS 7, Financial 
Instruments: Disclosures) 

 
▪ Annual Improvements to PFRS Accounting Standards - Volume 11 

 
a) Hedge Accounting by a First-time Adopter (Amendments to PFRS 1,  

First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards) 
 
b) Gain or Loss on Derecognition (Amendments to PFRS 7) 
 
c) Introduction, Disclosure of Difference Between Fair Value and Transaction 

Price, and Credit Risk Disclosures (Amendments to Guidance on 
implementing PFRS 7) 

 
d) Derecognition of Lease Liabilities and Transaction Price (Amendments to  

PFRS 9)  
 
e) Determination of ‘De Facto Agent’ (Amendments to PFRS 10, Consolidated 

Financial Statements) 
 
f) Cost Method (Amendments to PAS 7) 

 
Effective January 1, 2027  
 
▪ PFRS 17, Insurance Contracts 
 
▪ PFRS 18, Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements will replace  

PAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements and aims to provide greater 
consistency in presentation of the income and cash flow statements, and more 
disaggregated information. 
 
• A more Structured Income Statement. PFRS 18 promotes a more structured 

income statement. It introduces a newly defined ‘operating profit or loss’ and
‘profit or loss before financing and income tax’ subtotals, and a requirement 
for all income and expenses to be classified into three new distinct categories 
operating, investing, and financing - based on a company’s main business
activities. PFRS 18 also requires companies to analyze their operating 
expenses directly on the face of the income statement - either by nature, by 
function or on a mixed basis. Companies need to choose the presentation 
method that provides the ‘most useful structured summary’ of those
expenses. New disclosures apply if any operating expenses are presented 
by function. 

 
• Management-defined performance measures. PFRS 18 provides a definition 

for management-defined performance measures (MPMs) and introduces 
specific disclosure requirements. MPMs are subtotals of income and 
expenses that are used in public communications outside the financial 
statements, communicate management's view of an aspect of the financial 
performance of the entity as a whole and are not a required subtotal or a 
common income and expense subtotal listed in PFRS 18. For each MPM 
presented, companies will need to explain in a single note to the financial 
statements why the measure provides useful information and how it is 
calculated, and to reconcile it to an amount determined under PFRS
Accounting Standards. 
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• Greater disaggregation of information. PFRS 18 provides enhanced 
guidance on how companies group information in the financial statements, 
including newly defined roles of the primary financial statements and the 
notes, principles of aggregation and disaggregation based on shared and 
non-shared characteristics, and specific guidance for labelling and describing 
items in a way that faithfully represents an item’s characteristics. 

 
PFRS 18 also now require goodwill to be presented as a line item in the 
statement of financial position. 
 
Consequential amendments to PAS 7 requires the use of the operating profit or 
loss subtotal as the starting point when presenting operating cash flows under 
the indirect method and eliminate the options for classifying interest and 
dividend cash flows. 
 
PFRS 18 also amends PAS 33, Earnings per Share, to permit companies to 
disclose additional amounts per share using as numerator a required income and 
expenses total or subtotal, a common subtotal listed in PFRS 18 or an MPM 
disclosed by the entity. 
 
PFRS 18 applies for annual reporting periods beginning on or after  
January 1, 2027, with earlier application permitted. It applies retrospectively in 
accordance with PAS 8, Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates 
and Errors. Specific reconciliations are required to be disclosed. Eligible entities 
including venture capital organizations, mutual funds and some insurers will be 
allowed to change their election for measuring investments in associates and 
joint ventures from equity method to fair value through profit or loss.   

 
▪ PFRS 19, Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: Disclosures  
 
Deferred Local Implementation  
 
▪ Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint 

Venture (Amendments to PFRS 10 and PAS 28, Investments in Associates and 
Joint Ventures) 

 
Amendments to IFRS not yet adopted by the FSRSC as part of PFRS Accounting 

Standards  
 
▪ Contracts Referencing Nature-dependent Electricity (Amendments to IFRS 9 and 

IFRS 7) Contracts Referencing Nature-dependent Electricity (Amendments to 
IFRS 9, Financial Instruments, and IFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures)  

 
Basis of Consolidation 
The consolidated financial statements of the Group comprise the financial 
statements of the Parent Company and its subsidiaries. 
 
Subsidiaries are all entities in which the Group has control. The Parent Company 
controls an entity when the Parent Company is exposed, or has rights, to variable 
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns 
through its power over the entity. Control is generally accompanied by a 
shareholding of more than one-half of the voting rights. The existence and effect of 
potential voting rights that are substantive are considered when assessing whether 
the Group controls an entity. The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an 
entity if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of 
the three elements of control. 
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The assets, liabilities, income and expenses of subsidiaries are consolidated from 
the date when the Parent Company obtains control and continue to be consolidated 
until the date when such control ceases. The results of operations of the subsidiaries 
acquired or disposed of are included in the consolidated statements of 
comprehensive income from the date of acquisition or up to the date of disposal, as 
appropriate. 
 
The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared using the same reporting 
period of the Parent Company. Consolidated financial statements are prepared using 
uniform accounting policies for like transactions and other events in similar 
circumstances. All significant intercompany balances and transactions, including 
intercompany profits and unrealized profits and losses, are eliminated in full on 
consolidation. 
 
A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without loss of control, is 
accounted for as an equity transaction. The carrying amount of the Group’s interests
and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative 
interest in the subsidiaries.  Any difference between the amount by which the  
non-controlling interest are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or 
received is recognized directly in equity and attributed to the equity holders of the 
Parent Company.  Upon the loss of control, the Group derecognizes the related 
assets (including goodwill), liabilities, any non-controlling interest and the other 
components of equity related to the subsidiary. Gain or loss arising from the loss of 
control is recognized in profit or loss. If the Group retains an interest in the previous 
subsidiary, then such interest is measured at fair value at the date control is lost. 
Subsequently, it is accounted for as an equity-accounted investee or as financial
assets at FVOCI depending on the level of interest retained. 
 
Non-controlling interests represent the portion of profit or loss and net assets in 
subsidiaries not wholly-owned and are presented in the consolidated statements of 
comprehensive income, consolidated statements of changes in equity and 
consolidated statements of financial position, separately from the equity attributable 
to the Parent. Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income 
(OCI) are attributed to the equity holders of the Parent and to the non-controlling 
interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests having deficit balance. 
Non-controlling interests represent the interests of minority shareholders of CCPC, 
PLHI, HSAPI and FMCMI. 
 
Business Combination and Goodwill 
Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The 
consideration transferred in a business combination is measured at fair value, which 
is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred 
by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree 
and the equity interest issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. 
Acquisition related costs are generally recognized in profit or loss as incurred.  
 
At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed 
are recognized at their fair value except that:  
 
▪ deferred income tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities related to 

employee benefit arrangements are recognized and measured in accordance 
with PAS 12, Income Taxes, and PAS 19, Employee Benefits, respectively; 

 
▪ liabilities and equity instruments related to share-based payment arrangements 

of the acquiree or share-based payment arrangement of the Group entered into 
to replace share-based payment arrangements of the acquiree are measured in 
accordance with PFRS 2, Share-based Payment, at the acquisition date; and 
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▪ assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in accordance with 
PFRS 5, Non-current assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations, are 
measured in accordance with that Standard. 

 
Goodwill, which arose from the acquisition of controlling shares in HSAPI in 2014, is 
measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of 
any non-controlling interest in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirerʼs
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net of the  
acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities 
assumed. If, after reassessment, the net of the acquisition-date fair value amounts of 
the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the 
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree 
and the fair value of the acquirerʼs previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), 
the excess is recognized immediately in the consolidated profit or loss as bargain 
purchase gain.  
 
Goodwill is not amortized but is reviewed for impairment at least annually. For 
purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the Group’s  
cash-generating units (CGU) that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the 
combination. In certain circumstances where it is not possible to complete the initial 
allocation of the goodwill to a CGU or group of CGUs for impairment purposes before 
the end of the annual period in which the combination is effected, the goodwill  
(or part of it) is left unallocated for that period. Goodwill must then be allocated 
before the end of the first annual period beginning after the acquisition date.  
 
Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders 
to a proportionate share of the entityʼs net assets in the event of liquidation may be
initially measured either at fair value or at the non-controlling interestsʼ proportionate
share of the recognized amounts of the acquireeʼs identifiable net assets. The choice
of measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-transaction basis. Other types of 
non-controlling interest are measured at fair value or, when applicable, on the basis 
specified in another PFRS Accounting Standards. 
 
When the consideration transferred by the Group in a business combination includes 
assets or liabilities resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement, the 
contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair value and included 
as part of the consideration transferred in a business combination. Changes in the 
fair value of the contingent consideration that qualify as measurement period 
adjustments are adjusted retrospectively, with corresponding adjustments against 
goodwill. Measurement period adjustments are adjustments that arise from additional 
information obtained during the measurement period (which cannot exceed one year 
from acquisition date) about facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition 
date.  
 
The subsequent accounting for the changes in fair value of the contingent 
consideration that do not qualify as measurement period adjustments depends on 
how the contingent consideration is classified. Contingent consideration that is 
classified as equity is not measured at subsequent reporting dates and its 
subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration that 
is classified as an asset or a liability is remeasured at subsequent reporting dates in 
accordance with PFRS 9 or PAS 37, Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and 
Contingent Assets, as appropriate, with the corresponding gain or loss being 
recognized in profit or loss.  
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When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Groupʼs previously held
equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to its acquisition-date fair value and the 
resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognized in profit or loss. Amount arising from 
interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date that have previously been 
recognized in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss where 
such treatment would be appropriate if that interest were disposed of. 
 
If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the 
reporting period in which the combination occurs, the Group reports provisional 
amounts for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. Those provisional 
amounts are adjusted during the measurement period, or additional assets or 
liabilities are recognized, to reflect new information obtained about facts and 
circumstances that existed at the acquisition date that, if known, would have affected 
the amounts recognized at that date. 
 
Material Accounting Policies 
The material accounting policies that have been used in the preparation of the 
consolidated financial statements are summarized below. These accounting policies 
have been consistently applied to all years presented, unless otherwise stated. 
 
Financial Assets and Liabilities  
Initial Recognition 
The Group recognizes a financial asset or a financial liability in the consolidated 
statements of financial position when it becomes a party to the contractual provisions 
of a financial instrument.  Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery 
of assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention in the 
marketplace are recognized on the trade date, i.e., the date that the Group commits 
to purchase or sell the asset.  
 
Financial instruments are recognized initially at fair value. Transaction costs are 
included in the initial measurement of the Groupʼs financial instruments, except for
financial instruments classified at FVTPL. 
 
“Day 1” Difference 
Where the transaction in a non-active market is different from the fair value of other 
observable current market transactions in the same instrument or based on a 
valuation technique whose variables include only data from observable market, the 
Group  recognizes the difference between the transaction price and fair value  
(a “Day 1” difference) in profit or loss. In cases where there is no observable data on
inception, the Group deems the transaction price as the best estimate of fair value 
and recognizes “Day 1” difference in profit or loss when the inputs become
observable or when the instrument is derecognized. For each transaction, the Group 
determines the appropriate method of recognizing the “Day 1” difference. 
 
Classification and Subsequent Measurement of Financial Assets 
The Group classifies its financial assets, at initial recognition, in the following 
categories: financial assets at FVTPL, financial assets at amortized cost, debt 
investments at FVOCI and equity investments at FVOCI.  The classification depends 
on the Group’s business model for managing financial instruments and the
contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets. Financial assets are not 
reclassified subsequent to initial recognition unless the Group changes its business 
model for managing financial assets, in which case all affected financial assets are 
reclassified on the first day of the first reporting period following the change in the 
business model.  
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As at December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Group has no debt investments at FVOCI. 
 
Financial Assets at FVTPL  
Financial assets at FVTPL are either classified as held for trading or designated at 
FVTPL. Financial assets are classified as held for trading if it meets either of the 
following conditions: 
 
▪ it is acquired or incurred principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing it in 

the near term; 
 
▪ on initial recognition, it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that 

are managed together and for which there is evidence of a recent actual pattern of 
short-term profit-taking; or 

 
▪ it is a derivative (except for a derivative that is a financial guarantee contract or 

designated as effective hedging instrument). 
 
This category includes equity instruments which the Group had not irrevocably 
elected to classify at FVOCI at initial recognition. This category includes debt 
instruments whose cash flows are not “solely for payment of principal and interest”
assessed at initial recognition of the assets, or which are not held within a business 
model whose objective is either to collect contractual cash flows, or to both collect 
contractual cash flows and sell. 
 
The Group may, at initial recognition, designate a financial asset meeting the criteria 
to be classified at amortized cost or at FVOCI, as a financial asset or financial liability 
at FVTPL, if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces accounting mismatch that 
would arise from measuring these assets or liabilities. 
 
After initial recognition, financial assets at FVTPL are subsequently measured at fair 
value. Unrealized gains or losses arising from the fair valuation of financial assets at 
FVTPL are recognized in profit or loss. 
 
As at December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Group designated its short-term 
investments and investments in quoted shares as financial assets at FVTPL. 
 
Financial Assets at Amortized Cost 
Financial assets shall be measured at amortized cost if both of the following 
conditions are met: 
 
▪ the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold 

financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows; and  
 
▪ the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise, on specified dates, to cash 

flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount 
outstanding. 

 
After initial recognition, financial assets at amortized cost are subsequently 
measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method, less allowance for 
impairment, if any. Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any discount 
or premium on acquisition and fees that are an integral part of the effective interest 
rate. Gains and losses are recognized in profit or loss when the financial assets are 
derecognized and through an amortization process. Financial assets at amortized 
cost are included under current assets if realizability or collectibility is within  
12 months after the reporting period. Otherwise, these are classified as noncurrent 
assets. 
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As at December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Group’s cash and cash equivalents,
receivables, refundable deposits and construction bond (presented under “Other
current assets” and “Other noncurrent assets” accounts in the consolidated
statements of financial position) are classified under this category. 
 
Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible 
to known amounts of cash with original maturities of three months or less from dates 
of placement and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. 
 
Financial Assets at FVOCI 
For debt instruments that meet the contractual cash flow characteristic and are not 
designated at FVTPL under the fair value option, the financial assets shall be 
measured at FVOCI if both of the following conditions are met: 
 
▪ the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold 

financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows and selling the financial 
assets; and 

 
▪ the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise, on specified dates, to cash 

flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount 
outstanding. 

 
For equity instruments, the Group may irrevocably designate the financial asset to be 
measured at FVOCI in case the above conditions are not met. 
 
Financial assets at FVOCI are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs. 
After initial recognition, interest income (calculated using the effective interest rate 
method), foreign currency gains or losses and impairment losses of debt instruments 
measured at FVOCI are recognized directly in profit or loss. When the financial asset 
is derecognized, the cumulative gains or losses previously recognized in “Other
comprehensive income (OCI)” are reclassified from equity to profit or loss as a
reclassification adjustment. 
 
Dividends from equity instruments held at FVOCI are recognized in profit or loss 
when the right to receive payment is established, unless the dividend clearly 
represents a recovery of part of the cost of the investment. Foreign currency gains or 
losses and unrealized gains or losses from equity instruments are recognized in OCI 
and presented in the equity section of the consolidated statement of financial 
position. These fair value changes are recognized in equity and are not reclassified 
to profit or loss in subsequent periods, even if the asset is sold or impaired. The 
cumulative fair value adjustment is transferred to retained earnings when the asset is 
sold. 
 
As at December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Group designated its investment in 
unquoted shares as a financial asset at FVOCI. 
 
Classification and Subsequent Measurement of Financial Liabilities 
Financial liabilities are categorized as financial liabilities at amortized cost when the 
substance of the contractual arrangement results in the Group having an obligation 
either to deliver cash or another financial asset to the holder, or to settle the 
obligation other than by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial 
asset for a fixed number of its own equity instruments. 
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These financial liabilities are initially recognized at fair value less any directly 
attributable transaction costs. After initial recognition, these financial liabilities are 
subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. 
Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on the 
issue and fees that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. Gains and losses
are recognized in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognized or through the 
amortization process. 
 
As at December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Group’s accounts and other payables
(excluding contract liabilities, statutory payable, deposits for document processing, 
and unearned rental income) and security deposits are classified under this category. 
 
Reclassification 
The Group reclassifies its financial assets when, and only when, it changes its 
business model for managing those financial assets. The reclassification is applied 
prospectively from the first day of the first reporting period following the change in the 
business model (reclassification date). 
 
For a financial asset reclassified out of the financial assets at amortized cost 
category to financial assets at FVTPL, any gain or loss arising from the difference 
between the previous amortized cost of the financial asset and fair value is 
recognized in profit or loss. 
 
For a financial asset reclassified out of the financial assets at amortized cost 
category to financial assets at FVOCI, any gain or loss arising from a difference 
between the previous amortized cost of the financial asset and fair value is 
recognized in OCI. 
 
For a financial asset reclassified out of the financial assets at FVTPL category to 
financial assets at amortized cost, its fair value at the reclassification date becomes 
its new gross carrying amount. 
 
For a financial asset reclassified out of the financial assets at FVOCI category to 
financial assets at amortized cost, any gain or loss previously recognized in other 
comprehensive income is removed from equity and adjusted against the fair value of 
the financial asset. The financial asset is measured at the reclassification day as if it 
had always been measured at amortized cost. 
 
In the case of a financial asset that does not have a fixed maturity, the gain or loss 
shall be recognized in profit or loss when the financial asset is sold or disposed of. If 
the financial asset is subsequently impaired, any previous gain or loss that has been 
recognized in OCI is reclassified from equity to profit or loss. 
 
For a financial asset reclassified out of the financial assets at FVTPL category to 
financial assets at FVOCI, its fair value at the reclassification date becomes its new 
gross carrying amount. Meanwhile, for a financial asset reclassified out of the 
financial assets at FVOCI category to financial assets at FVPL, the cumulative gain 
or loss previously recognized in OCI is reclassified from equity to profit or loss as a 
reclassification adjustment at the reclassification date. 
 
Impairment of Financial Assets  
The Group recognizes an allowance for expected credit losses (ECL) which is based 
on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with the 
contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive. The difference is 
then discounted at an approximation to the asset’s original effective interest rate. 
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For receivables (excluding installment contracts receivable), the Group has applied 
the simplified approach and has calculated ECL based on the lifetime ECL. The 
expected loss rates are initially based on the Company’s historical default rates.
These historical default rates are adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking 
information on macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the customers to settle 
their payables to the Group.  The Group has identified macroeconomic factors (i.e., 
gross domestic product) that are relevant, and accordingly adjusts the historical loss 
rates based on expected changes in these factors. 
 
For installment contracts receivable and other financial assets at amortized cost, the 
ECL is based on the 12-month ECL, which pertains to the portion of lifetime ECL that 
results from default events on a financial instrument that are possible within 12 months 
after the reporting date. However, when there has been a significant increase in credit 
risk since initial recognition, the allowance will be based on the lifetime ECL. When 
determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since 
initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial 
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial 
instrument as at the date  of initial recognition and consider reasonable and 
supportable information, that is available without undue cost or effort, that is indicative 
of significant increases in credit risk since initial recognition. 
 
To measure the ECL, these have been grouped based on shared credit risk 
characteristics and the days past due. ECL is derived by calculating the cumulative loss 
rates of a given installment contracts receivable pool. It derives the probability of default 
from the historical data of a homogenous portfolio that share the same origination 
period.  
 
The information on the number of defaults during fixed time intervals of the accounts is 
utilized to create the probability model. It allows the evaluation of the loan activity from 
its origination period until the end of the contract period., These are discounted back to 
the time of default (i.e., is defined by the Group as upon cancellation of cost to sell) 
using the appropriate effective interest rate, usually being the original effective interest 
rate or an approximation thereof.  
 
As part of the analysis, the management considers any credit enhancement such as 
collaterals or security; whereas if the carrying value of the installment contracts 
receivable exceeds the fair value of the credit enhancement, the ECL is recognized; 
otherwise, it will not be taken up.  
 
Derecognition 
Financial Assets 
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of 
similar financial assets) is derecognized when: 
 
▪ the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset have expired; or 
 
▪ the financial asset has been transferred in a manner that qualifies for derecognition 

under PFRS 9. 
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When the Group has transferred its right to receive cash flows from a financial asset 
or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, and has neither transferred nor 
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset 
control of financial asset, the financial asset is recognized to the extent of the 
Group’s continuing involvement in the financial asset. In that case, the Group also
recognizes an associated liability.  The transferred asset and the associated liability 
are measured on a basis that reflect the rights and obligations that the Group has 
retained.  Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the 
transferred financial asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying amount of 
the financial asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group could 
be required to repay. 
 
Financial Liabilities 
A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is 
discharged, cancelled or has expired. When an existing financial liability is replaced 
by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an 
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is 
treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, 
and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognized in the 
consolidated statements of comprehensive income. 
 
Offsetting 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amounts reported in 
the consolidated statements of financial position if, and only if, there is a currently 
enforceable legal right to offset the recognized amounts and there is an intention to 
settle on a net basis, or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 
This is not generally the case with master netting agreements, and the related assets 
and liabilities are presented gross in the consolidated statements of financial 
position. 
 
Classification of Financial Instrument between Liability and Equity 
A financial instrument is classified as liability if it provides for a contractual obligation 
to: 
 
▪ Deliver cash or another financial asset to another entity; 
 
▪ Exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another entity under 

conditions that are potentially unfavorable to the Company; or 
 
▪ Satisfy the obligation other than by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or 

another financial asset for a fixed number of own equity shares. 
 
If the Group does not have an unconditional right to avoid delivering cash or another 
financial asset to settle its contractual obligation, the obligation meets the definition 
of a financial liability. 
 
Fair Value Measurement 
A number of the Group’s accounting policies and disclosures require the
measurement of fair value for both financial and non-financial assets and liabilities. 
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a 
liability in an orderly transaction in the principal (or most advantageous) market at the 
measurement date under current market conditions (i.e. an exit price), regardless of 
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation 
technique. Where applicable, the Group uses valuation techniques that are 
appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to 
measure fair value, maximizing the use of relevant observable inputs and minimizing 
the use of unobservable inputs.  
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When measuring the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group uses market 
observable data as far as possible. Fair values are categorized in different levels of 
the fair value hierarchy based on the inputs used in the valuation techniques as 
follows: 
 
▪ Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or 

liabilities; 
 
▪ Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are 

observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e., as prices) or 
indirectly (i.e., derived from prices); and 

 
▪ Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market 

data (unobservable inputs). 
 
If the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or a liability might be 
categorized in different levels of the fair value hierarchy, then the fair value 
measurement is categorized in its entirety in the same level of the fair value 
hierarchy as the lowest level of input that is significant to the entire measurement.  
 
The Company recognizes transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy at the 
end of the reporting period during which the change has occurred. 
 
Further information about the assumptions made in measuring fair values is included 
in the following notes to consolidated financial statements: 
 
▪ Note 3 -  Significant Judgments, Accounting Estimates and Assumptions 
▪ Note 6 -  Investments in Quoted Shares 
▪ Note 10 - Investment Properties 
▪ Note 13 - Investment in Unquoted Shares under “Other Noncurrent Assets” 
▪ Note 27 - Fair Values of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities 
 
Inventories 
Inventories are initially measured at cost. Subsequently, inventories are stated at the 
lower of cost and net realizable value (NRV). 
 
Real Estate Inventories 
Real estate inventories include constructed houses, lots, condominium units and 
parking slots which are for sale in the ordinary course of business rather than to be 
held for rental or capital appreciation. Costs include the acquisition cost of the land 
plus costs incurred for the development and improvement of the properties. NRV is 
the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less estimated costs of 
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale. Cost represents 
price using a specific identification method.  
 
Repossessed property arising from sales cancellation is recognized at cost.  The 
difference between the carrying amount of the receivable or contract asset to be 
derecognized plus any amount to be refunded to customers and the cost of the 
repossessed property is recognized in the consolidated statements of 
comprehensive income. 
 
Medical Supplies 
Medical supplies pertain to medical, laboratory and pharmacy supplies. Costs comprise 
purchase price determined using the first-in, first-out method plus other costs that 
have been incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition. 
NRV is the estimated selling price less costs to sell. In determining the NRV, the 
Group considers any adjustment necessary for obsolescence. 
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When the NRV of the inventories is lower than the cost, the Group provides for an 
allowance for the decline in the value of inventories and recognizes the write-down 
as an expense in profit or loss.  The amount of  any  reversal  of any write-down of  
inventories, arising  from  an  increase in  NRV,  is recognized as a reduction in the 
amount of inventories recognized as an expense in the period in which the reversal 
occurs. When inventories are sold or used in operations, the carrying amount of 
those inventories is recognized as an expense in the period in which the related 
revenue is recognized. 
 
Creditable Withholding Taxes (CWTs) 
CWTs represent the amount withheld by the Group’s customers in relation to its
income. CWTs can be carried forward to the succeeding year when in excess of 
income tax payable and utilized as payment for income taxes provided that these are 
properly supported with certificates of creditable tax withheld at source. CWTs are 
stated at face amount less any impairment in value. 
 
Value-added Tax (VAT) 
Revenue, expenses, and assets are recognized net of the amount of VAT, if 
applicable.  Input VAT pertains to the 12% indirect tax paid by the Group in the 
course of the Group’s trade or business on local purchase of goods or services.
Deferred input VAT pertains to input VAT on accumulated purchases of property and 
equipment.  This is amortized over five (5) years or the life of the property and 
equipment, whichever is shorter, in accordance with the Bureau of Internal Revenue 
(BIR) regulation.  Output VAT pertains to the 12% tax due on the local sale of goods 
and services by the Group. 
 
When VAT from sales of goods and/or services (output VAT) exceeds VAT passed 
on from purchases of goods or services (input VAT), the excess is recognized as 
payable in the consolidated statements of financial position.  When input VAT 
exceeds output VAT, the excess is recognized as an asset in the consolidated 
statements of financial position to the extent of the recoverable amount. 
 
Investment Properties 
Investment properties are properties held either to earn rental income or for capital 
appreciation or both, and that are not occupied by the Group. 
 
Investment properties, except land, are measured at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and any impairment in value. Land is stated at cost less any impairment 
in value. The carrying amount includes the cost of replacing part of existing 
investment properties at the time that cost is incurred if the recognition criteria are 
met and excludes the costs of day-to-day servicing of an investment property. 
 
Depreciation are calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life 
(EUL) of 25 to 30 years. 
 
The EUL and depreciation method are reviewed periodically to ensure that these are 
consistent with the expected pattern of economic benefits from items of investment 
properties. 
 
Transfers are made to investment properties when, and only when, there is a change
in use, evidenced by the end of owner-occupation or commencement of an operating 
lease to another party. Transfers are made from investment properties when, and 
only when, there is a change in use, evidenced by the commencement of owner-
occupation or commencement of development with a view to sell. 
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Investment properties are derecognized when either these have been disposed of or 
when the investment properties are permanently withdrawn from use and no future 
economic benefit is expected from its disposal. Any gains or losses on the retirement 
or disposal of investment properties are recognized in profit or loss in the year of 
retirement or disposal. 
 
Property and Equipment 
Property and equipment, except land and construction-in-progress (CIP), are stated 
at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment in value. Land is stated at 
cost less any impairment in value. 
 
The initial cost of property and equipment comprises its purchase price, after 
deducting trade discounts and rebates, and any directly attributable costs of bringing 
the asset to its working condition and location for its intended use. 
 
CIP represents the on-going construction of the additional floor of the building and is 
stated at cost including costs of construction and other direct costs. CIP is not 
depreciated until such time that the relevant assets are completed and ready for 
operational use but tested for impairment losses.  Assets under construction are 
reclassified to specific category of property and equipment when the construction 
and other related activities necessary to prepare the assets for their intended use are 
completed and the assets are available for use. 
 
Expenditures incurred after the property and equipment have been put into 
operation, such as repairs, maintenance and overhaul costs, are normally 
recognized in profit or loss in the year the costs are incurred. In situations where it 
can be clearly demonstrated that the expenditures have resulted in an increase in 
the future economic benefits expected to be obtained from the use of an item of 
property and equipment beyond its originally assessed standard of performance, the 
expenditures are capitalized as additional costs of property and equipment. The cost 
of replacing a component of an item of property and equipment is recognized if it is 
probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the component will flow 
to the Group, and its cost can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the 
replaced component is derecognized. 
 
When significant parts of an item of property and equipment have different useful 
lives, these are accounted for as separate items (major components) of property and 
equipment. 
 
Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the following EUL: 
 

Asset Type Useful Life in Years 

Building and building improvements 10 - 30 
Medical equipment 5 - 7 
Transportation equipment 5 
Office furniture, fixtures and equipment 3 - 5 

 
The EUL and depreciation method are reviewed periodically to ensure that these are 
consistent with the expected pattern of economic benefits from items of property and 
equipment.  Any change in he expected EUL and methods of deprecation are 
adjusted prospectively from the time the change was determined necessary.  
 
Fully depreciated and amortized assets are retained in the accounts until they are no 
longer in use and no further charge for depreciation is made in respect of those 
assets. 
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When assets are retired or otherwise disposed of, the cost and the related 
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses are removed from the 
accounts. Any resulting gain or loss from the retirement or disposal of property and 
equipment (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the 
carrying amount of the item) is recognized in profit or loss in the year the item is 
derecognized. 
 
Interests in Joint Operations 
A joint arrangement is an arrangement whereby the parties are bound by a 
contractual arrangement and such contractual arrangement gives two or more of 
those parties joint control of the arrangement. A joint arrangement is either a joint 
operation or joint venture. 
 
Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which 
exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require the unanimous 
consent of the parties sharing control. 
 
The considerations made in determining significant influence or joint control are 
similar to those necessary to determine control over subsidiaries. 
 
A joint operation involves the use of assets and other resources of the Group and 
other venturers rather than the establishment of a corporation, partnership or other 
entity. The Group accounts for the assets it controls, and the liabilities and expenses 
it incurs, and the share of the income that it earns from the sale of goods, properties 
or services by the joint operation. The amounts of these related accounts are 
presented as part of the regular asset and liability accounts and income and expense 
accounts of the Group. 
 
The Group accounted for its interest in Santa Lucia Realty and Development Inc. 
(SLRDI) as a joint operation (see Note 25). 
 
Impairment of Nonfinancial Assets 
The carrying amounts of nonfinancial assets, other than inventories and deferred 
income tax assets, are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. If any such 
indication exists and when the carrying amounts exceed the estimated recoverable 
amounts, the assets or CGUs are written-down to their recoverable amounts. The 
recoverable amount of the asset is the greater of the fair value less cost to costs of 
disposal and its value in use. Fair value less costs of disposal is the price that would 
be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date, less costs of disposal. Value 
in use is the present value of the future cash flows expected to be derived from an 
asset or CGU.  In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are 
discounted to their present value using a pretax discount rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. 
For an asset that does not generate largely independent cash inflows, the 
recoverable amount is determined for the CGU to which the asset belongs. 
Impairment losses are recognized in profit or loss. 
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An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication 
that previously recognized impairment losses may no longer exist or may have 
decreased. If such indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A 
previously recognized impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in 
the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last
impairment loss was recognized. In such instance, the carrying amount of the asset 
is increased to its recoverable amount. However, that increased amount cannot 
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined (net of depreciation 
and amortization for investment properties and property and equipment) had no 
impairment loss been recognized for the asset in prior years. Such reversal is 
recognized in profit or loss. After such reversal, the depreciation and amortization is 
adjusted in future years to allocate the asset’s revised carrying amount, on a
systematic basis over its remaining useful life. 
 
Employee Benefits 
Short-term Benefits  
Short-term employee benefits are recognized as an expense in the period when the 
economic benefits are given. Unpaid benefits at the end of the accounting period are 
recognized as accrued expense while benefits paid in advance are recognized as 
prepayment to the extent that it will lead to a reduction in future payments.  
Short-term benefits given by the Group to its employees include salaries and wages, 
social security contributions, short-term compensated absences and non-monetary 
benefits. 
 
Retirement Benefits 
The retirement benefit costs are actuarially determined using the projected unit credit 
method. This method reflects services rendered by employees to the date of 
valuation and incorporates assumptions concerning employees’ projected salaries.
The calculation of defined benefit liability is performed by a qualified actuary. 
 
The Group recognizes current service costs, past service costs and interest expense 
on the retirement benefits liability in profit or loss. Interest expense is calculated by 
applying the discount rate to measure the retirement benefits liability at the beginning 
of the annual period to the then retirement benefit liability, taking into account any 
changes in the defined obligation during the period as a result of contributions and 
benefit payments. 
 
Remeasurements of retirement benefits liability, which comprise actuarial gains and 
losses, the return on plan assets (excluding interest) and the effect of the asset 
ceiling (if any, excluding interest), are recognized immediately in OCI.  
Remeasurements are not reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods. 
 
Plan assets are assets that are held in trust and managed by a trustee bank. Plan 
assets are not available to the creditors of the Group, nor can they be paid directly to 
the Group. The fair value of the plan assets is based on the market price information. 
When no market price is available, the fair value of plan assets is estimated by 
discounting expected future cash flows using a discount rate that reflects both the 
risk associated with the plan assets and the maturity or expected disposal date of 
those assets (or, if they have no maturity, the expected period until the settlement of 
the related obligations). If the fair value of the plan assets is higher than the present 
value of the defined benefit obligation, the measurement of the resulting defined 
benefit asset is limited to the present value of economic benefits available in the form 
of refunds from the plan or reductions in future contributions to the plan. 
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The net retirement benefits liability recognized by the Group is the present value of 
the defined benefit obligation reduced by the fair value of plan assets. The present 
value of defined benefit obligation is determined by discounting the estimated future 
cash outflows using risk-free interest rates of government bonds that have terms to 
maturity approximating the terms of the related retirement benefits liability. 
 
Actuarial valuations are made with sufficient regularity so that the amounts 
recognized in the consolidated financial statements do not differ materially from the 
amounts that would be determined at the reporting date. 
 
Equity 
Capital Stock and Additional Paid-in Capital  
Capital stock and additional paid-in capital are classified as equity. Capital stock is 
recognized as issued when the stock is paid for or subscribed under a binding 
subscription agreement and is measured at par value. The transaction costs incurred 
as a necessary part of completing an equity transaction are accounted for as a part 
of that transaction and are deducted from additional paid-in capital, net of related tax 
benefits. 
 
When the shares are sold at premium, the difference between the proceeds and the 
par value is credited to “Additional paid-in capital” (APIC) account. 
 
Retained Earnings 
Retained earnings represent the cumulative balance of periodic net income, dividend 
distributions, prior period adjustments and effect of changes in accounting policy and 
capital adjustments. 
 
Dividends are recognized as a liability and deducted from retained earnings when 
declared and approved by the Board of Directors and, where required, by the 
stockholders and relevant regulatory authorities. Dividends for the year that are 
declared and approved after the reporting date, if any, are dealt with as an event 
after the reporting date and disclosed accordingly. 
 
OCI  
This pertains to the cumulative unrealized fair value losses on financial assets at 
FVOCI and cumulative remeasurement gains on the Group’s net retirement benefits
liability arising from experience adjustments and changes in financial assumptions. 
Unrealized fair value loss on financial assets at FVOCI and remeasurement on net 
retirement benefits liability, and the corresponding deferred income tax component of 
the remeasurement on net retirement benefits liability, are recognized immediately in 
OCI and are included in equity. These are not reclassified to profit or loss in 
subsequent periods. 
 
Treasury Stock 
Own equity instruments which are reacquired are recognized at cost and are 
deducted from equity. No gain or loss is recognized in profit or loss on the purchase, 
sale, issue or cancellation of the Group’s own equity instruments. Any difference
between the carrying amount and the consideration, if reissued, is recognized in 
APIC. Voting rights related to treasury stock are nullified for the Group and no 
dividends are allocated to them. When the shares are retired, the capital stock 
account is reduced by its par value and the excess of cost over par value upon 
retirement is debited to APIC to the extent of the specific APIC when the shares are 
issued and to retained earnings for the remaining balance. The retained earnings 
account is restricted to payment of dividends to the extent of the cost of treasury 
shares. 
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Revenue Recognition 
The Group generates revenue primarily from real estate sales and sale of premium 
quality healthcare services. Other revenue sources include rental income from 
investment properties. 
 
Revenue from Contracts with Customers 
Revenue from contracts with customers is recognized when control of the goods and 
services are transferred to the customer at an amount that reflects the consideration to 
which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods and services.  The 
Group also assesses its revenue arrangements to determine if it is acting as a 
principal or as an agent. The Group has assessed that it acts as a principal in all of 
its revenue arrangements. 
 
The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is 
recognized: 
 
▪ Real Estate Sales 

The Group assesses whether it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to 
the Group when the contract price is collectible. Collectibility of the contract price 
is demonstrated by the buyer’s commitment to pay, which is supported by the
buyer’s initial and continuous investments that motivate the buyer to honor its
obligation. Collectibility is also assessed by considering factors such as 
collections and credit standing of the buyer. Management regularly evaluates the 
historical sales cancellation and back-outs, if it would still support its current 
threshold of buyer’s equity before commencing revenue recognition. 
 
The Group derives its real estate revenue from sale of house and lot, 
condominium units and parking slots.  Revenue from sales of completed real 
estate projects is accounted for using the full accrual method. 
 
Revenue for real estate sales for completed real estate projects is recognized at 
a point in time, when control is transferred. The control is transferred when the 
customer has accepted the asset and the customer acceptance of an asset may 
indicate that it has obtained the ability to direct the use of, and obtain 
substantially all of the remaining benefits from, the asset. 
 
Pending recognition of sale, cash received from buyers are presented as 
“Contract liabilities” account in the consolidated statement of financial position.
Collections for processing of deed of sale and other documents necessary in 
transferring titles to real estate buyers are presented as “Deposits for document
processing” under “Accounts and other payables” account in the consolidated
statements of financial position. 
 
Information about the Company’s Performance Obligation 
The Group entered into contract to sell with one identified performance obligation 
which is the sale of the house and lot, since the Group integrates the lot it sells 
with the associated infrastructure to be able to transfer the lot promised in the 
contract. Included in this performance obligation is the Group’s services to
transfer the title to the buyer for a corresponding contract price. The amount of 
consideration indicated in the contract to sell is fixed and has no variable 
consideration. 
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Payment commences upon signing of the reservation agreement and the 
consideration is payable through post-dated checks under the Group’s internal
financing scheme typically ranging from one to 15 years at fixed monthly 
payments.  The contract may, however, be fully settled through external 
financing at the option of the buyer.  The Group provides a quality assurance 
warranty which is not treated as a separate performance obligation. 
 

▪ Sale of Services 
Revenue is recognized when the performance of contractually agreed healthcare 
services has been rendered. Revenue from healthcare services is gross of 
physician’s fee. 

 
Revenue from Other Sources 
Revenue from other sources is recognized as follows: 
 
▪ Rental Income 

Rental income is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Income 
collected in advance is deferred and is recognized as “Unearned rental income”
under “Accounts and other payables” account in the consolidated statements of 
financial position. 

 
▪ Dividend Income 

Dividend income is recognized on the date when the Group’s right to receive 
payment is established, which is generally when shareholders approve the 
dividend. 

 
▪ Interest Income 

Interest income on financial assets at amortized cost calculated using the 
effective interest method is recognized as interest income under revenue. 
Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross 
carrying amount of a financial asset except for financial assets that subsequently 
become credit-impaired. For credit-impaired financial assets, the effective interest 
rate is applied to the net carrying amount of the financial asset (after deduction of 
the loss allowance). Interest income is presented as such where it is earned from 
financial assets that are held for cash management purposes. Any other interest 
income is included in other income. 
 

Other Income 
The Group’s other sources of income, which are mainly from gains on disposal of
assets, contract cancellations and forfeitures, surcharges, and other fees, are 
recognized as income when earned.  Income from forfeitures (e.g., collections) is 
recognized upon default of potential buyers, subject to the provisions of Republic Act 
(RA) No. 6552, Realty Installment Buyer Protection Act, upon prescription of the 
period for the payment of required amortizations from defaulting buyers. 
 
Contract Balances 
Receivables  
A receivable represents the Group’s right to an amount of consideration that is
unconditional (i.e., only the passage of time is required before payment of the 
consideration is due). 
 
Contract Assets 
A contract asset is the right to a consideration in exchange for goods or services 
transferred to a customer. If the Group performs by transferring goods or services to 
a customer before the customer pays a consideration or before payment is due, a 
contract asset is recognized for the earned consideration that is conditional. 
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As at December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Group does not have outstanding contract 
assets.   
 
Contract Liabilities 
A contract liability is the obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer for 
which the Group has received a consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) 
from the customer. If a customer pays a consideration before the Group transfers 
goods or services to the customer, a contract liability is recognized when the 
payment is made by the customer or when the payment is due (whichever is earlier). 
Contract liabilities are recognized as revenue as the Group performs its obligation 
under the contract. Contract liabilities also include payments received by the Group 
from customers for which revenue recognition has not yet commenced. 
 
As at December 31, 2024 and 2023, the balances of contract liabilities are disclosed 
in Note 14. 
 
Cost to Obtain a Contract 
If the Group expects to recover the incremental costs of obtaining a contract with a 
customer, the costs are recognized as an asset. The Group has determined that 
commissions paid to brokers and marketing agents on the sale of pre-completed real 
estate units are deferred when recovery is reasonably expected and are charged to 
expense in the period in which the related revenue is recognized as earned. 
Commission expense is included in the “Selling and Administrative Expenses”
account in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income. Costs incurred 
prior to obtaining contract with customer are not capitalized but are expensed as 
incurred. 
 
Contract Fulfillment Asset 
Contract fulfillment costs are divided into: (i) costs that give rise to an asset; and  
(ii) costs that are expensed as incurred. When determining the appropriate 
accounting treatment for such costs, the Group first considers any other applicable 
standards. If those standards preclude capitalization of a particular cost, then an 
asset is not recognized under PFRS 15. If other standards are not applicable to 
contract fulfillment costs, the Group applies the following criteria which, if met, result 
in capitalization: (i) the costs directly relate to a contract or to a specifically 
identifiable anticipated contract; (ii) the costs generate or enhance resources of the 
entity that will be used in satisfying (or in continuing to satisfy) performance 
obligations in the future; and (iii) the costs are expected to be recovered. The 
assessment of these criteria requires the application of judgment, in particular when 
considering if costs generate or enhance resources to be used to satisfy future 
performance obligations and whether costs are expected to be recoverable. 
 
As at December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Group does not have cost to obtain a 
contract and contract fulfillment asset. 
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Cost and Expense Recognition 
Costs and expenses are recognized in profit or loss when a decrease in future 
economic benefits related to a decrease in an asset or an increase in a liability has 
arisen that can be measured reliably. Cost and expenses are recognized in profit or 
loss on the basis of : (i) a direct association between the costs incurred and the 
earning of specific items of income; (ii) systematic and rational allocation procedures 
when economic benefits are expected to arise over several accounting periods and 
the association with income can only be broadly or indirectly determined; or  
(iii) immediately when an expenditure produces no future economic benefits or when, 
and to the extent that, future economic benefits do not quality or cease to qualify for 
recognition in the consolidated statement of financial position as an asset. 
 
Cost of Real Estate Sales 
Cost of real estate sales is recognized in profit or loss upon sale and is determined 
with reference to the specific costs incurred on the property, allocated to saleable 
areas based on relative size and takes into account the percentage of completion 
used for revenue recognition purposes. 
 
Cost of Services 
Cost of services is recognized as expense when the related services are rendered. 
 
Selling and Administrative Expenses 
Selling expenses are costs incurred to sell and market the goods.  Administrative 
expenses constitute costs of administering the business activities of the Group. 
These are recognized as expenses in the period when these are incurred. 
 
Foreign Currency Transactions and Translation 
Transactions in currencies other than functional currency of the entities included in 
the Group are initially recorded using the exchange rate on the dates of the 
transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than 
the functional currencies of the entities in the Group are retranslated at the rates 
prevailing at the end of the reporting date period. Gains or losses arising from 
retranslation are recognized in profit or loss in the period in which they arise. Foreign 
currency gains and losses are reported on a net basis. 
 
For income tax reporting purposes, foreign exchange gains or losses are treated as 
taxable income or deductible expenses in the year such are realized. 
 
Leases 
The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. 
To assess whether a contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified 
assets for a period of time, the Group assesses whether, throughout the period of 
use, it has both of the following: 
 
i. the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from the use of the 

identified asset; and 
 
ii. the right to direct the use of the identified asset. 
 
If the Group has the right to control the use of an identified asset for only a portion of 
the term of the contract, the contract contains a lease for that portion of the term. 
 
The Group also assesses whether a contract contains a lease for each potential 
separate lease component. 
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Leases where the Group retains substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership 
of the asset are classified as operating leases. Initial direct costs incurred in 
negotiating an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset 
and recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term on the same basis as 
rental income. Contingent rents are recognized as revenue in the period in which 
these are earned. 
 
Group as a Lessor 
Leases where the Group does not transfer substantially all the risks and benefits of 
ownership of the assets are classified as operating leases. In determining significant 
risks and benefits of ownership, the Group considers, among others, the significance 
of the lease term as compared with the EUL of the related asset. Rental income is 
recognized over the lease term on a straight-line basis, unless another systematic 
basis is more representative of the time pattern in which use benefit is derived. Initial 
direct costs incurred in negotiating an operating lease are added to the carrying 
amount of the leased asset and recognized over the lease term on the same bases 
as rental income. 
 
The Group requires its tenants to pay leasehold rights pertaining to the right to use 
the leased unit which is reported under “Security deposits” in the consolidated
statements of financial position. These are refundable to the lessee at the end of the 
lease term, but may be forfeited, in which case recognized as “Other Income” in the
consolidated statements of comprehensive income.” 
 
Income Taxes 
Income tax expense comprises current income tax and deferred income tax.  Income 
tax expense is recognized in profit or loss, except to the extent that it relates to items 
recognized directly in equity or in OCI in which case it is recognized in equity or in 
OCI. 
 
Current Income Tax 
Current income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be 
recovered from or paid to the tax authority. The tax rates and tax laws used to 
compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted at the 
reporting date. 
 
Deferred Income Tax 
Deferred income tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary 
differences at the reporting date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and 
their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes. 
 
Deferred income tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences. 
Deferred income tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences 
and carryforward benefits of unused net operating loss carryover (NOLCO) and 
unused tax credits from the excess minimum corporate income tax (MCIT) over 
regular corporate income tax (RCIT), to the extent that it is probable that future 
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences 
and carryforward benefits of NOLCO and excess MCIT over RCIT can be utilized 
within the period allowed by the tax regulations. 
 
The carrying amount of a deferred income tax asset is reviewed at each reporting 
date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient future 
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred income tax asset to 
be utilized within the period allowed by the tax regulations. Unrecognized deferred 
income tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and are recognized to the 
extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow all or part of the 
deferred income tax assets to be recovered. 
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Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rate and tax law 
that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realized or the liability is 
settled, based on the tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted by the reporting date.   
 
The Group determines whether to consider each uncertain tax treatment separately 
or together with one or more other uncertain tax treatments and uses the approach 
that better predicts the resolution of the uncertainty. The income tax effects from an 
uncertain tax position are recognized when it is not probable that the position will be 
accepted based on its technical merits and assuming that the tax authorities will 
examine the uncertain tax treatments and have full knowledge of all relevant 
information.  They are measured by either determining the single most likely amount 
or the sum of the probability-weighted amounts in a range of possible outcomes 
depending on which method the Group expects to better predict the resolution of the 
uncertainty. It is measured using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the 
reporting date. 
 
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable 
right to set-off current tax liabilities and assets, and they relate to income taxes levied 
by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, and they intend to settle 
current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be 
realized simultaneously. 
 
Provisions 
Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present obligation (legal or 
constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources 
embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable 
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. If the effect of the time value 
of money is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future 
cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessment of the time value 
of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. Where discounting 
is used, the increase due to the passage of time is recognized as interest expense. 
 
Provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to reflect the current 
best estimate. 
 
Contingencies 
Contingent liabilities are not recognized in the consolidated financial statements. 
These are disclosed in the notes to consolidated financial statements unless the 
possibility of an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is remote. 
Contingent assets are not recognized in the consolidated financial statements but 
are disclosed in the notes to consolidated financial statements when an inflow of 
economic benefits is probable. Contingent assets are assessed continually to ensure 
that developments are appropriately reflected in the consolidated financial 
statements.  If it has become virtually certain that an inflow of economic benefits will 
arise, the asset and the related income are recognized in the consolidated financial 
statements on the period in which the change occurs. 
 
Events After the Reporting Date 
Post year-end events up to the date of the auditor’s report that provide additional
information about the Group’s financial position as at the reporting date (adjusting
events) are reflected in the consolidated financial statements. Post year-end events 
that are not adjusting events are disclosed in the notes to consolidated financial 
statements when material. 
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Earnings Per Share (EPS) 
Basic EPS is computed by dividing net income for the period attributable to common 
stockholders of the Parent Company by the weighted average number of common 
shares issued and outstanding during the period adjusted for any stock dividends 
issued. Diluted EPS is computed by dividing net income for the period attributable to 
common equity holders of the Parent Company by the weighted average number of 
common shares issued and outstanding during the period after giving effect to 
assumed conversion of dilutive potential common shares. Basic and diluted EPS are 
adjusted to give retroactive effect to any stock dividends declared during the period. 
 
As at December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Group has no dilutive potential common 
shares. 
 
Operating Segments 
For management purposes, the Group is divided into operating segments per 
products/services, (real estate, healthcare services, and investment holdings) 
according to the nature of the products and services provided. The Group’s identified
operating segments are consistent with the segments reported to the BOD which is 
the Group’s chief operating decision maker. Financial information on operating
segments is presented in Note 29. 
 
 

3. Significant Judgments, Accounting Estimates and Assumptions 
 
The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements in accordance with 
PFRS Accounting Standards requires management to exercise judgments, make 
accounting estimates and use assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the 
consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. The judgments,  
estimates and assumptions used in the consolidated financial statements are based 
on management’s evaluation of relevant facts and circumstances as at the reporting
date.  The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.  
Actual results could differ from these estimates. Changes in accounting estimates 
are recognized in the year in which the estimate is revised if the change affects only 
that year or in the year of the revision and future periods if the change affects both 
current and future years. 
 
Critical Accounting Judgments 
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the
following judgments, apart from those involving estimations, which have the most 
material effect on the amounts recognized in the consolidated financial statements. 
 
Evaluating and Assessing Control over Investee  
The Parent Company refers to the guidance in PFRS 10 when determining whether 
the Parent Company controls an investee. Particularly, the Parent Company controls 
an investee when it is exposed, or has the rights, to variable returns from its 
involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its 
power over the investee. The Company considers the purpose and design of the 
investee, its relevant activities and how decisions about those activities are made 
and whether the rights give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities. 
 
The Parent Company controls an investee if and only if it has all the following: 
 
a. power over the investee; 
b. exposure or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee, and 

 the ability to use its power over the investee to affect the amount of the 
investor’s return. 
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Ownership interest in CCPC represents 48%.  Management has determined that the 
Parent Company has control over the financial and operating policies of CCPC 
through representation on the BOD of CCPC. Accordingly, CCPC is considered as a 
subsidiary. 
 
Classifying Interest in a Joint Operation 
CCPC has, after considering the structure and form of the arrangement by the 
parties in the contractual arrangement and its rights and obligations arising from the 
arrangement, classified its interest in a joint arrangement with the Developer under 
PFRS 11, Joint Arrangements, as a joint operation. As a consequence, CCPC 
accounts for the assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses relating to its interest in 
the joint operation only to the extent of the its interest in the joint operation  
(see Note 25). 
 
Classifying Financial Instruments 
The classification of a financial instrument largely depends on the Group’s business
model and its contractual cash flow characteristics. 
 
Management has determined that the Group’s investments in quoted shares are
acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the near term; hence, the Group 
classified its investments in quoted shares as financial assets at FVTPL. 
 
Management has determined that the Group’s investments in unquoted shares is to
be held indefinitely and will be sold in response to liquidity requirements; hence, the 
Group classified its investments as financial assets at FVOCI. 
 
Distinction between Real Estate Inventories, Property and Equipment and 

Investment Properties 
The Group determines whether a property is classified as real estate inventories, 
investment properties, or property and equipment by considering whether the 
property is occupied substantially for use by or in operations of the Group; for sale in 
the normal operating cycle; or held primarily to earn rental income and capital 
appreciation. 
 
Real estate inventories comprise condominium units and residential properties that 
are held for sale in the ordinary course of business.  Principally, these are properties 
that the Group develops and intends to sell before or on completion of construction. 
 
Investment properties consist of properties which are not occupied substantially for 
use by, or in the operations of, the Group, nor for sale in the ordinary course of 
business, but are held primarily to earn rental income and capital appreciation. 
 
Property and equipment are tangible items that are held for use in the delivering or 
supply of goods or services and are expected to be used for more than one period. 
These are properties which are owner-occupied and are substantially for use of the 
Group or in the operations. 
 
Classifying Lease Commitments 
The Group as lessor has entered into lease agreements for its office building and 
condominium units and parking slots. The Group has determined, based on the 
evaluation of terms and conditions of agreement, that as lessor, it retains all the 
significant risks and benefits of ownership related to the leased properties. 
Accordingly, the agreements are accounted for as operating leases. 
 
The amount of rental income earned is disclosed in Note 25. 
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Real Estate Revenue Recognition 
▪ Assessing Existence of a Contract 
The Group’s primary document for a contract with a customer is a signed Contract
to Sell and Deed of Absolute Sale. It has determined that the combination of the 
other signed documentations such as reservation agreement, official receipts, 
buyers’ computation sheets and invoices, would contain all the criteria to qualify
as contract with the customer under PFRS 15. 
 
Management also considers the selling prices of the real estate property and 
other fees and charges collected from the buyers that are not held on behalf of 
other parties in determining the transaction price. 

 
▪ Assessing Revenue Recognition Threshold 
Part of the Group’s assessment process before revenue recognition is to assess
the probability that the Group will collect the consideration to which it will be 
entitled in exchange for the real estate property that will be transferred to the 
customer. Collectability of the sales price is demonstrated by the buyer’s
commitment to pay, which in turn is supported by substantial initial and continuing 
investments that give the buyer a stake in the property is sufficient to the effect 
that the risk of loss through default motivates the buyer to honor its obligation to 
the seller. Collectability is also assessed by considering factors such as past 
history with the buyer, and the pricing of the property. Management regularly 
evaluates the historical sales cancellations and back-outs if it would still support 
its current threshold of buyer’s equity before commencing revenue recognition. 

 
Determining Reportable Operating Segments 
The Group has determined that it has reportable segments based on the following 
thresholds: 
 
a. Its reported revenue, including both sales to external customers and intersegment 

sales or transfers, is 10% or more of the combined revenue, internal and external, of 
all operating segments. 

 
b. The absolute amount of its reported profit or loss is 10% or more, in 

absolute amount, of (i) the combined reported profit of all operating segments 
that did not report a loss and (ii) the combined reported loss of all operating 
segments that reported a loss. 

 
c. Its assets are 10% or more of the combined assets of all operating segments. 
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Critical Accounting Estimates and Assumptions 
The key assumption concerning the future and other key sources of estimation 
uncertainty at the reporting date, that have a material risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial 
year are discussed below. 
 
Assessing ECL of Financial Assets 
While cash and cash equivalents, refundable deposits and construction bond are 
also subject to the impairment requirements of PFRS 9, the assessed impairment 
loss is not material considering the related Group’s historical experience, profile of 
the counterparties, and the relative amount of the financial assets which is further 
discussed in Note 28 to the consolidated financial statements. 
 
▪ Receivables (Excluding Installment Contracts Receivable) 

The Group applies the simplified approach in measuring ECL which uses a lifetime 
expected loss allowance for all trade receivables. To measure the ECL, trade 
receivables have been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics such as 
revenue type, collateral or type of customer and the days past due. 
 
The expected loss rates are initially based on the Group’s historical default rates.
These historical default rates are adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking 
information on macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the customers to 
settle their payables to the Group.  The Group has identified macroeconomic 
factors (i.e., gross domestic product growth rates, foreign exchange rates, 
inflation rate) that are relevant, and accordingly adjusts the historical loss rates 
based on expected changes in these factors. 
 

▪ Installment Contracts Receivable and Other Financial Assets at Amortized Cost 
The Group applies the general approach in measuring ECL which uses a 12-month 
or lifetime ECL for all installment contracts receivable and other financial assets at 
amortized cost. To measure the ECL, these have been grouped based on shared 
credit risk characteristics and the days past due. ECL is derived by calculating the 
cumulative loss rates of a given installment contracts receivable pool. It derives the 
probability of default from the historical data of a homogenous portfolio that share 
the same origination period.  
 
The information on the number of defaults during fixed time intervals of the 
accounts is utilized to create the probability model. It allows the evaluation of the 
loan activity from its origination period until the end of the contract period., These 
are discounted back to the time of default (i.e., is defined by the Group as upon 
cancellation of contract to sell) using the appropriate effective interest rate, usually 
being the original effective interest rate or an approximation thereof.  
 
As part of the analysis, the management considers any credit enhancement such 
as collaterals or security; whereas if the carrying value of the installment contract 
receivable exceeds the fair value of the credit enhancement, the ECL is recognized; 
otherwise, it will not be taken up.  

 
Thes assessment of the correlation between historical default rates, forecast economic 
conditions (inflation and interest rates), ECL and the related fair value of the credit 
enhancement involves estimation uncertainty. The amount of ECL is sensitive to 
changes in circumstances and of forecast economic conditions. The Group’s historical
credit loss experience and forecast of economic conditions may also not be 
representative of the customer’s actual default in the future. 
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The information about the ECL on the Group’s financial assets at amortized cost is
disclosed in Note 28. The amount of impairment loss on receivables is disclosed in 
Note 7. The carrying amounts of these financial assets are disclosed in Notes 4, 7,  
9 and 13. 
 
Estimating the Fair Value of Financial Instruments 
When the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded or disclosed in 
the consolidated statements of financial position cannot be measured based on quoted 
prices in active markets, their fair value is determined using internal valuation 
techniques using generally accepted market valuation models.  Valuation may involve 
inputs that may require a degree of judgment when establishing fair values. These 
estimates may include considerations of inputs such as liquidity risk, credit risk and 
volatility. Changes in assumptions relating to these factors could affect the reported fair 
value of financial instruments. 
 
Results of management’s assessment disclosed that there is no need for provision
for decline in value of inventories as at December 31, 2024 and 2023. The 
information on fair value measurement of financial assets and liabilities is disclosed 
in Note 27. 
 
Evaluation of NRV of Inventories 
The Group determines the NRV of inventories annually in accordance with the 
accounting policy stated in Note 2.  
 
In determining the NRV for real estate inventories, the Group considers the current 
selling price of the inventories for sale less estimated costs to complete and sell, with 
reference to market conditions and prices existing at the reporting date and is 
determined in light of recent market transactions and having taking suitable external 
advice. 
 
For medical supplies, NRV is determined using based on the current replacement 
cost of the inventories adjusted for any obsolescence. 
 
Inventories are written-down below cost when the estimated NRV is found to be 
lower than the cost.  The amount and timing of recorded expenses foy any period 
would differ if different judgments were made or different estimates were utilized. 
 
The amount of inventories carried at the lower of cost and NRV is disclosed in  
Note 8. 
 
Estimating Useful Lives of Investment Properties and Property and Equipment 
The useful lives of the Group’s investment properties (excluding land) and property
and equipment (excluding land and CIP) are estimated based on the period over 
which the assets are expected to be available for use. Such estimate is based on a 
collective assessment of industry practices, internal technical valuation and 
experience with similar assets. The estimated useful life of each asset is reviewed 
periodically and updated if expectations differ from previous estimates due to 
physical wear and tear, technical or commercial obsolescence, and legal or other 
limitations on the use of the assets. It is possible, however, that future results of 
operations could be materially affected by changes in estimates brought about by 
changes in these factors and circumstances. The amounts and timing of recorded 
expenses for any period would be affected by changes in these factors and 
circumstances. A reduction in the estimated useful life of any property and 
equipment would increase the recorded operating expenses and decrease 
noncurrent assets. 
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There were no changes in the EUL of these assets in 2024, 2023 and 2022. The 
carrying amounts of investment properties and property and equipment are disclosed 
in Notes 10 and 11, respectively. 
 
Determining the Fair Value of Investment Properties 
Investment properties are measured at cost but fair values are disclosed. The Group 
engaged external qualified appraiser to determine the fair value of its investment 
properties. The fair values of investment properties were based on the valuation 
performed in 2024 using appropriate valuation techniques. The fair values of land 
and condominium units and parking slots were determined using market data 
approach. Market data approach involves the comparison of the land to those that 
are more or less located within the vicinity of the appraised property and are subject 
of recent sales and offerings. If there is limited data within the area, the independent 
appraiser considers the expansion of the research on properties considered 
comparable. Adjustments were made to arrive at the market value by considering the 
location, size, shape, utility, desirability and time element. The valuation techniques 
and inputs used in the fair value measurement of investment properties are disclosed 
in Note 10 to the consolidated financial statements. 
 
The latest independent appraiser’s report was at  December 31, 2024. 
 
For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Group has determined the nature, 
characteristics and risks of the investment properties and the level of the fair value 
hierarchy. 
 
Details of investment properties are disclosed in Note 10 to the consolidated financial 
statements. 
 
Impairment Assessment of Nonfinancial Assets and Goodwill 
The Group assesses impairment on its nonfinancial assets (excluding goodwill) 
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of 
the assets or group of assets may not be recoverable. The relevant factors that the 
Group considers in deciding whether to perform an asset impairment review include 
the following: 
 
▪ significant underperformance of a business in relation to expectations; 
 
▪ significant negative industry or economic trends; 
 
▪ significant changes or planned changes in the use of the assets; and 
 
▪ Obsolescence or physical damage of an asset; 
 
Whenever the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, an 
impairment loss is recognized. Recoverable amounts are estimated for individual 
assets or, if it is not possible, for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. 
Recoverable amount represents the greater of the fair value less costs of disposal 
and the value in use. 
 
Goodwill is tested for impairment annually and more frequently, when circumstances 
indicate that the carrying amount may be impaired.  The recoverable amounts of the 
CGUs containing goodwill were determined through Fair Value Less Costs of 
Disposal (FVLCD) approach and Value-in-Use (VIU) calculations using cash flow 
projections from financial budgets approved by management covering a five-year 
period. The assumptions used for each valuation approach are disclosed in Note 12 
to the consolidated financial statements.  
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The following bases were used to develop the assumptions used in each valuation 
approach include, among others:  
 
FVLCD 
Fair values of investment properties were determined by third party appraiser 
through comparable properties whose values were adjusted to take into account the 
overall characteristics of the Group investment properties. 
 
VIU 
Growth rate estimates - growth rates were based on experiences and strategies 
developed for the main operating subsidiaries. The prospect for the industry was also 
considered in estimating the growth rates.  
 
Discount rates - discount rates were estimated based on the industry weighted 
average cost of capital, which includes the cost of equity and debt after considering 
the gearing ratio.  
 
Calculated VIU for goodwill recoverability testing is most sensitive to changes in 
discount rate and terminal growth rate. 
 
No provision for impairment loss was recognized on nonfinancial assets (excluding 
investment properties) and goodwill. The carrying values of the Group’s other assets 
(excluding refundable deposits and construction bond), property and equipment and 
goodwill are disclosed in Notes 9 and 13, 11 and 12. 
 
Allowance for losses on and carrying amount of investment properties are disclosed 
in Note 10. 
 
Estimating Retirement Benefit Liability  
The cost of defined benefit retirement plan and the present value of the retirement 
benefit obligations are determined using actual valuations. The actuarial valuation 
involves making various assumptions which include the determination of the discount 
rates, future salary increases and mortality rates, among others. Due to the 
complexity of the valuation, the underlying assumptions and its long-term nature, 
defined benefit obligations are highly sensitive to changes in these assumptions. All 
assumptions are reviewed at each reporting date. 
 
In determining the appropriate discount rate, management considers the interest 
rates of government bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the 
benefits will be paid, with extrapolated maturities corresponding to the expected 
duration of the defined benefit obligation. The mortality rate is based on 1994 Group 
Annuity Mortality Table and is modified accordingly with estimates of mortality 
improvements. Future salary increases are based on expected future inflation rates. 
 
While the Group believe that the assumptions are reasonable and appropriate, 
significant changes in assumptions could materially affect the cost of employee 
benefits and related obligations. 
 
The amount of retirement benefits cost recognized and the carrying amount of net 
retirement benefits liability are disclosed in Note 15. 
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Assessing Recoverability of Deferred Income Tax Assets 
The Group reviews its deferred income tax assets at each reporting date and 
reduces the deferred income tax assets to the extent that it is no longer probable that 
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred income tax 
assets to be utilized. The deferred income tax assets include an amount which 
relates to the carried forward tax losses, excess MCIT over RCIT and other 
deductible temporary differences of the Parent Company and its subsidiaries. The 
Parent Company and its subsidiaries have incurred tax losses and excess MCIT over 
RCIT.  The carried forward tax losses and excess MCIT over RCIT have an 
expiration of three years from the taxable year when such tax losses were incurred, 
except for losses incurred in 2020 and 2021 which have an expiration of five years 
from the year they were incurred.   However, the Company has concluded that they 
will not benefit from the said tax losses and excess MCIT over RCIT before they 
eventually expire. Deferred income tax assets were recognized only up to the extent 
of forecasted taxable income in subsequent periods.  Each forecast was based on 
each of the Parent Company and the subsidiaries’ past results and future
expectations of revenue and expenses. The Group has unrecognized deferred 
income tax assets in respect of its net operating loss carryover (NOLCO), excess 
MCIT over RCIT and other deductible temporary differences disclosed in Note 26. 
The outcomes within the next financial year with respect to the results of operations 
of the Parent Company and subsidiaries that are different from the assumption could 
require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of the Group’s deferred income
tax assets. 
 
The amounts of recognized and unrecognized deferred income tax assets are 
disclosed in Note 26. 
 
Contingencies 
The Group is a party to certain lawsuits or claims arising from the ordinary course of 
business. However, the Group’s management and legal counsel believe that the
eventual liabilities under these lawsuits or claims, if any, will not have a material 
effect on the consolidated financial statements. Accordingly, no liability for probable 
losses arising from contingencies was recognized in the consolidated financial 
statements as at December 31, 2024 and 2023. 
 
 

4. Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 
This account consists of: 
 
  2024 2023 

Cash on hand   P25,000 P20,000 
Cash in banks  17,084,818 90,292,715 
Cash equivalents  632,631,075 677,404,812 

  P649,740,893 P767,717,527 

 
Cash in banks earns annual interest at prevailing bank deposit rates. Cash 
equivalents are short-term placements made for varying periods of up to three (3) 
months depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group and earn 
interest at prevailing short-term placement rates. 
 
Interest income earned from cash in banks and cash equivalents amounted to 
P36.68 million, P32.55 million and P9.14 million in 2024, 2023, and 2022, 
respectively (see Note 22). 
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The Group’s exposures to credit risk and foreign currency risk related to cash and 
cash equivalents are disclosed in Note 28 to the consolidated financial statements. 
 
 

5. Short-term Investments 
 
Short-term investments amounting to P73.71 million and P17.79 million as at 
December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, pertain to Unit Investment Trust Fund 
(UITFs) investments that are convertible to cash and held to meet immediate cash 
requirements, complementing short-term placements. 
 
Unrealized gains on changes in fair value on short-term investments amounted to 
P0.76 million in 2024 and nil in 2023 and 2022. Redemption of the short-term 
investments resulted in a realized gain amounting to P2.07 million, P1.16 million, 
P1.88 million in 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively (see Note 22). 
 
 

6. Investments in Quoted Shares 
 
This account pertains to marketable equity securities that are listed and traded in the 
PSE and foreign stock exchange designated as financial assets at FVTPL. 
 
The movements in the balances of investments in quoted shares are as follows: 
 
  Note 2024 2023 

Cost    
Balance at beginning of year  P80,029,231 P149,944,933 
Additions  17,001,966 8,906,428 
Withdrawals  (21,347,368) (78,822,130) 

Balance at end of year  75,683,829 80,029,231 

Accumulated Unrealized Fair Value 
Gains (Losses)    

Balance at beginning of year  5,836,537 11,906,212 
Changes in fair values during the year 22 3,051,300 (6,069,675) 

Balance at end of year  8,887,837 5,836,537 

  P84,571,666 P85,865,768 

 
The fair values of the investments in quoted shares were determined based on the 
closing bid prices at the end of reporting period categorized under Level 1 of the fair 
value hierarchy (see Note 27). 
 
Unrealized gains (losses) on changes in fair value of investments in quoted shares 
amounted to P3.05 million, (P6.07 million) and (P2.87 million) in 2024, 2023 and 
2022, respectively (see Note 22). 
 
Sale of investments in quoted shares resulted in a realized gains (losses) amounting 
to P4.61 million, P11.92 million and (P9.35 million) in 2024, 2023, and 2022, 
respectively (see Note 22). 
 
Dividend income generated from these investments amounted to P4.56 million,  
P5.76 million and P10.61 million in 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively (see Note 17). 
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7. Receivables 
 
This account consists of: 
 
 Note 2024 2023 

Installment contracts receivable  P80,022,085 P99,505,963 
Due from Project Developer 25 23,227,359 30,808,394 
Receivables from:    

Patient services  18,591,801 17,049,403 
Contractors  12,741,843 12,741,843 
Real estate buyers  2,502,615 1,927,834 

Loans receivable 23 10,032,911 10,295,375 
Billed rentals 25 1,850,584 1,879,676 
Others  5,224,299 4,323,913 

  154,193,497 178,532,401 
Less allowance for impairment losses  22,055,637 22,055,637 

  132,137,860 156,476,764 
Less noncurrent portion of:    

Installment contracts receivable  63,924,667 81,243,140 
Noncurrent portion of loans receivable  9,753,007 10,032,911 

   P58,460,186 P65,200,713 

 
Installment Contracts Receivable 
Installment contracts receivable pertain to real estate sales. These are collectible in 
various installment periods of between one to 15 years and earn interest at 10% to 
16% per annum. 
 
Interest income earned from installment contracts receivable amounted to  
P12.82 million, P16.17 million and P19.57 million in 2024, 2023 and 2022, 
respectively. 
 
Other Receivables 
Due from Project Developer pertain to collections of installment receivables by joint 
venture partners which are to be remitted to the Group (see Note 25). 
 
Receivables from patient services are noninterest-bearing and are normally 
collectible within 30 to 60 days. 
 
Receivables from contractors pertain to advance payments made to contractors. 
These receivables are impaired and are fully provided with allowance for impairment 
loss as management assessed that the said receivables are not recoverable.  
 
Receivable from real estate buyers includes processing fees paid by the Group in 
advance that are necessary to transfer the title to the buyers which are chargeable to 
the buyers. 
 
Others pertain to pass-through expenses paid by the Company to be collected from 
the relevant third party. 
 
Loans Receivable 
In 2023, the Parent Company entered into a Loan and Security Agreement  
(the “Agreement”) with a third party (the “Borrower”). The loan has a term of 20 years
and is payable based on the scheduled payments defined in the Agreement, with an 
annual interest of 6.50% and is secured by a parcel of land (see Note 23). 
 
 



- 37 -

In 2022, the Parent Company collected in full the loans receivable from a third party. 
The said loan bears interest at 10% per annum and was secured by a surety of an 
individual and pledged shares (common shares listed in the PSE) approximating 
200% of the loan amount. 
 
The movements in the loans receivable account are as follows: 
 
  2024 2023 

Balance at beginning of year  P10,295,375 P   -     
Collections  (262,464) (15,497) 
Loan granted during year  -     10,310,872 

Balance at end of year  10,032,911 10,295,375 
Less current portion  279,904 262,464 

Noncurrent portion  P9,753,007 P10,032,911 

 
Interest income earned from loans receivable amounted to P0.66 million,  
P0.04 million and P1.00 million in 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively (see Note 22). 
 
Allowance for Impairment Losses 
The movements in the allowance for impairment losses on receivables are as 
follows: 
 
 Note 2024 2023 

Balance at beginning of year  P22,055,637 P22,890,728 
Write-offs  -     (311,834) 
Reversals 22 -     (523,257) 

Balance at end of year  P22,055,637 P22,055,637 

 
The Group’s exposure to credit risk related to receivables is disclosed in Note 28 to
the consolidated financial statements. 
 
 

8. Inventories 
 
This account consists of: 
 
  2024 2023 

At cost:    
Houses and lots  P54,811,598 P57,816,134 
Condominium units and parking slots  17,842,913 17,808,900 
Medical supplies  1,603,149 2,206,847 

  P74,257,660 P77,831,881 

 
Houses and lots pertain to units in Palma Real Residential Estates with movements 
as follows: 
 
 Note 2024 2023 

Balance at beginning of year  P57,816,134 P66,893,733 
Construction costs  1,784,339 6,900,968 
Repossession from cancelled contracts  1,296,560 476,367 
Cost of real estate sales 18 (6,085,435) (16,454,934) 

Balance at end of year  P54,811,598 P57,816,134 
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Condominium units and parking slots pertain to units in Cypress Towers with 
movements as follows: 
 
 Note 2024 2023 

Balance at beginning of year  P17,808,900 P20,030,807 
Additions from renovations  34,013 121,057 
Cost of real estate sales 18 -     (1,495,181) 
Transfers to investment properties 10 -     (847,783) 

Balance at end of year  P17,842,913 P17,808,900 

 
Cost of inventories recognized as expense is as follows: 
 
 Note 2024 2023 2022 

Houses and lots 18 P6,085,435 P16,454,934 P31,158,926 
Condominium units and 

parking lots 18 -     1,495,181 4,506,887 
Medical supplies 18 7,687,050 5,896,490 6,189,931 

  P13,772,485 P23,846,605 P41,855,744 

 
No purchase commitments, liens and encumbrances pertaining to inventories. 
 
 

9. Other Current Assets 
 
This account consists of: 
 
  2024 2023 

Creditable withholding taxes  P33,520,857 P33,150,258 
Prepaid expenses  4,924,088 5,068,839 
Input VAT  538,812 473,308 
Advances to officers and employees  203,910 279,846 
Others  49,157 1,049,157 

  P39,236,824 P40,021,408 

 
Prepaid expenses mainly pertain to prepayments of rent, insurance premiums and 
real property taxes. 
 
Input VAT represents VAT imposed on the Group by its suppliers for the acquisition 
of goods and services required under Philippine taxation laws and regulations.  Input 
VAT is applied against output VAT.  
 
Advances to officers and employees are advances for various business-related 
expenses and are subject to liquidation within 30 days. 
 
Others include construction bond for building renovation and the current portion of 
deferred input VAT. 
 
The Group’s exposure to credit risk related to other current assets is disclosed in
Note 28 to the consolidated financial statements. 
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10. Investment Properties 
 
The movements in the account are as follows: 
 

  2024 

 Note Land 

Condominium 
Units and 

Parking Slots Total 

Cost     
January 1, 2023  P1,098,153,690 P44,007,159 P1,142,160,849 
Additions  3,194,600 -     3,194,600 
Transfers 8 -     847,783 847,783 

December 31, 2023  1,101,348,290 44,854,942 1,146,203,232 
Additions  138,733,125 -     138,733,125 

December 31, 2024  1,240,081,415 44,854,942 1,284,936,357 

Accumulated Depreciation     
January 1, 2023  -     16,541,126 16,541,126 
Depreciation 21 -     1,509,271 1,509,271 

December 31, 2023  -     18,050,397 18,050,397 
Depreciation 21 -     1,508,675 1,508,675 

December 31, 2024  -     19,559,072 19,559,072 

Allowance for Impairment 
Losses     

December 31, 2024 and 2023  55,513,073 -     55,513,073 

Carrying Amounts     

December 31, 2023  P1,045,835,217 P26,804,545 P1,072,639,762 

December 31, 2024  P1,184,568,342 P25,295,870 P1,209,864,212 

 
The Group’s investment properties pertain to several parcels of land which are held
for capital appreciation and are located in Taguig, Batangas and Bulacan. 
Investment properties also include a number of condominium units and parking slots 
in Cypress Towers which earn rental income. 
 
In 2023, a condominium unit amounting to P0.85 million was reclassified to 
investment properties after management decided to lease said property to third 
parties (see Note 8).  In 2022, several parcels of land located in Batangas were sold 
for a total consideration of P31.43 million, which resulted in a gain amounting to 
P26.40 million (see Note 22). 
 
The aggregate fair value of the Group’s investment properties amounted to P5.38 billion 
and P4.64 billion as at December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. The latest 
independent appraisal report was dated December 31, 2024. 
 
The assumptions used in the valuation and fair value hierarchy category of each 
assumption are as follows: 
 

 Approach 
Fair Value 
Hierarchy 

Land   
Price per sqm Market Data Approach Level 2 
Value adjustments Market Data Approach Level 3 

Building, Building Improvements, 
Condominiums and Parking Slots   

Replacement cost Cost Approach Level 3 
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Description of valuation techniques used and key inputs to valuation on investment 
properties are as follows: 
 
Market Data Approach 
Market data approach is used to estimate valuation of land. It involves the 
comparison of the land and condominium units and parking slots to those that are 
more or less located within the vicinity of the appraised properties and are subject of 
recent sales and offerings. Adjustments were made to the valuation of land to arrive 
at the market value by considering the location, size, shape, utility, desirability and 
time element. 
 
Cost Approach 
Cost Approach is based on the reproduction or replacement cost of building and 
building improvements, less total accumulated depreciation. 
 
The key inputs to fair valuation are as follows: 
 
▪ Price Per Sqm is the estimated value prevailing in the real estate market 

depending on the location, area, shape and time element. 
 
▪ Value Adjustments are fair value adjustments are made to bring the comparative 

values in approximation to the investment properties taking into account the 
location, size, time element, and terrain, among others. 

 
Sensitivity Analysis 
Significant increase (decrease) in price per square meter would result in a 
significantly higher (lower) fair value measurement. Significant increase (decrease) in 
value adjustments would result in a lower (higher) fair value measurement. 
 
As at December 31, 2024 and 2023, allowance for probable losses on investment 
properties amounted to P55.51 million, which was recognized to cover losses on 
potential claims on certain parcels of land. 
 
Rental income generated from investment properties amounted to P16.98 million, 
P16.62 million and P14.46 million in 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively  
(see Notes 17 and 25). Related direct operating costs incurred pertain to 
depreciation and amortization and real property taxes aggregating to P5.18 million, 
P4.97 million and P4.07 million in 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively. 
 
Owner-occupied Property 
As at December 31, 2024 and 2023, the carrying amount of the Group’s owner-
occupied property presented as part of “Property and equipment” account amounted
to P167.64 million and P173.12 million, respectively. 
 
The Group has no restrictions on the realizability of its investment properties and no 
contractual obligations to purchase, construct or develop investment properties or for 
repairs, maintenance and enhancements, other than those already reflected or 
disclosed in the consolidated financial statements. 
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12. Goodwill 
 
Goodwill resulted from the acquisition of 97% ownership of HSAPI by the Parent 
Company in 2014. As a result of the acquisition, the Parent Company acquired 
control over FMCMI, a wholly-owned subsidiary of HSAPI. The goodwill arising from 
the acquisition amounted to P21.74 million. 
 
Impairment Testing of Goodwill 
The Parent Company performed its annual impairment test as at December 31, 2024 
and 2023.  The CGUs were identified and separated on the basis of the independent 
cash inflows.  
 
The management identified the investment properties and operations of FMCMI as 
separate CGUs valued using FVLCD and VIU approach, respectively. 
 
a. FVLCD 

The recoverable amounts of the investment properties were determined using 
FVLCD. In determining the fair values of the investment properties, the Parent 
Company engaged third party appraiser and the latest independent appraisal 
report was dated December 31, 2024. 
 
Description of valuation techniques used and key inputs to valuation on 
investment properties are as follows: 
 
Market Data Approach 
Market data approach is used to estimate valuation of land. It involves the 
comparison of the land to those that are more or less located within the vicinity of 
the appraised properties and are subject of recent sales and offerings. 
Adjustments were made to the valuation of land to arrive at the market value by 
considering the location, size, shape, utility, desirability and time element. 
 
Cost Approach 
Cost Approach is based on the reproduction or replacement cost of building and 
building improvements, less accumulated depreciation. 
 
The key inputs to fair value valuation are as follows: 
 
▪ Price Per Sqm is the estimated value prevailing in the real estate market 

depending on the location, area, shape and time element. 
 
▪ Value Adjustments are fair value adjustments made to bring the comparative 

values in approximation to the investment properties taking into account the 
location, size, time element, and terrain, among others. 

 
The costs of disposal is the estimated cost that the management expects to incur 
to effect the sale of the investment properties. 
 
The significant assumptions and the fair value hierarchy category of each 
assumption for FVLCD, as applicable, are as follows: 
 
 Management Assumptions Fair Value  
 2024 2023 Hierarchy 

Price per sqm P84,000 P46,000 Level 2 
Value adjustments 25% - 65% 15% - 35% Level 3 
Cost of disposal 5% 5% - 
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Sensitivity Analysis on FVLCD Assumptions 
The fair value of the investment properties will increase (decrease) if: 
 
• Price per sqm of the comparable properties were higher (lower) 
• Value adjustments to price per sqm of the comparable properties were lower 

(higher) 
• Cost of disposal were lower (higher) 

 
b. VIU 

The recoverable amount of one of the CGUs has been determined based on a 
VIU calculation using cash flow projections from financial budgets approved by 
management covering a five-year period. Cash flow beyond the  
5-year period are extrapolated using a constant growth rate for the industry. The 
projected cash flows have been updated to reflect the expected demand over 
FMCMI’s healthcare services. 
 
The calculation of value in use of the CGUs is most sensitive to the following 
assumptions: 
 
• Growth rates used to extrapolate cash flows beyond the forecast period 
• Discount rates 
• Gross margins 
 
Growth Rate Estimates 
Rates are based on management’s expectation of FMCMI’s operations
benchmarked on the published industry research.  
 
Discount Rate 
Discount rates represent the current market assessment of the risks specific to 
each CGU, taking into consideration the time value of money and individual risks 
of the underlying assets that have not been incorporated in the cash flow 
estimates. The discount rate calculation is based on the specific circumstances 
of the Parent Company benchmarked on the prevailing money market fund rates. 
Adjustments to the discount rate are made to factor in the specific amount and 
timing of the future tax flows in order to reflect a pre-tax discount rate, where 
appropriate. 
 
Gross Margins 
Gross margins are based on average values achieved in one to five years 
preceding the beginning of the budget period. These are expected to be steady 
or consistent over the period of projection. 
 
Management assumptions on VIU are as follows: 
 

2024 2023 

Discount rate 6% 6% 
Growth rate 12-16% 12% 
Gross margin 45% - 49% 54% - 55% 

 
Sensitivity on VIU Assumptions 
Management believes that any possible change in the key assumptions on which 
the recoverable amount is based would not cause its carrying amount to exceed 
its recoverable amount. 
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13. Other Noncurrent Assets 
 
This account consists of: 
 
 2024 2023 

Investment in unquoted shares - net P72,356,265 P72,356,265 
Refundable deposits 1,914,249 2,052,796 
Noncurrent portion of deferred input VAT 825,914 875,071 
Others 937,297 728,581 

 76,033,725 76,012,713 
Less allowance for impairment losses 59,505,138 57,011,606 

 P16,528,587 P19,001,107 

 
Investment in unquoted shares pertains to the Group’s 18% equity interest in Asian
Alliance Holdings & Development Corp., designated by management as financial 
assets at FVOCI.  
 
The assumed fair value of the said equity investment amounted to P12.85 million 
and P15.34 million as at December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, determined 
using the investee’s latest net asset value.  In 2024, the Group provided a P2.49 
million allowance for impairment losses on its investment in unquoted shares as 
management assessed that this investment may not be recoverable as at  
December 31, 2024.  Management does not plan to sell or dispose of the shares 
within one year as at end of reporting date. 
 
Sensitivity Analysis 
Significant increase (decrease) in the net asset would result in a significantly higher 
(lower) fair value measurement. 
 
Refundable deposits pertain to bill deposits and guaranty deposits paid to utility 
companies. 
 
Other noncurrent assets include cash bond paid to a government agency, 
construction bond and others that are individually immaterial. 
 
The Group’s exposure to credit risk related other noncurrent assets is disclosed in
Note 28 to the consolidated financial statements. 
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14. Accounts and Other Payables 
 
This account consists of: 
 
 Note 2024 2023 

Trade payable 25 P133,084,934 P116,264,501 
Contract liabilities  18,685,837 13,570,934 
Deposits for document processing  7,450,353 5,927,623 
Statutory payable  5,916,719 8,323,841 
Payable to directors and officers 23 3,965,105 6,888,504 
Unearned rental income 25 2,733,751 3,219,404 
Accrued expenses:    

Commission  950,655 -     
Professional fees  826,512 626,760 
Outsourced service  682,337  392,477 
Utilities and Communication  284,102 263,760 
Others  11,575 2,286 

Others 11 1,812,656 1,821,482 

  P176,404,536 P157,301,572 

 
Trade payable pertains to outstanding liabilities for land, payable to a joint venture 
partner for its share in the collections received by the Group and payable to 
contractors and suppliers.  These are noninterest-bearing and are normally settled 
on a 30 to 60-day credit terms. 
 
Contract liabilities represent payments of buyers which do not qualify yet for revenue 
recognition as real estate sales and nonrefundable reservation fees received from 
prospective buyers. The Group requires buyers to pay a minimum percentage of the 
total selling price before they enter into a sale transaction. Collections from buyers 
which have not reached the minimum required percentage are treated as contract 
liabilities. Revenue recognized in 2024, 2023 and 2022 from contract liabilities 
amounted to P3.94 million, P10.14 million and P22.00 respectively. 
 
Accrued expenses consist mainly of utilities, communication, outsourced services, 
and professional fees which are normally settled in the following month. 
 
Statutory payable includes amounts payable to government agencies such as BIR, 
SSS, PhilHealth and Pag-IBIG which are normally settled in the following month. 
 
Deposits for document processing represent collections for processing deed of sale 
and other documents necessary in transferring titles to real estate buyers. 
 
Others pertains mainly to construction bond and security deposit.  
 
The Group’s exposure to liquidity risk related to accounts and other payables is
disclosed in Note 28 to the consolidated financial statements. 
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15. Net Retirement Benefits Liability 
 
The Group has a funded, non-contributory tax-qualified defined benefit type of 
retirement plan (the Plan) covering substantially all of its regular employees. The 
Plan is administered by a local bank as trustee and provides for a lump-sum benefit 
payment upon retirement.  The Plan provides for a minimum benefit of one-half 
month of final salary per year of credited service.  The benefit shall be payable to 
employees with at least five years of continuous service and attained age of: 
 
▪ 60 years; 
▪ 50 years with completion of at least 10 years of service; or 
▪ More than 60, on a case-to-case and year-to-year extension basis.  
 
The latest actuarial valuation report of the retirement plan was made as at  
December 31, 2024. 
 
Under the existing regulatory framework, Republic Act 7641, The Retirement Pay 
Law, requires a provision for retirement pay to qualified private sector employees in 
the absence of any retirement plan in the entity, provided however that the 
employee’s retirement benefits under any collective bargaining and other
agreements shall not be less than those provided under the law.  The law does not 
require minimum funding of the plan. 
 
Retirement benefits cost is included as part of “Salaries, wages and other benefits”
under “Selling and Administrative Expenses” account in the consolidated statements
of comprehensive income (see Notes 19 and 20). 
 
The Plan typically exposes the Group to actuarial risks such as: investment risk, 
interest rate risk, longevity risk and salary risk. 
 
Investment Risk 
The present value of the defined benefit plan liability is calculated using a discount 
rate determined by reference to government bond yields; if the return on plan asset 
is below this rate, it will result in remeasurement loss and may create a plan deficit. 
 
Interest Risk 
A decrease in the government bond interest rate will increase the plan liability. 
 
Longevity Risk 
The present value of the defined benefit plan liability is calculated by reference to the 
best estimate of the mortality of plan participants both during and after their 
employment.  An increase in the life expectancy of the plan participants will increase 
the plan’s liability. 
 
Salary Risk 
The present value of the defined benefit plan liability is calculated by reference to the 
future salaries of plan participants. As such, an increase in the salary of the plan 
participants will increase the plan’s liability. 
 
The principal assumptions used for the actuarial valuations were as follows: 
 

 2024 2023 

Discount rate  6.09% - 6.17% 6.07% - 6.10% 
Expected rate of salary increases  5.00% 5.00% 
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The following are the turnover rate assumption in 2024 and 2023: 
 
Age  2024 2023 

17 – 24  5% 5% 
25 – 29  3% 3% 
30 – 49  1% 1% 

 
Mortality rates in 2024 and 2023 are based on the “1994 US Group Annuity Mortality
Table”. Disability rate is based on “1952 Disability Table” from the Society of the
Actuaries in the Philippines. 
 
Details of retirement benefits cost are as follows: 
 
 2024 2023 2022 

Current service cost P2,621,039 P2,085,415 P2,336,164 
Interest expense 1,869,645 1,991,619 1,445,417 
Interest income (230,933) (276,728) (179,983) 
Past service cost due to plan 

amendment -     -     6,185,216 

 P4,259,751 P3,800,306 P9,786,814 
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As at December 31, 2024 and 2023, the fair value of plan assets by each class are 
as follows: 
 
  2024 2023 

Deposits in banks  P2,594,588 P2,484,185 
Equity securities   1,353,040 1,305,772 
Other assets  43,950 17,745 
Other accountabilities  (13,790) (8,549) 

  P3,977,788 P3,799,153 

 
The composition of the fair value of the Fund includes: 
 
Deposit in Banks - includes savings, demand deposits and special savings account 
(SSA). 
 
Equity Securities - includes investments in common shares of corporations listed in 
the PSE. 
 
Other Assets - includes accrued interest receivable from deposits in banks. 
 
Other Accountabilities - pertain mainly to charges of trust or in the management of 
the Plan. 
 
The recommended contribution for the Groups retirement fund for the year 2025 
amounted to P16.26 million (based on the Funding Valuation as of December 31, 
2024). 
 
The weighted-average duration of the net retirement benefits liability is 17 to 23 
years and 18 to 22 years as at December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. 
 
Sensitivity Analysis on the Actuarial Assumptions 
Significant actuarial assumptions for the determination of the defined benefit 
obligation are discount rate and expected salary increase. The sensitivity analysis 
below has been determined based on reasonably possible changes of the respective 
assumptions occurring at the end of the reporting period, while holding all other 
assumptions constant. 
 

 
Increase 

(Decrease) 
Effect to Defined 

Benefit Obligation 

2024   
Discount rates +50 basis points (P538,365) 
 -50 basis points 595,977 
Future salary increases +1.00% 1,224,567 
 -1.00% (1,019,741) 

2023   
Discount rates +100 basis points (502,134) 
 -100 basis points 558,151 
Future salary increases +1.00% 1,150,549 
 -1.00% (950,250) 

 
The sensitivity analysis presented above may not be representative of the actual 
change in the defined benefit obligation as it is unlikely that the change in 
assumptions would occur in isolation of one another as some of the assumptions 
may be correlated. 
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Maturity analysis of the undiscounted benefit payments: 
 
  2024 2023 

Less than five years  P31,107,389 P29,906,992 
Five years but less than 10 years  3,759,911 3,799,288 
More than 10 years  194,033,350 166,649,059 

 
Remeasurement Gains   
The cumulative remeasurement gains on net retirement benefits liability included as 
part of “Other equity reserves” in equity as at December 31 are as follows: 
 

 
Accumulated 

Remeasurements Deferred Tax 

Accumulated 
Remeasurements - 

net of Tax 

Balance as at December 31, 2022 P16,948,153 P3,935,728 P13,012,425 
Remeasurement gains 432,356 108,089 324,267 

Balance as at December 31, 2023 17,380,509 4,043,817 13,336,692 
Remeasurement gains 1,494,272 373,569 1,120,703 

Balance as at December 31, 2024 P18,874,781 P4,417,386 P14,457,395 

 
Asset-liability Matching (ALM) 
The Group has no specific matching strategy for retirement. The Group is not 
required to pre-fund the future defined benefits payable under the retirement plan 
before they become due. For this reason, the amount and timing of contributions 
depends on the Group’s discretion. However, in the event a benefit claim arises, the
Group will pay the obligation. 
 
 

16. Equity 
 
Capital Stock 
Details of the Parent Company’s capital stock with P0.10 par value as at  
December 31, 2024 and 2023 are as follows: 
 
 Shares Amount 

Authorized 24,000,000,000 P2,4000,000,000 

Issued and Outstanding   
Balance at beginning and end of year 19,775,232,460 P1,977,523,246 
Treasury stock - at cost (4,815,232,510) (481,523,251) 

 14,959,999,950 P1,495,999,995 

 
APIC represents the excess of proceeds over aggregate par or stated value of 
common shares which amounted to P118.57 million as at December 31, 2024 and 
2023. 
 
Treasury shares represent the reacquired 4,815,232,510 shares of the Parent 
Company at a cost of P0.10 per share or equivalent to P481.52 million.   
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Dividend Declaration of Parent Company 
On February 28, 2023, the BOD of the Parent Company approved the declaration of 
stock dividends amounting to P150.00 million, subject to compliance with regulatory 
requirements. Subsequently, on May 4, 2024, the BOD of the Parent Company 
approved the declaration of a property dividends, to be distributed from the Parent 
Company’s treasury shares at an entitlement ratio of 0.10 common share for every
one (1) Parent Company common share held.  On December 10, 2024, the BOD of 
the Parent Company clarified that the stock dividend approved in 2023 was to be 
superseded by the property dividend approved in May 2024.The dividend declaration 
is still subject to SEC's approval. 
 
Dividend Declaration of CCPC 
 
▪ On August 20, 2024, the BOD of CCPC approved the declaration of cash 

dividends amounting to P30.00 million or P0.23 per share to stockholders of 
record as at December 31, 2023. The dividends attributable to the Parent 
Company and non-controlling interest amounted to P14.42 million and P15.58 
million, respectively.  

 
▪ On April 20, 2022, the BOD of CCPC approved the declaration of cash dividends 

amounting to P60.00 million or P0.46 per share to stockholders of record as at 
December 31, 2021.  The dividends attributable to the Parent Company and non-
controlling interest amounted to P28.85 million and P31.15 million, respectively. 

 
There were no dividends declarations from any subsidiary within the Group in 2023. 
 
The Parent Company’s track of record of its securities as follows: 
 
 Issued and Subscribed Issue/ 
Date of Approval No. of Shares Amount Offer Price 

October 24, 1969 1,699,999,995 P1,699,999,995 P1.00 
January 10, 2008* 11,900,000,015 (339,999,994) 0.10 
August 18, 2014 4,815,232,470 481,523,247 0.10 
May 7, 2019 1,359,999,980 135,999,998 0.10 

*In 2008, the Parent Company had capital restructuring which resulted in decrease in subscribed capital from 
P1.70 billion to P1.36 billion and reduction in the par value per share from P1 par value per share to P0.10 par 
value per share. 

 
The Parent Company has 362 and 363 shareholders as at December 31, 2024 and 
2023, respectively. 
 
Retained Earnings 
In accordance with SEC Memorandum Circular No. 16-2023 issued in December 
2008, the Parent Company’s retained earnings available for dividend declaration as
of December 31, 2024 and 2023 amounted to P254.66 million and P236.41 million, 
respectively. 
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Non-controlling Interests 
The Group’s non-controlling interests represent ownership of non-controlling 
interests shareholders over the following subsidiaries: 
 
  2024 2023 

CCPC  52% 52% 
PLHI  25% 25% 
HSAPI  3% 3% 
FMCMI  3% 3% 

 
Non-controlling interests amounted to P160.45 million and P169.45 million as at 
December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. Related dividends allocated to  
non-controlling interests amounted to P15.58 million and P31.15 million in 2024 and 
2022, respectively. The dividends were paid in cash. 
 
The summarized financial information of subsidiaries with material non-controlling 
interest as at and for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 are as 
follows: 
 
CCPC 
 

 2024 2023 2022 

Statements of Financial Position    
Current assets P216,268,153 P224,037,343 P194,683,336 
Noncurrent assets 38,421,220 42,805,849 43,913,787 
Current liabilities 75,918,428 69,789,723 64,391,097 
Noncurrent liabilities 5,968,259 6,648,493 9,370,231 

Statements of Financial 
Performance    

Revenue 23,231,005 48,282,636 70,418,792 
Net income 12,367,761 25,476,701 33,807,083 
Total comprehensive income 12,397,710 25,569,181 33,849,685 

Statements of Cash Flows    
Cash flows arising from:    

Operating activities 3,622,695 46,643,107 51,366,436 
Financing activities (30,000,000) -     (60,000,000) 
Investing activities -     (22,969) (29,868) 

 
PLHI 
 

 2024 2023 2022 

Statements of Financial Position    
Current assets P104,310 P190,292 P180,956 
Noncurrent assets 277,764,816 277,518,000 277,518,000 
Current liabilities 4,924,808 4,399,225 4,025,145 
Noncurrent liabilities 5,317,971 5,317,971 5,317,971 

Statements of Financial 
Performance    

Expenses 364,749 364,744 365,914 
Net loss 364,749 364,744 365,914 
Total comprehensive loss 364,749 364,744 365,914 

Statements of Cash Flows    
Cash flows arising from:    
Operating activities 170,000 -     -     
Investing activities (170,000) -     -     
Financing activities -     -     -     
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Capital Management 
The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that it
maintains a strong credit standing and stable capital ratios in order to support its 
business and maximize shareholder value. The Group maintains its current capital 
structure and will make adjustments, if necessary, in order to generate a reasonable 
level of returns to stockholders over the long term.  
 
The Group reviews its capital structure on an annual basis. As part of it review, the 
Group considers the cost of capital and the risks associated with it.  
 
The Group monitors capital using debt to equity ratio, which is total debt divided by 
total equity as follows: 
 
 2024 2023 

Debt P217,358,679 P196,045,984 
Equity 2,860,221,373 2,847,211,742 

Debt-to-Equity Ratio 0.08:1 0.07:1 

 
Debt is composed of all liabilities while equity includes capital stock, APIC, retained 
earnings, other equity reserves and non-controlling interests, less treasury stock. 
 
Pursuant to the PSE's rules on minimum public ownership, at least 10% of the 
issued and outstanding shares of a listed company must be owned and held by the 
public. The public ownership is about 18.7% and 18.4% as at December 31, 2024 
and 2023, respectively. 
 
There were no changes were made in the Group’s objectives, policies or processes
in 2024 and 2023. 
 
 

17. Revenue 
 
This account consists of: 
 

  2024 

 Note 
Real Estate 

Activities 
Healthcare 

Activities 
Investing 
Activities Total 

Revenue from Contracts with 
Customers:      

Recognized at a point in time:      
Real estate sales:      

Sale of houses and lots  P21,574,140 P   -     P   -     P21,574,140 
Sale of services  -     61,505,146 -     61,505,146 

Recognized over time -       
Interest income  12,819,848 -     -     12,819,848 

Revenue from Other Sources:      
Dividend income 6 -     -     4,561,348 4,561,348 
Rental income 10, 25 16,981,328 -     -     16,981,328 

  P51,375,316 P61,505,146 P4,561,348 P117,441,810 
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  2023 

 Note 
Real Estate 

Activities 
Healthcare 

Activities 
Investing 
Activities Total 

Revenue from Contracts with 
Customers:      

Recognized at a point in time:      
Real estate sales:      

Sale of houses and lots  P56,786,475 P   -     P   -     P56,786,475 
Sale of condominium units and 

parking slots  6,394,643 -     -     6,394,643 
Sale of services  -     68,697,725 -     68,697,725 

Recognized over time -       
Interest income  16,170,301 -     -     16,170,301 

Revenue from Other Sources:      
Dividend income 6 -     -     5,757,732 5,757,732 
Rental income 10, 25 16,622,127 -     -     16,622,127 

  P95,973,546 P68,697,725 P5,757,732 P170,429,003 

 
  2022 

 Note 
Real Estate 

Activities 
Healthcare 

Activities 
Investing 
Activities Total 

Revenue from Contracts with 
Customers      

Recognized at a point in time:      
Real estate sales:      

Sale of houses and lots  P95,706,264 P   -     P   -     P95,706,264 
Sale of condominium units and 

parking slots  16,965,000 -     -     16,965,000 
Sale of services  -     65,470,038 -     65,470,038 

Recognized over time -       
Interest income  19,571,409 -     -     19,571,409 

Revenue from Other Sources:      
Dividend income 6 -     -     10,611,771 10,611,771 
Rental income 10, 25 14,455,349 -     -     14,455,349 

  P146,698,022 65,470,038 P10,611,771 P222,779,831 

 
 

18. Direct Costs 
 
This account consists of: 
 
 Note 2024 2023 2022 

Cost of real estate sales  P6,085,435 P17,950,115 P35,665,813 
Cost of services  32,308,926 33,539,235 33,723,650 
Depreciation 21 2,902,216 2,686,257 1,401,832 
Taxes and licenses  770,612 770,612 627,461 

  P42,067,189  P54,946,219  P71,418,756  

 
Cost of real estate sales consists of: 
 
 Note 2024 2023 2022 

Cost of:     
House and lots sold 8 P6,085,435 P16,454,934 P31,158,926 
Condominium units and 

parking slots sold 8 -     1,495,181 4,506,887 

  P6,085,435 P17,950,115 P35,665,813 
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Cost of services consists of: 
 
 Note 2024 2023 2022 

Contracted services  P10,259,547 P13,405,152 P12,852,549 
Salaries, wages and other 

benefits 20 6,747,136 6,869,579 7,632,264 
Medical supplies used 8 7,687,050 5,896,490 6,189,931 
Depreciation  21 3,025,593 2,842,370 3,255,389 
Utilities  1,916,716 1,809,007 1,675,146 
Outside services  1,653,381 2,372,377 1,691,023 
Others  1,019,503 344,260 427,348 

  P32,308,926 P33,539,235 P33,723,650 

 
 

19. Selling and Administrative Expenses 
 
This account consists of: 
 
 Note 2024 2023 2022 

Salaries, wages and 
other benefits 20 P33,287,786 P29,149,615 P35,104,079 

Depreciation 21 10,859,175 9,291,413 7,548,425 
Outside services  9,876,937 8,840,402 8,807,394 
Taxes and licenses  6,604,228 6,532,170 5,440,070 
Meetings and seminars  6,313,152 5,773,764 4,447,399 
Supplies  4,085,996 2,733,908 2,951,116 
Directors’ and officers’

profit-sharing 
remuneration 23 3,965,105 6,888,504 8,938,479 

Professional fees  3,630,298 3,467,737 3,940,000 
Commissions  3,255,184 3,623,952 6,807,281 
Utilities  2,800,068 2,423,373 2,182,267 
Repairs and maintenance  2,415,014 2,615,644 2,009,470 
Insurance  2,394,950 2,113,950 1,492,286 
Unrecoverable input VAT  1,798,870 3,580,976 2,633,350 
Transportation and travel  1,696,123 1,748,036 3,119,709 
Director’s fees 23 1,511,111 1,644,444 1,816,889 
Postage and 

communication  694,558 655,630 650,097 
Committee meetings  525,000 515,000 500,000 
Association dues  480,787 480,787 480,787 
Advertising  259,429 205,208 279,442 
Others  2,128,450 4,533,136 4,726,136 

  P98,582,221 P96,817,649 P103,874,676 
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20. Personnel Costs 
 
This account consists of: 
 

 Note 2024 2023 2022 

Salaries and wages  P29,785,990 P26,308,531 P27,531,203 
Retirement benefit costs 15 4,259,751 3,800,306 9,786,814 
Other employee benefits  5,989,181 5,910,357 5,418,326 

  P40,034,922 P36,019,194 P42,736,343 

 
Personnel costs are charge to: 
 

 Note 2024 2023 2022 

Direct costs 18 P6,747,136 P6,869,579 P7,632,264 
Selling and administrative 

expenses 19 33,287,786 29,149,615 35,104,079 

  P40,034,922 P36,019,194 P42,736,343 

 
 

21. Depreciation 
 
Depreciation is attributable to: 
 

 Note 2024 2023 2022 

Property and equipment 11 P15,278,309 P13,310,769 P10,161,778 
Investment properties 10 1,508,675 1,509,271 2,043,869 

  P16,786,984 P14,820,040 P12,205,647 

 
Depreciation is charged to: 
 

 Note 2024 2023 2022 

Direct costs 18 P5,927,809 P5,528,627 P4,657,221 
Selling and administrative 

expenses 19 10,859,175 9,291,413 7,548,425 

  P16,786,984 P14,820,040 P12,205,646 
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22. Other Income (Charges) 
 
This account consists of: 
 

 Note 2024 2023 2022 

Interest income from:     
Cash in banks and  

cash equivalents 4 P36,684,748 P32,547,888 P9,136,837 
Loans receivables 7 663,527 41,167 999,999 

Unrealized gains (losses) 
on changes in:     
Foreign exchange rates  5,086,318 970,289 5,172,968 
Fair value of 

investments in 
quoted shares 6 3,051,300 (6,069,675) (2,871,773) 

Fair value of short-term 
investments 5 758,106 -     -     

Gains (losses) on:     
Sale of investments in 

quoted shares 6 4,605,916 11,921,494 (9,346,831) 
Redemption of short-

term investments 5 2,071,808 1,160,356 1,876,698 
Cancelled contracts 

and forfeited 
customer deposits  (770,996) (220,531) (105,448) 

Reversal of impairment 
losses on receivables 7 -      523,257 112,289 

Sale of investment 
properties 10 -      -     26,401,480 

Association dues  2,032,491 1,862,353 1,204,942 
Utilities recharge  1,068,524 687,365 420,410 
Surcharge income  693,109 910,723 2,333,540 
Others  1,450,552 (2,104) 286,998 

  P57,395,403 P44,332,582 P35,622,109 

 
 

23. Related Party Transactions 
 
Related party relationships exist when one party has the ability to control, directly or 
indirectly through one or more intermediaries, the other party or exercise significant 
influence over the other party in making financial and operating decisions. Such 
relationships also exist between and/or among entities that are under common 
control with the reporting enterprise, or between and/or among the reporting 
enterprise and its key management personnel, directors, or its stockholders. 
 
A related party transaction is a transfer of resources, services or obligations between 
a reporting entity and a related party, regardless of whether a price is charged. 
 
Related party transactions are considered material and/or significant if (i) these 
transactions amount to 10% or higher of the Group’s total assets or, (ii) there are
several transactions or a series of transactions over a 12-month period with the 
same related party amounting to 10% or higher of the Group’s total assets. Details of
transactions entered into by the Group with related parties are reviewed by 
independent directors in accordance with the Group's related party transactions 
policy. 
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The following table summarizes the Group’s significant transactions and balances
with related parties as at December 31, 2024 and 2023: 
 

Category/ 
Transaction Note 

Amount of Transaction Outstanding Balances Terms and 
Conditions 2024 2023 2024 2023 

Key Management 
Personnel 

      

Receivables       
Loan 7, 23a P   -     P   -     P10,032,911 P   -     Interest-bearing; 

secured;  
no impairment 

Accounts and Other 
Payables 

      

Directors and 
officers profit-
sharing  

14, 19, 
23b 

3,965,105 6,888,504 3,965,105 6,888,504 Due on demand; 
noninterest-bearing; 
unsecured 

Director fees 19, 23c 1,511,111 1,644,444 -     -      

 
a. In 2023, the Group granted a long-term loan to a third party, which became a 

related party loan in 2024 (see Note 7). 
 
b. The directors and officers of the Group are entitled to receive profit-sharing 

based on the performance by the Group. 
 
c. Directors fees are per diem as provided to directors during Group’s meetings and

events. 
 
The outstanding balances with related parties are expected to be settled in cash. 
 
Compensation of Key Management Personnel 
Compensation of key management personnel pertains to short-term salaries and 
government mandated benefits amounted to P15.78 million, P12.71 million, and 
P13.20 million in 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively. 
 
Balances and Transactions between Consolidated Entities Eliminated during 

Consolidation 
Below are the balances and transactions among related parties which are eliminated 
in the consolidated financial statements as at December 31, 2024 and 2023, 
respectively. 
 

Amounts owed by Amounts owed to Nature 2024 2023 

HSAPI Parent Company Advances P72,189,862 P72,189,862 
PLHI Parent Company Reimbursements 4,535,284 4,009,701 
CCPC Parent Company Advances 287,324 287,324 

PLHI Parent Company 

Deposit for 
future stock 
subscription 2,866,376 2,866,376 

Parent Company FMCMI Security deposits 480,296 480,296 
HSAPI CCPC Security deposits 44,700 44,700 
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Below are the transactions among related parties, which are eliminated in the 
consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 
2022, respectively. 
 

Rent Income 
Rental 
Expense 2024 2023 2022 

Parent Company FMCMI P4,384,800 P4,384,300 P2,000,180 
HSAPI CCPC 266,541 266,541 266,541 

  P4,651,341 P4,650,841 P2,266,721 

 

Management Fee 
Management 
Fee 2024 2023 2022 

CCPC 
Parent 
Company P7,200,000 P7,200,000 P7,200,000 

 
Dividends 
Declared 

Dividend 
Income 2024 2023 2022 

CCPC 
Parent 
Company P14,423,077 P   -     P28,846,154 

 
 

24. Earnings Per Share 
 
The calculation of the basic EPS is based on the following data: 
 

 2024 2023 2022 

Net income attributable to equity 
holders of the Parent Company P22,006,732 P39,529,284 P50,664,302 

Weighted average number of 
common shares issued and 
outstanding 14,959,999,950 14,959,999,950 14,959,999,950 

 P0.00147 P0.00264 P0.00339 

 
Basic EPS is computed by dividing net income for the year attributable to common 
equity holders of the Parent Company by the weighted average number of common 
shares issued and outstanding during the year. The weighted average number of 
shares refers to shares in circulation during the period that is after the effect of 
treasury stock. 
 
As at December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, the Parent Company has no dilutive or 
potential dilutive share. 
 
 

25. Commitments and Contingencies 
 
A. Lease Agreements 

The Group leased out certain commercial spaces of its building to several parties 
under various cancellable and noncancellable operating lease agreements for 
periods between one to ten years. All leases include an annual escalation clause 
based on rental rates. 
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Security deposits amounting to P4.48 million and P4.40 million as at  
December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, are noninterest-bearing and will be 
refunded at the end of the lease term. 
 
Unearned rental income amounted to P2.73 million and P3.22 million as at  
December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively (see Note 14). 
 
Rental income recognized amounted to P16.98 million, P16.62 million and  
P14.46 million in 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively (see Note 17).  
 
Billed rentals amounted to P1.85 million and P1.88 million as at December 31, 
2024 and 2023, respectively (see Note 7). 
 
Future minimum lease receivables to be collected based on existing contract are 
as follows: 
 
  2024 2023 

Not later than one year  P15,400,616 P13,546,707 
Later than one year but not later than  

five years  46,129,165 28,316,937 
Beyond five years  -     10,436,914 

  P61,529,781 P52,300,558 

 
B. Joint Operation Arrangement with SLRDI 

On October 23, 2003, CCPC entered into a Memorandum of Agreement (the 
“Agreement”) with SLRDI (the “Project Developer”) wherein CCPC contributed
land and the improvements thereon, while the Developer completed the 
development of the Palma Real Residential Estates project in Biñan, Laguna (the 
“Project”) and handles all the expenses necessary in preparing the lots into
saleable units. 
 
The Agreement has the following significant provisions, among others: 
 
▪ The Developer shall be solely liable for any and all expenses to be incurred 

in the construction and development to be introduced by SLRDI on the 
Project, government agency, sub-contractor, supplier or third party in 
connection with the development of the Project; 

 
▪ CCPC shall be paid 60% of the sales proceeds while SLRDI shall be paid 

40% of the sales proceeds. CCPC and SLRDI shall shoulder the 
corresponding taxes of their respective share of the proceeds; 

 
▪ The proceeds from the sale of lots shall be deposited in the joint bank 

account of the CCPC and SLRDI; and 
 
▪ CCPC and SLRDI shall nominate a marketing manager that will handle the 

sale of lots in the Project. The marketing manager shall present a marketing 
plan to CCPC and SLRDI. 

 
The development of the residential lots was completed, and the Project started 
selling lots in 2004. 
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The revenue and the corresponding cost of real estate sales from the joint 
operation arrangement with SLRDI, which are included as part of “Sale of houses
and lots” and “Cost of houses and lots sold”, respectively, are as follows: 
 
 2024 2023 2022 

Sale of houses and lots P15,458,268 P39,310,947 P60,645,294 
Cost of houses and lots sold 3,406,826 8,561,847 15,558,454 

 
Installment contracts receivable related to the Agreement amounted to  
P46.42 million and P51.31 million as at December 31, 2024 and 2023, 
respectively (see Note 7).  
 
Due to SLRDI relating to the share of SLRDI amounting to P33.52 million and  
P31.35 million as at December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, is included as 
part of “Trade payable” under “Accounts and other payables” account in the
consolidated statements of financial position. Titles to the sold houses and lots 
are transferred to the buyer only upon full payment of the contract price  
(see Note 14). 
 
The “Due from Project Developer” under “Receivables” account in the
consolidated statements of financial position pertains to the unremitted 
collections amounting to P22.96 million and P30.54 million as at December 31, 
2024 and 2023, respectively (see Note 7). Collections are deposited to the joint 
bank account of the Developer and CCPC. 
 
As at December 31, 2024 and 2023, there were no outstanding contingent 
liabilities and commitments with respect to the joint operations arrangement. 

 
C. Contingencies 

 
The Group is a party to certain claims, assessments and contingencies arising in 
the ordinary course of business. Management has assessed these  in 
consultation with legal advisors, and believes that the resolution of these matters 
is not expected to have a material adverse effect on the Group’s financial
position or results of operations. 
 
Disclosures have been made in accordance with the principles of PAS 37, where 
appropriate. Certain information required under the standard has been withheld 
to avoid prejudicing the Group’s position in ongoing proceedings.  Should 
circumstances change, the Group will reassess and apply the appropriate 
treatment under PAS 37 in future periods. 
 
 

26. Income Taxes 
 
Components of income tax expense are as follows: 
 
 2024 2023 2022 

Current income tax    
RCIT P4,941,486 P9,554,869 P12,908,812 
MCIT 1,018,271 912,092 751,882 

 5,959,757 10,466,961 13,660,694 
Deferred income tax (326,723) (495,632) 978,169 

 P5,633,034 P9,971,329 P14,638,863 
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Deferred Income Taxes 
Net deferred income tax assets (liabilities) as at December 31, 2024 and 2023 
presented in the consolidated statements of financial position on a net basis by entity 
are as follows:  
 
  2024 2023 

Deferred income tax assets:    
Parent Company  P8,889,989 P9,304,745 
FMCMI  3,324,607 3,181,471 

  P12,214,596 P12,486,216 

Deferred income tax liabilities:    
CCPC  (P5,788,744) (P6,461,899) 
ACHC  (448,381) -     

  (P6,237,125) (P6,461,899) 

 
For the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, the income tax effects of the 
temporary differences that resulted in deferred income tax assets and liabilities are 
presented below: 
 

2024 
January 1, 

2024 
Recognized in 
Profit or Loss 

Recognized in 
OCI 

December 31, 
2024 

Deferred Income Tax Assets (Liabilities)     

Retirement benefits liability P10,788,692 P1,064,938 P   -     P 11,853,630 
Allowance for probable losses on investment properties 8,170,828    -        -     8,170,828 
Allowance for impairment losses on receivables 3,708,233 -     -     3,708,233 
Payable to directors and officers 1,722,126 (730,850) -     991,276 
Accrued expenses 399,386 211,207 -     610,593 
Excess gross profit over collections (14,478,559) 2,945,050 -     (11,533,509) 
Remeasurement losses (gains) on retirement benefits (4,043,817) -     (373,569) (4,417,386) 
Unrealized gain from changes in fair value in short-term 

investments and investments in quoted shares (242,572) (1,892,043) -     (2,134,615) 
Unrealized foreign exchange gain -     (1,271,579) -     (1,271,579) 

 P6,024,317 P326,723 (P373,569) P5,977,471 

 

2023 
January 1, 

2023 
Recognized in 
Profit or Loss 

Recognized in 
OCI 

December 31, 
2023 

Deferred Income Tax Assets (Liabilities)     

Retirement benefits liability P 9,924,253 P864,439 P   -     P10,788,692 
Allowance for probable losses on investment properties 8,170,828    -        -     8,170,828 
Allowance for impairment losses on receivables 3,917,006 (208,773) -     3,708,233 
Payable to directors and officers 2,234,620 (512,494) -     1,722,126 
Accrued expenses 701,577 (302,192) -     399,386 
Excess gross profit over collections (14,082,540) (396,019) -     (14,478,559) 
Remeasurement gains on retirement benefits (3,935,728) -     (108,089) (4,043,817) 
Unrealized foreign exchange gain -     (242,572) -     (242,572) 
Unrealized gains (losses) from changes in fair value in 

short-term investments and investments in quoted 
shares (1,293,242) 1,293,242 -     -     

 P5,636,774 P495,632 (P108,089) P6,024,317 

 
Deferred income tax assets have not been recognized in respect of the following 
items on certain entities within the Group after the management assessed that each 
entity may not be able to generate sufficient taxable income from which the deferred 
income tax assets can be applied in future periods: 
 
  2024 2023 

Allowance for probable losses on investment 
properties  P30,052,468 P30,052,468 

NOLCO  11,244,598 2,620,488 
MCIT  1,404,375 835,018 
Unearned rental income  348,595 269,326 

  P43,050,036 P33,777,300 
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The details of the Group’s NOLCO and MCIT, which can be claimed as deductions 
from future taxable income and as tax credits against future regular income tax 
liabilities, respectively, are as follows: 
 
NOLCO 
 

Inception 
Year Amount 

Incurred 
During the 

Year 

Expired/ 
Applied 

During the 
Year 

Balance At 
the End of 

Year Expiry Year 

2024 P   -     P9,135,584 P   -     P9,135,584 2027 
2023 1,158,362 -     (334,504) 823,858 2026 
2022 474,182 -     -     474,182 2025 
2021 350,674 -     -     350,674 2026 
2020 637,270 -     (176,970) 460,300 2025 

 P2,620,488 P9,135,584 (P511,474) P11,244,598  

 
Under Revenue Regulations No. 25-2020, NOLCO incurred for the taxable years 
2021 and 2020 will be carried over for the next five (5) consecutive taxable years 
immediately following the year of such loss and NOLCO incurred for taxable year 
2022 and beyond can be carried over for the next three consecutive years. 
 
MCIT 
 

Inception 
Year Amount 

Incurred 
During the 

Year 

Expired/ 
Applied 

During the 
Year 

Balance At 
the End of 

Year Expiry Year 

2024 P   -     P1,018,271 P   -     P1,018,271 2027 
2023 176,074 -     -     176,074 2026 
2022 210,030 -     -     210,030 2025 
2021 448,914 -     (448,914) -     2024 

 P835,018 P1,018,271 (P448,914) P1,404,375  

 
Under the “Corporate Recovery and Tax Incentives for Enterprises (the “Act”) which
took effect on July 1, 2020, domestic corporations are subject to 25% or 20% RCIT 
depending on the amount of total assets and total amount of taxable income. In 
addition, MCIT shall be computed at 1% of gross income for a period of three years 
until June 30, 2023 and will revert to 2% starting July 1, 2023. 
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The reconciliation of income tax expense computed at the statutory income tax rate
and at effective income tax rates is as follows: 
 

 2024 2023 2022 

Income tax expense computed at 
statutory tax rates P11,848,065 P15,749,432 P20,777,127 

Tax effects of:    
Changes in unrecognized 

deferred tax assets 2,751,472 (312,257) (2,913,607) 
Nondeductible expenses 2,712,862 1,512,841 3,118,479 
Expired MCIT 448,914 728,221 1,179,663 
Income subject to final tax and 

exempt from income tax (12,076,162) (7,744,084) (5,782,268) 
Nontaxable income (52,117) -     (561,611) 
Effects of consolidation -      (7,779) 
Expired NOLCO -     -     88,557 
Change in tax rate and others -     37,176 (1,259,698) 

 P5,633,034 P9,971,329 P14,638,863 

 
 

27. Fair Values of Financial Assets and Financial Labilities 
 
The table below presents the carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s
financial assets and financial liabilities. 
 

 2024 2023 

 
Carrying 
Amount Fair Value 

Carrying  
Amount Fair Value 

Financial Assets     
At amortized cost:     

Cash and cash equivalents P649,740,893 P649,740,893 P767,717,527 P767,717,527 
Receivables 132,137,859 132,137,859 156,476,764 156,476,764 
Refundable deposits and 

construction bond* 2,046,149 2,046,149 3,052,796 3,052,796 
Advances to officers and 

employees* 203,910 203,910 279,846 279,846 
At FVPL -      

Short-term investments 73,708,106 73,708,106 17,790,000 17,790,000 
Investment in quoted 

shares 84,571,666 84,571,666 85,865,768 85,865,768 
At FVOCI -      

Investment in unquoted 
shares 12,851,126 12,851,126 15,344,659 15,344,659 

 P955,259,709 P955,259,709 P1,046,527,360 P1,046,527,360 

Financial Liabilities     
At amortized cost:     

Accounts and other 
payables** P141,617,876 P141,617,876 P125,997,343 P125,997,343 

Security deposits 4,480,118 4,480,118 4,402,933 4,402,933 

 P146,097,994 P146,097,994 P130,400,276 P130,400,276 

*Included in “Other current assets” and “Other noncurrent assets” accounts 
**Excluding contract liabilities, deposits for document processing, statutory payable and unearned rental 

income. 

 
The Group has determined that the carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents,  
receivables, accounts and other payables (excluding contract liabilities, deposits for 
document processing, statutory payable and unearned rental income) approximate 
their fair values because these are mostly short term in nature. 
 
The fair value of installment contracts receivable under “Receivables” account 
approximates its carrying amount as its interest rate approximates the market rate for 
a similar instrument. 
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The fair values of refundable deposits, construction bond and security deposits 
approximates its carrying amount. The management believes that the effect of 
discounting the future receipts/payments from these financial instruments using the 
prevailing market rates is not significant. 
 
The details on fair value hierarchy and basis used in determining fair values of 
financial instruments measured at fair value are as follows: 
 

 Basis for Fair Value 
Fair Value  
Hierarchy 

Short-term investments  Net Asset Value Per Unit 
(NAVPU) 

Level 2 

Investments in quoted shares Quoted closing/bid price Level 1 
Investments in unquoted shares Net assets   Level 3 

 
The unobservable input on valuation of investment in unquoted shares include the 
net asset value which impacts the valuation of the investment.  As at December 31, 
2024, if the net asset value of the investment increased (decreased) by 1% with all 
other variables held constant, net income and equity as at and for the year ended 
December 31, 2024 would have been higher (lower). 
 
The fair value hierarchy groups the financial instruments into Levels 1 to 3 based on 
the degree to which the fair value is observable. There were no transfers to and from 
Level 1, 2 and 3 in 2024 and 2023. 
 
 

28. Financial Instruments Risk Management Policies and Objectives 
 
The Group’s financial assets comprise of cash and cash equivalents, receivables, 
refundable deposits, construction bond and investments in quoted and unquoted 
shares. The Group’s financial liabilities comprise accounts and other payables
(excluding contract liabilities, deposits for document processing, statutory payable 
and unearned rental income) and security deposits. The main purpose of these 
financial instruments is to finance the Group’s operations. 
 
The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are market risk, credit
risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s BOD and management review and approve the
policies for managing each of the risks summarized below. 
 
Market Risk 
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument 
will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. The Group is exposed to market 
risk specifically to foreign currency risk, interest rate risk and equity price risk. 
Financial instruments affected by market risk include cash and cash equivalents and 
equity investments. 
 
The sensitivity analyses in the following sections relate to the consolidated 
statements of financial position as at December 31, 2024 and 2023. 
 
The sensitivity of the relevant items in the consolidated statements of comprehensive 
income is the effect of the assumed changes in respective market risks. This is 
based on the financial assets and financial liabilities held at December 31, 2024 and 
2023. 
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Foreign Currency Risk 
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of an exposure 
will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Group has 
transactional currency exposures arising from investments in quoted share that are 
denominated in currencies other than the functional currency.  
 
The Group does not enter into forward contracts to hedge currency exposures. To 
mitigate the Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk, foreign currency cash flows
and fluctuations in the foreign exchange rates are monitored. 
 
The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency denominated monetary assets
are as follows: 
 

 Amount in Foreign Currency Equivalent in PHP 
Foreign Currency 2024 2023 2024 2023 

Cash in Banks     
US Dollar (USD) 106,069 2,504,965 P6,135,561 P138,699,901 
Singapore Dollar 10,223 -     436,439 -     
Japanese Yen (JPY) 286,638 -     10,253 -     
Investment in Quoted Shares     
USD 71,100 896,730 4,112,780 37,608,876 
SGD 288,813 -     12,329,976 -     
JPY 13,932,000 -     5,115,830 -     
Hongkong Dollar (HKD) 1,770,224 -     13,220,741 -     

 
For purposes of translating the outstanding balance of the Group’s foreign currency-
denominated monetary assets, the exchange rates applied were as follows: 
 
 Exchange Rate to PHP 
Foreign Currency 2024 2023 

USD P57.85 P55.37 
SGD 42.69 41.94 
JPY 0.37 -     
HKD 7.47 -     

 
Sensitivity Analysis 
The following tables demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in 
foreign exchange rates, with all variables held constant, on the Group’s income
before income tax (due to changes in the fair value of monetary assets): 
 

 Increase (Decrease) in 
Foreign Currency Rate 

Effect on Net Income 
Before Income Tax 

 Increase (Decrease) 
 2024 2023 2024 2023 

USD 1% 7% P82,384 P9,708,993 
 -1% -7% (82,384) (9,708,993) 
     
SGD 1.% 12% 169,882 4,513,065 
 -1% -12% (169,882) (4,513,065) 
     
JPY 11% -     568,426 -     
 -11% -     (568,426) -     
     
HKD 0.62% -     10,998 -     
 -0.62% -     (10,998) -     
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Equity Price Risk 
Equity price risk exposure relates to fluctuation in fair values as a result of changes 
in market prices of investments in quoted shares arising from factors affecting all 
instruments traded in the market. The Group’s market risk policy requires it to
manage such risk by setting and monitoring objectives and constraints on 
investments. 
 
The analyses below are performed for reasonably possible movements in the PSE 
and other stock exchanges, with all other variables held constant, showing the 
impact on income before income tax and equity of the Group’s unrealized gain and
loss on investments in quoted shares: 
 

 Increase (Decrease) in 
Foreign Currency Rate 

Effect on Income Before 
Income Tax and Equity 

 Increase (Decrease) 
 2024 2023 2024 2023 

PSE 1% 2% P604,278 P849,934 
 -1% -2% (604,278) (849,934) 
     
Others     
 18% 4% 6,266,426 1,688,876 
 -18% -4% (6,266,426) (1,688,876) 

 
The sensitivity analyses shown above are based on the assumption that the 
movement in PSE composite index and other stock exchanges will be most likely be 
limited to an upward or downward fluctuation of 1% and 18%, and 2% and 4% in 
2024 and 2023, respectively. 
 
Interest Rate Risk 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial 
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates.  
 
The primary source of the Group’s interest rate risk relates to its cash and cash
equivalents.  The interest rates on cash and cash equivalents are disclosed in  
Note 4.  Cash and cash equivalents are short-term in nature and with the current 
interest rate level, any variation in the interest will not have a material impact on the 
profit or loss of the Group. 
 
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of the Group’s income before income
tax to a reasonably possible change in interest rates of its cash and cash equivalents 
as at December 31, with all variables held constant: 
 

 Increase (Decrease)  
in Interest Rate 

Effect on Income 
Before Income Tax 

 Increase (Decrease)  

2024 +100 basis points P6,497,409  
 -100 basis points (P6,497,409) 
   
2023 +100 basis points 7,677,175 
 -100 basis points (7,677,175) 

 
 
 
 
 
 



- 68 -

Credit Risk 
Credit risk is the risk when a counterparty fails to fulfill its obligations to the Group.  
The Group’s credit risks are primarily attributable to installment contracts receivable,
and other financial assets. The Group has adopted stringent procedure in evaluating 
and accepting risk by setting counterparty and transaction limits.  In addition, the 
Group has policies in place to ensure that sales are made to customers with an 
appropriate credit history. 
 
In respect of installments receivable from the sale of real estate properties, credit risk 
is managed primarily through credit reviews and an analysis of receivables on a 
continuous basis. The Group also undertakes supplemental credit review procedures 
for certain installment payment structures. Customer payments are facilitated 
through various collection modes including the use of post-dated checks.  Exposure 
to bad debts is not significant as title to real estate properties are not transferred to 
the buyers until full payment has been made and the requirement for remedial 
procedures is minimal given the profile of the buyers.   Also, to the extent allowed by 
regulations, certain payments are not returned which minimizes exposure to bad 
debts.   
 
In respect of billed rental receivables, credit risk arising from rental income from 
leasing properties is primarily managed through a tenant selection process.  
Prospective tenants are evaluated on the basis of payment track record and other 
credit information.  In accordance with the provisions of the lease contracts, the 
lessees are required to deposit with the Group security deposits and advance rentals 
which helps reduce the Group’s credit risk exposure in case of defaults by the
tenants. For existing tenants, the Group has put in place a monitoring and follow-up 
system.  Receivables are being aged and analyzed on a continuous basis to 
minimize credit risk. 
 
Other financial assets comprised cash and cash equivalents excluding cash on hand, 
short-term investments, refundable deposits, construction bond and other 
receivables. The Group adheres to fixed limits and guidelines in its dealings with 
counterparty banks and its investment in financial instruments. Bank limits are 
established on the basis of an internal rating system that principally covers the areas 
at liquidity, capital adequacy and financial stability. The rating system likewise makes 
use of available international credit ratings.  Given the high credit standing of its 
accredited counterparty banks, management does not expect any of these financial 
institutions to fail in meeting their obligations. Nevertheless, the Group closely 
monitors developments over counterparty banks and adjusts its exposure 
accordingly while adhering to pre-set limits.  
 
The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk as at December 31, 2024 and 2023 is 
equal to the carrying values of its financial assets, except for installment contracts 
receivable and loan receivable.  The table below shows the gross maximum 
exposure of the Group to credit risk before taking into consideration collateral and 
other credit enhancements. 
 
 Note 2024 2023 

Cash in banks and cash equivalents 4 P649,715,893 P767,697,527 
Receivables 7 132,137,860 156,476,764 
Refundable deposits 13 1,914,249 1,920,896 
Construction bond 9, 13 131,900 1,131,900 

  P783,899,902 P927,227,087 
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Maximum Exposure to Credit Risk after Credit Enhancements 
The table below shows the maximum exposures to credit risk of the Group on its 
installment contracts receivable and loan receivable, after considering the effects of 
credit enhancements: 
 

 2024 

Credit Risk Exposure Relating 
to Balance Sheet Assets 

Carrying 
Amount 

Fair Value of 
Collateral or 

Credit 
Enhancement 

Maximum 
Exposure to 
Credit Risk  
after Credit 

Enhancements 

Financial 
Effect of 

Collateral or 
Credit 

Enhancement 

Installment contracts receivables P80,022,085 P249,809,200 P   -     P249,809,200 
Loan receivable 10,032,911 7,912,000 2,120,911 7,912,000 

 P90,054,996 P257,721,200 P2,120,911 P257,721,200 

 
 2023 

Credit Risk Exposure Relating  
to Balance Sheet Assets 

Carrying 
Amount 

Fair Value of 
Collateral or 

Credit 
Enhancement 

Maximum 
Exposure to 
Credit Risk 
after Credit 

Enhancements 

Financial Effect 
of Collateral or 

Credit 
Enhancement 

Installment contracts receivables P99,505,963 P313,605,440 P   -     P313,605,440 
Loan receivable 10,295,375 7,912,000 2,383,375 7,912,000 

 P109,801,338 P321,517,440 P2,383,375 P321,517,440 

 
Credit Enhancements 
For installment contracts receivable, title to condominium units, houses and lots is 
not transferred to the buyer until full payment has been made.  In case of default, 
after enforcement activities, the Group has the right to cancel the sale and enter into 
another Contract to Sell to another customer after certain proceedings had been 
completed.  Given this, based on the experience of the Group, the maximum 
exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is nil considering that fair value less cost 
to repossess of the real estate projects is higher than the exposure at default  
(i.e., recovery rate is more than 100%).   
 
The loan receivable is secured by a pledge of parcel of land and upon default and 
breach of contract by the borrower, the Parent Company has the right to encumber 
the said property to satisfy the loan (see Note 7). 
 
Credit Quality Rating 
Credit risk is managed on a group basis. The Group deals only with reputable banks 
and customers to limit this risk. If customers are independently rated, these ratings 
are used. Otherwise, if there is no independent rating, the Group assesses the credit 
quality of the customer, taking into account its financial position, past experience and 
other factors. Individual risk limits are set based on internal or external ratings in 
accordance with limits set by the management. The compliance with credit limits by 
customers is regularly monitored by management. 
 
The Group limits its exposure to credit risk by investing its cash and cash equivalents 
only with banks that have good credit standing and reputation in the local and 
international banking industry.  For installment contracts receivable, loans receivable, 
refundable deposits and construction bond and other receivables, credit risk is low 
since the Group only transacted with reputable companies with respect to these 
financial assets or the financial assets have credit enhancements. 
 
There are no significant concentrations of credit risk, whether through exposure to 
individual customers, specific industry sectors and/or regions. 
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As at December 31, 2024 and 2023, the amount of cash and cash equivalents, 
refundable deposits, and construction bond are neither past due nor impaired and 
were classified as “High Grade”; installment contracts receivable and other
receivables (excluding impairment) were classified as “Standard Grade”; and
impaired other receivables were classified as “Substandard Grade”. The credit
quality of such financial assets at amortized cost is managed by the Group using the 
internal credit quality ratings as follows: 
 
▪ High Grade 

Pertains to counterparty who is not expected by the Group to default in settling its 
obligations, thus credit risk exposure is minimal. This normally includes large 
prime financial institutions and companies. Credit quality was determined based 
on the credit standing of the counterparty. 

 
▪ Standard Grade 

Pertains to counterparty with performance rating ranging from satisfactory to 
acceptable and repayment capacity has to be monitored. These accounts are 
typically not impaired as the counterparties generally respond to credit actions 
and update their payments accordingly. 

 
▪ Substandard Grade 

Substandard grade financial assets are those which are considered worthless. 
These are accounts which have the probability of impairment based on historical 
trends. 

 
The tables below show the credit quality of financial assets as at December 31, 2024 
and 2023: 
 

 2024 
 Neither Past Due nor Impaired    

 High Grade 
Standard 

Grade 
Substandard 

Grade 
Past Due but 
not Impaired Impaired Total 

Cash in banks and cash 
equivalents* P649,715,893 P   -     P   -     P   -     P   -     P649,715,893 

Receivables** -     132,137,860 -     -     22,055,637 154,193,497 
Refundable deposits -     1,914,249 -     -     -     1,914,249 
Construction bond -     131,900 -     -     -     131,900 

 P649,715,893 P134,184,009 P   -     P   -     P22,055,637 P805,955,539 

 
 2023 
 Neither Past Due nor Impaired    

 High Grade 
Standard 

Grade 
Substandard 

Grade 
Past Due but 
not Impaired Impaired Total 

Cash in banks and cash 
equivalents P767,697,527 P   -     P   -     P   -     P   -     P767,697,527 

Receivables -     156,476,764 -     -     22,055,637 178,532,401 
Refundable deposits -     1,920,896 -     -     -     1,920,896 
Construction bond -     1,131,900 -     -     -     1,131,900 

 P767,697,527 P159,529,560 P   -     P   -     P22,055,637 P949,282,724 

 
Impairment of Receivables (excluding Installment Contracts Receivable)  
An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using a provision matrix 
to measure ECL. The provision rates are based on days past due for groupings of 
customer segments with similar loss patterns. The calculation reflects the  
probability-weighted outcome, the time value of money and reasonable and 
supportable information that is available at the reporting date about past events, 
current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions. 
 
Impairment of Installment Contracts Receivable and Other Financial Assets at 

Amortized Cost 
It is the Group’s policy to measure ECL on these instruments on a 12-month basis. 
However, when there has been a significant increase in credit risk since origination, 
the allowance will be based on the lifetime ECL.
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Using the ECL allowance, the credit risk exposure on the Group’s impaired 
receivables amounted to P22.06 million as at December 31, 2024 and 2023, 
respectively (see Note 7). 
 
The table below presents the summary of the Company’s exposure to credit risk and
shows the credit quality of the assets by indicating whether the assets are subjected 
to 12-month ECL or lifetime ECL. Assets that are credit-impaired are separately 
presented. 
 

 2024 
  Lifetime ECL  

  12-month ECL 
Not credit 
impaired 

Credit 
impaired Total 

Cash and cash equivalents P649,715,894 P   -     P   -      P649,715,893 
Receivables 90,054,995 42,082,865 22,055,637 154,193,497 
Refundable deposits -     1,914,249 -     1,914,249 
Construction bond -     131,900 -     131,900 

 P739,770,889 P44,129,014 P22,055,637 P805,955,539 

 
 2023 
  Lifetime ECL  

  12-month ECL 
Not credit 
impaired Credit impaired Total 

Cash and cash equivalents P767,697,527 P   -     P   -     P767,697,527 
Receivables 109,801,338 46,675,426 22,055,637 178,532,401 
Refundable deposits -     1,920,896 -     1,920,896 
Construction bond -     1,131,900 -     1,131,900 

 P877,498,865 P49,728,222 P22,055,637 P949,282,724 

 
As at December 31, 2024 and 2023, the aging of analysis of the Group’s financial
assets is as follows: 
 

  2024 

  Current 
1 to 30 

Days 
31 to 60 

Days 
More than  

60 Days Total 

Cash in banks and cash 
equivalents  P649,715,893 P   -     P   -     P   -     P649,715,893 

Receivables  121,643,273 4,487,360 1,491,961 26,375,570 154,193,497 
Refundable deposits  1,914,249 -     -     -     1,914,249 
Construction bond  131,900 -     -     -     131,900 

  P773,405,315 P4,487,360 P1,491,961 P26,375,570 P805,975,539 

 
  2023 

  Current 1 to 30 Days 
31 to 60 

Days 
More than  

60 Days Total 

Cash in banks and cash 
equivalents  P767,697,527 P   -     P   -     P   -     P767,697,527 

Receivables  146,806,774 2,956,783 957,048 27,641,501 178,532,401 
Refundable deposits  1,920,896 -     -     -     1,920,896 
Construction bond  1,131,900 -     -     -     1,131,900 

  P917,557,097 P2,956,783 P957,048 P27,641,501 P949,282,724 

 
Concentration Risk 
There are no credit concentration risks relating to the Group’s revenues in 2024,
2023 and 2022. 
 
Liquidity Risk 
Liquidity risk arises from the possibility that the Group may encounter difficulties in 
raising funds to meet commitments from financial instruments. It may result from 
either the inability to sell assets quickly at fair values or failure to collect from 
counterparty. 
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The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and
flexibility through related party advances and aims to manage liquidity as follows: 
 
a. To ensure that adequate funding is available at all times; 
b. To meet commitments as they arise without recurring unnecessary costs; and 
c. To be able to assess funding when needed at the least possible cost. 
 
The tables below summarize the maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities at 
December 31 based on contractual undiscounted payments: 
 

 2024 

 
Payable in 

Demand 
Within  

One Year 
More than  
One Year Total 

Accounts payable and others 
liabilities* P3,965,105 P137,390,344 P   -     P141,355,449 

Security deposits -     -     4,480,119 4,480,119 

 P3,965,105 P137,390,344 P4,480,119 P145,835,568 

*Excluding contract liabilities, deposits for document processing, statutory payable and unearned rental income. 

 
 2023 

 
Payable in 

Demand 
Within  

One Year 
More than  
One Year Total 

Accounts payable and others 
liabilities* P6,888,504 P119,108,839 P   -     P125,997,343 

Security deposits -     -     4,402,933 4,402,933 

 P6,888,504 P119,108,839 P4,402,933 P130,400,276 

*Excluding contract liabilities, deposits for document processing, statutory payable and unearned rental income. 

 
 

29. Operating Segment Information 
 
Business Segments 
For management purposes, the Group is organized into three major business 
segments, namely real estate, healthcare services and investment holdings. These 
are also the bases of the Group in reporting its primary segment information. 
 
(a) The real estate segment involves acquisition of land, planning and developing 

residential communities such as development and sale of condominium units and 
parking slots, residential lots and housing units. 

 
(b) Healthcare services involve delivering outpatient health care services through 

ambulatory care centers. These include the sale of goods and services. 
 
(c) The investment holding creates project investments and later disposes these 

investments after creating value. This also includes acquisition and sale of equity 
securities. Included in this segment are the Group’s transactions or investments
in associates and trading of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. 

 
The Group’s management monitors the operating results of its business units 
separately for the purpose of making decisions about resource allocation and 
performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based on revenue, 
and net income; and is measured consistently in the consolidated financial 
statements. The Group’s management reporting and controlling systems use
accounting policies that are the same as those described in Note 2 in the Material 
Accounting Policy Information under PFRS Accounting Standards. 
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Segment Assets and Liabilities 
Segment assets include all operating assets used by a segment and consist 
principally of cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments, receivables, 
inventories, property and equipment, and investment properties. Segment liabilities 
include all operating liabilities and consist principally of accounts payable and 
accrued expenses and payable to non-controlling interests. 
 
Financial information about reportable segments follows (in thousands): 
 

 2024 

 Real Estate 
Healthcare 

Services 
Investment 

Holdings 
Eliminating 

Entries Total 

Segment revenue P53,004 P61,505 P2,933 P   -     P117,442 
Inter-segment revenue 26,274 -     -     (26,274) -     

Net revenue 79,278 61,505 2,933 (26,274) 117,442 
Direct costs 11,006 33,870 260 (3,069) 42,067 

Gross income P68,272 P27,635 P2,673 (P29,205) P75,375 

Other income - net P50,294 P2,177 P4,962 (P38) P57,395 

Segment results      

Income before income tax P19,703 PP8,430 P6,055 P   -     34,188 
Income tax expense (3,453) (1,716) (464) -     (5,633) 

Net income P16,250 P6,714 P5,591 P   -     P28,555 

Segment assets  P3,003,487 P69,316 P155,178 (P652,100) P2,575,881 

Segment liabilities  P224,813 P11,565 P73,344 (P92,363) P217,359 

Other Information      
Investment properties  

additions (see Note 10) P138,733 P   -     P   -     P   -     P138,733 
Property and equipment 

additions (see Note 11) 4,329 1,437    -        -     5,766 

Depreciation (see Notes 10, 11 
and 21)  P13,634 P1,793 P1,360 P   -     P16,787 

 
 2023 

 Real Estate 
Healthcare 

Services 
Investment 

Holdings 
Eliminating 

Entries Total 

Segment revenue P100,192 P68,698 P1,539 P   -     P170,429 
Inter-segment revenue 11,851 -     -     (11,851) -     

Net revenue 112,043 68,698 1,539 (11,851) 170,429 
Direct costs 22,644 35,099 272 (3,069) 54,946 

Gross income P89,399 P33,599 P1,267 (P8,782) P115,483 

Other income - net P41,355 P1,353 P1,624 P   -     P44,333 

Segment results      
Income before income tax P45,229 P15,082 P2,687 P   -     P62,998 
Income tax expense (6,421) (3,551) -     -     (9,972) 

Net income P38,808 P11,531 P2,687 P   -     P53,026 

Segment assets  P3,066,235 P62,717 P56,641 (P642,630) P2,542,963 

Segment liabilities  P266,768 P12,220 P58 (P83,000) P196,046 

Other Information      
Investment properties  

additions (see Note 10) P3,195 P   -     P   -     P   -     P3,195 
Property and equipment 

additions (see Note 11) 11,777 2,804    -        -     14,581 

Depreciation (see Notes 10, 11 
and 21)  P13,487 P1,333 P   -     P   -     P14,820 
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 2022 

 Real Estate 
Healthcare 

Services 
Investment 

Holdings 
Eliminating 

Entries Total 

Segment revenue P154,615 P65,470 P2,695 P   -     P222,780 
Inter-segment revenue 38,573 -     -     (38,573) -     

Net revenue 193,188 65,470 2,695 (38,573) 222,780 
Direct costs 39,488 33,262 251 (1,582) 71,419 

Gross income P153,700 P32,208 P2,444 P36,991 P151,361 

Other income - net P252,217 P393 (P4,924) (P212,064) P35,622 

Segment results      
Income before income tax P313,954 P12,786 (P2,721) (P240,910) P83,109 
Income tax expense (12,449) (2,151) (39) -     (14,639) 

Net income P301,505 P10,635 (P2,760) (P240,910) P68,470 

Segment assets  P3,032,178 P50,980 P53,997 (P642,490) P2,494,665 

Segment liabilities  P271,461 P12,290 P100 (P82,753) P201,098 

Other information:      
Investment properties  

additions (see Note 10) P1,985 P   -     P   -     P   -     P1,985 
Property and equipment 

additions (see Note 11) 12,991 2,131    -        -     15,122 

Depreciation (see Notes 10, 11 
and 21)  P10,661 P1,545 P   -     P   -     P12,206 

 
Major Customer 
The Group does not have a single customer from which sales revenue generated 
amounted to 10% or more of the total revenue of the Group. 
 
 

30. Note to Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 
 
The Group’s non-cash transactions include: 
 
▪ In 2023, the Group transferred certain condominium unit under inventories to 

investment properties amounting to P0.85 million (see Notes 8 and 10). 
 
▪ In 2024, the Group acquired certain parcels of land amounting to P136.16 

million, P13.41 million of which remained unpaid as at December 31, 2024 and 
paid out in 2025 (see Note 10). 

 
Supplemental information with respect to the statements of cash flows arising from 
financing activities in 2024 and 2023 relating to dividends payable is as follows: 
 

  
Dividends  

Payable 

Balance as at January 1, 2023  P   -     
Total changes from financing cash flows  -     

Balance as at December 31, 2023   -     

Changes from financing cash flows:   
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests  (15,576,923) 
Security deposits received from third party  -     

Non-cash changes on dividend declaration  15,576,923 

Balance as at December 31, 2024  P   -     

 
Reconciliation of financing cash flows arising from loans receivables is presented in 
Note 7. 
 



CROWN EQUITIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
FINANCIAL SOUNDNESS INDICATORS 
 
Below is a schedule of financial soundness indicators of the Group. 
 

Ratio Formula 2024 2023 

Current ratio    
 Current assets  P979,975,335 P1,054,427,297 
 Divide by current liabilities 177,158,885 158,464,080 

 Current Ratio 5.53 6.65 

Acid test ratio    
 Current assets P979,975,335 P1,054,427,297 
 Less:   
 Inventories 74,257,660 77,831,881 
 Other current assets 39,236,824 40,021,408 

 Quick assets 866,480,851 936,574,008 
 Divide by current liabilities 177,158,885 158,464,080 

 Acid Test Ratio 4.89 5.91 

Solvency ratio    
 Income before tax P34,187,803 P62,997,717 
 Add depreciation and amortization 16,786,984 14,820,040 

 
Net income before depreciation and 

amortization P50,974,787 77,817,757 
 Divide by total liabilities 217,358,679 196,045,984 

 Solvency Ratio 0.23 0.40 

Debt-to-equity ratio    
 Total liabilities P217,358,679 P196,045,984 
 Divide by total equity 2,358,522,484 2,346,917,470 

 Debt-to-Equity Ratio 0.09 0.08 

Asset-to-equity ratio    
 Total assets P2,575,881,163 P2,542,963,454 
 Divide by total equity 2,358,522,484 2,346,917,470 

 Asset-to-Equity Ratio 1.09 1.08 

Interest rate coverage ratio    
 Income before tax P34,187,803 P62,997,717 
 Add interest expense -     -     

 Pretax income before interest 34,187,803 62,997,717 
 Divide by interest expense -     -     

 Interest Rate Coverage Ratio N/A N/A 

Return on equity    

 
Net income attributable to equity holders of 

the Parent Company P22,006,732 P39,529,284 

 Equity:   
 Beginning of year 2,346,917,470 2,293,566,815 
 End of year 2,358,522,484 2,346,917,470 

  4,705,439,954 4,640,484,285 
 Divide by 2 2 

 Average equity 2,352,719,977 2,320,242,143 

 Return on Equity .94% 1.70% 

Return on assets    
 Net income P28,554,769 P53,026,388 

 Total assets:   
 Beginning of year 2,542,963,454 2,494,664,866 
 End of year 2,575,881,163 2,542,963,454 

  5,118,844,617 5,037,628,320 
 Divide by 2 2 

 Average assets 2,559,422,309 2,518,814,160 

 Return on Assets 1.12% 2.11% 

Net profit margin    
 Net income P28,554,769 P53,026,388 
 Revenue 117,441,810 170,429,003 

 Net Profit Margin 0.24 0.31 

 
 



RECONCILIATION OF RETAINED EARNINGS 
AVAILABLE FOR DIVIDEND DECLARATION 

AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2024 
 

CROWN EQUITIES, INC. 
5th Floor Crown Center, 158 Jupiter cor. N. Garcia Sts., Bel-Air Makati City 

 

Retained earnings, beginning of reporting period P232,057,975 

Add net income for the current year 18,632,564 

Add: Category C.1: Unrealized income recognized in the profit or 
loss during the reporting period (net of tax)  
Unrealized fair value adjustment (mark to market gains) of 

financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL) (614,055) 

Add: Category C.2: Unrealized income recognized in the profit or 
loss during the reporting period (net of tax)  
Realized fair value adjustment (mark to market gains) of financial 

instruments at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL) 4,351,148 

Add/Less: Category F: Other items that should be excluded from 
the determination of the amount of available for dividends 
distribution  
Net movement in deferred tax recognized in profit or loss 231,314 

TOTAL RETAINED EARNINGS, END OF THE REPORTING PERIOD 
AVAILABLE FOR DIVIDEND P254,658,946 

  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



CROWN EQUITIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
SUPPLEMENTARY SCHEDULES AS REQUIRED BY PART II OF THE 

REVISED SRC RULE 68 
DECEMBER 31, 2024 

Schedule Description Page 

A Financial Assets 1 

B Amounts Receivable from Directors, Officers, Employees, Related 
Parties and Principal Stockholders (Other than Related Parties)  

N/A 

C Amounts Receivable from Related Parties which are Eliminated 
During the Consolidation of the Financial Statements 

3 

D Long-Term Debt N/A 

E Indebtedness to Related Parties (Long-Term Loans from Related 
Companies) 

N/A 

F Guarantees of Securities of Other Issuers N/A 

G Capital Stock 4 
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SCHEDULE C 

CROWN EQUITIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
CAPITAL STOCK 

DECEMBER 31, 2024 

 

    Number of Shares Held by 

Title of Issue 

Number of 
Shares 

Authorized 

Number of 
Shares Issued 

and Outstanding 
as Shown under 

the Related 
Statement of 

Financial 
Position Caption 

Number of 
Shares Reserved 

for Options, 
Warrants, 

Conversion and 
Other Rights Related Parties 

Directors, 
Officers and 
Employees* Others 

Common Stock 24,000,000,000 14,959,999,950 P   -     P   -     2,501,080,226 12,458,919,724 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



CROWN EQUITIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CONGLOMERATE MAP 

DECEMBER 31, 2024 

CROWN EQUITIES, 
INC. 

( )

Subsidiaries 

CROWN CENTRAL 
PROPERTIES CORP. 

(CCPC) 48% 

PARKFIELD LAND 
HOLDINGS, INC.  

(PLHI) 75% 

HEALTHCARE 
SYSTEMS OF ASIA 
PHILS., INC (HSAPI) 

97% 

ARGENT CAPITAL 
HOLDINGS CORP. 

(ACH ) 100% 

FORTMED MEDICAL 
CLINICS MAKATI, INC. 

(FMCMI) 100% 



Annex A 
CROWN EQUITIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 

SUPPLEMENTARY SCHEDULE OF EXTERNAL  
AUDITOR FEE-RELATED INFORMATION 

FOR THE YEAR DECEMBER 31, 2024 and 2023 

 

 2024 2023 

Total Audit Fees P950,000 P1,120,000 
Non-audit services fees:   

Other assurance services -     -     
Tax services -     -     
All other services -     -     

Total Non-audit Fees -     -     

Total Audit and Non-audit Fees P950,000 P1,120,000 

   

Audit and Non-audit Fees of Other Related Entities   
Audit fees P   -     P   -     
Non-audit services fees:   

Other assurance services -     -     
Tax services -     -     
All other services -     -     

Total Audit and Non-audit Fees of Other Related 
Entities P   -     P   -     



CRO\yN EOUITIES
INCORPORATED

STATEMENT OF MANAGEMENT'S RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The managernent of Crown Equities, Inc. (the Parent Company) is responsible for the preparation

and tbir presentation of the separate financial statements including the schedules attached therein, as

at December 31,2024 and,2023 and for each of the three years in period ended December 31,2024, in

accordance with the prescribed financial reporting framework indicated thereiru and for such internal
nnnrr^l --f .l-+-*i--. :. --^-..n.r t^ --^Ll^ +La x--^nra+:^- ^f tlr- c^^n--+^ {i-^-^:^l9vrlllvl a rrr4rrg6lrrllrrl u!r!rrrrrllvJ rr rruuvJJsrJ rv vlrgvrv !rl! PllPgrglrvrr vr lrr! JvP4rgi! liilsrlwr4r

statements that are free from material misstatement. whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the scparrate financial statemcnts, management is responsible for assessing the Parent

Company's abilitv to continue as a going concern. disclosing, as applicable matters related to going
concem and usinq the qoins concem hasis of accountins unless manasement either intends to
liquidate the Parent Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Thc Board of Dircctors is rcsponsiblc for ovcrsccing thc Parcnt Company's financial rcporting
process.

The Board of Directors reviews and approves the separate financial statements including the
schedules attached therein and submits the same to the stockholders.

R.G. Manabat and Co. and Reyes Tacandong & Co., the independent auditors appointed by the
stockholders as at and for the year ended December 31,2024 and as at December 31.2023 and 2022

and for the years then ended, respectively. have audited the separate financial statements of the Parent

Company in accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing. and in their reports to the
stockholders, have expressed their opinion on the fairness of presentation upon completion of such

audit.

h ,
L ALI) . DY TAN

/l^,
the Board

SllrS/-DlRFn ANn Sll.rnDN rn Lrofnra movvuvvrr^u !v u rl vru! rv vvrvrv rrr!

ldentification Number, as follows:

NAMES

George L. Go
f,lnmrrqldIT fhrTqno

Patrick D. Go

,'itPRl i ]q affiant ex$ibiting tc mc thcir 'l'ax

President li.

ATTY.
Notary

Until I

PATRICK D. GO

Treasurer

TIN
100-929-738

tr5-32r-304
149-51 l-050

ApPointment No.
PTR No. 10466008 J

FORT
City of M akati

mber 31, 2025
M-032 (2024-?025\
an.2,2O25lt/,akati CitY

IBP No. 488534 Dec. 27, 2024

MCLE I'lO. Vll-0027570 RollNo' 27932

101 iJrban Ave. CamPos Rueda Bldg.

Pi-gy. Pio Del Pilar. Makati CitY

Doc No. l4{
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for
AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEC Registration Number

                  0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 9 7 4 5 

COMPANY NAME

C R O W N  E Q U I T I E S ,  I N C .           
                              

                              
                              

                              
                              

                              

PRINCIPAL OFFICE (No. / Street / Barangay / City / Town / Province)

5 t h   F l o o r  C r o w n  C e n t e r        
                              

1 5 8  J u p i t e r  c o r .  N .  G a r c i a     
                            

S t s . ,  B e l - A i r ,  M a k a t i  C i t y     
                            

                              

Form Type Department requiring the report Secondary License Type, If Applicable

  A A S F S       C R M D       N / A     
                              

COMPANY INFORMATION
Company's email Address Company's Telephone Number/s Mobile Number

 ebm@crownequities.com   (632) 8899-0081   +63 919 0761391  

No. of Stockholders Annual Meeting (Month / Day) Fiscal Year (Month / Day)

 362   4th Tuesday of May   December 31   
                              

CONTACT PERSON INFORMATION
The designated contact person MUST be an Officer of the Corporation

Name of Contact Person Email Address Telephone Number/s Mobile Number

Mr. Eugene B. Macalalag  ebm@crownequities.com  (632) 8899-0081  +63 919 0761391 
                              

CONTACT PERSON'S ADDRESS

5th Floor Crown Center 158 Jupiter cor. N. Garcia Streets, Bel-Air, Makati City 
                              

Note 1: In case of death, resignation or cessation of office of the officer designated as contact person, such incident shall be reported to the
Commissionwithin thirty (30)calendardays fromtheoccurrencethereofwith informationandcompletecontactdetailsofthenewcontactperson
designated.

2: AllBoxesmustbeproperlyandcompletelyfilled-up.Failuretodososhallcausethe delay inupdatingthecorporation's recordswith
theCommissionand/ornon-receiptofNoticeofDeficiencies.Further,non-receiptofNoticeofDeficienciesshallnotexcusethecorporationfrom
liabilityforitsdeficiencies.



CROWN EQUITIES, INC.  
 
 
SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
December 31, 2024 
(With Comparative Figures for 2023 and 2022) 
 
 
 
 
With Independent Auditors’ Report 



R.G. Manabat & Co. 
The KPMG Center, 6/F 
6787 Ayala Avenue, Makati City 
Philippines 1209 
Telephone +63 (2) 8885 7000 
Fax +63 (2) 8894 1985 
Internet www.home.kpmg/ph 
Email ph-inquiry@kpmg.com 

Firm Regulatory Registration & Accreditation: 
PRC-BOA Registration No. 0003, valid until September 20, 2026 
SEC Accreditation No. 0003-SEC, Group A, valid for the audit of annual financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2024 

and until the audit of annual financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2025, pursuant to SEC Notice dated April 4, 2025
IC Accreditation No. 0003-IC, Group A, valid for five (5) years covering the audit of 2020 to 2024  
   financial statements (2019 financial statements are covered by IC Circular Letter (CL) No. 2019-39, Transition clause) 
BSP Accreditation No. 0003-BSP, Group A, valid for five (5) years covering the audit of 2020 to 2024  

financial statements (2019 financial statements are covered by BSP Monetary Board Resolution No. 2161, Transition clause)

R.G. Manabat & Co., a Philippine partnership and a member firm of the KPMG global organization of independent member firms 
affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private English company limited by guarantee 

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS 
 
 
 
The Stockholders and Board of Directors 
Crown Equities, Inc.  
5th Floor Crown Center 
158 Jupiter cor. N. Garcia Sts. 
Bel-Air, Makati City 
 
Opinion 
 
We have audited the separate financial statements of Crown Equities, Inc. 
(the “Company”), which comprise the separate statement of financial position as at 
December 31, 2024, and the separate statement of comprehensive income, separate 
statement of changes in equity and separate statement of cash flows for the year then 
ended, and notes, comprising material accounting policies and other explanatory 
information. 
 
In our opinion, the accompanying separate financial statements present fairly, in all 
material respects, the unconsolidated financial position of the Company as at  
December 31, 2024, and its unconsolidated financial performance and its cash flows for 
the year then ended in accordance with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards 
(PFRS) Accounting Standards. 
 
Basis for Opinion 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing (PSAs).  
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Separate Financial Statements section of our report. 
We are independent of the Company in accordance with the Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants in the Philippines (Code of Ethics), together with the ethical 
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the separate financial statements in the 
Philippines, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
these requirements and the Code of Ethics. We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
 



Other Matter 
 
The separate financial statements of the Company as at and for the year ended 
December 31, 2023 were audited by another auditor who expressed an unmodified 
opinion on those separate financial statements on March 26, 2024. 
 
Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Separate 
Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the separate 
financial statements in accordance with PFRS Accounting Standards, and for such 
internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of 
separate financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the separate financial statements, management is responsible for 
assessing the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as 
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease 
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial 
reporting process. 
 
Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Separate Financial Statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the separate financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance 
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with PSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.  
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually 
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these company financial statements. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 



As part of an audit in accordance with PSAs, we exercise professional judgment and 
maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 
 
▪ Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the separate financial 

statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures 
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control. 

 
▪ Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design 

audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose 
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. 

 
▪ Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 

accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management. 
 
▪ Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis

of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on 
the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the 
related disclosures in the separate financial statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence 
obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions 
may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern. 

 
▪ Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the separate financial 

statements, including the disclosures, and whether the separate financial statements 
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation. 

 
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, 
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any 
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 
 
We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied 
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and communicate with them 
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our 
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 



Report on the Supplementary Information Required Under Revenue Regulations  
No. 15-2010 of the Bureau of Internal Revenue  
 
The Company presented the supplementary information on taxes, duties and license 
fees in a schedule attached to the annual income tax return instead of as an additional 
note to the financial statements based on RR No. 15-2010 of the Bureau of Internal 
Revenue. The said information is not a required part of the basic financial statements 
under the PFRS Accounting Standards. Our opinion on the basic financial statements is 
not affected by the subject information. 
 
The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditors’ report is
Emerald Anne C. Bagnes. 
 
 
R.G. MANABAT & CO. 
 
 
 
 
EMERALD ANNE C. BAGNES 
Partner 
CPA License No. 0083761 
SEC Accreditation No. 83761-SEC, Group A, valid for the audit of annual financial 
  statements for the year ended December 31, 2024 and up to audit of annual financial 
  statements for the year ended December 31, 2025, pursuant to SEC Notice dated  
  April 4, 2025 
Tax Identification No. 102-082-332 
BIR Accreditation No. 08-001987-012-2024 
  Issued July 17, 2024; valid until July 17, 2027 
PTR No. MKT 10467166 
  Issued January 2, 2025 at Makati City 
 
 
April 15, 2025 
Makati City, Metro Manila 
 



R.G. Manabat & Co. 
The KPMG Center, 6/F 
6787 Ayala Avenue, Makati City 
Philippines 1209 
Telephone +63 (2) 8885 7000 
Fax +63 (2) 8894 1985 
Internet www.home.kpmg/ph 
Email ph-inquiry@kpmg.com 

Firm Regulatory Registration & Accreditation: 
PRC-BOA Registration No. 0003, valid until September 20, 2026 
SEC Accreditation No. 0003-SEC, Group A, valid for the audit of annual financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2024 

and until the audit of annual financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2025, pursuant to SEC Notice dated April 4, 2025
IC Accreditation No. 0003-IC, Group A, valid for five (5) years covering the audit of 2020 to 2024  
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BSP Accreditation No. 0003-BSP, Group A, valid for five (5) years covering the audit of 2020 to 2024  
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R.G. Manabat & Co., a Philippine partnership and a member firm of the KPMG global organization of independent member firms 
affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private English company limited by guarantee 

SUPPLEMENTAL WRITTEN STATEMENT OF AUDITORS 
 
The Stockholders and Board of Directors 
Crown Equities, Inc.  
5th Floor Crown Center 
158 Jupiter cor. N. Garcia Sts. 
Bel-Air, Makati City 
 
We have audited the accompanying separate financial statements of Crown Equities, 
Inc. (the “Company”) as at and for the year ended December 31, 2024, on which we 
have rendered our report dated April 15, 2025. 
 
In compliance with the Revised Securities Regulation Code Rule 68, we are stating that 
the Company has three hundred fifty-one (351) stockholders owning one hundred (100) 
or more shares each. 
 
R.G. MANABAT & CO. 
 
 
 
EMERALD ANNE C. BAGNES 
Partner 
CPA License No. 0083761 
SEC Accreditation No. 83761-SEC, Group A, valid for the audit of annual financial 
  statements for the year ended December 31, 2024 and up to audit of annual financial 
  statements for the year ended December 31, 2025, pursuant to SEC Notice dated  
  April 4, 2025 
Tax Identification No. 102-082-332 
BIR Accreditation No. 08-001987-012-2024 
  Issued July 17, 2024; valid until July 17, 2027 
PTR No. MKT 10467166 
  Issued January 2, 2025 at Makati City 
 
April 15, 2025 
Makati City, Metro Manila 



CROWN EQUITIES, INC. 
SEPARATE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2024  
(With Comparative Figures As At December 31, 2023) 

   

 Note 2024 2023 

ASSETS    

Current Assets    
Cash and cash equivalents 4, 26, 27 P485,023,156 P576,605,738 
Short-term investments 5, 27 20,783,762 4,000,000 
Investments in quoted shares 6, 26, 27 55,427,768 60,931,520 
Receivables 7, 26, 27 19,244,012 19,395,983 
Real estate inventories 8 29,448,267 29,376,823 
Due from related parties 17, 26, 27 72,477,186 72,477,186 
Other current assets 9, 26, 27 32,665,467 32,576,640 

Total Current Assets  715,069,618 795,363,890 

Noncurrent Assets     
Installment contracts receivable - net of 

current portion 7, 26, 27 25,519,380 38,470,836 
Loans receivable - net of current portion 7, 26, 27 9,753,007 10,032,911 
Investments in subsidiaries 12 563,270,422 563,270,422 
Investment properties 10 1,106,210,571 975,901,013 
Property and equipment 11 15,286,389 16,320,453 
Deferred income tax assets - net 24 8,889,988 9,304,745 
Other noncurrent assets 13 18,091,628 20,634,318 

Total Noncurrent Assets  1,747,021,385 1,633,934,698 

  P2,462,091,003 P2,429,298,588 

    

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY    

Current Liabilities    
Accounts and other payables 14 P94,961,417 P81,284,188 

Noncurrent Liabilities    
Net retirement benefits liability 15 24,142,384 21,793,745 
Security deposits 25 4,742,687 4,665,501 

Total Noncurrent Liabilities  28,885,070 26,459,246 

Total Liabilities  123,846,488 107,743,434 

Equity     
Capital stock 16 1,977,523,246 1,977,523,246 
Additional paid-in capital 16 118,570,274 118,570,274 
Other equity reserves 13, 15 (29,705,221) (27,762,017) 
Treasury stock - at cost 16 (481,523,251) (481,523,251) 
Retained earnings  753,379,467 734,746,902 

Total Equity  2,338,244,515 2,321,555,154 

  P2,462,091,003 P2,429,298,588 

    

See Notes to the Separate Financial Statements 



CROWN EQUITIES, INC. 
SEPARATE STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024 
(With Comparative Figures for the Years Ended December 31, 2023 and 2022) 

  

 Note 2024 2023 2022 

REVENUE     
Rental income 18, 25 P20,298,483 P19,939,282 P15,647,904 
Dividend income 6, 18 17,385,792 4,218,762 36,763,257 
Management fees 18 7,200,000 7,200,000 7,200,000 
Real estate sales 18 6,115,872 23,870,171 52,025,970 
Interest income  7 5,047,112 7,198,612 9,797,911 

  56,047,259 62,426,827 121,435,042 

DIRECT COSTS     
Cost of real estate sales 19 2,678,609 9,388,268 20,107,359 
Depreciation and 

amortization 10, 21 9,009,856 8,369,490 6,147,173 
Taxes and licenses  3,548,665 3,130,462 3,217,153 

  15,237,130 20,888,220 29,471,685 

GROSS INCOME  40,810,129 41,538,607 91,963,357 

SELLING AND ADMINISTRATIVE 
EXPENSES 20 (64,226,091) (63,671,879) (70,577,864) 

OTHER INCOME - Net 23 43,282,338 35,760,105 248,326,798 

INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAX  19,866,373 13,626,833 269,712,291 

PROVISION FOR  
(BENEFIT FROM)  
INCOME TAX 24 1,233,811 (253,689) 1,585,292 

NET INCOME  18,632,565 13,880,522 268,126,999 

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE 
INCOME (LOSS)     

Items that will not be 
reclassified subsequently to 
profit or loss     

Remeasurement gain (loss) on 
net retirement benefits liability - 
net of tax 15 550,328 (43,784) 808,015 

Unrealized fair value loss on 
financial assets at fair value 
through other comprehensive 
income (FVOCI) 13 (2,493,532) -     -     

  (1,943,204) (43,784) 808,015 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE 
INCOME  P16,689,361 P13,836,738 P268,935,014 

     

See Notes to the Separate Financial Statements  
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CROWN EQUITIES, INC. 
SEPARATE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024  
(With Comparative Figures for the Years Ended December 31, 2023 and 2022) 

  

 Note 2024 2023 2022 

CASH FLOWS FROM 
OPERATING ACTIVITIES     

Income before income tax   P19,866,376 P13,626,833 P269,712,291 
Adjustments for:     

Depreciation and amortization 21 13,616,430 11,781,373 9,317,273 
Retirement benefits cost 15 3,082,409 2,712,252 8,541,494 
Loss (gain) on contract 

cancellations and forfeitures 23 619,605 (8,459) 1,396,098 
Interest income from:     

Cash and cash equivalents 4 (27,583,692) (25,344,862) (8,445,243) 
Installment contracts 

receivable 7 (5,047,112) (7,198,612) (9,797,911) 
Loans receivable 7, 23 (663,527) (41,167) (999,999) 

Dividend income 18 (17,385,792) (4,218,762) (36,763,257) 
Unrealized loss (gain) on 

changes in:     
Foreign exchange rates 23 (5,086,318) (970,289) (5,172,968) 
Fair value of investments in 

quoted shares 23 (614,055) 6,449,322 (5,307,031) 
Fair value of short-term 

investments 23 (33,762) -     -     
Gain on redemption of short-

term investments 23 (1,047,026) (377,327) (330,119) 
Gain on reversal of allowance 

for impairment losses on:     
Receivables 23 -     (471,236) (112,289) 
Investment in subsidiaries 23 -     -     (212,063,980) 

Gain on sale of investment 
properties 10, 23 -     -     (26,401,480) 

Operating loss before working 
capital changes  (20,276,464) (4,060,934) (16,427,121) 

Decrease (increase) in:     
Short-term investments  (15,702,974) 4,000,000 53,500,000 
Investments in quoted shares  6,117,807 59,771,227 54,645,527 
Receivables  10,953,860 10,558,365 (15,277,555) 
Real estate inventories  986,256 2,436,888 9,233,093 
Other assets  (39,669) (2,684,191) 992,244 

Increase (decrease) in:     
Accounts and other payables  265,312 (4,177,250) (9,917,747) 
Security deposits  77,186 563,108 294,224 

Cash generated from (absorbed by) 
operations  (17,618,686) 66,407,213 77,042,665 

Interest received  33,120,503 32,961,968 19,573,272 
Dividends received  17,385,792 4,218,762 36,763,257 
Income taxes paid  (1,002,496) (912,092) (751,318) 

Net cash provided by operating 
activities  31,885,113 102,675,851 132,627,876 

Forward     

 
 
 



  

 Note 2024 2023 2022 

CASH FLOWS FROM 
INVESTING ACTIVITIES     

Collections of loans receivable: 7    
Principal  P262,464  P15,497 P20,000,000 
Interest  663,527 -     -     

Additions to:     
Investment properties 10 (125,907,494) (4,000,884) (6,655,706) 
Property and equipment 11 (3,572,510) (10,493,404) (7,421,458) 

Proceeds from sale of investment 
properties 10 -     -     31,432,500 

Loan granted to a third party 7 -     (10,310,872) -     

Net cash provided by (used in) 
investing activities  (128,554,013) (24,789,663) 37,355,336 

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) 
IN CASH AND CASH 
EQUIVALENTS  (96,668,900) 77,886,188 169,983,212 

EFFECT OF FOREIGN 
EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES 
ON CASH AND CASH 
EQUIVALENTS  5,086,318 970,289 5,172,968 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
AT BEGINNING OF YEAR  576,605,738 497,749,261 322,593,081 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
AT END OF YEAR 4 P485,023,156 P576,605,738 P497,749,261 

     

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



CROWN EQUITIES, INC. 
NOTES TO THE SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

AS AT AND FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024 
(With Comparative Figures As At December 31, 2023 and For the Years Ended 

December 31, 2023 and 2022) 
 
 
 

1. Corporate Information 
 
Crown Equities, Inc. (CEI or the “Company”), a public corporation under Section 17.2
of the Securities Regulation Code (SRC), was incorporated in the Philippines and 
registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) on October 24, 
1969. The Company is an investment holding company, currently engaged in the 
business of real estate development and healthcare through its subsidiaries. Its 
shares are listed on the Philippine Stock Exchange (PSE). 
 
As at December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company has ownership interests in the 
following subsidiaries, all incorporated in the Philippines: 
 

 % of Nature of Principal Place 
Name of Subsidiary Ownership Business of Business 

Crown Central Properties, Corp. (CCPC)(a) 48% Real Estate Biñan, Laguna 
Parkfield Land Holdings, Inc. (PLHI) 75% Real Estate Makati City 
Healthcare Systems of Asia Phils., Inc (HSAPI) 97% Holding Makati City 
Fortmed Medical Clinics Makati, Inc. (FMCMI)(b) 97% Healthcare Makati City 
Argent Capital Holdings Corporation (ACHC) 100% Holding Makati City 

(a) Management has determined that the Company has control over the financial and operating policies of 
CCPC through representation on the Board of Directors (BOD) (see Note 3). 

(b) Indirectly owned through HSAPI. 

 
The Company is also the ultimate parent company. 
 
The Company’s registered office is at located at 5th Floor Crown Center, 158 Jupiter 
cor. N. Garcia Sts., Bel-Air Makati City. 
 
 

2. Summary of Material Accounting Policy Information  
 
Basis of Preparation and Statement of Compliance 
The separate financial statements have been prepared in compliance with Philippine 
Financial Reporting Standards (PFRS) Accounting Standards. PFRS Accounting 
Standards are based on International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 
Accounting Standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board 
(IASB). PFRS Accounting Standards, which are issued by the Philippine Financial 
and Sustainability Reporting Standards Council (FSRSC), consist of PFRS 
Accounting Standards, Philippine Accounting Standards (PASs) and Philippine 
Interpretations. 
 
In accordance with Paragraph 4 of PFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements, the 
Company prepares consolidated financial statements in which the Company 
consolidates the financial statements accounts of its subsidiaries. Such consolidated 
financial statements provide information about the economic activities of the 
Company and its subsidiaries, with the Company as the parent entity. The 
consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with 
PFRS Accounting Standards, are available through the Philippine SEC. 
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The separate financial statements were approved and authorized for issue by the 
Executive Committee on April 8, 2025, as authorized by the Board of Directors 
(BOD). 
 
Functional and Presentation Currency 
The separate financial statements are presented in Philippine Peso (Peso), the 
Company’s functional currency. All values are rounded to the nearest Peso except 
when otherwise indicated. 
 
Basis of Measurement 
The separate financial statements of the Company have been prepared on a 
historical cost basis, except for the following which are measured using alternative 
basis at each reporting date: 
 

Account Measurement basis 

Short-term investments designated at fair value  
through profit or loss (FVTPL) 

Fair value 

Investments in quoted shares Fair value 
Investment in unquoted shares designated at fair value 

through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) 
Fair value 

Net retirement benefits liability Present value of  
the defined benefit 
obligation less fair 
value of plan assets 

 
Adoption of Amendments to Standards 
The accounting policies adopted in the preparation and presentation of the 
Company’s separate financial statements are consistent with prior years, except for 
the adoption of the following amended accounting pronouncements which became 
effective January 1, 2024. The Company has not early adopted any other standard, 
or amendment that has been issued but is not yet effective. 
 
Unless otherwise indicated, adoption of these amendments to standards did not 
have an impact on the separate financial statements of the Company. 
 
The nature and impact of each amendment are described below: 
 
▪ Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback (Amendments to PFRS 16, Leases) 

The amendments confirm the following:  
 
• On initial recognition, the seller-lessee includes variable lease payments 

when it measures a lease liability arising from a sale-and-leaseback 
transaction.  

 
• After initial recognition, the seller-lessee applies the general requirements for 

subsequent accounting of the lease liability such that it recognizes no gain or 
loss relating to the right of use it retains. counterparty, but conversion options 
that are classified as equity do not affect classification of the liability as 
current or noncurrent.  

 
• A seller-lessee may adopt different approaches that satisfy the new 

requirements on subsequent measurement.  For example, the seller-lessee 
could determine the lease payments to be deducted from lease liability as 
expected lease payments or as equal periodic payments over the lease term, 
with the difference between those payments and amounts actually paid
recognized in profit or loss. 
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The amendments are applied retrospectively in accordance with PAS 8, 
Accounting Polices, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors, to sale-and-
leaseback transactions entered into after the date of initial adoption of  
PFRS 16.  

 
▪ Classification of Liabilities as Current or Noncurrent - 2020 amendments and 

Non-Current Liabilities with Covenants - 2022 amendments (Amendments to
PAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements) 
To promote consistency in application and clarify the requirements on 
determining whether a liability is current or noncurrent, the amendments: 
 
a. removed the requirement for a right to defer settlement of a liability for at 

least twelve months after the reporting period to be unconditional and instead 
requires that the right must have substance and exist at the end of the 
reporting period; 

 
b. clarified that only covenants with which a company must comply on or before 

the reporting date affect the classification of a liability as current or  
non-current and covenants with which the entity must comply after the 
reporting date do not affect a liability’s classification at that date; 

 
c. provided additional disclosure requirements for non-current liabilities subject 

to conditions within twelve months after the reporting period to enable the 
assessment of the risk that the liability could become repayable within  
twelve months; and 

 
d. clarified that settlement of a liability includes transferring an entity’s own

equity instruments to the counterparty, but conversion options that are 
classified as equity do not affect classification of the liability as current or 
noncurrent. 

 
▪ Supplier Finance Arrangements (Amendments to PAS 7, Statement of Cash 

Flows, and PFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures) 
The amendments introduce new disclosures about a company’s supplier finance
arrangements that would enable users of financial statements to assess the 
effects of those arrangements on the entity’s liabilities and cash flows, and the
company’s exposure to liquidity risk. Under the amendments, a company
discloses in aggregate for its supplier finance arrangements:  
 
a. the terms and conditions of the arrangements; 
 
b. beginning and ending carrying amounts and associated line items of the 

financial liabilities that are part of a supplier finance arrangement, 
distinguishing those for which suppliers were already paid, and range of 
payment due dates including those for comparable trade payables not part of 
a supplier finance arrangement; and 

 
c. the type and effect of non-cash changes in the carrying amounts.  
 
The amendments also add supplier finance arrangements as an example to the 
existing disclosure requirements on factors a company might consider when 
providing specific quantitative liquidity risk disclosures about its financial 
liabilities.  
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A company is not required to disclose comparative information for any prior 
reporting periods, information on carrying amounts for which suppliers already 
received payment and range of payment due dates as at the beginning of the 
annual reporting period the company first applies the amendments, and 
information for any interim period within the annual reporting period in which the 
company first applies those amendments.  

 
Future Changes in Accounting Policies 
A number of amendments to standards are effective for annual periods beginning 
after January 1, 2024. However, the Company has not early adopted the following 
amended standards in preparing these separate financial statements. The Company 
is still in the process of assessing the impact of the new and amendments to 
standards. Unless otherwise stated, none of these are expected to have a significant 
impact on the Company’s separate financial statements. 
 
Effective January 1, 2025  
 
▪ Lack of Exchangeability (Amendments to PAS 21, The Effects of Changes in 

Foreign Exchange Rates) 
 
Effective January 1, 2026  
 
▪ Amendments to the Classification and Measurement of Financial Instruments 

(Amendments to PFRS 9, Financial Instruments, and PFRS 7, Financial 
Instruments: Disclosures) 

 
▪ Annual Improvements to PFRS Accounting Standards - Volume 11 

 
a) Hedge Accounting by a First-time Adopter (Amendments to PFRS 1, First-

time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards) 
 
b) Gain or Loss on Derecognition (Amendments to PFRS 7) 
 
c) Introduction, Disclosure of Difference Between Fair Value and Transaction 

Price, and Credit Risk Disclosures (Amendments to Guidance on 
implementing PFRS 7) 

 
d) Derecognition of Lease Liabilities and Transaction Price (Amendments to  

PFRS 9)  
 
e) Determination of ‘De Facto Agent’ (Amendments to PFRS 10, Consolidated 

Financial Statements) 
 
f) Cost Method (Amendments to PAS 7) 
 

Effective January 1, 2027  
 
▪ PFRS 17, Insurance Contracts 
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▪ PFRS 18, Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements will replace  
PAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements and aims to provide greater 
consistency in presentation of the income and cash flow statements, and more 
disaggregated information. 
 
• A more Structured Income Statement. PFRS 18 promotes a more structured 

income statement. It introduces a newly defined ‘operating profit or loss’ and
‘profit or loss before financing and income tax’ subtotals, and a requirement 
for all income and expenses to be classified into three new distinct categories 
operating, investing, and financing - based on a company’s main business
activities. PFRS 18 also requires companies to analyze their operating 
expenses directly on the face of the income statement - either by nature, by 
function or on a mixed basis. Companies need to choose the presentation 
method that provides the ‘most useful structured summary’ of those
expenses. New disclosures apply if any operating expenses are presented 
by function. 

 
• Management-defined performance measures. PFRS 18 provides a definition 

for management-defined performance measures (MPMs) and introduces 
specific disclosure requirements. MPMs are subtotals of income and 
expenses that are used in public communications outside the financial 
statements, communicate management's view of an aspect of the financial 
performance of the entity as a whole and are not a required subtotal or a 
common income and expense subtotal listed in PFRS 18. For each MPM 
presented, companies will need to explain in a single note to the financial 
statements why the measure provides useful information and how it is 
calculated, and to reconcile it to an amount determined under PFRS 
Accounting Standards. 
 

• Greater disaggregation of information. PFRS 18 provides enhanced 
guidance on how companies group information in the financial statements, 
including newly defined roles of the primary financial statements and the 
notes, principles of aggregation and disaggregation based on shared and 
non-shared characteristics, and specific guidance for labelling and describing 
items in a way that faithfully represents an item’s characteristics. 

 
PFRS 18 also now require goodwill to be presented as a line item in the 
statement of financial position. 
 
Consequential amendments to PAS 7 requires the use of the operating profit or 
loss subtotal as the starting point when presenting operating cash flows under 
the indirect method and eliminate the options for classifying interest and 
dividend cash flows. 
 
PFRS 18 also amends PAS 33, Earnings per Share, to permit companies to 
disclose additional amounts per share using as numerator a required income and 
expenses total or subtotal, a common subtotal listed in PFRS 18 or an MPM 
disclosed by the entity. 
 
PFRS 18 applies for annual reporting periods beginning on or after  
January 1, 2027, with earlier application permitted. It applies retrospectively in 
accordance with PAS 8, Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates 
and Errors. Specific reconciliations are required to be disclosed. Eligible entities 
including venture capital organizations, mutual funds and some insurers will be 
allowed to change their election for measuring investments in associates and 
joint ventures from equity method to fair value through profit or loss.   
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▪ PFRS 19, Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: Disclosures  
 
Deferred Local Implementation  
 
▪ Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint 

Venture (Amendments to PFRS 10 and PAS 28, Investments in Associates and 
Joint Ventures) 
 

Amendments to IFRS not yet adopted by the FSRSC as part of PFRS Accounting 
Standards  

 
▪ Contracts Referencing Nature-dependent Electricity (Amendments to IFRS 9 and 

IFRS 7) Contracts Referencing Nature-dependent Electricity (Amendments to 
IFRS 9, Financial Instruments, and and IFRS 7, Financial Instruments: 
Disclosures)  

 
Material Accounting Policies 
The material accounting policies that have been used in the preparation of the 
separate financial statements are summarized below. These accounting policies 
have been consistently applied to all years presented, unless otherwise stated. 
 
Financial Assets and Liabilities  
Initial Recognition 
The Company recognizes a financial asset or a financial liability in the separate 
statements of financial position when it becomes a party to the contractual provisions 
of a financial instrument.  Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery 
of assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention in the 
marketplace are recognized on the trade date, i.e., the date that the Company 
commits to purchase or sell the asset.  
 
Financial instruments are recognized initially at fair value. Transaction costs are 
included in the initial measurement of the Companyʼs separate financial instruments, 
except for financial instruments classified at FVTPL. 
 
“Day 1” Difference 
Where the transaction in a non-active market is different from the fair value of other 
observable current market transactions in the same instrument or based on a
valuation technique whose variables include only data from observable market, the 
Company recognizes the difference between the transaction price and fair value  
(a “Day 1” difference) in profit or loss. In cases where there is no observable data on
inception, the Company deems the transaction price as the best estimate of fair 
value and recognizes “Day 1” difference in profit or loss when the inputs become
observable or when the instrument is derecognized. For each transaction, the 
Company determines the appropriate method of recognizing the “Day 1” difference. 
 
Classification and Subsequent Measurement of Financial Assets 
The Company classifies its financial assets, at initial recognition, in the following 
categories: financial assets at FVTPL, financial assets at amortized cost, debt 
investments at FVOCI and equity investments at FVOCI.  The classification depends 
on the Company’s business model for managing financial instruments and the
contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets. Financial assets are not 
reclassified subsequent to initial recognition unless the Company changes its 
business model for managing financial assets, in which case all affected financial 
assets are reclassified on the first day of the first reporting period following the 
change in the business model.  
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Financial Assets at FVTPL  
Financial assets at FVTPL are either classified as held for trading or designated at 
FVTPL. Financial assets are classified as held for trading if it meets either of the 
following conditions: 
 
▪ it is acquired or incurred principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing it in 

the near term; 
 
▪ on initial recognition, it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that 

are managed together and for which there is evidence of a recent actual pattern of 
short-term profit-taking; or 

 
▪ it is a derivative (except for a derivative that is a financial guarantee contract or 

designated as effective hedging instrument). 
 
This category includes equity instruments which the Company had not irrevocably 
elected to classify at FVOCI at initial recognition. This category includes debt 
instruments whose cash flows are not “solely for payment of principal and interest”
assessed at initial recognition of the assets, or which are not held within a business 
model whose objective is either to collect contractual cash flows, or to both collect 
contractual cash flows and sell. 
 
The Company may, at initial recognition, designate a financial asset meeting the 
criteria to be classified at amortized cost or at FVOCI, as a financial asset or financial 
liability at FVTPL, if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces accounting mismatch 
that would arise from measuring these assets or liabilities. 
 
After initial recognition, financial assets at FVTPL are subsequently measured at fair 
value. Unrealized gains or losses arising from the fair valuation of financial assets at 
FVTPL are recognized in profit or loss. 
 
As at December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company’s short-term investments and 
investments in quoted shares are considered as financial assets at FVTPL. 
 
Financial Assets at Amortized Cost 
Financial assets shall be measured at amortized cost if both of the following 
conditions are met: 
 
▪ the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold 

financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows; and 
 
▪ the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise, on specified dates, to cash 

flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount 
outstanding. 

 
After initial recognition, financial assets at amortized cost are subsequently 
measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate (EIR) method, less 
allowance for impairment, if any.  Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account 
any discount or premium on acquisition and fees that are an integral part of the 
effective interest rate. Gains and losses are recognized in profit or loss when the 
financial assets are derecognized and through an amortization process. Financial 
assets at amortized cost are included under current assets if realizability or 
collectability is within 12 months after the reporting period. Otherwise, these are 
classified as noncurrent assets. 
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As at December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company’s cash and cash equivalents,
receivables, due from related parties, refundable deposits and construction bond 
(presented under “Other current assets” and “Other noncurrent assets” accounts in
the separate statements of financial position) are classified under this category. 
 
Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible 
to known amounts of cash with original maturities of three months or less from dates 
of placement and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. 
 
Financial Assets at FVOCI 
For debt instruments that meet the contractual cash flow characteristic and are not 
designated at FVTPL under the fair value option, the financial assets shall be 
measured at FVOCI if both of the following conditions are met: 
 
▪ the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold 

financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows and selling the financial 
assets; and 

 
▪ the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise, on specified dates, to cash 

flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount 
outstanding. 

 
For equity instruments, the Company may irrevocably designate the financial asset 
to be measured at FVOCI in case the above conditions are not met. 
 
Financial assets at FVOCI are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs. 
After initial recognition, interest income (calculated using the EIR method), foreign 
currency gains or losses and impairment losses of debt instruments measured at 
FVOCI are recognized directly in profit or loss. When the financial asset is 
derecognized, the cumulative gains or losses previously recognized in “Other
comprehensive income” (OCI) are reclassified from equity to profit or loss as a
reclassification adjustment. 
 
Dividends from equity instruments held at FVOCI are recognized in profit or loss 
when the right to receive payment is established, unless the dividend clearly 
represents a recovery of part of the cost of the investment. Foreign currency gains or 
losses and unrealized gains or losses from equity instruments are recognized in OCI 
and presented in the equity section of the separate statements of financial position. 
These fair value changes are recognized in equity and are not reclassified to profit or 
loss in subsequent periods, even if the asset is sold or impaired. The cumulative fair 
value adjustment is transferred to retained earnings when the asset is sold. 
 
As at December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company designated its investment in 
unquoted shares as a financial asset at FVOCI. 
 
Classification and Subsequent Measurement of Financial Liabilities 
Financial liabilities are categorized as financial liabilities at amortized cost when the 
substance of the contractual arrangement results in the Company having an 
obligation either to deliver cash or another financial asset to the holder, or to settle 
the obligation other than by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another 
financial asset for a fixed number of its own equity instruments. 
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These financial liabilities are initially recognized at fair value less any directly 
attributable transaction costs. After initial recognition, these financial liabilities are 
subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. 
Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on the 
issue and fees that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. Gains and losses
are recognized in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognized or through the 
amortization process. 
 
As at December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company’s accounts and other payables
(excluding contract liabilities, statutory payable, deposits for document processing) 
and security deposits are classified under this category. 
 
Reclassification 
The Company reclassifies its financial assets when, and only when, it changes its 
business model for managing those financial assets. The reclassification is applied 
prospectively from the first day of the first reporting period following the change in the 
business model (reclassification date). 
 
For a financial asset reclassified out of the financial assets at amortized cost 
category to financial assets at FVTPL, any gain or loss arising from the difference 
between the previous amortized cost of the financial asset and fair value is 
recognized in profit or loss. 
 
For a financial asset reclassified out of the financial assets at amortized cost 
category to financial assets at FVOCI, any gain or loss arising from a difference 
between the previous amortized cost of the financial asset and fair value is 
recognized in OCI. 
 
For a financial asset reclassified out of the financial assets at FVTPL category to 
financial assets at amortized cost, its fair value at the reclassification date becomes 
its new gross carrying amount. 
 
For a financial asset reclassified out of the financial assets at FVOCI category to 
financial assets at amortized cost, any gain or loss previously recognized in OCI is 
removed from equity and adjusted against the fair value of the financial asset. The 
financial asset is measured at the reclassification date as if it had always been 
measured at amortized cost. 
 
In the case of a financial asset that does not have a fixed maturity, the gain or loss 
shall be recognized in profit or loss when the financial asset is sold or disposed of. If 
the financial asset is subsequently impaired, any previous gain or loss that has been 
recognized in OCI is reclassified from equity to profit or loss. 
 
For a financial asset reclassified out of the financial assets at FVTPL category to 
financial assets at FVOCI, its fair value at the reclassification date becomes its new 
gross carrying amount. Meanwhile, for a financial asset reclassified out of the 
financial assets at FVOCI category to financial assets at FVPL, the cumulative gain 
or loss previously recognized in OCI is reclassified from equity to profit or loss as a 
reclassification adjustment at the reclassification date. 
 
Impairment of Financial Assets  
The Company recognizes an allowance for expected credit losses (ECL) which is 
based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with 
the contract and all the cash flows that the Company expects to receive. The 
difference is then discounted at an approximation to the asset’s original effective
interest rate. 
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For receivables (excluding installment contracts receivable), the Company has 
applied the simplified approach and has calculated ECL based on the lifetime ECL. 
The expected loss rates are initially based on the Company’s historical default rates.
These historical default rates are adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking 
information on macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the customers to settle 
their payables to the Company.  The Company has identified macroeconomic factors 
(i.e., gross domestic product) that are relevant, and accordingly adjusts the historical 
loss rates based on expected changes in these factors. 
 
For installment contracts receivable and other financial assets at amortized cost, the 
ECL is based on the 12-month ECL, which pertains to the portion of lifetime ECL that 
results from default events on a financial instrument that are possible within 12 months 
after the reporting date. However, when there has been a significant increase in credit 
risk since initial recognition, the allowance will be based on the lifetime ECL. When 
determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since 
initial recognition, the Company compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial 
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial 
instrument as at the date  of initial recognition and consider reasonable and 
supportable information, that is available without undue cost or effort, that is indicative 
of significant increases in credit risk since initial recognition. 
 
To measure the ECL, these have been grouped based on shared credit risk 
characteristics and the days past due. ECL is derived by calculating the cumulative loss 
rates of a given installment contracts receivable pool. It derives the probability of default 
from the historical data of a homogenous portfolio that share the same origination 
period.  
 
The information on the number of defaults during fixed time intervals of the accounts is 
utilized to create the probability model. It allows the evaluation of the loan activity from 
its origination period until the end of the contract period., These are discounted back to 
the time of default (i.e., is defined by the Company as upon cancellation of contract to 
sell) using the appropriate effective interest rate, usually being the original EIR or an 
approximation thereof.  
 
As part of the analysis, the management considers any credit enhancement such as 
collaterals or security; whereas if the carrying value of the Installment Contracts 
Receivable exceeds the fair value of the credit enhancement, the ECL is recognized; 
otherwise, it will not be taken up.  
 
Derecognition 
Financial Assets 
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of 
similar financial assets) is derecognized when: 
 
▪ the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset have expired; or 
 
▪ the financial asset has been transferred in a manner that qualifies for 

derecognition under PFRS 9. 
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When the Company has transferred its right to receive cash flows from a financial 
asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, and has neither transferred 
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset 
control of financial asset, the financial asset is recognized to the extent of the 
Company’s continuing involvement in the financial asset. In that case, the Company 
also recognizes an associated liability.  The transferred asset and the associated 
liability are measured on a basis that reflect the rights and obligations that the 
Company has retained.  Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee 
over the transferred financial asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying 
amount of the financial asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the 
Company could be required to repay. 
 
Financial Liabilities 
A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is 
discharged, cancelled or has expired. When an existing financial liability is replaced 
by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an 
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is 
treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, 
and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognized in the separate 
statements of comprehensive income. 
 
Offsetting 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amounts reported in 
the separate statements of financial position if, and only if, there is a currently 
enforceable legal right to offset the recognized amounts and there is an intention to 
settle on a net basis, or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 
This is not generally the case with master netting agreements, and the related assets 
and liabilities are presented gross in the separate statements of financial position. 
 
Classification of Financial Instrument between Liability and Equity 
A financial instrument is classified as liability if it provides for a contractual obligation 
to: 
 
▪ Deliver cash or another financial asset to another entity; 
 
▪ Exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another entity under 

conditions that are potentially unfavorable to the Company; or 
 
▪ Satisfy the obligation other than by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or 

another financial asset for a fixed number of own equity shares. 
 
If the Company does not have an unconditional right to avoid delivering cash or 
another financial asset to settle its contractual obligation, the obligation meets the 
definition of a financial liability. 
 
Fair Value Measurement 
A number of the Company’s accounting policies and disclosures require the
measurement of fair value for both financial and non-financial assets and liabilities. 
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a 
liability in an orderly transaction in the principal (or most advantageous) market at the 
measurement date under current market conditions (i.e. an exit price), regardless of 
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation 
technique. Where applicable, the Company uses valuation techniques that are 
appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to 
measure fair value, maximizing the use of relevant observable inputs and minimizing 
the use of unobservable inputs.  
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When measuring the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Company uses market 
observable data as far as possible. Fair values are categorized in different levels of 
the fair value hierarchy based on the inputs used in the valuation techniques as 
follows: 
 
▪ Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or 

liabilities; 
 
▪ Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are 

observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e., as prices) or 
indirectly (i.e., derived from prices); and 

 
▪ Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market 

data (unobservable inputs). 
 
If the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or a liability might be 
categorized in different levels of the fair value hierarchy, then the fair value 
measurement is categorized in its entirety in the same level of the fair value 
hierarchy as the lowest level of input that is significant to the entire measurement.  
 
The Company recognizes transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy at the 
end of the reporting period during which the change has occurred. 
 
Further information about the assumptions made in measuring fair values is included 
in the following notes to financial statements: 
 
▪ Note 3 -  Significant Judgments, Accounting Estimates and Assumptions 
▪ Note 6 -  Investments in Quoted Shares 
▪ Note 10 - Investment Properties 
▪ Note 13 - Investment in Unquoted Shares under “Other Noncurrent Assets” 
▪ Note 27 - Fair Values of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities 
 
Real Estate Inventories 
Real estate inventories include properties being constructed for sale in the ordinary 
course of business rather than to be held for rent or capital appreciation. Real estate 
inventories are initially measured at cost. Subsequently, real state inventories are stated 
at the lower of cost and net realizable value (NRV). 
 
Costs include the acquisition cost of the land plus costs incurred for development and 
improvement of the properties. NRV is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course 
of business, based on market prices at the reporting date, less estimated costs of 
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale. Cost represents price 
using specific identification method. 
 
Repossessed property arising from sales cancellation is recognized at cost.  The 
difference between the carrying amount of the receivable or contract asset to be 
derecognized plus any amount to be refunded to customers and the cost of the 
repossessed property is recognized in the separate statements of comprehensive 
income. 
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When the NRV of the inventories is lower than the cost, the Company provides for an 
allowance for the decline in the value of inventories and recognizes the write-down 
as an expense in profit or loss.  The amount of  any reversal  of any write-down of  
inventories, arising  from  an  increase in NRV,  is recognized as a reduction in the 
amount of inventories recognized as an expense in the period in which the reversal 
occurs.  When inventories are sold or used in operations, the carrying amount of 
those inventories is recognized as an expense in the period in which the related 
revenue is recognized. 
 
Creditable Withholding Taxes (CWTs) 
CWTs represent the amount withheld by the Company’s customers in relation to its
income. CWTs can be carried forward to the succeeding year when in excess of 
income tax payable and utilized as payment for income taxes provided that these are 
properly supported with certificates of creditable tax withheld at source. CWTs are 
stated at face amount less any impairment in value. 
 
Value-added Tax (VAT) 
Revenue, expenses, and assets are recognized net of the amount of VAT, if 
applicable.  Input VAT pertains to the 12% indirect tax paid by the Company in the 
course of the Company’s trade or business on local purchase of goods or services.
Deferred input VAT pertains to input VAT on accumulated purchases of property and 
equipment.  This is amortized over five (5) years or the life of the property and 
equipment, whichever is shorter, in accordance with the Bureau of Internal Revenue 
(BIR) regulation.  Output VAT pertains to the 12% tax due on the local sale of goods 
and services by the Company. 
 
When VAT from sales of goods and/or services (output VAT) exceeds VAT passed 
on from purchases of goods or services (input VAT), the excess is recognized as 
payable in the separate statements of financial position.  When input VAT exceeds 
output VAT, the excess is recognized as an asset in the separate statements of 
financial position to the extent of the recoverable amount. 
 
Investments in Subsidiaries 
A subsidiary is an entity in which the Company has control. The Company has 
control over an investee when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its 
involvement with that investee; and when it has the ability to affect those returns. An 
investment in a subsidiary is accounted for at cost, including transaction costs, less 
impairment losses, if any. The Company recognizes income from the investments 
when its right to receive dividend is established. The Company accounts for its 
investments in subsidiaries at cost. When the Company loses control over a 
subsidiary, any interest retained in the former subsidiary is measured at fair value. 
 
Investment Properties 
Investment properties are properties held either to earn rental income or for capital 
appreciation or both, but not for sale in the ordinary course of business or for 
administrative purposes. 
 
Building and building improvements, except land and construction-in-progress (CIP), 
are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment in value. 
Land is stated at cost less any impairment in value. The carrying amount includes 
the cost of replacing part of an existing investment property at the time that cost is 
incurred if the recognition criteria are met and excludes the costs of day-to-day 
servicing of an investment property. 
 
 
 
 



- 14 -

CIP represents property equipment under construction and is recognized at cost. 
This includes cost of construction and other direct costs. CIP is not depreciated until
such time that the relevant assets are completed and available for operational use 
but is tested for impairment. 
 
Depreciation and amortization are calculated on a straight-line basis over the 
estimated useful life (EUL) of 30 years. 
 
The EUL and depreciation method are reviewed periodically to ensure that these are 
consistent with the expected pattern of economic benefits from items of investment 
properties. 
 
Transfers are made to investment properties when, and only when, there is a change
in use, evidenced by the end of owner-occupation or commencement of an operating 
lease to another party. Transfers are made from investment properties when, and 
only when, there is a change in use, evidenced by the commencement of owner-
occupation or commencement of development with a view to sell. 
 
Investment properties are derecognized when either these have been disposed of or 
when the investment properties are permanently withdrawn from use and no future 
economic benefit is expected from its disposal. Any gains or losses on the retirement 
or disposal of investment properties are recognized in profit or loss in the year of 
retirement or disposal. 
 
Property and Equipment 
Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any 
impairment in value. 
 
The initial cost of property and equipment comprises its purchase price, after 
deducting trade discounts and rebates, and any directly attributable costs of bringing 
the asset to its working condition and location for its intended use. 
 
Expenditures incurred after the property and equipment have been put into 
operation, such as repairs, maintenance and overhaul costs, are normally 
recognized in profit or loss in the year the costs are incurred. In situations where it 
can be clearly demonstrated that the expenditures have resulted in an increase in 
the future economic benefits expected to be obtained from the use of an item of 
property and equipment beyond its originally assessed standard of performance, the 
expenditures are capitalized as additional costs of property and equipment. The cost 
of replacing a component of an item of property and equipment is recognized if it is 
probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the component will flow 
to the Company, and its cost can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the 
replaced component is derecognized. 
 
When significant parts of an item of property and equipment have different useful 
lives, these are accounted for as separate items (major components) of property and 
equipment. 
 
Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the EUL of the property and 
equipment: 
 

Asset Type EUL 

Office furniture, fixtures and equipment 3 to 5 years 
Transportation and other equipment 5 years 
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The EUL and depreciation method are reviewed periodically to ensure that these are 
consistent with the expected pattern of economic benefits from items of property and 
equipment.  Any change in the expected EUL and methods of deprecation are 
adjusted prospectively from the time the change was determined necessary.  
 
Fully depreciated assets are retained in the accounts until they are no longer in use 
and no further charge for depreciation is made in respect of those assets. 
 
When assets are retired or otherwise disposed of, the cost and the related 
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses are removed from the 
accounts. Any resulting gain or loss from the retirement or disposal of property and 
equipment (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the 
carrying amount of the item) is recognized in profit or loss in the year the item is 
derecognized. 
 
Impairment of Nonfinancial Assets 
The carrying amounts of nonfinancial assets, other than inventories and deferred 
income tax assets, are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. If any such 
indication exists and when the carrying amounts exceed the estimated recoverable 
amounts, the assets or cash-generating units (CGUs) are written-down to their 
recoverable amounts. The recoverable amount of the asset is the greater of the fair 
value less costs of disposal and its value in use. Fair value less costs of disposal is 
the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an 
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date, less costs 
of disposal. Value in use is the present value of the future cash flows expected to be 
derived from an asset or CGU. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash 
flows are discounted to their present value using a pretax discount rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the 
asset. For an asset that does not generate largely independent cash inflows, the 
recoverable amount is determined for the CGU to which the asset belongs. 
Impairment losses are recognized in profit or loss. 
 
An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication 
that previously recognized impairment losses may no longer exist or may have 
decreased. If such indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A 
previously recognized impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in 
the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last
impairment loss was recognized. In such instance, the carrying amount of the asset 
is increased to its recoverable amount. However, that increased amount cannot 
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined (net of depreciation 
for investment properties and property and equipment) had no impairment loss been 
recognized for the asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognized in profit or loss. 
After such reversal, the depreciation is adjusted in future years to allocate the asset’s
revised carrying amount, on a systematic basis over its remaining useful life. 
 
Employee Benefits 
Short-term Benefits  
Short-term employee benefits are recognized as an expense in the period when the 
economic benefits are given. Unpaid benefits at the end of the accounting period are 
recognized as accrued expense while benefits paid in advance are recognized as 
prepayment to the extent that it will lead to a reduction in future payments. Short-
term benefits given by the Company to its employees include salaries and wages, 
social security contributions, short-term compensated absences and non-monetary 
benefits. 
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Retirement Benefits 
The retirement benefit costs are actuarially determined using the projected unit credit 
method. This method reflects services rendered by employees to the date of 
valuation and incorporates assumptions concerning employees’ projected salaries.
The calculation of defined benefit liability is performed by a qualified actuary. 
 
The Company recognizes current service costs, past service costs and interest 
expense on the retirement benefits liability in profit or loss. Interest expense is 
calculated by applying the discount rate to measure the retirement benefits liability at 
the beginning of the annual period to the then retirement benefit liability, taking into 
account any changes in the defined obligation during the period as a result of 
contributions and benefit payments. 
 
Remeasurements of retirement benefits liability, which comprise actuarial gains and 
losses, the return on plan assets (excluding interest) and the effect of the asset 
ceiling (if any, excluding interest), are recognized immediately in OCI.  
Remeasurements are not reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods. 
 
Plan assets are assets that are held in trust and managed by a trustee bank. Plan 
assets are not available to the creditors of the Company, nor can they be paid 
directly to the Company. The fair value of the plan assets is based on the market 
price information. When no market price is available, the fair value of plan assets is 
estimated by discounting expected future cash flows using a discount rate that 
reflects both the risk associated with the plan assets and the maturity or expected 
disposal date of those assets (or, if they have no maturity, the expected period until 
the settlement of the related obligations). If the fair value of the plan assets is higher 
than the present value of the defined benefit obligation, the measurement of the 
resulting defined benefit asset is limited to the present value of economic benefits 
available in the form of refunds from the plan or reductions in future contributions to 
the plan. 
 
The net retirement benefits liability recognized by the Company is the present value 
of the defined benefit obligation reduced by the fair value of plan assets. The present 
value of defined benefit obligation is determined by discounting the estimated future 
cash outflows using risk-free interest rates of government bonds that have terms to 
maturity approximating the terms of the related retirement benefits liability. 
 
Actuarial valuations are made with sufficient regularity so that the amounts 
recognized in the financial statements do not differ materially from the amounts that 
would be determined at the reporting date. 
 
Equity 
Capital Stock and Additional Paid-in Capital  
Capital stock and additional paid-in capital are classified as equity. Capital stock is 
recognized as issued when the stock is paid for or subscribed under a binding 
subscription agreement and is measured at par value. The transaction costs incurred 
as a necessary part of completing an equity transaction are accounted for as a part 
of that transaction and are deducted from additional paid-in capital, net of related tax 
benefits. 
 
When the shares are sold at premium, the difference between the proceeds and the 
par value is credited to “Additional paid-in capital” (APIC) account. 
 
Retained Earnings 
Retained earnings represent the cumulative balance of periodic net income, dividend 
distributions, prior period adjustments and effect of changes in accounting policy and 
capital adjustments. 
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Dividends are recognized as a liability and deducted from retained earnings when 
declared and approved by the BOD and, where required, by the stockholders and 
relevant regulatory authorities.  Dividends for the year that are declared and 
approved after the reporting date, if any, are dealt with as an event after the reporting 
date and disclosed accordingly. 
 
OCI  
This pertains to the cumulative unrealized fair value losses on financial assets at 
FVOCI and cumulative remeasurement gains on the Company’s net retirement
benefits liability arising from experience adjustments and changes in financial 
assumptions. Unrealized fair value loss on financial assets at FVOCI and 
remeasurement of net retirement benefits liability, and the corresponding deferred 
income tax component of the remeasurement of net retirement benefits liability, are 
recognized immediately in OCI and are included in equity. These are not reclassified 
to profit or loss in subsequent periods. 
 
Treasury Stock 
Own equity instruments which are reacquired are recognized at cost and are 
deducted from equity. No gain or loss is recognized in profit or loss on the purchase, 
sale, issue or cancellation of the Company’s own equity instruments. Any difference
between the carrying amount and the consideration, if reissued, is recognized in 
additional paid-in capital. Voting rights related to treasury stock are nullified for the 
Company and no dividends are allocated to them. When the shares are retired, the 
capital stock account is reduced by its par value and the excess of cost over par 
value upon retirement is debited to APIC to the extent of the specific APIC when the 
shares are issued and to retained earnings for the remaining balance. The retained 
earnings account is restricted to payment of dividends to the extent of the cost of 
treasury shares. 
 
Revenue Recognition 
The Company generates revenue primarily from real estate sales. Other revenue 
sources include rental income from investment properties, management fees and 
income from investing activities. 
 
Revenue from Contracts with Customers 
Revenue from contracts with customers is recognized when control of the goods and 
services are transferred to the customer at an amount that reflects the consideration to 
which the Company expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods and services.   
 
The Company also assesses its revenue arrangements to determine if it is acting as 
a principal or as an agent. The Company has assessed that it acts as a principal in 
all of its revenue arrangements. 
 
The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is 
recognized: 
 
▪ Real Estate Sales 

The Company assesses whether it is probable that the economic benefits will 
flow to the Company when the contract price is collectible. Collectibility of the 
contract price is demonstrated by the buyer’s commitment to pay, which is
supported by the buyer’s initial and continuous investments that motivate the
buyer to honor its obligation. Collectibility is also assessed by considering factors 
such as collections and credit standing of the buyer. Management regularly 
evaluates the historical sales cancellation and back-outs, if it would still support 
its current threshold of buyer’s equity before commencing revenue recognition. 
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The Company derives its real estate revenue from sale of house, condominium 
unit and parking slot. Revenue from sales of completed real estate projects is 
accounted for using the full accrual method. 
 
Revenue for real estate sales for completed real estate projects is recognized at 
a point in time, when control is transferred. The control is transferred when the 
customer has accepted the asset and the customer acceptance of an asset may 
indicate that it has obtained the ability to direct the use of, and obtain 
substantially all of the remaining benefits from, the asset. 
 
Pending recognition of sale, cash received from buyers are presented as 
“Contract liabilities” account in the separate statements of financial position. 
Collections for processing of deed of sale and other documents necessary in 
transferring titles to real estate buyers are presented as “Deposits for document
processing” under “Accounts and other payables” account in the separate 
statements of financial position.  

 
▪ Management Fees 

Management fees are recognized when related services are rendered. 
 
Revenue from Other Sources 
Revenue from other sources is recognized as follows: 
 
▪ Rental Income 

Rental income is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term.  
 
▪ Dividend Income 

Dividend income is recognized on the date when the Company’s right to receive 
payment is established, which is generally when shareholders approve the 
dividend. 

 
▪ Interest Income 

Interest income on financial assets at amortized cost calculated using the EIR 
method is recognized as interest income under revenue. Interest income is 
calculated by applying the EIR to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset 
except for financial assets that subsequently become credit-impaired. For credit-impaired 
financial assets, the EIR is applied to the net carrying amount of the financial 
asset (after deduction of the loss allowance). Interest income is presented as 
such where it is earned from financial assets that are held for cash management 
purposes. Any other interest income is included in other income. 

 
Other Income 
The Company’s other sources of income, which are mainly from gains on disposal of
assets, contract cancellations and forfeitures, surcharges, and other fees, are 
recognized as income when earned.  Income from forfeitures (e.g, collections) is 
recognized upon default of potential buyers, subject to the provisions of Republic Act 
(RA) No. 6552, Realty Installment Buyer Protection Act, upon prescription of the 
period for the payment of required amortizations from defaulting buyers. 
 
Contract Balances 
Receivables  
A receivable represents the Company’s right to an amount of consideration that is
unconditional (i.e., only the passage of time is required before payment of the 
consideration is due). 
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Contract Assets 
A contract asset is the right to a consideration in exchange for goods or services 
transferred to a customer. If the Company performs by transferring goods or services 
to a customer before the customer pays a consideration or before payment is due, a 
contract asset is recognized for the earned consideration that is conditional. 
 
As at December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company does not have outstanding 
contract assets.   
 
Contract Liabilities 
A contract liability is the obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer for 
which the Company has received a consideration (or an amount of consideration is 
due) from the customer. If a customer pays a consideration before the Company 
transfers goods or services to the customer, a contract liability is recognized when 
the payment is made by the customer or when the payment is due (whichever is 
earlier). Contract liabilities are recognized as revenue as the Company performs its 
obligation under the contract. Contract liabilities also include payments received by 
the Company from customers for which revenue recognition has not yet commenced. 
 
As at December 31, 2024 and 2023, the balances of contract liabilities are disclosed 
in Note 14. 
 
Cost to Obtain a Contract 
If the Company expects to recover the incremental costs of obtaining a contract with 
a customer, the costs are recognized as an asset. The Company has determined 
that commissions paid to brokers and marketing agents on the sale of pre-completed 
real estate units are deferred when recovery is reasonably expected and are charged 
to expense in the period in which the related revenue is recognized as earned. 
Commission expense is included in the “Selling and Administrative Expenses”
account in the separate statements of comprehensive income. Costs incurred prior to
obtaining contract with customer are not capitalized but are expensed as incurred. 
 
Contract Fulfillment Asset 
Contract fulfillment costs are divided into: (i) costs that give rise to an asset; and  
(ii) costs that are expensed as incurred. When determining the appropriate 
accounting treatment for such costs, the Company first considers any other 
applicable standards. If those standards preclude capitalization of a particular cost, 
then an asset is not recognized under PFRS 15. If other standards are not applicable 
to contract fulfillment costs, the Company applies the following criteria which, if met, 
result in capitalization: (i) the costs directly relate to a contract or to a specifically 
identifiable anticipated contract; (ii) the costs generate or enhance resources of the 
entity that will be used in satisfying (or in continuing to satisfy) performance 
obligations in the future; and (iii) the costs are expected to be recovered. The 
assessment of these criteria requires the application of judgment, in particular when 
considering if costs generate or enhance resources to be used to satisfy future 
performance obligations and whether costs are expected to be recoverable. 
 
As at December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company does not have cost to obtain a 
contract and contract fulfillment asset. 
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Cost and Expense Recognition 
Costs and expenses are recognized in profit or loss when a decrease in future 
economic benefits related to a decrease in an asset or an increase in a liability has 
arisen that can be measured reliably. Cost and expenses are recognized in profit or 
loss on the basis of: (i) a direct association between the costs incurred and the 
earning of specific items of income; (ii) systematic and rational allocation procedures 
when economic benefits are expected to arise over several accounting periods and 
the association with income can only be broadly or indirectly determined; or  
(iii) immediately when an expenditure produces no future economic benefits or when, 
and to the extent that, future economic benefits do not quality or cease to qualify for 
recognition in the separate statements of financial position as an asset. 
 
Cost of Real Estate Sales 
Cost of real estate sales is recognized in profit or loss upon sale and is determined 
with reference to the specific costs incurred on the property, allocated to saleable 
areas based on relative size and takes into account the percentage of completion 
used for revenue recognition purposes. 
 
Selling and Administrative Expenses 
Selling expenses are costs incurred to sell and market the goods.  Administrative 
expenses constitute costs of administering the business activities of the Company. 
These are recognized as expenses in the period when these are incurred. 
 
Foreign Currency Transactions and Translation 
Transactions in currencies other than functional currency of the entities included in 
the Company are initially recorded using the exchange rate on the dates of the 
transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than 
the functional currencies of the entities in the Company are retranslated at the rates 
prevailing at the end of the reporting date period. Gains or losses arising from 
retranslation are recognized in profit or loss in the period in which they arise. Foreign 
currency gains and losses are reported on a net basis. 
 
For income tax reporting purposes, foreign exchange gains or losses are treated as 
taxable income or deductible expenses in the year such are realized. 
 
Leases 
The Company assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a 
lease. To assess whether a contract conveys the right to control the use of an 
identified assets for a period of time, the Company assesses whether, throughout the 
period of use, it has both of the following: 
 
i. the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from the use of the 

identified asset; and 
 
ii. the right to direct the use of the identified asset. 
 
If the Company has the right to control the use of an identified asset for only a 
portion of the term of the contract, the contract contains a lease for that portion of the 
term. 
 
The Company also assesses whether a contract contains a lease for each potential 
separate lease component. 
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Leases where the Company retains substantially all the risks and benefits of 
ownership of the asset are classified as operating leases. Initial direct costs incurred 
in negotiating an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased 
asset and recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term on the same basis 
as rental income. Contingent rents are recognized as revenue in the period in which 
these are earned. 
 
Company as a Lessor 
Leases where the Company does not transfer substantially all the risks and benefits 
of ownership of the assets are classified as operating leases.  In determining 
significant risks and benefits of ownership, the Company considers, among others, 
the significance of the lease term as compared with the EUL of the related asset. 
Rental income is recognized over the lease term on a straight-line basis, unless 
another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which use 
benefit is derived. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating an operating lease are 
added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognized over the lease term
on the same bases as rental income. 
 
The Company requires its tenants to pay leasehold rights pertaining to the right to 
use the leased unit which is reported under “Security deposits” in the separate 
statements of financial position. These are refundable to the lessee at the end of the 
lease term, but may be forfeited, in which case recognized as “Other Income” in the
separate statements of comprehensive income. 
 
Income Taxes 
Income tax expense comprises current income tax and deferred income tax.  Income 
tax expense is recognized in profit or loss, except to the extent that it relates to items 
recognized directly in equity or in OCI, in which case it is recognized in equity or OCI. 
 
Current Income Tax 
Current income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be 
recovered from or paid to the tax authority. The tax rates and tax laws used to 
compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted at the 
reporting date. 
 
Deferred Income Tax 
Deferred income tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary 
differences at the reporting date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and 
their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes. 
 
Deferred income tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences. 
Deferred income tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences 
and carryforward benefits of unused net operating loss carryover (NOLCO) and 
unused tax credits from the excess minimum corporate income tax (MCIT) over 
regular corporate income tax (RCIT), to the extent that it is probable that future 
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences 
and carryforward benefits of NOLCO and excess MCIT over RCIT can be utilized 
within the period allowed by the tax regulations. 
 
The carrying amount of a deferred income tax asset is reviewed at each reporting 
date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient future 
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred income tax asset to 
be utilized within the period allowed by the tax regulations. Unrecognized deferred 
income tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and are recognized to the 
extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow all or part of the 
deferred income tax assets to be recovered. 
 



- 22 -

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rate and tax law 
that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realized or the liability is 
settled, based on the tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted by the reporting date.   
 
The Company determines whether to consider each uncertain tax treatment 
separately or together with one or more other uncertain tax treatments and uses the 
approach that better predicts the resolution of the uncertainty. The income tax effects 
from an uncertain tax position are recognized when it is not probable that the position 
will be accepted based on its technical merits and assuming that the tax authorities 
will examine the uncertain tax treatments and have full knowledge of all relevant 
information.  They are measured by either determining the single most likely amount 
or the sum of the probability-weighted amounts in a range of possible outcomes 
depending on which method the Company expects to better predict the resolution of
the uncertainty. It is measured using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at 
the reporting date. 
 
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable 
right to set-off current tax liabilities and assets, and they relate to income taxes levied 
by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, and they intend to settle 
current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be 
realized simultaneously. 
 
Provisions 
Provisions are recognized when the Company has a present obligation (legal or 
constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources 
embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable 
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. If the effect of the time value 
of money is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future 
cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessment of the time value 
of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. Where discounting 
is used, the increase due to the passage of time is recognized as interest expense. 
 
Provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to reflect the current 
best estimate. 
 
Contingencies 
Contingent liabilities are not recognized in the separate financial statements. These 
are disclosed in the notes to separate financial statements unless the possibility of 
an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is remote. Contingent assets 
are not recognized in the separate financial statements but are disclosed in the notes 
to separate financial statements when an inflow of economic benefits is probable. 
Contingent assets are assessed continually to ensure that developments are 
appropriately reflected in the separate financial statements.  If it has become virtually 
certain that an inflow of economic benefits will arise, the asset and the related 
income are recognized in the separate financial statements on the period in which 
the change occurs. 
 
Events After the Reporting Date 
Post year-end events up to the date of the auditor’s report that provide additional
information about the Company’s unconsolidated financial position as at the 
reporting date (adjusting events) are reflected in the separate financial statements. 
Post year-end events that are not adjusting events are disclosed in the notes to 
separate financial statements when material. 
 
 
 



- 23 -

3. Significant Judgments, Accounting Estimates and Assumptions 
 
The preparation of the Company’s separate financial statements requires
management to make judgments and estimates that affect the amounts reported in 
the separate financial statements and accompanying notes. The judgments and 
estimates used in the separate financial statements are based on management’s
evaluation of relevant facts and circumstances as at the reporting date. 
 
While the Company believes that the assumptions are reasonable and appropriate, 
significant differences in the actual experience or significant changes in the 
assumptions may materially affect the estimated amounts. Actual results could differ 
from such estimates. 
 
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. 
Changes in accounting estimates are recognized in the year in which the estimate is 
revised if the change affects only that year or in the year of the revision and future 
years if the change affects both current and future years. 
 
The Company believes that the following represent a summary of these significant 
judgments, estimates and assumptions and the related impact and associated risks 
in the separate financial statements: 
 
Classifying Financial Instruments 
The classification of a financial instrument largely depends on the Company’s
business model and its contractual cash flow characteristics. 
 
Management has determined that the Company’s investments in quoted shares are
acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the near term; hence, the Company 
classified its investment as financial asset at FVTPL. 
 
Management has determined that the Company’s investment in unquoted shares is
to be held indefinitely and will be sold in response to liquidity requirements; hence, 
the Company classified its investment as financial asset at FVOCI. 
 
Evaluating and Assessing Control over Investee  
The Company refers to the guidance in PFRS 10 when determining whether the 
Company controls an investee. Particularly, the Company controls an investee when 
it is exposed, or has the rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the 
investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the 
investee. The Company considers the purpose and design of the investee, its 
relevant activities and how decisions about those activities are made and whether 
the rights give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities. 
 
The Company controls an investee if and only if it has all the following: 
 
a. power over the investee; 

 
b. exposure or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee, and  

 
c. the ability to use its power over the investee to affect the amount of the investor’s

return. 
 
Ownership interest in CCPC represents 48%.  Management has determined that the 
Company has control over the financial and operating policies of CCPC through 
representation on the BOD of CCPC. Accordingly, CCPC is considered as a 
subsidiary. 
 



- 24 -

Distinction Between Real Estate Inventories, Property and Equipment and 
Investment Properties 

The Company determines whether a property is classified as real estate inventories, 
investment properties, or property and equipment by considering whether the 
property is occupied substantially for use by or in operations of the Company; for 
sale in the normal operating cycle; or held primarily to earn rental income and capital 
appreciation. 
 
Real estate inventories comprise condominium units and residential properties that 
are held for sale in the ordinary course of business.  Principally, these are properties 
that the Company develops and intends to sell before or on completion of 
construction. 
 
Investment properties consist of properties which are not occupied substantially for 
use by, or in the operations of, the Company, nor for sale in the ordinary course of 
business, but are held primarily to earn rental income and capital appreciation. 
 
Property and equipment are tangible items that are held for use in the delivering or 
supply of goods or services and are expected to be used for more than one period. 
These are properties which are owner-occupied and are substantially for use of the 
Company or in the operations. 
 
Classifying Lease Commitment 
The Company has entered into lease agreements for its office building and 
condominium units and parking slots. The Company has determined, based on the 
evaluation of terms and conditions of agreement, that the lessor retains all the 
significant risks and benefits of ownership related to the leased properties. 
Accordingly, the agreements are accounted for as operating leases. 
 
The amount of rental income is disclosed in Note 18 and 25. 
 
Assessing ECL of Financial Assets 
While cash and cash equivalents, refundable deposits and construction bond are 
also subject to the impairment requirements of PFRS 9, the assessed impairment 
loss is not material. 
 
▪ Receivables (Excluding Installment Contracts Receivable) 

The Company applies the simplified approach in measuring ECL which uses a 
lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade receivables. To measure the ECL, 
trade receivables have been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics 
and the days past due. 
 
The expected loss rates are initially based on the Company’s historical default
rates. These historical default rates are adjusted to reflect current and forward-
looking information on macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the 
customers to settle the receivables. The Company has identified macroeconomic 
factors that are relevant, and accordingly adjusts the historical loss rates based 
on expected changes in these factors. 
 

▪ Installment Contracts Receivable and Other Financial Assets at Amortized Cost 
The Company applies the general approach in measuring ECL which uses a 12-
month or lifetime ECL for all installment contracts receivable and other financial 
assets at amortized cost. To measure the ECL, these have been grouped based 
on shared credit risk characteristics and the days past due. 
 
 
 



- 25 -

The information on the number of defaults during fixed time intervals of the 
accounts is utilized to create the probability model. It allows the evaluation of the 
loan activity from its origination period until the end of the contract period. These are 
discounted back to the time of default (i.e., is defined by the Company as upon 
cancellation of contract to sell) using the appropriate effective interest rate, usually 
being the original EIR or an approximation thereof.  
 
As part of the analysis, the management considers any credit enhancement such 
as collaterals or security; whereas if the carrying value of the installment contract 
receivable exceeds the fair value of the credit enhancement, the ECL is recognized; 
otherwise, it will not be taken up.  

 
The assessment of the correlation between historical default rates, forecast 
economic conditions and ECL involves estimation uncertainty. The amount of ECL is 
sensitive to changes in circumstances and of forecast economic conditions. The 
Company’s historical credit loss experience and forecast of economic conditions may
also not be representative of customer’s actual default in the future. 
 
The information about the ECL on the Company’s financial assets at amortized cost
is disclosed in Note 26. The amount of impairment loss on receivables is disclosed in 
Note 7. The carrying amounts of these financial assets are disclosed in Notes 4, 7, 9 
and 13. 
 
Estimating Fair Value of Financial Instruments 
When the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded or disclosed 
in the separate statements of financial position cannot be measured based on 
quoted prices in active markets, their fair value is determined using internal valuation 
techniques using generally accepted market valuation models.  Valuation may 
involve inputs that may require a degree of judgment when establishing fair values. 
These estimates may include considerations of inputs such as liquidity risk, credit 
risk and volatility. Changes in assumptions relating to these factors could affect the 
reported fair value of financial instruments. 
 
The information on fair value measurement of financial assets and liabilities is 
disclosed in Note 27. 
 
Evaluation of NRV of Real Estate Inventories 
The Company determines the NRV of real estate inventories annually in accordance 
with the accounting policy stated in Note 2. In determining the NRV, the Company 
considers the current selling price of the real estate inventories for sale, with 
reference to market conditions and prices existing at the reporting date, less 
estimated costs to complete and sell. The Company writes down the carrying amount 
of the real estate inventories when the NRV becomes lower than the carrying 
amount. The amount and timing of recorded expenses foy any period would differ if 
different judgments were made or different estimates were utilized. 
 
The amount of real estate inventories carried at the lower of cost and NRV is 
disclosed in Note 8. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



- 26 -

Estimating the Useful Lives of Investment Properties and Property and Equipment. 
The useful lives of the Company’s investment properties (excluding land and CIP)
and property and equipment are estimated based on the period over which the 
assets are expected to be available for use. Such estimate is based on a collective 
assessment of industry practices, internal technical valuation and experience with 
similar assets. The EUL of each asset is reviewed periodically and updated if 
expectations differ from previous estimates due to physical wear and tear, technical 
or commercial obsolescence, and legal or other limitations on the use of the assets. 
It is possible, however, that future results of operations could be materially affected 
by changes in estimates brought about by changes in these factors and 
circumstances. The amounts and timing of recorded expenses for any period would 
be affected by changes in these factors and circumstances. A reduction in the 
estimated useful life of any property and equipment would increase the recorded 
operating expenses and decrease noncurrent assets. 
 
There were no changes in the EUL of these assets in 2024 and 2023. The carrying 
amounts of investment properties and property and equipment are disclosed in 
Notes 10 and 11, respectively. 
 
Determining the Fair Value of Investment Properties 
Investment properties are measured at cost but fair values are disclosed. The 
Company engaged external qualified appraiser to determine the fair value of its 
investment properties. The fair values of investment properties were based on the 
valuation performed in 2024 using appropriate valuation techniques. The fair values 
were determined using market data approach. Market data approach involves the 
comparison of the land to those that are more or less located within the vicinity of the 
appraised property and are subject of recent sales and offerings. If there is limited 
data within the area, the independent appraiser considers the expansion of the 
research on properties considered comparable. Adjustments were made to arrive at 
the market value by considering the location, size, shape, utility, desirability and time 
element. The valuation techniques and inputs used in the fair value measurement of 
investment properties are disclosed in Note 10 to the separate financial statements. 
 
The latest independent appraiser’s report was as at December 31, 2024. 
 
For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Company has determined the nature, 
characteristics and risks of the investment properties and the level of the fair value 
hierarchy. 
 
Details of investment properties are disclosed in Note 10 to the separate financial 
statements. 
 
Impairment Assessment of Nonfinancial Assets 
The Company assesses impairment on its nonfinancial assets, other than real estate 
inventories and deferred income tax assets, whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the assets or group of assets may 
not be recoverable. The relevant factors that the Company considers in deciding 
whether to perform an asset impairment review include the following: 
 
▪ significant underperformance of a business in relation to expectations; 
 
▪ significant negative industry or economic trends; 
 
▪ significant changes or planned changes in the use of the assets; and 
 
▪ obsolescence or physical damage of an asset; 
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Whenever the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, an 
impairment loss is recognized. Recoverable amounts are estimated for individual 
assets or, if it is not possible, for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. 
Recoverable amount represents the greater of the fair value less costs of disposal 
and the value in use. 
 
No provision for impairment loss was recognized on the Company’s nonfinancial 
assets in 2024, 2023 and 2022. Allowance for losses on and carrying amount of 
investment properties are disclosed in Note 10. Reversal of allowance for impairment 
losses on investments in subsidiaries in 2022 is disclosed in Note 12. The carrying 
amounts of the Company’s property and equipment, investments in subsidiaries, and
other assets (excluding construction bond and refundable deposits) are disclosed in 
Notes 9, 11, 12 and 13. 
 
Estimating Retirement Benefits Liability 
The cost of defined benefit retirement plan and the present value of the retirement 
benefit obligations are determined using actual valuations. The actuarial valuation 
involves making various assumptions which include the determination of the discount 
rates, future salary increases and mortality rates, among others. Due to the 
complexity of the valuation, the underlying assumptions and its long-term nature, 
defined benefit obligations are highly sensitive to changes in these assumptions. All 
assumptions are reviewed at each reporting date. 
 
In determining the appropriate discount rate, management considers the interest 
rates of government bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the 
benefits will be paid, with extrapolated maturities corresponding to the expected 
duration of the defined benefit obligation. The mortality rate is based on 1994 Group 
Annuity Mortality Table and is modified accordingly with estimates of mortality 
improvements. Future salary increases are based on expected future inflation rates. 
 
While the Company believes that the assumptions are reasonable and appropriate, 
significant changes in assumptions could materially affect the cost of employee 
benefits and related obligations. 
 
The amount of retirement benefits costs recognized and the carrying amount of net 
retirement benefits liability are disclosed in Note 15. 
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Assessing Recoverability of Deferred Income Tax Assets 
The Company reviews its deferred income tax assets at each reporting date and 
reduces the deferred income tax assets to the extent that it is no longer probable that 
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred income tax 
assets to be utilized. The deferred income tax assets include an amount which 
relates to the carried forward tax losses, excess MCIT over RCIT and other 
deductible temporary differences of the Company and its subsidiaries. The Company 
and its subsidiaries have incurred tax losses and excess MCIT over RCIT.  The 
carried forward tax losses and excess MCIT over RCIT have an expiration of three 
years from the taxable year when such tax losses were incurred, except for losses 
incurred in 2020 and 2021 which have an expiration of five years from the year they 
were incurred.   However, the Company has concluded that they will not benefit from 
the said tax losses and excess MCIT over RCIT before they eventually expire. 
Deferred income tax assets were recognized only up to the extent of forecasted 
taxable income in subsequent periods.  Each forecast was based on each of the 
Company and the subsidiaries’ past results and future expectations of revenue and
expenses. The Company has unrecognized deferred income tax assets in respect of 
its net operating loss carryover (NOLCO) and excess MCIT over RCIT disclosed in 
Note 24. The outcomes within the next financial year with respect to the results of 
operations of the Company that are different from the assumption could require a 
material adjustment to the carrying amount of the Company’s deferred income tax
assets. 
 
The amounts of recognized and unrecognized deferred tax assets are disclosed in  
Note 24. 
 
Real Estate Revenue Recognition 
▪ Assessing Existence of a Contract 

The Company’s primary document for a contract with a customer is a signed
Contract to Sell and Deed of Absolute Sale. The Company has determined that 
the combination of the other signed documentations such as reservation 
application, official receipts, buyers’ computation sheets and invoices, would
contain all the criteria to qualify as contract with the customer under PFRS 15. 
 
Management also considers the selling prices of the real estate property and 
other fees and charges collected from the buyers that are not held on behalf of 
other parties in determining the transaction price. 

 
▪ Assessing Revenue Recognition Threshold 

Part of the Company’s assessment process before revenue recognition is to
assess the probability that the Company will collect the consideration to which it 
will be entitled in exchange for the real estate property that will be transferred to 
the customer. Collectability of the sales price is demonstrated by the buyer’s
commitment to pay, which in turn is supported by substantial initial and 
continuing investments that give the buyer a stake in the property sufficient that 
the risk of loss through default motivates the buyer to honor its obligation to the 
seller. Collectability is also assessed by considering factors such as past history 
with the buyer, and the pricing of the property. Management regularly evaluates 
the historical sales cancellations and back-outs if it would still support its current 
threshold of buyer’s equity before commencing revenue recognition. 
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Contingencies 
The Company is a party to certain lawsuits or claims arising from the ordinary course 
of business. However, the Company’s management and legal counsel believe that
the eventual liabilities under these lawsuits or claims, if any, will not have a material 
effect on the separate financial statements. Accordingly, no liability for probable 
losses arising from contingencies was recognized in the separate financial 
statements as at December 31, 2024 and 2023. 
 
 

4. Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 
This account consists of: 
 
  2024 2023 

Cash in banks  P12,824,292 P83,178,242 
Short-term placements  472,198,864 493,427,496 

  P485,023,156 P576,605,738 

 
Cash in banks earn interest at prevailing bank deposit rates. Short-term placements 
are made for varying periods of between one day and three months depending on 
the immediate cash requirements of the Company, and earn interest at prevailing 
short-term placement rates. 
 
Interest income earned from cash in banks and cash equivalents amounted to  
P27.58 million, P25.34 million and P8.45 million in 2024, 2023, and 2022, 
respectively (see Note 23). 
 
The Company’s exposures to credit risk, interest rate risk and foreign currency risk 
related to cash and cash equivalents are disclosed in Note 26 to the separate 
financial statements. 
 
 

5. Short-term Investments 
 
Short-term investments amounting to P20.78 million and P4.00 million as at  
December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, pertain to Unit Investment Trust Fund 
(UITFs) investments that are convertible to cash and held to meet immediate cash 
requirements, complementing short-term placements. 
 
Unrealized gains on changes in fair value on short-term investments amounted to 
P0.03 million in 2024 and nil in 2023 and 2022. Redemption of the short-term 
investments resulted in a realized gain amounting to P1.05 million, P0.38 million, and 
P0.33 million in 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively (see Note 23). 
 
 

6. Investments in Quoted Shares 
 
This account pertains to marketable equity securities that are listed and traded in the 
PSE and foreign stock exchanges designated as financial assets at FVTPL. 
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The movements in the balance of investments in quoted shares are as follows: 
 
  Note 2024 2023 

Cost    
Balance at beginning of year  P54,834,397 P114,605,624 
Additions  13,059,466 6,305,096 
Withdrawals  (19,177,273) (66,076,323) 

Balance at end of year  48,716,590 54,834,397 

Accumulated Unrealized Fair Value 
Gains (Losses)    

Balance at beginning of year  6,097,123 12,546,445 
Changes in fair value 23 614,055 (6,449,322) 

Balance at end of year  6,711,178 6,097,123 

  P55,427,768 P60,931,520 

 
The fair values of the investments in quoted shares were determined based on the 
closing bid prices at the end of reporting period categorized under Level 1 of the fair 
value hierarchy (see Note 27). 
 
Unrealized gains (losses) on changes in fair value of investments in quoted shares 
resulted in unrealized gain amounting to P0.61 million, (P6.45 million) and  
P5.31 million in 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively (see Note 23). 
 
Sale of investments in quoted shares resulted in a realized gains (losses) amounting 
to P4.35 million and P12.28 million (P12.11 million) in 2024, 2023 and 2022, 
respectively (see Note 23). 
 
Dividend income from these securities amounted to P2.96 million, P4.22 million and 
P7.92 million in 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively (see Note 18). 
 
 

7. Receivables 
 
This account consists of: 
 
 Note 2024 2023 

Installment contracts receivable  P33,602,140 P48,194,476 
Loans receivable  10,032,911 10,295,375 
Receivables from real estate buyers  1,970,808 1,743,562 
Billed rentals 25 1,825,243 1,707,535 
Due from project developer  270,326 270,326 
Others  8,906,060 7,779,545 

  56,607,488 69,990,819 
Less allowance for impairment losses  2,091,089 2,091,089 

  54,516,399 67,899,730 

Less noncurrent portion of:    
Installment contracts receivable  25,519,380 38,470,836 
Noncurrent portion of loans receivable  9,753,007 10,032,911 

   P19,244,012 P19,395,983 
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Installment Contracts Receivable 
Installment contracts receivable pertain to real estate sales. These are collectible in 
various installment periods of between one to 15 years and earn interest at 10% to 
16% per annum. 
 
Interest income earned from installment contracts receivable amounted to  
P5.05 million, P7.20 million and P9.80 million in 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively. 
 
Receivable from Real Estate Buyers 
Receivable from real estate buyers includes processing fees paid by the Company 
that are necessary to transfer the title to the buyers which are chargeable to the 
buyers. 
 
Due from Project Developer 
Due from project developer relates to collections of installment receivables by the 
project developer which are not yet remitted to the Company. 
 
Loans Receivable 
In 2023, the Parent Company entered into a Loan and Security Agreement  
(the “Agreement”) with a third party (the “Borrower”). The loan has a term of 20 years
and is payable based on the scheduled payments defined in the Agreement, with an 
annual interest of 6.50% and is secured by a parcel of land (see Note 17). 
 
In 2022, the Company collected in full the loans receivable from a third party. The 
said loan bears interest at 10% per annum and was secured by a surety of an 
individual and pledged shares (common shares listed in the PSE) approximating 
200% of the loan amount. 
 
The movements in the loans receivable account are as follows: 
 
  2024 2023 

Balance at beginning of year  P10,295,375 P   -     
Collections  (262,464) (15,497) 
Loan granted during the year  -     10,310,872 

Balance at end of year  10,032,911 10,295,375 
Less current portion  279,904 262,464 

Noncurrent portion  P9,753,007 P10,032,911 

 
Interest income earned from loans receivable amounted to P0.66 million,  
P0.04 million and P1.00 million in 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively (see Note 23). 
 
Others 
Others pertain to pass-through expenses paid by the Company to be collected from 
the relevant third party. 
 
Allowance for Impairment Losses 
The movements in the allowance for impairment losses on receivables are as 
follows: 
 
 Note 2024 2023 

Balance at beginning of year  P2,091,089 P2,874,159 
Write-offs  -     (311,834) 
Reversals 23 -     (471,236) 

Balance at end of year  P2,091,089 P2,091,089 
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The Company’s exposure to credit risk related to receivables is disclosed in Note 26 
to the separate financial statements. 
 
 

8. Real Estate Inventories 
 
This account consists of: 
 
  2024 2023 

At cost:    
Houses   P11,605,354 P11,567,923 
Condominium units and parking slots  17,842,913 17,808,900 

  P29,448,267 P29,376,823 

 
Houses pertain to units in Palma Real Residential Estates with movements as 
follows:  
 
 Note 2024 2023 

Balance at beginning of year  P11,567,923 P12,630,687 
Construction costs  1,658,340 6,830,323 
Repossession from cancelled contracts  1,057,700 -     

  14,283,963 19,461,010 
Cost of houses sold 19 (2,678,609) (7,893,087) 

Balance at end of year  P11,605,354 P11,567,923 

 
Condominium units and parking slots pertain to units in Cypress Towers with 
movements as follows: 
 
 Note 2024 2023 

Balance at beginning of year  P17,808,900 P20,030,807 
Additions from renovations  34,013 121,057 
Cost of real estate sales 19 -     (1,495,181) 
Transfers to investment properties 10 -     (847,783) 

Balance at end of year  P17,842,913 P17,808,900 

 
Cost of real estate inventories recognized as expense is as follows: 
 
 Note 2024 2023 2022 

Houses 19 P2,678,609 P7,893,087 P15,600,472 
Condominium units and 

parking slots 19 -     1,495,181 4,506,887 

  P2,678,609 P9,388,268 P20,107,359 

 
No purchase commitments, liens and encumbrances pertaining to real estate 
inventories. 
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9. Other Current Assets 
 
This account consists of: 
 
  2024 2023 

Creditable withholding taxes  P29,918,727 P28,569,929 
Prepayments:    

Real property tax  1,332,705 1,585,501 
Insurance  1,213,194 1,182,540 
Others  128,560 111,920 

Deferred input VAT - net of noncurrent portion  49,157 49,157 
Advances to employees  23,124 77,593 
Construction bond  -      1,000,000 

  P32,665,467 P32,576,640 

 
Advances to employees are advances for various business-related expenses and 
are subject to liquidation within 30 days. 
 
Construction bond pertains to payments made by the Company for building 
renovation. 
 
The Company’s exposure to credit risk related to other current assets is disclosed in  
Note 26 to the separate financial statements. 
 
 

10. Investment Properties 
 
The movements in the account are as follows: 
 

 Note Land 

Building and 
Building 

Improvements CIP Total 

Cost      
January 1, 2023  P855,737,929 P190,436,177 P27,101,692 P1,073,275,798 
Additions  3,194,601 289,274 517,009 4,000,884 
Transfers 8 -     28,466,484 (27,618,701) 847,783 

December 31, 2023  858,932,530 219,191,935 -     1,078,124,465 
Additions  138,563,125 756,289 -     139,319,414 

December 31, 2024  997,495,655 219,948,224 -     1,217,443,879 

Accumulated Depreciation      
January 1, 2023  -     68,393,356 -     68,393,356 
Depreciation 21 -     8,369,490 -     8,369,490 

December 31, 2023  -     76,762,846 -     76,762,846 
Depreciation 21 -     9,009,856 -     9,009,856 

December 31, 2024  -     85,772,702 -     85,772,702 

Allowance for Impairment 
Losses      

December 31, 2024 and 2023  25,460,606 -     -     25,460,606 

Carrying Amounts      

December 31, 2023  P833,471,924 P142,429,089 P   -     P975,901,013 

December 31, 2024  P972,035,049 P134,175,522 P   -     1,106,210,571 

 
The Company’s investment properties pertain to several parcels of land which are
held for capital appreciation and are located in Taguig and Batangas. Investment 
properties also include building and building improvements located in Makati and 
Taguig, which earn rental income. 
 
 



- 34 -

In 2022, several parcels of land located in Batangas were sold for a total 
consideration of P31.43 million which resulted in a gain amounting to P26.40 million 
(see Note 23).  
 
In 2024, the Company acquired certain parcels of land amounting to P136.16 million,  
of which, P13.41 million of which remained unpaid as at December 31, 2024. 
 
CIP 
The Company’s CIP pertains to costs incurred for the construction of additional floor
of the building which was completed in 2023. The retention payable under the
“Accounts payable” account related to CIP amounted to P2.20 million were paid in 
2024. 
 
Fair Values 
The aggregate fair value of the Company’s investment properties amounted to P5.41 
billion and P4.74 billion as at December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. The latest 
independent appraiser’s report was dated December 31, 2024. 
 
The assumptions used in the valuation and fair value hierarchy category of each 
assumption are as follows: 
 

 Approach 
Fair Value 
Hierarchy 

Land   
Price per sqm Market Data Approach Level 2 
Value adjustments Market Data Approach Level 3 

Building and Building Improvements   
Replacement cost Cost Approach Level 3 

 
Description of valuation techniques used and key inputs to valuation on investment 
properties are as follows: 
 
Market Data Approach 
Market data approach is used to estimate valuation of land. It involves the 
comparison of the land and condominium units and parking slots to those that are 
more or less located within the vicinity of the appraised properties and are subject of 
recent sales and offerings. Adjustments were made to the valuation of land to arrive 
at the market value by considering the location, size, shape, utility, desirability and 
time element. 
 
Cost Approach 
Cost Approach is based on the reproduction or replacement cost of building and 
building improvements, less total accumulated depreciation. 
 
The key inputs to fair valuation are as follows: 
 
▪ Price Per Sqm is the estimated value prevailing in the real estate market 

depending on the location, area, shape and time element. 
 
▪ Value Adjustments are fair value adjustments are made to bring the comparative 

values in approximation to the investment properties taking into account the 
location, size, time element, and terrain, among others. 

 
Sensitivity Analysis 
Significant increase (decrease) in price per square meter would result in a 
significantly higher (lower) fair value measurement. Significant increase (decrease) in 
value adjustments would result in a lower (higher) fair value measurement. 
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As at December 31, 2024 and 2023, allowance for probable losses on investment 
properties amounted P25.46 million, which was recognized to cover losses on 
potential claims on certain parcels of land. 
 
Rental income amounted to P20.30 million, P19.94 million and P15.65 million in 
2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively (see Note 18). The related direct costs incurred 
pertain to depreciation and amortization and real property taxes aggregating to 
P12.56 million, P11.50 million and P9.36 million in 2024, 2023 and 2022, 
respectively. 
 
The Company has no restrictions on the realizability of its investment properties and 
no contractual obligations to purchase, construct or develop investment properties or 
for repairs, maintenance and enhancements, other than those already reflected or 
disclosed in the separate financial statements. 
 
 

11. Property Equipment 
 
The movements for each class of the property and equipment account are as 
follows: 
 

 Note 

Office 
Furniture, 

Fixtures and 
Equipment 

Transportation 
and Other 

Equipment Total 

Cost     
January 1, 2023  P9,494,519 48,566,075 P58,060,594 
Additions  443,086 10,050,318 10,493,404 
Retirements  -     (20,490,915) (20,490,915) 

December 31, 2023  9,937,605 38,125,478 48,063,083 
Additions  421,785 3,150,725 3,572,510 

December 31, 2024  10,359,390 41,276,203 51,635,593 

Accumulated Depreciation     
January 1, 2023  8,883,755 39,937,907 48,821,662 
Depreciation 21 382,844 3,029,039 3,411,883 
Retirements  -     (20,490,915) (20,490,915) 

December 31, 2023  9,266,599 22,476,031 31,742,630 
Depreciation 21 478,887 4,127,687 4,606,574 

December 31, 2024  9,745,486 26,603,718 36,349,204 

Carrying Amounts     

December 31, 2023  P671,006 P15,649,447 P16,320,453 

December 31, 2024  P613,904 P14,672,485 P15,286,389 

 
In 2023, the Company retired and disposed fully depreciated property and equipment 
with cost of P20.49 million. 
 
Cost of fully depreciated assets still in use amounted to P27.43 million and  
P27.22 million as at December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. 
 
The Company has no restriction on its property and equipment and none of these 
have been pledged as security for its obligations. 
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12. Investments in Subsidiaries 
 
This account consists of investments in the following entities: 
 
Entity   2024 2023 

PLHI  P228,509,912 P228,509,912 
HSAPI  222,260,510 222,260,510 
CCPC  62,500,000 62,500,000 
ACHC  50,000,000 50,000,000 

  P563,270,422 P563,270,422 

 
The investments in subsidiaries are carried at cost. 
 
In 2022, the management has assessed that the recoverable amount of the 
investments in subsidiaries is higher than its original cost resulting in the reversal of 
allowance for impairment losses amounting to P212.06 million (see Note 23).  The 
recoverable amount pertains to the fair value less costs to sell of investments in 
subsidiaries as at December 31, 2022, which is based on the most recent valuation 
of the subsidiaries’ investment properties made by an independent appraiser in
October 2022. Valuations were derived on the basis of recent sales of comparable 
properties in the same area as the investment properties and taking into account the 
economic conditions prevailing at the time the valuations are made and comparability 
of similar properties sold with the property being valued. The fair value of 
subsidiaries’ investment properties was measured using Level 3 category of the fair 
value hierarchy.  
 
Details about the subsidiaries are as follows: 
 
PLHI 
PLHI was incorporated and registered with the SEC on April 11, 2001 and is 
engaged in acquiring, developing and selling real estate properties. As at  
December 31, 2024, PLHI only holds parcels of land for undeterminable future use. 
 
In 2011, the Company made deposits for stock subscription on future increase in 
PLHI’s authorized capital amounting to P2.87 million.  As at December 31, 2024, the 
planned increase in PLHI’s authorized capital stock has not yet been finalized, thus, 
no application has been made with the SEC (see Note 17). 
 
CCPC 
CCPC was incorporated and registered with the SEC on September 3, 1996 and is 
engaged in acquiring, developing and selling real estate properties. CCPC has 
completed projects in Palma Real Residential Estates, located in Biñan, Laguna. 
 
In 2024, CCPC declared a cash dividend amounting to P30.00 million or P0.23 per 
share for shareholders of record as at December 31, 2023. Of the total amount, 
P14.42 million pertains to the Company (see Notes 17 and 18). 
 
In 2022, CCPC declared a cash dividend amounting to P60.00 million or  
P0.46 per share for shareholders of record as at December 31, 2021. Of the total 
amount, P28.85 million pertains to the Company (see Note 18). 
 
HSAPI  
HSAPI was incorporated and registered with the SEC on July 26, 1996 as an 
investment holding company. HSAPI has 100% equity interest in FMCMI.   
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FMCMI 
FMCMI was incorporated and registered with the SEC on January 21, 1997 and is 
engaged in providing and delivering medical and health care services. FMCMI has 
two clinics located in Makati City and Sta. Rosa, Laguna. 
 
ACHC 
ACHC was incorporated and registered with the SEC on August 28, 2019 and is 
engaged in investing activities. 
 
The summarized financial information of the subsidiaries as at and for the years 
ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 are as follows: 
 

2024  CCPC PLHI HSAPI ACHC 

Statement of Financial 
Position      

Current assets P216,268,153 P104,310 P4,246,635 P62,504,671 
Noncurrent assets 254,689,373 277,764,816 88,426,792 -     
Current liabilities (75,918,428) (4,924,808) (72,831,532) (63,709) 
Noncurrent liabilities (5,968,259) (5,317,971) -     (448,380) 

Statement of Financial 
Performance     

Revenue 23,231,005 -     1,334,186  
Costs and expenses (15,655,817) (364,749) (1,700,680) (101,061) 
Other income – net 7,011,694 -     592,883 5,967,343 
Net income (loss) 12,367,761 (364,749) 219,304 5,409,211 
Total comprehensive income 

(loss) 12,397,710 (364,749) 219,304 5,409,211 

Statements of Cash Flows     
Cash flows from:     

Operating activities 3,622,695 170,000 (39,270) (2,789,237) 
Investing activities -     (170,000) -     -     
Financing activities (30,000,000) -     -     -     

 
2023  CCPC PLHI HSAPI ACHC 

Statement of Financial Position      
Current assets P224,037,343 P190,292 P2,705,812 P56,641,280 
Noncurrent assets 42,805,849 277,518,000 89,786,866 -     
Current liabilities  (69,789,723) (4,399,225) (72,870,087) (57,909) 
Noncurrent liabilities  (6,648,493) (5,317,971) -     -     

Statement of Financial 
Performance     

Revenue 48,282,636 -     1,334,186  
Costs and expenses (21,726,415) (364,744) (1,838,456) (156,156) 
Other income - net 5,594,986 -     319,863 2,843,249 
Net income (loss) 25,476,701 (364,744) (184,407) 2,687,093 
Total comprehensive income 25,569,181 (364,744) (184,407) 2,687,093 

Statement of Cash Flows     
Cash flows from:     

Operating activities 46,643,107 -     1,070,481 16,425,917 
Investing activities (22,969) -     (125,443) -     
Financing activities -     -     -     -     

 
2022  CCPC PLHI HSAPI ACHC 

Statement of Financial Position       
Current assets P194,683,336 P180,956 P2,126,024 53,996,585 
Noncurrent assets 43,913,787 277,518,000 91,093,013 -     
Current liabilities (64,391,097) (4,025,145) (73,412,039) (100,307) 
Noncurrent liabilities (9,370,231) (5,317,971) -     -     

Statement of Financial 
Performance     

Revenue  70,418,792 -     1,334,186 -     
Cost and expenses (29,638,887) (365,914) (1,633,302) (255,506) 
Other income (expense) - net 3,890,151 -     236,509 (2,465,452) 
Net income (loss) 33,807,083 (365,914) (63,171) (2,759,724) 
Total comprehensive income 33,849,685 (365,914) (63,171) (2,759,724) 

Statement of Cash Flows     
Cash flows from:     

Operating activities 51,366,436 -     1,581,942 1,655,549 
Investing activities (29,868) -     (730,000) -     
Financing activities (60,000,000) -     -        -     
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13. Other Noncurrent Assets 
 
This account consists of: 
 
 Note 2024 2023 

Investment in unquoted shares - net  P72,356,265 P72,356,265 
Deposits for stock subscription 17 2,866,376 2,866,376 
Deferred input VAT - net current portion  825,914 875,071 
Refundable deposits  980,731 980,731 
Others  567,480 567,481 

  77,596,766 77,645,924 
Less allowance for impairment losses  59,505,138 57,011,606 

  P18,091,628 P20,634,318 

 
Investment in unquoted shares pertains to the Company’s 18% equity interest in
Asian Alliance Holdings & Development Corp., designated by management as 
financial assets at FVOCI.  
 
The assumed fair value of the said equity investment amounted to P12.85 million 
and P15.34 million as at December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, determined 
using the investee’s latest net asset value. In 2024, the Company provided an 
allowance for impairment losses on its investment in unquoted shares amounting 
P2.49 million as management assessed that this investment may not be recoverable 
as at December 31, 2024.  Management does not plan to sell or dispose of the 
shares within one year from the reporting date. 
 
Sensitivity Analysis 
Significant increase (decrease) in the net asset would result in a significantly higher 
(lower) fair value measurement. 
 
Refundable deposits pertain to bill deposits and guaranty deposits paid to utility 
companies. 
 
The Company’s exposure to credit risk related to refundable deposits is disclosed in 
Note 26 to the separate financial statements. 
 
 

14. Accounts and Other Payables 
 
This account consists of: 
 
 Note 2024 2023 

Trade payable 17 P64,089,550 P51,192,948 
Contract liabilities   12,646,166 8,563,846 
Deposits for document processing  7,450,353 5,927,623 
Payable to directors and officers 17 3,965,105 6,888,504 
Accrued expenses:    

Outsourced services  682,337 392,477 
Professional fees  566,760 260,750 
Commission  449,272 -     
Utilities and communication  173,602 154,560 

Statutory payable  1,767,883 4,209,348 
Others  3,170,389 3,694,132 

  P94,961,417 P81,284,188 
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Trade payable pertains to the outstanding liabilities for purchase of land, payable to 
contractors and suppliers. These are noninterest bearing and are normally settled on 
a 30 to 60-day credit terms. 
 
Contract liabilities represent payments of buyers which do not qualify yet for revenue 
recognition as real estate sales and nonrefundable reservation fees received from 
prospective buyers. The Company requires buyers to pay a minimum percentage of 
the total selling price before they enter into a sale transaction. Collections from 
buyers which have not reached the minimum required percentage are treated as 
contract liabilities. Revenue recognized in 2024, 2023 and 2022 from contract 
liabilities amounted to P0.01 million, P3.44 million and P10.49 million, respectively. 
 
Deposits for document processing represent collections for processing deed of sale 
and other documents necessary in transferring titles to real estate buyers. 
 
Accrued expenses consist mainly of utilities, communication, outsourced services 
and professional fees which are normally settled in the following month. 
 
Statutory payable includes amounts payable to government agencies such as BIR, 
SSS, PhilHealth and Pag-IBIG which are normally settled in the following month. 
 
The Company’s exposure to liquidity risk related to accounts and other payables is
disclosed in Note 26 to the separate financial statements. 
 
 

15. Net Retirement Benefits Liability 
 
The Company has a funded, non-contributory tax-qualified defined benefit type of 
retirement plan (the Plan). The Company values its defined benefit obligation using 
the projected unit credit method. This plan provides for a minimum benefit of one-half 
month of final salary per year of credited service.  The benefit shall be payable to 
employees with at least five years of continuous service and attained age of: 
 
▪ 60 years; 
▪ 50 years with completion of at least 10 years of service; or 
▪ More than 60, on a case-to-case and year-to-year extension basis. 
 
The latest actuarial valuation report of the retirement plan was made as at  
December 31, 2024. 
 
Under the existing regulatory framework, Republic Act 7641, The Retirement Pay 
Law, requires a provision for retirement pay to qualified private sector employees in 
the absence of any retirement plan in the entity, provided however that the 
employee’s retirement benefits under any collective bargaining and other
agreements shall not be less than those provided under the law.  The law does not 
require minimum funding of the plan. 
 
The plan typically exposes the Company to actuarial risks such as: interest rate risk, 
longevity risk, investment risk, and salary risk. 
 
Interest Risk 
A decrease in the government bond interest rate will increase the plan liability. 
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Longevity Risk 
The present value of the defined benefit plan liability is calculated by reference to the 
best estimate of the mortality of plan participants both during and after their 
employment.  An increase in the life expectancy of the plan participants will increase 
the plan’s liability. 
 
Investment Risk 
if the actual return on plan assets is below the discount rate used in calculating the 
present value of the retirement liability, a plan deficit will arise. However, the 
compositions of plan assets are balanced enough not to expose the Company to 
significant concentrations of investment risk. 
 
Salary Risk 
The present value of the defined benefit plan liability is calculated by reference to the 
future salaries of plan participants. As such, an increase in the salary of the plan 
participants will increase the plan’s liability. 
 
The principal assumptions used for the purposes of the actuarial valuations were as 
follows: 
 
  2024 2023 

Discount rate  6.09% 6.07% 
Expected rate of salary increases  5.00% 5.00% 

 
The following are the turnover rate assumption in 2024 and 2023: 
 

Age 2024 2023 

17 - 24 5% 5% 
25 - 29 3% 3% 
30 - 49 1% 1% 

 
Mortality rates in 2024 and 2023 are based on the “1994 US Group Annuity Mortality
Table”. Disability rate is based on “1952 Disability Table” from the Society of the
Actuaries in the Philippines. 
 
Retirement benefits costs presented as part of “Salaries, wages and other benefits”
account under “Selling and Administrative Expenses” in the separate statements of
comprehensive income are as follows (see Notes 20 and 22): 
 
 2024 2023 2022 

Interest cost P1,455,027 P1,524,074 P1,082,411 
Current service cost 1,759,528 1,346,393 1,376,754 
Interest income (132,146) (158,215) (102,887) 
Past service cost due to plan 

amendment -     -     6,185,216 

 P3,082,409 P2,712,252 P8,541,494 
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As at December 31, 2024 and 2023, the fair value of plan assets by each class are 
as follows: 
 
  2024 2023 

Deposits in banks  P1,486,784 P1,423,521 
Equity securities   775,337 748,250 
Other assets  25,185 10,168 
Other accountabilities  (7,902) (4,899) 

  P2,279,404 P2,177,040 

 
The composition of the fair value of the Fund includes: 
 
Deposit in Banks - includes savings, demand deposits and special savings account 
(SSA). 
 
Equity Securities - includes investments in common shares of corporations listed in 
the PSE. 
 
Other Assets - includes accrued interest receivable from deposits in banks. 
 
Other Accountabilities - pertain mainly to charges of trust or in the management of 
the Plan. 
 
Sensitivity Analysis on the Actuarial Assumptions 
Significant actuarial assumptions for the determination of the defined benefit 
obligation are discount rate and expected salary increase. The sensitivity analysis 
below has been determined based on reasonably possible changes of the respective 
assumptions occurring at the end of the reporting period, while holding all other 
assumptions constant. 
 

 
Increase 

(Decrease) 
Effect to Defined 

Benefit Obligation 
2024   
Discount rates +50 basis points (P244,684) 
 -50 basis points 273,716 
Future salary increases +1.00% 568,885 
 -1.00% (464,185) 
2023   
Discount rates +100 basis points (200,106) 
 -100 basis points 224,442 
Future salary increases +1.00% 467,531 
 -1.00% (379,396) 

 
The sensitivity analysis presented above may not be representative of the actual 
change in the defined benefit obligation as it is unlikely that the change in 
assumptions would occur in isolation of one another as some of the assumptions 
may be correlated. 
 
Maturity analysis of the undiscounted benefit payments: 
 
  2024 2023 

Less than five years  P27,839,143 P26,474,989 
Five years but less than 10 years  -     -     
More than 10 years  89,183,657 74,805,923 
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The weighted-average duration of the net retirement benefits liability is 17 years and 
18 years as at December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. 
 
Remeasurement Gain 
The cumulative remeasurement gain on retirement benefits liability recognized in 
equity are as follows: 
 

 
Accumulated 

Remeasurement  
Deferred Tax 
(see Note 24) 

Accumulated 
Remeasurement - 

net of tax  

Balance as at December 31, 2021 P4,631,667 P1,157,915 P3,473,752 
Remeasurement gains 1,077,354 269,339 808,015 

Balance as at December 31, 2022 5,709,021 1,427,254 4,281,767 
Remeasurement losses (58,379) (14,595) (43,784) 

Balance as at December 31, 2023 5,650,642 1,412,659 4,237,983 
Remeasurement gains 733,770 183,442 550,328 

Balance as at December 31, 2024 P6,384,412 P1,596,101 P4,788,311 

 
The recommended contribution for the Company’s retirement fund for the year 2025
amounted to P14.75 million (based on the Funding Valuation as of December 31, 
2024). 
 
Asset-liability Matching (ALM) 
The Company has no specific matching strategy for retirement. The Company is not 
required to pre-fund the future defined benefits payable under the retirement plan 
before they become due. For this reason, the amount and timing of contributions 
depends on the Company’s discretion. However, in the event a benefit claim arises,
the Company will pay the obligation. 
 
 

16. Equity 
 
Capital Stock 
Details of the Parent Company’s capital stock with P0.10 par value as at  
December 31, 2024 and 2023 are as follows: 
 
 Shares Amount 

Authorized 24,000,000,000 P2,400,000,000 

Issued and Outstanding   
Balance at beginning and end of year 19,775,232,460 P1,977,523,246 

Treasury stock - at cost (4,815,232,510) (481,523,251) 

 14,959,999,950 P1,495,999,995 

 
APIC represents the excess of proceeds over aggregate par or stated value of 
common shares which amounted to P118.57 million as at December 31, 2024 and 
2023. 
 
Treasury shares represent the 4,815,232,510 reacquired shares of the Company at a 
cost of P0.10 per share or equivalent to P481.52 million. 
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Dividend Declaration  
On February 28, 2023, the BOD of the Company approved the declaration of stock 
dividends amounting to P150.00 million, subject to compliance with regulatory 
requirements. Subsequently, on May 4, 2024, the BOD of the Company approved 
the declaration of a property dividends, to be distributed from the Company’s
treasury shares at an entitlement ratio of 0.10 common share for every one (1) 
Company common share held.  On December 10, 2024, the BOD of the Company 
clarified that the stock dividend approved in 2023 was to be superseded by the 
property dividend approved in May 2024, subject to SEC approval. 
 
The Company’s track of record of its securities as follows: 
 

       Issued and Subscribed Issue/ 
Date of Approval No. of Shares Amount Offer Price 

October 24, 1969 1,699,999,995 P1,699,999,995 P1.00 
January 10, 2008* 11,900,000,015 (339,999,994) 0.10 
August 18, 2014 4,815,232,470 481,523,247 0.10 
May 7, 2019 1,359,999,980 135,999,998 0.10 

*In 2008, the Company had capital restructuring which resulted to decrease in subscribed capital from  
P1.70 billion to P1.36 billion and reduction in the par value per share from P1 par value per share to P0.10 par 
value per share. 

 
The Company has 362 and 363 shareholders as at December 31, 2024 and 2023, 
respectively. 
 
Retained Earnings 
In accordance with SEC Memorandum Circular No. 16-2023 issued in December 
2008, the Company’s retained earnings available for dividend declaration as at
December 31, 2024 and 2023 amounted to P254.66 million and P236.41 million, 
respectively. 
 
Capital Management 
The primary objective of the Company’s capital management is to ensure that it
maintains a strong credit standing and stable capital ratios in order to support its 
business and maximize shareholder value. The Company maintains its current 
capital structure and will make adjustments, if necessary, in order to generate a 
reasonable level of returns to stockholders over the long term.  
 
The Company reviews its capital structure on an annual basis. As part of it review, 
the Company considers the cost of capital and the risks associated with it.  
 
The Company monitors capital using debt to equity ratio, which is total debt divided 
by total equity as follows: 
 
  2024 2023 

Debt  P123,846,488 P107,743,434 
Equity  2,338,244,515 2,321,555,154 

Debt-to-Equity Ratio  0.05:1 0.05:1 

 
Debt is composed of all liabilities while equity includes capital stock, additional paid-
in capital, other equity reserves, and retained earnings less treasury stock. 
 
Pursuant to the PSE's rules on minimum public ownership, at least 10% of the 
issued and outstanding shares of a listed company must be owned and held by the 
public. The public ownership is about 18.7% and 18.4% as at December 31, 2024 
and 2023, respectively. 
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There were no changes were made in the Company’s objectives, policies or
processes in 2024 and 2023. 
 
 

17. Related Party Transactions 
 
Related party relationships exist when one party has the ability to control, directly or 
indirectly through one or more intermediaries, the other party or exercise significant 
influence over the other party in making financial and operating decisions. Such 
relationships also exist between and/or among entities that are under common 
control with the reporting enterprise, or between and/or among the reporting 
enterprise and its key management personnel, directors, or its stockholders. 
 
A related party transaction is a transfer of resources, services or obligations between 
a reporting entity and a related party, regardless of whether a price is charged. 
 
Related party transactions are considered material and/or significant if (i) these 
transactions amount to 10% or higher of the Company’s total assets or, (ii) there are
several transactions or a series of transactions over a 12-month period with the 
same related party amounting to 10% or higher of the Company’s total assets.
Details of transactions entered into by the Company with related parties are reviewed 
by independent directors in accordance with the Company's related party 
transactions policy. 
 
The following table summarizes the Company’s significant transactions and balances
with related parties as at December 31, 2024 and 2023: 
 

  Amount of Transaction 
Outstanding Receivable 

(Payable) 
Terms and  
Conditions 

Category/ 
Transaction Note 2024 2023 2024 2023 

Key Management 
Personnel     

Receivables     
Loan 7, 17a P   -     P   -     P10,032,911 P   -     Interest-bearing; 

secured;  
no impairment; 
collectible in cash 

Interest income from 
loan receivable 

23 663,527 -     -     -     

Collection  (663,527) -     -     -      

Accounts and 
Other Payables       

Directors and 
officers profit-
sharing  

17b, 20 3,965,105 6,888,504 (3,965,105) (6,888,504) noninterest-bearing; 
unsecured; payable 
in cash; payable on 
demand 

Director fees 17c, 20 1,511,111 1,644,444 -     -      
Payments  (1,511,111) (1,644,444) -     -      

Subsidiaries       

Due from 
Subsidiaries       

Advances for 
working capital 

17d -     -     72,477,186 72,477,186 Noninterest-bearing; 
unsecured;  
no impairment, 
collectible in cash, 
due on demand 

Deposits for future 
stock subscription       

Forward  
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  Amount of Transaction 
Outstanding Receivable 

(Payable) 
Terms and  
Conditions 

Category/ 
Transaction Note 2024 2023 2024 2023 

Deposits 17e, 12 P   -     P   -     P2,866,376 P2,866,376 Noninterest-bearing; 
unsecured,  
no impairment 

Security Deposits       
Security 

deposits 
17f, 25 -     -     (480,296) (480,296) Noninterest-bearing; 

unsecured 
       

Other Receivable       
Reimbursements 17g 525,583 374,080 4,535,284 4,009,701 Noninterest-bearing; 

unsecured;  
no impairment, due 
on demand 

Revenue       
Dividend income 17h, 18 14,423,077 -     -     -      
Collection  (14,423,077) -     -     -      
Management 

fees 
17i, 18 7,200,000 7,200,000 -     -      

Collection  (7,200,000) (7,200,000) -     -      
Rental Income 17j, 18 4,384,800 4,384,800 -     -      
Collection  (4,384,000) (4,384,000) -     -      

 
a. In 2023, the Company granted a long-term loan to a third party, which became a 

related party loan in 2024 (see Note 7). 
 
b. The directors and officers of the Company are entitled to receive profit-sharing 

based on the performance of the Company. 
 
c. Directors fees pertains to per diem to directors during Company’s meetings and

events. 
 
d. The Company provides financial support to its subsidiary through advances for 

working capital requirements. These advances are intended to fund the 
subsidiary’s operational needs and are noninterest-bearing, and unsecured. 

 
e. The Company made deposits for stock subscription on future increase in the 

subsidiary’s authorized capital. As at December 31, 2024, the planned increase 
in authorized capital stock has not yet been finalized, thus, no application has 
been made with the SEC (see Note 12). 

 
f. The Company received security deposits from a related party by virtue of the 

lease agreement (see Note 25). 
 
g. The Company charges its subsidiary for expenses paid on behalf of its subsidiary 

which amounted to P0.53 million and P0.37 million in 2024 and 2023, 
respectively. 

 
h. In 2024, the Company’s subsidiary declared a P30.00 million cash dividend. Of

the total amount, P14.42 million pertains to the Company (see Note 12). 
 
i. The Company entered into a management services agreement with a subsidiary 

for back-office and operational services which include among others, 
bookkeeping and accounting, brokers management and tax compliance. In 
consideration, the Company receives a fixed management fee amounting to 
P0.60 million per month. 

 
j. The Company earns rental income from leasing its property to a related party. 

Rental income is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term in 
accordance with the lease agreement. 

 



- 47 -

The outstanding balances with related parties are expected to be settled in cash.  
 
Compensation of Key Management Personnel 
Compensation of key management personnel, consisting of short-term salaries and 
government mandated benefits, amounted to P13.00 million and P9.70 million in 
2024, 2023, and 2022, respectively. 
 
 

18. Revenue 
 
This account consists of: 
 

  2024 

 Note 
Investing 
Activities 

Real Estate 
Activities Service Total 

Revenue from 
Contracts with 
Customers:      

Recognized at a point 
in time:      
Real estate sales  P   -     P6,115,872 P   -     P6,115,872 
Management fees 25 -     -     7,200,000 7,200,000 

Recognized over time -      
Interest income  5,047,112 -     -     5,047,112 

Revenue from Other 
Sources:      
Rental income 25 20,298,483 -     -     20,298,483 
Dividend income  17,385,792 -     -     17,385,792 

  P42,731,387 P6,115,872 P7,200,000 P56,047,259 

 
  2023 

 Note 
Investing 
Activities 

Real Estate 
Activities Service Total 

Revenue from 
Contracts with 
Customers:      

Recognized at a point 
in time:      
Real estate sales  P   -     P23,870,171 P   -     P23,870,171 
Management fees 25 -     -     7,200,000 7,200,000 

Recognized over time -      
Interest income  7,198,612 -     -     7,198,612 

Revenue from Other 
Sources:      
Rental income 25 19,939,282 -     -     19,939,282 
Dividend income  4,218,762 -     -     4,218,762 

  P31,356,656 P23,870,171 P7,200,000 P62,426,827 

 
  2022 

 Note 
Investing 
Activities 

Real Estate 
Activities Service Total 

Revenue from 
Contracts with 
Customers:      

Recognized at a point 
in time:      
Real estate sales  P   -     P52,025,970 P   -     P52,025,970 
Management fees 25 -     -     7,200,000 7,200,000 

Recognized over time -      
Interest income  9,797,911 -     -     9,797,911 

Revenue from Other 
Sources:      
Rental income 25 15,647,904 -     -     15,647,904 
Dividend income  36,763,257 -     -     36,763,257 

  P62,209,072 P52,025,970 P7,200,000 P121,435,042 
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Dividend income is attributable to: 
 
 Note 2024 2023 2022 

Dividends declared by 
subsidiaries 12, 17 P14,423,077 P   -     P28,846,154 

Investment in quoted 
shares 6 2,962,715 4,218,762 7,917,103 

  P17,385,792 P4,218,762 P36,763,257 

 
 

19. Cost of Real Estate Sales 
 
This account consists of: 
 
 Note 2024 2023 2022 

Houses 8 P2,678,609 P7,893,087 P15,600,472 
Condominium units and 

parking slots 8 -     1,495,181 4,506,887 

  P2,678,609 P9,388,268 P20,107,359 

 
 

20. Selling and Administrative Expenses 
 
This account consists of: 
 
 Note 2024 2023 2022 

Salaries, wages and 
other benefits  P22,502,712 P19,125,086 P23,842,953 

Outside services  7,849,043 7,087,561 7,398,604 
Meetings and seminars  5,804,781 5,465,762 4,126,661 
Depreciation 11 4,606,574 3,411,883 3,170,100 
Directors and officers 

profit sharing 
remuneration 17 3,965,105 6,888,504 8,938,479 

Supplies  3,654,047 2,289,208 2,455,885 
Professional fees  2,611,265 2,085,036 2,959,418 
Utilities  2,178,832 1,861,166 1,680,621 
Insurance  1,991,025 1,695,125 1,414,624 
Repairs and maintenance  1,726,282 1,873,840 1,352,026 
Commissions  1,665,491 1,591,342 2,966,979 
Director’s fees  1,511,111 1,644,444 1,788,889 
Transportation and 

travel  1,215,107 1,179,968 2,618,432 
Taxes and licenses  659,919 760,443 725,899 
Committee meetings  525,000 515,000 500,000 
Association dues  480,787 480,787 480,787 
Unrecoverable input 

VAT  443,269 2,177,425 1,557,731 
Listing fees  253,500 256,875 250,000 
Others  582,241 3,282,424 2,349,776 

  P64,226,091 P63,671,879 P70,577,864 
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21. Depreciation  
 
Depreciation is attributable to: 
 
 Note 2024 2023 2022 

Investment properties 10 P9,009,856 P8,369,490 P6,147,173 
Property and equipment 11 4,606,574 3,411,883 3,170,100 

  P13,616,430 P11,781,373 P9,317,273 

 
Depreciation on investment properties and property and equipment are recognized 
under “Direct costs” and “Selling and Administrative expenses”, respectively  
(see Notes 10 and 11). 
 
 

22. Personnel Costs 
 
This account consists of: 
 
 Note 2024 2023 2022 

Salaries and wages  P16,298,144 P13,242,033 P12,671,122 
Retirement benefit costs 15 3,082,409 2,712,252 8,541,494 
Other employee benefits  3,122,159 3,170,801 2,630,337 

  P22,502,712 P19,125,086 P23,842,953 

 
Personnel costs are charged to “Selling and Administrative Expenses” account  
(see Note 20). 
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23. Other Income (Charges) 
 
This account consists of: 
 
 Note 2024 2023 2022 

Interest income on:     
Cash in banks and  
cash equivalents 4 P27,583,692 P25,344,862 P8,445,243 

Loan receivable 7 663,527 41,167 999,999 
Unrealized gain (loss) 
on changes in:     

Foreign exchange rates  5,086,318 970,289 5,172,968 
Fair value of investments
in quoted shares 6 614,055 (6,449,322) 5,307,031 

Fair value of short- 
term investments 5 33,762    -        -     

Gain (loss) on:     
Sale of investments in 
quoted shares  6 4,351,148 12,278,632 (12,112,261) 

Redemption of short-
term investments 5 1,047,026 377,327 330,119  

Contract cancellations 
and forfeitures  (619,605) 8,459 (1,396,098) 

Sale of investment 
properties 10 -     -     26,401,480 

Association dues  1,629,291 1,603,605 982,594 
Utilities recharges  905,136 519,346 392,666 
Surcharge   524,531 596,338 1,366,123 
Gain on reversal of 
allowance for: 
impairment losses on:     

Receivables 7 -     471,236 112,289 
Investment in subsidiaries 12 -     -     212,063,980 
Others  1,463,457 (1,834) 260,665 

  P43,282,338 P35,760,105 P248,326,798 

 
 

24. Income Taxes 
 
Components of provision for (benefit from) income tax are as follows: 
 
 2024 2023 2022 

Current income tax P1,002,496 P912,092 P751,318 
Deferred income tax  231,315 (1,165,781) 833,974 

 P1,233,811 (P253,689) P1,585,292 

 
The Company’s current income tax expense represents MCIT in 2024, 2023 and
2022. 
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For the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, the income tax effects of the 
temporary differences that resulted in deferred income tax assets and liabilities are 
presented below: 
 

2024 
Balance at 
January 1 

Recognized in 
Profit or Loss 

Recognized in 
OCI 

Balance at 
December 31 

Deferred Income Tax Assets (Liabilities)     
Retirement benefits liability P6,861,096 P770,602 P   -     P7,631,698 
Allowance for probable losses on investment properties 6,365,152    -        -     6,365,152 
Payable to directors and officers 1,722,126 (730,850) -     991,276 
Allowance for impairment losses on receivables 522,772 -     -     522,772 
Accrued expenses 269,480 186,533 -     456,013 
Excess gross profit over collections (4,780,650) 2,257,642 -     (2,523,008) 
Unrealized foreign exchange gains (242,572) (1,029,007) -     (1,271,579) 
Unrealized gains from changes in fair value of short-term 

investments and investments in quoted shares -     (1,686,235) -     (1,686,235) 
Remeasurement gains on retirement benefits (1,412,659) -     (183,442) (1,596,101) 

 P9,304,745 (P231,315) (P183,442) P8,889,988 

 

2023 
Balance at 
January 1 

Recognized in 
Profit or Loss 

Recognized in 
OCI 

Balance at 
December 31 

Deferred Income Tax Assets (Liabilities)     
Retirement benefits liability P6,183,033 P678,063 P   -     P6,861,096 
Allowance for probable losses on investment properties 6,365,152    -        -     6,365,152 
Payable to directors and officers 2,234,620 (512,494) -     1,722,126 
Allowance for impairment losses on receivables 718,540 (195,768) -     522,772 
Accrued expenses 336,079 (66,599) -     269,480 
Excess gross profit over collections (4,992,559) 211,909 -     (4,780,650) 
Remeasurement gains on retirement benefits (1,427,254) -     14,595 (1,412,659) 
Unrealized foreign exchange gains (1,293,242) 1,050,670 -     (242,572) 

 P8,124,369 P1,165,781 P14,595 P9,304,745 

 
Deferred income tax assets have not been recognized in respect of the following 
items after the management assessed that each entity may not be able to generate 
sufficient taxable income from which the deferred income tax assets can be applied 
in future periods: 
 
  2024 2023 

NOLCO  P8,770,835 P   -     
MCIT  1,388,035 831,859 

  P10,158,870 P831,859 

 
The NOLCO, which was incurred in 2024, can be claimed as deduction from future 
taxable income until 2027. 
 
The details of the Company’s MCIT, which can be claimed as tax credit against
future income tax liabilities, are as follows: 
 

Year Amount 

Additions 
During the 

Year 

Expired 
During the 

Year 
Balance at 

End of Year Expiry Year 

2024 P   -     P1,002,495 P   -     P1,002,495 2027 
2023 176,074 -     -     176,074 2026 
2022 209,466 -     -     209,466 2025 
2021 446,319 -     (446,319) -     2024 

 P831,859 P1,002,495 (P446,319) P1,388,035  
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The reconciliation between the provision for income tax based on statutory tax rate 
and the effective income tax rate on income before income tax is as follows: 
 
 2024 2023 2022 

Provision for income tax 
computed at statutory tax rate P4,966,594 P3,406,708 P67,428,073 

Tax effects of:    
Income subject to a final tax 
and exempt from income tax (9,558,606) (6,880,246) (11,824,794) 

Changes in unrecognized 
deferred income tax assets 2,748,884 (552,147) (2,346,758) 

Nondeductible expenses 2,630,620 3,043,775 734,927 
Expired MCIT 446,319 728,221 1,171,450 
Reversal of allowance for 
impairment loss on 
investment in subsidiaries -     -     (53,015,995) 

Nontaxable income -     -     (561,611) 

 P1,233,811 (P253,689) P1,585,292 

 
 

25. Commitments and Contingencies 
 
A. Operating Lease Agreements 

The Company leased out certain commercial spaces of its building to several 
parties under various cancellable and noncancellable operating lease 
agreements for periods between 1 to 10 years.  All leases include an annual 
escalation clause based on rental rates. 
 
Security deposits amounting to P4.74 million and P4.67 million as at  
December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, are noninterest-bearing and will be 
refunded at the end of the lease term. 
 
Rental income recognized amounted to P20.30 million, P19.94 million, and  
P15.65 million in 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively (see Note 18).  
 
Billed rental receivable amounted to P1.83 million and P1.71 million as at  
December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively (see Note 7). 
 
Future minimum lease receivables to be collected based on existing contracts 
are as follows: 
 
  2024 2023 

Not later than one year  P14,810,162 P13,546,707 
Later than one year but not later 

than five years  46,129,165 28,316,937 
Beyond five years  -     10,436,914 

  P60,939,327 P52,300,558 

 
B. Management Services Agreement 

The Company entered into management services agreement with a subsidiary to 
cover the cost of backroom personnel and the related overhead. Under the terms 
of agreement, the Company shall bill the subsidiary for a fixed management fee
for the services rendered. Management fees amounted to P7.20 million in 2024, 
2023 and 2022 (see Note 18).  
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C. Contingencies 
The Company is a party to certain claims, assessments and contingencies 
arising in the ordinary course of business. Management has assessed these 
matters, in consultation with legal advisors, and believes that the resolution of 
these matters is not expected to have a material adverse effect on the 
Company’s financial position or results of operations. 
 
Disclosures have been made in accordance with the principles of PAS 37, where 
appropriate. Certain information required under the standard has been withheld 
to avoid prejudicing the Company’s position in ongoing proceedings.  Should 
circumstances change, the Company will reassess and apply the appropriate 
accounting treatment under PAS 37 in future periods. 

 
 

26. Financial Instruments Risk Management Policies and Objectives 
 
The Company’s financial assets comprise of cash and cash equivalents, receivables,
refundable deposits, construction bond and investments in quoted and unquoted 
shares. The Company’s financial liabilities comprise accounts and other payables
(excluding contract liabilities, deposits for document processing and statutory 
payable) and security deposits. The main purpose of these financial instruments is to 
finance the Company’s operations. 
 
The main risks arising from the Company’s financial instruments are market risk,
credit risk and liquidity risk. The Company’s BOD and management review and
approve the policies for managing each of the risks summarized below. 
 
Market Risk 
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument 
will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. The Company is exposed to 
market risk specifically to interest rate risk, foreign currency risk and equity price risk. 
Financial instruments affected by market risk include cash and cash equivalents and 
equity investments. 
 
The sensitivity analyses in the following sections relate to the separate statements of 
financial position as at December 31, 2024 and 2023. 
 
The sensitivity of the relevant items in the separate statements of comprehensive 
income is the effect of the assumed changes in respective market risks. This is 
based on the financial assets and liabilities held as at December 31, 2024 and 2023. 
 
Foreign Currency Risk 
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of an exposure 
will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Company’s
exposure to the risk of changes in foreign exchange rates relates primarily to the 
Company’s operating activities (when revenue or expense is denominated in a
foreign currency). 
 
The Company has transactional currency exposures arising from purchase and 
construction contract transactions denominated in currencies other than the 
functional currency. The Company does not enter into forward contracts to hedge 
currency exposures. To mitigate the Company’s exposure to foreign currency risk,
foreign currency cash flows and fluctuations in the foreign exchange rates are 
monitored. 
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The carrying amounts of the Company’s foreign currency denominated monetary
assets are as follows: 
 

 Amount in Foreign Currency Equivalent in PHP 
Foreign Currency 2024 2023 2024 2023 

Cash in Banks     
US Dollar (USD) 106,069 2,504,965 P6,135,561 P138,699,901 
Singapore Dollar 10,223 -     436,439 -     
Japanese Yen (JPY) 286,638 -     10,253 -     

Investment in Quoted Shares     
USD 71,100 896,730 4,112,780 37,608,876 
SGD 288,813 -     12,329,976 -     
JPY 13,932,000 -     5,115,830 -     
Hongkong Dollar (HKD) 1,770,224 -     13,220,741 -     

 
For purposes of translating the outstanding balance of the Company’s foreign
currency-denominated monetary assets, the exchange rates applied were as follows: 
 
 Exchange Rate to PHP 
Foreign Currency 2024 2023 

USD P57.85 P55.37 
SGD 42.69 41.94 
JPY 0.37 -     
HKD 7.47 -     

 
Sensitivity Analysis 
The following tables demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in 
foreign exchange rates, with all variables held constant, of the Company’s income
before income tax (due to changes in the fair value of monetary assets and 
liabilities): 
 

 Increase (Decrease) in 
Foreign Currency Rate 

Effect on Net Income 
Before Income Tax 

 Increase (Decrease) 
 2024 2023 2024 2023 

USD 1% 7% P82,384 P9,708,993 
 -1% -7% (82,384) (9,708,993) 
SGD 1.% 12% 169,882 4,513,065 
 -1% -12% (169,882) (4,513,065) 
JPY 11% -     568,426 -     
 -11% -     (568,426) -     
HKD 0.62% -     10,998 -     
 -0.62% -     (10,998) -     

 
Equity Price Risk 
Equity price risk exposure relates to fluctuation in fair values as a result of changes 
in market prices of investments in quoted shares arising from factors affecting all 
shares of stocks traded in the market. The Company’s market risk policy requires it
to manage such risk by setting and monitoring objectives and constraints on 
investments. 
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The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in 
the PSE and other stock exchange index, with all other variables held constant, of 
the Company’s unrealized gain and loss on investments in quoted shares: 
 

 Increase (Decrease) in 
Composite Index 

Effect on Net Income 
Before Income Tax 

 Increase (Decrease) 
 2024 2023 2024 2023 

PSE 1% 2% P250,588 P410,774 
 -1% -2% (250,588) (410,774) 
Others     
 18% 4% 6,266,426 1,688,876 
 -18% -4% (6,266,426) (1,688,876) 

 
The sensitivity analyses shown above are based on the assumption that the 
movement in PSE composite index and other stock exchanges  will be most likely be 
limited to an upward or downward fluctuation of 1% and 18%, and 2% and 4% in 
2024 and 2023, respectively. 
 
Interest Rate Risk 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial 
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates.  
 
The primary source of the Company’s interest rate risk relates to its cash and cash
equivalents. The interest rates on cash and cash equivalents are disclosed in  
Note 4. Cash and cash equivalents are short-term in nature and with the current 
interest rate level, any variation in the interest will not have a material impact on the 
profit or loss of the Company. 
 
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of the Company’s income before
income tax to a reasonably possible change in interest rates of its cash and cash 
equivalents as at December 31, with all variables held constant: 
 

 Increase (Decrease)  
in Interest Rate 

Effect in Income 
Before Income Tax 

 Increase (Decrease) 

2024 +100 basis points P4,850,232 
 -100 basis points (4,850,232) 
2023 +100 basis points 5,766,057 
 -100 basis points (5,766,057) 

 
Credit Risk 
Credit risk is the risk when a counterparty fails to fulfill its obligations to the 
Company. Counterparties such as banks and customers who pay on or before due 
date have minimum risk exposure because default in settling its obligations is 
remote. The Company deals only with reputable banks and customers to limit this 
risk. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 



- 56 -

In respect of installments receivable from the sale of real estate properties, credit risk 
is managed primarily through credit reviews and an analysis of receivables on a 
continuous basis. The Company also undertakes supplemental credit review 
procedures for certain installment payment structures. Customer payments are 
facilitated through various collection modes including the use of post-dated checks.  
Exposure to bad debts is not significant as title to real estate properties are not 
transferred to the buyers until full payment has been made and the requirement for 
remedial procedures is minimal given the profile of the buyers. Also, to the extent 
allowed by regulations, certain payments are not returned which minimizes exposure 
to bad debts. 
 
Other financial assets comprised cash and cash equivalents, short term investments, 
refundable deposits, construction bond and other receivables. The Company 
adheres to fixed limits and guidelines in its dealings with counterparty banks and its 
investment in financial instruments. Bank limits are established on the basis of an 
internal rating system that principally covers the areas at liquidity, capital adequacy 
and financial stability. The rating system likewise makes use of available 
international credit ratings.  Given the high credit standing of its accredited 
counterparty banks, management does not expect any of these financial institutions 
to fail in meeting their obligations. Nevertheless, the Company closely monitors 
developments over counterparty banks and adjusts its exposure accordingly while 
adhering to pre-set limits. 
 
The Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk as at December 31, 2024 and 2023
is equal to the carrying values of its financial assets, except for installment contracts 
receivable and loan receivable. The table below shows the gross maximum exposure 
of the Company to credit risk before taking into consideration collateral and other 
credit enhancements: 
 
 Note 2024 2023 

Cash and cash equivalents 4 P485,023,156 P576,605,738 
Receivables 7 54,516,399 67,899,730 
Due from related parties 17 72,477,186 72,477,186 
Refundable deposits 13 980,731 980,731 
Construction bond 9, 13 131,900 1,131,900 

  P613,129,372 P719,095,285 

 
Maximum Exposure to Credit Risk after Credit Enhancements 
The table below shows the maximum exposures to credit risk of the Company on its 
installment contracts receivable and loan receivable, after considering the effects of 
credit enhancements: 
 

 2024 

Credit Risk Exposure Relating to 
Balance Sheet Assets 

Carrying 
Amount 

Fair Value of 
Collateral or 

Credit 
Enhancement 

Maximum 
Exposure to 
Credit Risk  
after Credit 

Enhancements 

Financial 
Effect of 

Collateral or 
Credit 

Enhancement 

Installment contracts receivables P33,602,140 P108,598,000 P   -     P108,598,000 
Loan receivable 10,032,911 7,912,000 2,120,911 7,912,000 

 P43,635,051 P116,510,000 P2,120,911 P116,510,000 
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 2023 

Credit Risk Exposure Relating to 
Balance Sheet Assets 

Carrying 
Amount 

Fair Value of 
Collateral or 

Credit 
Enhancement 

Maximum 
Exposure to 
Credit Risk 
after Credit 

Enhancements 

Financial Effect 
of Collateral or 

Credit 
Enhancement 

Installment contracts receivables P48,194,476 P65,988,000 P   -     P65,988,000 
Loan receivable 10,295,375 7,912,000 2,383,375 7,912,000 

 P58,489,851 P73,900,000 P2,383,375 P73,900,000 

 
Credit Enhancements 
For installment contracts receivable, title to condominium units, houses is not 
transferred to the buyer until full payment has been made.  In case of default, after 
enforcement activities, the Group has the right to cancel the sale and enter into 
another contract to sell to another customer after certain proceedings had been 
completed. Given this, based on the experience of the Company, the maximum 
exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is nil considering that fair value less cost 
to repossess of the real estate projects is higher than the exposure at default (i.e., 
recovery rate is more than 100%).   
 
The loan receivable is secured by a pledge of parcel of land and upon default and 
breach of contract by the borrower, the Company has the right to encumber the said 
property to satisfy the loan (see Note 7). 
 
Credit Quality Rating 
Credit risk is managed on a group basis. The Company deals only with reputable 
banks and customers to limit this risk. If customers are independently rated, these 
ratings are used. Otherwise, if there is no independent rating, the Company 
assesses the credit quality of the customer, taking into account its financial position, 
past experience and other factors. Individual risk limits are set based on internal or 
external ratings in accordance with limits set by the management. The compliance 
with credit limits by customers is regularly monitored by management. 
 
The Company limits its exposure to credit risk by investing its cash and cash 
equivalents only with banks that have good credit standing and reputation in the local 
and international banking industry.  For installment contracts receivable, loan 
receivable, refundable deposits and construction bond and other receivables, credit 
risk is low since the Company only transacted with reputable companies with respect 
to these financial assets or the financial assets have credit enhancements. 
 
There are no significant concentrations of credit risk, whether through exposure to 
individual customers, specific industry sectors and/or regions. 
 
As at December 31, 2024 and 2023, the amount of cash and cash equivalents, 
refundable deposits and construction bond are neither past due nor impaired and 
were classified as “High Grade”; due from related parties and receivables (excluding 
impaired) were classified as “Standard Grade”; and impaired receivables were
classified as “Substandard Grade”. The credit quality of such financial assets at
amortized cost is managed by the Company using the internal credit quality ratings 
as follows: 
 
▪ High Grade 

Pertains to counterparty who is not expected by the Company to default in 
settling its obligations, thus credit risk exposure is minimal. This normally 
includes large prime financial institutions and companies. Credit quality was 
determined based on the credit standing of the counterparty. 
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▪ Standard Grade 
Pertains to counterparty with performance rating ranging from satisfactory to 
acceptable and repayment capacity has to be monitored. These accounts are 
typically not impaired as the counterparties generally respond to credit actions 
and update their payments accordingly. 

 
▪ Substandard Grade 

Substandard grade financial assets are those which are considered worthless. 
These are accounts which have the probability of impairment based on historical 
trend. 

 
Impairment of Receivables (excluding Installment Contracts Receivable and Loan 

Receivable)  
An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using a provision matrix 
to measure ECL. The provision rates are based on days past due for groupings of 
customer segments with similar loss patterns. The calculation reflects the  
probability-weighted outcome, the time value of money and reasonable and 
supportable information that is available at the reporting date about past events, 
current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions. 
 
Impairment of Installment Contracts Receivable and Other Financial Assets at 

Amortized Cost 
It is the Company’s policy to measure ECL on the above instruments on a 12-month 
basis. However, when there has been a significant increase in credit risk since 
origination, the allowance will be based on the lifetime ECL. 
 
The Company limits its exposure to credit risk by investing its cash and cash 
equivalents only with banks that have good credit standing and reputation in the local 
and international banking industry. 
 
For installment contracts receivable, loan receivable, due from project developer, 
due from related parties, refundable deposits, construction bond, and other 
receivables, credit risk is low since the Company only transacted with reputable 
companies with respect to these financial assets or the financial assets have credit 
enhancements. 
 
Using the ECL allowance, the credit risk exposure on the Company’s impaired 
receivables amounted to P2.09 million in 2024 and 2023 (see Note 7). 
 
The table below presents the summary of the Company’s exposure to credit risk and
shows the credit quality of the assets by indicating whether the assets are subjected 
to 12-month ECL or lifetime ECL. Assets that are credit-impaired are separately 
presented. 
 

 2024 
  Lifetime ECL  

  12-month ECL 
Not credit 
impaired 

Credit 
impaired Total 

Cash and cash equivalents P485,023,156 P   -     P   -      P485,023,156 
Receivables 43,635,050 10,881,349 2,091,089 56,607,488 
Due from related parties -     72,477,186 -     72,477,186 
Refundable deposits -     980,731 -     980,731 
Construction bond -     131,900 -     131,900 

 P528,658,206 P84,471,166 P2,091,089 P615,220,461 
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 2023 
  Lifetime ECL  

  12-month ECL 
Not credit 
impaired Credit impaired Total 

Cash and cash equivalents P576,605,738 P   -     P   -     P576,605,738 
Receivables 58,489,851 9,409,879 2,091,089 69,990,819 
Due from related parties  72,477,186 -     72,477,186 
Refundable deposits -     980,731 -     980,731 
Construction bond -     1,131,900 -     1,131,900 

 P635,095,589 P83,999,696 P2,091,089 P721,186,374 

 
As at December 31, 2024 and 2023, the aging analysis of the Company’s financial
assets is as follows: 
 

  2024 

  Current 
1 to 30 

Days 
31 to 60 

Days 
More than  

60 Days Total 

Cash and cash equivalents  P485,023,156 P   -     P   -     P   -     P485,023,156 
Receivables  52,239,251 107,557 23,373 4,237,307 56,607,488 
Due from related parties  -     -     -     72,477,186 72,477,186 
Refundable deposits  980,731 -     -     -     980,731 
Construction bond  131,900 -     -     -     131,900 

  P538,375,038 P107,557 P23,373 P76,714,493 P615,220,461 

 
 2023 

  Current 1 to 30 Days 
31 to 60 

Days 
More than  

60 Days Total 

Cash in banks and cash 
equivalents  P576,605,738 P   -     P   -     P   -     P576,605,738 

Receivables  65,310,782 125,072  4,554,965 69,990,819 
Due from related parties  -     -     -     72,477,186 72,477,186 
Refundable deposits  980,731 -     -     -     980,731, 
Construction bond  1,131,900 -     -     -     1,131,900 

  P644,029,151 P125,072 P   -     P77,032,151 P721,186,374 

 
Concentration Risk 
There are no credit concentration risks relating to the Company’s revenues in 2024,
2023 and 2022. 
 
Liquidity Risk 
Liquidity risk arises from the possibility that the Company may encounter difficulties 
in raising funds to meet commitments from financial instruments. It may result from 
either the inability to sell assets quickly at fair values or failure to collect from 
counterparty. 
 
The Company’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and
flexibility through related party advances and aims to manage liquidity as follows: 
 
a. To ensure that adequate funding is available at all times; 
b. To meet commitments as they arise without recurring unnecessary costs; and 
c. To be able to assess funding when needed at the least possible cost. 
 
The tables below summarize the maturity profile of the Company’s financial liabilities
based on undiscounted cash flows: 
 

 2024 

 
Payable on 

Demand 30 Days 60 Days 90 Days 
120 Days  
and More Total 

Accounts payable and others* P3,965,105 P5,042,360 P64,089,550 P   -     P   -     P73,097,015 
Security deposits -     -     -     -     4,742,687 4,742,687 

 P3,965,105 P5,042,360 P64,089,550 P   -     P4,742,687 P77,839,702 

*Excluding contract liabilities, deposits for document processing, statutory payable. 
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 2023 

 
Payable on 

Demand 30 Days 60 Days 90 Days 
120 Days  
and More Total 

Accounts payable and others* P6,888,504 P14,701,372 P51,192,948 P   -     P   -     P62,583,371 
Security deposits -     -     -     -     4,665,501 4,665,501 

 P6,888,504 P14,701,372 P51,192,948 P   -     P4,665,501 P67,248,872 

*Excluding contract liabilities, deposits for document processing, statutory payable. 

 
 

27. Fair Values of Financial Assets and Liabilities 
 
The table below presents the carrying amounts and fair values of the Company’s
financial assets and financial liabilities. 
 

 2024 2023 

 
Carrying 

Amount Fair Value 
Carrying 
Amount Fair Value 

Financial Assets     
At amortized cost:     

Cash and cash equivalents P485,023,156 P485,023,156 P576,605,738 P576,605,738 
Receivables 54,516,399 54,516,399 67,899,730 67,899,730 
Due from related parties  72,477,186 72,477,186 72,477,186 72,477,186 
Refundable deposits and 

construction bond* 1,112,631 1,112,631 2,112,631 2,112,631 
At FVPL -      

Investment in quoted shares 55,427,768 55,427,768 60,931,520 60,931,520 
Short-term Investments 20,783,762 20,783,762 4,000,000 4,000,000 

At FVOCI -      
Investment in unquoted shares 12,851,126 12,851,126 15,344,659 15,344,659 

 P702,192,028 P702,192,028 P799,371,464 P799,371,464 

Financial Liabilities     
At amortized cost:     

Accounts and other payables** P73,097,016 P73,097,016 P62,583,371 P62,583,371 
Security deposits 4,742,687 4,742,687 4,665,501 4,665,501 

 P77,839,703 P77,839,703 P67,248,872 P67,248,872 

*Included in “Other current assets” and “Other noncurrent assets” accounts 
**Excluding contract liabilities, deposits for document processing, statutory payable  

 
The Company has determined that the carrying amounts of cash and cash 
equivalents, receivables, due from related parties, accounts and other payables 
(excluding contract liabilities, deposits for document processing and statutory 
payable) reasonably approximate their fair values because these are mostly short 
term in nature. 
 
The fair value of installment contracts receivable under “Receivables” account
approximates its carrying amount as its interest rate approximates the market rate for 
a similar instrument. 
 
The fair values of refundable deposits, construction bond and security deposits 
approximates its carrying amount. The management believes that the effect of 
discounting the future receipts/payments from these financial instruments using the 
prevailing market rates is not significant. 
 
The details on fair value hierarchy and basis used in determining fair value of 
financial instruments measured at fair value are as follows: 
 

 Basis for Fair Value 
Fair Value  
Hierarchy 

Short-term investments  Net Asset Value Per Unit 
(NAVPU) 

Level 2 

Investments in quoted shares Quoted closing/bid price Level 1 
Investments in unquoted shares Net assets Level 3 
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The unobservable input on valuation of investment in unquoted shares include the 
net asset value which impacts the valuation of the investment.  As at December 31, 
2024, if the net asset value of the investment increased (decreased) by 1% with all 
other variables held constant, net income and equity as at and for the year ended  
December 31, 2024 would have been higher (lower). 
 
The fair value hierarchy groups the financial instruments into Levels 1 to 3 based on 
the degree to which the fair value is observable. There were no transfers to and from 
Level 1, 2 and 3 in 2024 and 2023. 
 
 

28. Note to Separate Statements of Cash Flows 
 
The Company’s non-cash transactions include: 
 
▪ In 2023, the Company transferred certain condominium unit under real estate 

inventories to investment properties amounting to P0.85 million (see Notes 8  
and 10). 

 
▪ In 2023, Company also offset due from related parties and accounts and other 

payables amounting to P0.06 million. 
 
▪ In 2024, the Company acquired certain parcels of land amounting to P136.16 

million, P13.41 million of which remained unpaid as at December 31, 2024 and 
paid out in 2025 (see Note 10). 

 
▪ Reconciliation of financing cash flows arising from loans receivables is presented 

in Note 7. 
 
 

29. Supplementary Information Required by the BIR 
 
The BIR has issued RR No. 15-2010 which requires certain tax information to be 
disclosed in the notes to the separate financial statements. The Company presented 
the required supplementary tax information as a separate schedule attached to its 
annual income tax return. 
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PART I- FINANCIAL INFORIVIATION

Item l. Financial Statements

Please see Annex A

Item 2. Management's Discussion & Analysis of Financial Condition and Result of Operations
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Total assets posted a modest increase to P2.59 billion as of March 31,2025, from F2.58 billion
as of December 31, 2024, reflecting overall stability in the asset base during the first quarter.

. Cash and cash equivalents and short-term investment, which are maintained to meet liquidity
requirements, decreased by a total ofP6.32 million during the first quarter, primarily due to
expenditures rolated to the acquisition ofinvestment properties and new equipment.

. Cnrrent receivables rose by 2oyotoP70.l5 million as of March 31, 2025, primarily driven by
revenue generated from real estate sales and receivables liom ajoint venttue partner.

. lnvestment in quoted shares grew by l3%to F95.62 million as of March 31, 2025 as a result
ofadditional acquisitions and favorable changes in market valuation.

. The 7o/o decrease in inventories was largely attributabte to the cost of sold real estate units
recognized as revenue for the first quarter of2025.

.{ssEIs

CEtIca Assets

Cast aod cash cqidaB
Shfi-tnofurtln.6
Rlcci"bl6

hrtmcas ir qud s[rc
I$tdch
06ar curcd assts

lsJllJll 0.59%



LL$Um5.r\D EQt-tn',

Cnrtd Lirluhs
.{ccam d do par*s
lrc ux pazt*

l1!J{1,{E:

:,313J69

170{0r.516

7i#j9

(:..161,0!r)

:.06.r.0:0

-1.40.i

0.00'r

f olrl I rrell Lirbilitie5 176,759&10 t7?.15t.t85 (-199,035) '0.!.1'r

r*oxrrt Lirb lhs
lict R.,tiffi btacfo htliry

Dtfocd ur bffils
Srcuh &Tons

30.916.:0?

5.t34.11S

5:30.E??

ru44978

6.:lllx
4117,691

1.171.219

(40:.690)

1.013J86

!.9{.6

4.46tn

1,1.0!'i

lotrl \o[(unert LLbilities {l"9st.5:9 {0,19 t9,l l,1El,?35 a.{3tt

TOI.{L LL{BIUTIIS !l&?{lJ?9 ]ll,l!&6?9 l-tE!.'00 0.6{'r

ItFlr
CTd rocl

.$Iln lpeifir c4rJ

RltriEd tarig
Odc cqdasin irc (bsg

t"9:1.5:-1.:16

llt.5:0,:1{

6l_1.345J:-1

(:0.t:5.6ts)

l.9n 5t.,i16

llt,rol,l1
601.671.585

(20.1Xri8)

- 0.009r

- 0.mct

10,t71,73E l.6lr
- 0.00%

Treacn noct - arol
:.689."!6!:05

(4tl-(:3,!51)
1679J9r..i67

(48lJX:il)
l0J7t,7tE o$qt

' 0.0011

E{El.{tidr}&toE43 Hdtrs ofth Prcr Cryr
r"tocoottrq hce*

!J0E:39.99

164.ll!.t1!

I96.06t:16

160.1j4:68

l0.l1l.?3E

3.65t.{1{

0.{6h

:.!t.i
TOT.TL rQtm' !J?:JS!,6,5 13j$,5IJ8.r t3.830tll 0.50.n

roT.{L Ll\Btunts -{\D tQtlTr lsfl,(M.orl t,5 
j5.881.163

Total liabilities posted a slight increase of F1.38 million, reaching P218.74 million as of March
31.2025, fiom F217.36 million as at December 31,2024.

. Security deposits grew by 24%, driven by new tenant move-ins and contract renewals of
existing tenants.

Total equity increased by F 13.83 million as a result of income recognized for the first quarter
of2025.
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. Total revenues for the first quarter of 2025 irmounted to F47.98 million, representing a 6070
increase compared to the same period in 2024.

. Real estate revenues rompromising sales. interest income and rental income-
contributed 60% of consolidated revenues for the first quarter 2025. Real estate sales
from Palma Real Residential Estates and Cypress Towers rose significantly to P20.95
million due to increased revenue recognition from accounts that reached the collection
threshold. Interest income from installment contracts declined to P3.18 million as more
accounts reached maturity. Meanwhile, rental income fiom office leases at Crown Center,
as well as condominium units and parking spaces at Cypress Towers, increased to F4.67
million, driven by escalalion clauses in existing lease agreements.

. Revenue from medical services reached P17.88 million in the first quarter of 2025,
confibuting 37% to consolidated revenues and underscoring dre healthcare segment's
consistent contributlon to overall perfonnance.

. Dividend income rose by 59%, attributable to higher dividends received from investments
in quoted shares.
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. Gross income increased to F33.38 million in the first quarter of 2025 from P20.02 million in
the same period of2024. This corresponds to a gross profit margin of 70% in 2025, up from
67% in the prior year, driven by higher overall revenue.

. Consolidated net income for the first quarter of 2025 rnore than doubled to P13.83 rnillion,
up fiom P6.22 million in the same period in 2024. Net income margin also improved Ilom
2lo/o to 299o. despite an increase in operating expenses.

K qt Pertor nance I ndic ators
Period end March jl, 2025 venus Period end December 31, 2024

As of
lndicator

Mar.2025 Dec. 2021

Formrrla

Current Ratio 5.61 x

Cash Ratio
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Assel-Equitt, Ratio
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0 47x
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Cross lncome Margln 69.51Yo 64.lEo/o

Net Income Margin 28 83yo
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Net Revenues
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Averqge Total Assets

Eamings (Loss) Per
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0.00068 0.00147

Current Assets

Current Liabilities

Cash ond Cash equivalents
Cutrcnt Lia.bilities

Total Liabilities
Total Equity

Totql Liabilities
Total Assets

Total Asset

Total Equtty

Total lnvestment qnd Advances
Tot(rl Asset

Gross Income
N et Revenues

Net lncome after Mtnority Interest
T otal S har es Subs cr ibe d

The Company measures its perfbrmance based on the utilization ofasssts and the return on its
investments.

24.31.t

Retum on Assets



. Liquidity
Current ratio and cash ratio increased to 5.61x and 3.68x, respectively. The group maintained
a sound liquidity position as of March 31, 2025.

. Solvency / Levemge
Leverage stance remained the sarne at the end of the first quarter of 2025 with debt-equity
ratio at 0.09x, debt-asset ratio at 0.08x and asset-equity ratio at 1.09x due to the group's
efficient management of its liabilities. The group has a nil interest coverage ratio as it has not
incurred any interest expense for the period.

. lnves[nent
The group's investment ratio remained positive at 0.47x as of March 31,2025 and December
3 l, 2024, respectively.

. Profi tability
Gross income margin remains at a relatively high level at 69.570/o whlle net income margin
increased to 28.83% for the first quarter of2025.

. Retum on Assets
The annualized retum on assets as of March 31,2025 increased to 2.l4Yo due to higher
realized income for the quarter compared to Ll2% for the whole year of2024.

. Eamings per Share
The company's eamings per share for the first quarter of 2025 is 0.00068 compared to
0.00147 eamings per share as of Decembff 31,2024. The number of outstanding shares
remained the same as the previous y ear 2024.
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PAR'I' II . OTHER INFORMATION

There are no information not previously reported in a report on SEC Form l7-C that will be
reported under this section.

The Company and its subsidiaries have no significant invesunent in any complex financial
instrurnents. They have neither foreign cwrency denominated nor local peso-denominated
loans. The Company's financial risk exposure is limited to its investsnents reported as

"Investrnent in quoted shares" and "Short-term investments" in its Statement of Financial
Position. These investments are always marked to market thus reflecting the most verifiable
values available.

The Company's risk management policies are diligortly observed, and fair values of
investments are reviewed by the Executive Committee on a regular basis.

Management has no known trends, demands, commiEnents, events or uncertainties in the
present operations of the Company that is likely to result in the Company's liquidity increasing
or decreasing in any material way nor it is aware of any events that will trigger direct or
contingent financial obligation that is material to the company, including any default or
acceleration of an obligation and there are no material off-balance sheet transactions,
arrangements, obligations (including contingent obligation), and other relationships of the
company rvith unconsolidated entities or other persons created during the reporting period.

As of this report, the Company has no material commitment for capital expenditure.
Management is not aware ofany trends. events or uncertainties that have or will have material
impact on net sales or revenues or income from continuing operations neither of its operating
subsidiaries nor ofany seasonal aspects that had a material effect on the financial condition or
results of operation ofthe Company.
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('RO$r f, QrrrIES, f\C. .{\D SISSIDLTRII S

CO\SOLID.IrID ST.{TE}IISTS OF COTTPREM\SNT DiCOfIf

For the period For the period
erded llerch 2025 ended llarrh 202{

f-neodited f'landited
RE\T:YLT
Real estae sales

Salc of sentcs
Idere* irre tm ilstah€{t cdacts receieblc
Reaal incme
Diileod imooe

2095_1332

l''.382.829
3,1r9,136
4.671.2{.t
1,2s9,7t I

{.167.600

17.338.2{.{
3,-159,{53

+.135.693

811,169

DIRE('T ('OSTS
47.976303
l4*s99333

29.912. r 59

9.892,310

GROSS f\COlrE
SE LLN{G .L\-D .{DIIf\'ISTR{TNT f IPf \ Sf S
OTEER n-CO\If (CEIRGfS) - Net

33J76pr4
2t,359,785
r29ss35{

20,019.8{9
l{,70.t-094
12.717,901

f\CO\IE BEFORI N(.O\I T.I\ I1.50:.{9-1 8.033.657

PROIISIOI FOR (BE\-EFm FROII) f\COlIf I.{\
f\CO}IE T.{.\ E\?f NSE. :fEI -1.672J59 1.810,233

3,672,259 1.810,133

\f T N( O\tf 13.830,23.r 6.ll3.1ri
TOT.IL C'O\IPREHf \SN-f L\CO\If l-1.s30 r-lt 6,123,{13

\.ET NiCO}TE .{TTRIBT'T.IBLE TO:
Equdv hol&s of the Pareat Comrya-v

Noo-cmtro&rg irteress
10,171,760

3,653,474

{,:i':.909
1-915.51.1

6.t:l.1tl13.330J3.1



cRo\r\ EQUTIES. nic. .r\-D STBSIDL{RII S

co\sollD-rTf D sr-{Tf IIE:{TS oF cEr\GES L\ EQt lTr'

]\Iarch 2025

f raudited
\larch l0ll
L'narrtted

EQ( ITt' .ITTRrB|'T.{BLE TO fQtTrt' EOLDERS
OF TEf P.{R.E\-T COIIP.I\'
Capiral Stock
Balaace at beginnirg of vea 1977,523J,16 1.9;:.5ll.l-16
Balaace at eqd of veai lJ;?,523:{6 l.9i;.5:j,l+6

-ldditioral Pakl-in Capital I13,5?0r?4 118,570,171

Retaired Eenirgs
Bahnce a begiroing ofvea
Nairome

603,6':'3.585 58t.666.85i
l0 lrl ---15 l

Balaoce at eod ofyea 611.s.r5320 5 8._(.9J-r, 161

Otler Coerprelersive Income

hens that \till not be rcclassrf ed

subseqrentl to proft or loss:

Curletive t'rreelired Feir \-ehe Losses or
Frrarci:l -lssets .l,r FI'OCI

Balalrce ar beeipiu of -l'ear (32,000.000) (11.000.000)

Bahce at ead of vcar (-12,000.000) (3 r,000.000)

Crmletiye Remeasrrenert Gairs or Net
Retirenelts Berefts LiabtiE'

Balaace a beginaing of yea I1.82{.-165 I1,118,979

Balance at eod of vear I I,S2.t365 I l.l:8.979
(20.1:5.635) (18.7:1.011)

Treasun'Shares (48r,s23rsr) (.181.5r3,r5:)

2J08J-1995.r : lql.--l-1.010

:iOIi-COIiTROLLNG NiTERISTS
Balace at becimiag of yea
Total coqreheosh'c incodc attrihi*le to aoo-controtring

Balme a eod of,ycar

r60Js.1,263
3,658,{7.1

t6.t.l12,742

169.+51,369

r,9{5.51,1

lll,3%,883

2312332,696 1,153,t10,893



cRo\l\ EQIaIIES. D(C. .{\-D SISSIDL{RIES
CO\SOLID.{TED ST.{TE\II:TS OF C.{SE FLO\\'S

llartl3l.2025 Vach 31. l0l1
(fDrdite &'oadireo

CASS TLOIT S FROII OPIRATIIIiG ACTNTTIES
hcc bcforc iroooc tax

Adiruccs foc
lrcrest irm

Casb h balcs ad sbort-tsa daccocdt
I8rtalEcrt cootslcts rectir.&le
Loas reccil'ablc

Deprecnrix ad mortizain
tlse*zed bss Gaio) oo .h.igcs il itirsltD€ots i! qlpted shaes

Diilcnd ieooe
RaiAbco*t
L'ru&ed fueign cx.t'-ge bss Gah)

17,502,,193 8.033.650

(E,0r5,502)

(3,I79,136)
(119,347)

{,267,008
(6,6r9,643)

(1"2r9,7r l)
r-r7t229
2,5.17,055

(9,5?6,118)
(1,{59.153)

(121,99s)

+,157.889

t,19r,-60
(8 r l.169)
1,061.038

(1.r8.{08)

Opcr-aig irmc (bss) bdcc wutiry c4rlC ctaagcs

Decrcasc (irreasc) ic
Short tcrm inqacas
hvcsds b $ded sharcs

Reritzblcs
Isr.coorics

OOcr ast<ts

Iuesc (dccreasc) ir
Acccrts aad orhcr paldlcs
Sccuiv dteosts

6Jr39{5 518.79.1

7366,569
(4,.r20,347)

(14,,109-r88)

s'203J7,4
(2,s49,79E)

(2.{63,054)

I,0l3,lt6

({r,850,000)
{.889,773

(9,787..1:9)

(138,062)

(t,.r38,37?)

3,015.01-l

Nc{ cash gc!€rdcd ioo (ucd for) opcrai:os
Idcrcst rcccircd
f,hiltads rcceiwd

(3,9r6,2r4)
uJ24,,A5
uE9,7ll

(.1s,080,2s8)

13,158,666

8l1.t69
Net cash florvs tqa opcratirg actirilics 8,697,982 (t1,110..[3)

(brward)



\Iarch -11.2025
(t'reudiied)

Mrch 31. l0l{
(LnardncO

CASE FLOIIS FRO}I f\\TSTf,\G ACTNTNIS
Colectim d loas rcccirable

Acqisitins d
Imrsuer* properties

Propcrtv ad eqdpoct

l8l.05l

(2*162,552)

(2,822,.ls3)

(35,00 r)
(2,r2{,053)

Na cash fos s iom im'esting actiities (5,003.9S{) (r,{s9,0s.r)

EFruCT OF FOR.EIG\ EXCEI\GE RITI
cE-r\Gfs oI c.{sE r\-D (.{sE [Q[T['.{LENTS

(?.6{r.055) l{8,108

\-ET ni(RE^{SE (D[CR-E.{S[ ) f\i CASE ^{\-I)
c.{sH E Q[T['ILE\TS
c.{sE .t\D CASE f Qrn'.ILENTS .rT
BEGL\\-I}'G OF IT.IR

1,046979 (33,{11,069)

649.7{0.393 -6- j I r.5t;

(.{sE -l.\-I) c-tsE EQL n'ALE5TS .{T E\D OF
II.{R 650,787,372 r3{.t96.{58



CROWN EQUITIES, INC. AND STIBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THf, CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

I Corporatelnformation

General lnformation
Crown Equities, Inc. ("CEl" or the "Parent Company"), a public corporation under Section 17.2 of
the Securities Regulation Code (SRC), was incorporaed in the Philippines and registered with the
Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) on October 24, I969. The rqlistrdion was extended
for another 50 years in 2018. Under the Revised Corporation Code of the Philippines (the "RCC"),
which was signed into law on February 20,2019, a corporation with certificate of incorporalion
issued prior to the effective date of the RCC and which continues to exist shall have perpelual
existence. Accordingly, the Parent Company has perpetual cor?orate term. The Parent Company is
an investment holding company, currently engaged in the business of real estale development and
healthcare through its subsidiaries. Its shares of stock are listed on the Philippine Stock Exchange
(PSE).

The Parent Company's registered offrce address is located at the 5th Floor Crown Center, 158

Jupiter mr. N. Garcia Sts., Bel-Air Makati City.

Subsidiaries
The consolidated financial stdements include the accounts of CEI and the followrng subsidiaries
(collectively referred herein as the "Group") as at March 31, 2025 wtd2024.

Name of Subsidiary

o/o of Nature of
Ownership Business

Principal Place

of Business

Crown Central Propertiess Corp. (CCPC)

Parkfield Land Holdings, lnc. (PLHI)
Healthcare Systems of Asia Phils., lnc (HSAPI)
Fortmed Medical Clinics Makati, Inc (FMCMI) c)

Argent Capital Holdings Corporation (ACHC)
(o) lndirecll-\, ovned thtough IIS4PL

48%
7 5Yo

970

97Yo

tou/o

Real Estate
Real Estate
Holding
Healthcare
Holding

Brian, Laguna
Makali City
Makali City
Makati City
Makati City

2 Summary of Material Accounting Policy lnformation

Basis of Preparation and Statement of Complience
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared rn compliance with Philippine Financial
Reporting Standards (PFRS) Accounting Standards. PFRS Accounting Standards are based on
Intemational Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) Accounting Standards issued by the
Intemalional Accounting Standards Board (IASB). PFRS Accounting Standards, which are issued

by the Philippine Financial and Sustainability Reporting Standards Council (FSRSC), consist of
PFRS Accounting Standards, Philippine Accotmting Standards (PASs) and Philippine
lnterpretations.

Basis oflVleasuremenl
The consolidaed financial statements are presented in Philippine Peso (Peso), the Group's
functional currency.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared on a historical cost basis,

except for the following which are measured using altemative basis at each reporting date:



Account Measurernent basis

Short-term inveslments designated at fair
value through profit or loss (FVTPL)

lnvestments in quoted shares

Investments in unquoted shares designafed a
fair value through other comprehensire
income (FVOCI)

Net retirement benefits liability

Fair value

Fair va.lue

Fair value

Present value ofthe defined
benefit oblrgatron less fair value of
plan assets

Basis of Consolidaaion
The consolidated financial stalements ofthe Group mmprise the financial statements ofthe Parent
Company and its subsidianes.

Subsidiaies. Subsidiaries are entities in which the Group has control. The Group controls a
subsidiary if it is exposed or has rights to variable retums from its involvement with the subsidiary
and has the ability to affect those retums through its power over the subsidiary. Control is generally
accompanied by a shareholding ofmore than one-ha.lfofthe yoting rights. The existence and effect
of potential voting rights that arc substantive are considered when assessing whaher the Group
controls an entity. The Crroup reassesses whether or not it controls an entity if facts and
circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more ofthe three elements ofcontrol.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial stalements
from the date when the Group obtains control and continue to be consolidated until the date when
such control ceases. The results of operations of the subsidiaries acquired or disposed of are
included in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income from the dare of acquisition or
up to the date of drsposal. as appropriare

The financial stdements of the subsidiaries are prepared using the same reporting period of the
Parent Company. Consolidated financial statements are prepared using uniform accounting policies
for like transactions and other events in similar circumstances. lntercompany balances and
transactions, including intercompany profits and unrealized profits and losses, are eliminated in
full.

A change in the ownership interest ofa subsidiary, without a change in control, is accounted for as

an equity transaction. Upon the loss of mntrol. the Group derecognizes the assets (including
goodwill) and liabrlrtres of the subsidiary, any non-mntrolling interesls and the other components
of equiry" related to the subsidiary. Gain or loss arising from the loss of control is recognized in
profit or loss. If the Group retains an interest in the previous subsidiary, lhen such interest is
measured at fair value al the dae control is lost. Subsequently, it is accounted for as an equity-
accounted inveslee or as financia.l assets at FVOCI depending on the level ofinterest retained.

Non-controlling Interests. Non-cont olling interests represent the portion of profit or loss and net
assets not held by the Crroup, presented within equity in the mnsolidaed statements of financial
position, separdely from equity attributable to equity holders of the Parent Company Non-
controlling interests represent the interests of minority shareholders of CCPC, PLHI, HSAPI and
FMCMI.

3 Commitments end Contingencies

There are commitments, guarantees, litigations and contingent liabilities that arise in the normal
course of the Group's operations which are not rellected in the accompanying financial
statements-



4 Other Information

Business Seqment
For management purposes, the Crroup is organized into three (3) major business segments
namely real e$de, healthcare services and investment holdings. These are also the basis ofthe
Group in reporting its primary segment information.

a. Real estate segment involves acquisition of land, planning and developing residential
communities such as development and sale of condominium units and parking slots,
residential lots and housing units.

b. Healthcare services involyes in delivering out-palient health care service through
ambulatory care centers This includes the sale ofmedical goods and services.

Investment holdings create prorect investments and later dispose these investments after
creding value.

The following tables present revenue and profit information regarding business segments ofthe Group
for the three-month period ended March 3 t, 2025 urd 2O24 and certain assets and liability information
regarding industry segments as al March 3 l, 2025 and 2024 (in thousands).

Rerl Irstatc
lleahhcare

Servic€s HoldirBs Elimimtion Total

c

Year to Date Malth I I , 2025

REVEI.IUES
t)'t1 (2, 1) 41.916

RtrStJL'rS

Sesmetrt rEsults t.:i.18 2,656 513 1.5t7

o,l,rer income
hlcomc Tax E ipense

10,602

(2;t76)
(3,580)

535

(617)
(n)

I,8:19

(280)

I2,985

13,6't2)
(3,6J8)

Net lIlcomc (I,oss) 5,5e3 2,498 2.081 to,t12

ASSETS AND LIABILITMS
Segmeat Assets

l rnaible Ass.ts

1,003,842 12.396 1ji.85.1

21.141

(642,738) 2J6e,153

- 2t34t

3,0(11,842 12)% L1?Je4 (d?Jl8J ?Jelqel

S.gmcnt Lrabililies 215,99J ll.(,6,) 8,674 G3,0m) 2t8.712

OT}IER SEGMENT INFORMATION
Depreciatiotr

Capital Eripeoditue in p'oFty ad
equipnErt

Cspilal Exp€flditurE in InveSnent
Prcperty

IrlvestsEeots ard advances itr
as.sociatrs - net

1,525

208

2363

32m

108

2,611

4267

2,422

2,363

i3.1

21,j29 (584.6{)0)

,,rdMtt i, Pb? tb@@d,

32,085 17,883



Rcal Frtaae
IleallhcarE

Services
lnve3tmant

rtoldings Llimimtion Torsl

Year to Dat€ March 3 | . 2024

REVENUES l.l,88l t7.-I8 655 (2,963) 29,912

RESt-ILTS

Segmmt rEsults
(7.788) 2,936 ll)ll (4,68,r)

Olher income
Income T&\ Expense

Minority IfllerBt

I t.189

(922)

0,869)

4n
$n\
(76t

I,051

(ll)
(t)

12,11a

( 1,810)
( I,e46)

6I) 2.159 !20ti .1.278

ASSETS AND LIABILITII1S
SeCm€d Assets

Inlzngibl€ Assets

2.988.688 65,541 128,559

2tJ4t
(642,?38) 2,5J0,053

- 21,74t

Tolal Assets 65,543 I50,30O r642J38l 2.561,1

S.'grnenl LiabiliLrcs 206,258 l2,5ln 72,885 (83,000) 208.653

OTHER SEGMENT INFORMATION
Depeciation

Capital ExFnditlm in propery- and
quipment

Capibl Expenditure ln InlesEnent
ProFrty

lnvejttnents and advartljes in
associal€s - nel

3,347

1,674

35

56327O

4,158

2A24

,15

467

751

:ll4

2t,329 (584,6{D)

itMtt i, Pb? tl&we.



lncome (Loss) Per Share

lncome (loss) per share is computed by dividing net income or loss attributable to parent
stockholders by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during
the year. Income (loss) per share amounts were computed as follows:

As of Mar. 31,
2025

As of Mar. 31,
2024

Na income (loss) attributable to
parent stockholders

Divided by weighted
Average number of
Outstanding common shares

Income (loss) per shre

f10.17t,735 ?4,217.909

14.959,999,950 14.959.999.950
F0.000680 P0 000286
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CROWN EQUTIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
SCHEDTILE OF ALL PHILIPPINE FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

AND INTERPRETATIONS AS AT MARCH 31,2025

Philippine Financinl Reporting Standards (PFRS)

Title Adopted Not
Adopted

Not
Applicable

Framework for the Preprration and Presentetion of Financial
Statements

Conceptual Framework Phase A: Objeclives and qualitative
characterist ic s

PFRS Practice Statenrent Management Commentary

PFRS Practice Statement 2: Making Materiality JudSments

PFRS 'I itle Adopted Not
Adopted

Not
Applicable

PFRS I
(Revised)

First-time Adoption of Phrlippine Financial
Reporting Standards

Amendments to PFRS I
First-time Adopters

Additional Exemptions for

Amendm€nt to PFRS I : Limited Exemption from
Comparative PFRS 7 Disclosures for Firsl-time
Adopters

Amendments to PFRS I : Severe Hyperinflation and
Removal of Fixed Date for First-time Adopters

Amendmenls to PFRS I : Govemment Loans

Amendments to PFRS I : First-time Adoption of
Philippine Financial Reponing Standards - Deletion
of Short-term Exemptions for First-time Adopters

PFRS 2 Share.based Payment

Amendments to PFRS 2: Vesting Conditions and
Cancellalions

Amendments to PFRS 2: Cnoup Cash-settled Share-
based Pay ment Transactions

Amendments to PFRS 2: Classification and
Measurement of Share-based Payment Transactions

PFRS 3

(Revised)
Business Combinations



Pt RS 'l itlc .{dopted
Not

Adopted
Not

Applicable

Amendment to PFRS 3: Accounting for Contingent
Consrderation in a Busrness Combrnation

Amendment to PFRS 3 Scope Exceptions for Joint
Ventures

PF'RS.1 lnsurance Contracts

Amendments to PFRS 4: Financial Guarantee
Contracts

Amendments to PFRS 4: Applying PFRS 9,
Financial Inslntmenls with PFRS 4, /nrrrunce
Contracts

PFRS 5
Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations

Amendment to PFRS 5: Changes in Methods of
Disposal

PFRS 6 Exploralion for and Evaluation of Mineral Resources

PF'RS 7 Financia.l Instruments: Disclosures

Amendments to PFRS 7: Reclassification of
Financial Assets

Amendments to PFRS 7: Reclassification of
Financial Assets - Effective Date and Transition

Amendments to PFRS ?: Improving Disclosures
about Financial [nstruments

Amendments to PFRS 7: Disclosures - Transfers of
Financia.l Assets

Amendments to PFRS 7: Disclosures Offsetting
Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities

Amexdment to PFRS 7: Servicing Contracts

Amendment to PFRS 7: Applicability of the
Amendments to PFRS 7 to Condensed Interim
Financial Statements

PFRS 8 Operating Segments

Amendments to PFRS 8: Reconciliation of the Total
ofthe Reportable Segments' Assets to the Entity's
Assets

PFRS 9 Financial Instruments

PFRS I O Consolidated Financial Statements

Amendments to PFRS 8: Aggregation ofOperating
Segments



I'F'RS 'rirle Adopled Not
Adopted

Not
Applicable

Amendments to PFRS l0: Transition Guidance

Amendments to PFRS 10. lnvestmext Entities

Amendments to PFRS l0: Investment Entities
Applying the Consolidatron Exception

PFRS I I Joint Arrangements

Amendments to PFRS I I : Transition Guidance

Amendments to PFRS I I : Accounting for
Acqursitions of lnterests in Joint Operalrons

PFRS I2 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities

Amendments to PFRS l2: Transition Guidance

Amendments to PFRS l2: lnvestment Entities

Amendments to PFRS l2: Investment Entities
Applying the Consolidation Exception

Amendment to PFRS l2: Clarificaion of the Scope
ofthe Standard

PFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement

Amendment to PFRS l3: Short-term receivables and
Payables

Amendment to PFRS l3: Portfolio Exception

PFRS I4 Regulatory Deferral Accounts

PFRS I5 Revenue lrom Contracts with Customers

Philippine Accounting Standards (PASs)

PAS 'l'itl€ Adopted Not
Adopted

Not
Applicable

PAS I
(Revised) Presentation of Financial Statements

Amendments to PAS l: Puttable Financial
Instruments and Obligations Arising on Liquidation

Amendments to PAS I : Presentation of ltems of
Other Comprehensive Income

Amendment to PAS I : Clarification of the
Requirements for Comparattve Presentatron

Amendments to PAS l: Disclosure tnitiative I

Amendments to PFRS l5: Clarificarions to PFRS l5



PAS 'I itle Adopted Not
Adopt€d

Not
Applicable

Amendments to PAS I : Classifrcation of Liabilities
as Current or Noncurrenl

PAS 2 Inventories

PAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows

Amendments to PAS 7: Disclosure Initiative

Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting
Estimates and Errors

PAS IO EYents after the Reporting Period

PAS 12 Income Taxes

Amendments to PAS l2: Deferred Tax Related
Assets and Liabilities from a Single Transaction

Amendments to PAS I2: Recovery ofUnderlying
Assets

Amendments to PAS l2: Recognition of Defened
Tax Assets for Unrealized Losses

PAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment

Amendment to PAS l6: Classification ofServicing
Equipment

Amendment to PAS l6: Revaluation Method -
Proportionate Restatement of Accumulated
Depreciation

Amendment to PAS l6: Property, Plant and
Equrpment - Clarification ofAcceptable Methods of
Depreciation and Amortization

Amendment to PAS l6: Agriculture: Bearer Plants

PAS 17 Leases

PAS I9
(Revised)

Employee Benefits

Amendment to PAS 19: Defined Benefit Plans
Empl oyee Contributions

Amendment to PAS l9: Discount Rale: Regional
Market Issue

PAS 20
Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosure of
Govemment Assistance

PAS 2I The Effects ofChanges in Foreign Exchange Rates

Amendment: Net lnvestment in a Foreign Operation

PAS 8



PAS Title Adopted
Not

Adopted
Not

Applicable

PAS 23
(Revised)

Borrowing Costs

PAS 24
(Revised) Related Party Disclosures

Amendment to PAS 24: Kery Management Personnel

PAS 26
Accounting and Reporting by Retirement Benefit
Plans

PAS 27
(Amended) Separate Financial Statements

Amendments to PAS 27: lnvestment Entities

Amendments to PAS 27: Equity Method in Separate
Financial Slatements

PAS 28
(Amended) Investments in Associates and Jornt Ventures

Amendments to PAS 28: lnvestment Entities
Applyrng the Consolidation Exception

Amendments to PAS 2E: Measuring an Associate or
Joint Venture at Fair Value

PAS 29 Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies

PAS 32 Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation

Financial lnstruments: Presentation

Amendments to PAS 32: Puttable Financral
Instruments and Obligaions Ansing on Liquidation

Amendment to PAS 32: Classificdion of Rights
Issues

Amendments to PAS 32: Offsetting Financial Assets
and Financial Liabilities

Amendments to PAS 32: Tar Effect of Distribution
to Holders of Equity lnstrumenls

PAS 33 Eamings per Share

PAS 34 lnterim Financial Reporting

Amendment to PAS 34: Interim Financial Reponing
and Segment lnformation for Total Assas and
Liabilities

Amendment to PAS 34: Disclosure of Information
'Elsewhere in the Interim Financial Report'

PAS 36 Impairment of Assets



PAS Title Adopted Not
Adopted

Not
Applicable

Amendmenls to PAS 36: Recoverable Amount
Disclosures for Non-Financial Assets

PAS 37
Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent
Assets

PAS ]8 Intangible Assets

Amendment to PAS 38: Rwaluation Method -
Proportionale Restatement of Accumulated
Amortizalion

Amendment to PAS 18: Clarification of Acceptable
Methods of Depreciation and Amortization

PAS 39 Financial lnstruments: Recognition and Measurement

PAS 40 lnYestment Property

Amendment 1o PAS 40: Clarif ing the
lntenelationship between PFRS 3 and PAS 40 when
Clmsifling Property as Inyestment Property or
Owner-occupied Property

Amendments to PAS 40: Transfers of Investment
Property

PAS 4I Agriculture

Amendment to PAS 4l: Agriculture: Bearer Plants

Philippine Interpretations

Interpretations 'l itle Adopted
Not

Adopted
Not

Applicable

IFRIC I
Changes in Existing Decommissioning, Restoralion
and Simrlar Liabilities

IFRIC 2
Members' Share in Co-operative Entities and Similar
Inslruments

IFRIC 4
Determining Whaher an Anangement Contains a
Lease

IFRIC 5
Rights to Interests arising from Decommissioning,
Restoration and Environmental Rehabilitation Funds

t_FRtc 6
Liabilities arising from Participating in a Specific
Market - Waste Elect cal and Electronic Equipment

IFRIC 7
Applying the Restarement Approach under PAS 29
Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies

IFRTC 9 Reassessment of Embedded Derivarives



Int€rpretations 'I itlc Adopted Not
Adopted

Not
Applicable

Amendments to Philippine lnterpraaion IFNC-9
Embedded DerivdiYes

IFRIC I O Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment

.'RlC r2 Service Concession Arrangements

IFRIC I4
PAS l9 - The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset,
Minimum Funding Requirements and their
Interaction

Amendments to Philippine Interpretations IFRIC- 14,

Prepayments of a Minimum Funding Requirernent

IFRIC I6 Hedges ofaNet lnvestment in a Foreign Operation

IFRTC I7 Distributions ofNon-cash Assets to Owners

IFRIC I9 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity
Instruments

IFRIC 20
Stripping Costs in the Production Phase ofa Surface
Mine

IFRTC 2I Levies

IFRIC 22
Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance
Consideration

PH ILIPPINE INTERPRETATIONS . SIC

lnterpretations Title Adopted Noa

Adopted
Not

Applicable

SIC.7 Introduclion of the Euro

src- l0
Government Assistance - No Specific Relation to
Operating Activities

SIC.I5 Operating Leases - Incentives

SIC.?5
Income Tares - Changes in the Tax Status ofan
Entity or its Shareholders

slc-27
Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving
the Legal Form of a l,ease

SIC-29 Service Concession Arrangements: Disclosures

slc-i2 Intangible Assets - Web Site Costs



RECONCILIATION O}' RETAIN ED T]ARNINGS
AVAILABLE FOR DIVIDEND DECLARATION

FOR'TIIE PERIOD I]\DED }IAR('II JI.2025

CROWN EQUITIES, tNC.
5th Floor Cro\*r Center, 158 Jupiter cor. N. Garcia Sts.. Bel-Air Makati Cif'

Add: Catesorv C.t: Unrealized income recognized in the profil or loss
during the year/period (net oftar)

Unrea.lized fair value adJustment (mark-to-market gains) of financial
instruments at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)

(5,293,800)

Total Retained Earnings, Nlarch 31. 2025 F251.700.{75

Retained Earqings, Janu4ry! 2025 1254,658,9{6

Add: Net income (loss) for the period 2J35J29



Crown Equities, Inc.
Schedule M - Key Performance Indicator

March 31, 2025

Eamings (toss) Per
Share

0 00068

Current Assets

Current Liabilities

Cash and Cosh equivalents
Current Liabilities

Net lncome after Minority lnterest
f"t"1 Sh"rrt S"b*.ib"d

lrdicator
As of For'rnula

Mar.2025 Dec.2024

Current Ralio 5.61x 5.53x

Debt-Equit] Ralio

3.68x 3.67x

0.09x 0.09x
Total Liabilities

Total Equity

Debt-Asset ltatio 0.08x 0.08x
Total Liabilities

Total Assets

Asset-Equil Ratio I 09x

Inrestm€nt Ratio 0.4'7 x

.l 
.09x

Totol Asset

Total Equity

fot&L lnvestment and. Advqnces
Total Asset0.47x

Gross lncome Margin 69 57yo 64.lB%o
Gross lnconTe

Net Revenues

i

2E.830ANet lncome Margin 24.31."h
Net lncome

N et ReDenues

Net Inconv
Average Total Assets

Rgtum on Assels 2.l4olo t.t2%

0.00147

Cash Ratio
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MINUTES OF THE ANNUAL MEETING 
OF THE SHAREHOLDERS  

OF 
 

CROWN EQUITIES, INC.  
 

Held via Remote Communication (Microsoft Teams) 
on May 28, 2024 at 2:00 p.m. 

 
STOCKHOLDERS PRESENT: 
 

 No. of Shares Percentage 
   
Total shares issued and outstanding 14,959,999,950 100% 
Stockholders present and represented 10,285,849,819 68.76% 

 
DIRECTORS PRESENT: 
 

Mr. George L. Go - Chairman 
Mr. Wilfrido V. Vergara - Vice Chairman 
Mr. Romuald U. Dy Tang -  President 
Ms. Clare D. Alvarez - Director 
Mr. Christopher Brian C. Dy - Director 
Mr. Patrick D. Go - Treasurer 
Mr. Nixon Y. Lim - Director 
Mr. Eugene B. Macalalag -  Director 
Mr. Conrado G. Marty - Director 
Mr. Ramon A. Recto - Director 
Mr. Melvin Andrew O. Vergara - Director 
Mr. Emilio S. de Quiros, Jr. -  Independent Director 
Mr. Manuel E. Dimaculangan - Independent Director 
Mr. Rodolfo B. Fernandez - Lead Independent Director 
Mr. Reynaldo V. Reyes - Independent Director 

 
 

PROCEEDINGS 
 
I.  CALL TO ORDER 

 
Mr. George L. Go, Chairman, presided over the meeting and called the meeting to 

order. Atty. Mark O. Vergara, Corporate Secretary, recorded the minutes of the 
proceedings. 
 
II.  CERTIFICATION OF NOTICE AND QUORUM 
 
 The Corporate Secretary certified that notices of the Annual Meeting of the 
Stockholders together with the agenda and the Definitive Information Statement of 
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CROWN EQUITIES, INC. (the Corporation) were uploaded via PSE Edge and posted on 
the Company’s website beginning May 6, 2024. In addition, the notice of the meeting was 
published both in print and online formats on May 6 and 7, 2024 in The Manila Times, 
and Business Mirror, newspapers of general circulation. A total of 10,285,849,819 common 
shares, or approximately 68.76% of the outstanding shares of the Corporation as of record 
date April 19, 2024 are present or represented in the meeting. Thus, the Corporate 
Secretary certified that there was a quorum to transact business. Further, the Corporate 
Secretary informed the stockholders and other participants that the meeting will be 
recorded. 
  
III. APPROVAL OF MINUTES OF 2023 ANNUAL STOCKHOLDERS’ MEETING 
 
 The Chairman presented for approval the Minutes of the Annual Stockholders’ 
Meeting held on May 23, 2023. The Corporate Secretary informed the stockholders that 
unqualified votes cast for each item for approval at today’s meeting shall be counted in 
favor of the matter under consideration. Based on the tabulation of votes, stockholders 
representing or owning the required majority vote passed and approved the minutes of 
the Stockholders’ Meeting on May 23, 2023: 
 

“RESOLVED, that the stockholders of the Crown Equities, Inc. (the 
‘Corporation’) approve the minutes of the Annual Stockholders’ Meeting 
of the Corporation held on May 23, 2023.” 

 
 Stockholders representing or owning 10,285,849,819 common shares approved the 
foregoing resolution. No stockholder objected nor abstained from voting. 
 
IV. PRESIDENT’S REPORT 
 

For the next Agenda item, Mr. Romuald U. Dy Tang, President, was called to give 
a report on the operations of the Corporation for the fiscal year 2023 and on the Audited 
Financial Statements as of December 31, 2023. The Audited Financial Statements for 2023, 
together with the interim financial statements as of March 31, 2024, were appended to the 
Definitive Information Statement.  

 
Based on the tabulation of votes, stockholders representing or owning the required 

majority vote approved the Report on Operations and the Audited Financial Statements 
as of year ended December 31, 2023: 
 

“RESOLVED, that the stockholders of Crown Equities, Inc. (the 
‘Corporation’) approve the President’s Report on Operations and the 
Audited Financial Statements of the Corporation as of December 31, 2023 
prepared by the external auditor, Reyes Tacandong & Co.” 

 
Stockholders representing or owning 10,285,849,819 common shares approved the 

foregoing resolution. No stockholder objected nor abstained from voting. 
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V. APPROVAL AND RATIFICATION OF THE ACTS OF THE BOARD OF 
DIRECTORS AND MANAGEMENT FOR THE FISCAL YEAR 2023 

 
The Chairman presented for approval the acts and proceedings of the Board of 

Directors, Board Committees and Management of the Corporation for the fiscal year 2023. 
Based on the tabulation of votes, stockholders representing or owning the required 
majority vote passed and approved the following resolution:  
 

“RESOLVED, that the stockholders of Crown Equities, Inc. (the 
‘Corporation’) approve all the acts of the Board of Directors, Board 
Committees and Management of the Corporation for the fiscal year 2023.” 

 
Stockholders representing or owning 10,285,849,819 common shares approved the 

foregoing resolution. No stockholder objected nor abstained from voting. 
 
VI. DECLARATION OF DIVIDENDS 
 
 The Chairman then moved on to the next item which is the approval of the Board’s 
resolution approving the proposed declaration of dividends. 
 

Based on the tabulation of votes, stockholders representing or owning the required 
majority vote passed and approved the following resolution:  
 

“RESOLVED, that the stockholders of Crown Equities, Inc. (the 
‘Corporation’) approve the declaration of property dividends at a ratio of 
0.10 common share for every one (1) CEI common share held by all eligible 
stockholders as of record date and payment date to be determined by the 
Management of CEI, subject to the necessary regulatory approvals.” 

 
Stockholders representing or owning 10,285,849,819 common shares approved the 

foregoing resolution. No stockholder objected nor abstained from voting. 
 
VII. ELECTION OF DIRECTORS  
 
 For the next item in the agenda, the Chairman explained that in accordance with 
the Revised Corporation Code and the By-Laws of the Corporation, the Nomination 
Committee reviewed and qualified the nominees to the Board of Directors. There were 
fifteen (15) qualified nominees, nominated to the Board of Directors. 
 

In accordance with the By-Laws of the Corporation, the following persons were 
nominated as directors of the Corporation: 
 

1. Mr. George L. Go 
2. Mr. Wilfrido V. Vergara 
3. Mr. Romuald U. Dy Tang 
4. Ms. Clare D. Alvarez 
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5. Mr. Christopher Brian C. Dy 
6. Mr. Patrick Warren D. Go 
7. Mr. Nixon Y. Lim 
8. Mr. Eugene B. Macalalag 
9. Mr. Conrado G. Marty 
10. Mr. Ramon A. Recto 
11. Mr. Melvin Andrew O. Vergara 
12. Mr. Emilio S. De Quiros, Jr. as Independent Director 
13. Mr. Manuel E. Dimaculangan as Independent Director 
14. Mr. Rodolfo B. Fernandez as Independent Director  
15. Mr. Reynaldo V. Reyes as Independent Director 
 
This announcement was followed by a motion to consider all the nominees duly-

elected members of the Board of Directors for the ensuing year. 
 

Based on the tabulation of votes, each nominee garnered the votes of stockholders 
representing or owning 10,285,849,819 common shares. Thereafter, the Chairman declared 
that all the nominees were elected as directors of the Corporation for a term of one (1) year 
or until their successors are duly elected and qualified. Upon motion duly made and 
seconded, the following resolution was approved: 

 
“RESOLVED, that the following persons be as they are elected 

Directors of Crown Equities, Inc. for the year 2024-2025: 
 

1. Mr. George L. Go 
2. Mr. Wilfrido V. Vergara 
3. Mr. Romuald U. Dy Tang 
4. Ms. Clare D. Alvarez 
5. Mr. Christopher Brian C. Dy 
6. Mr. Patrick Warren D. Go 
7. Mr. Nixon Y. Lim 
8. Mr. Eugene B. Macalalag 
9. Mr. Conrado G. Marty 
10. Mr. Ramon A. Recto 
11. Mr. Melvin Andrew O. Vergara 
12. Mr. Emilio S. De Quiros, Jr. as Independent Director 
13. Mr. Manuel E. Dimaculangan as Independent Director 
14. Mr. Rodolfo B. Fernandez as Independent Director  
15. Mr. Reynaldo V. Reyes as Independent Director” 

 
VIII. APPOINTMENT OF EXTERNAL AUDITOR 
 

The Chairman explained that the Audit Committee has pre-screened and 
recommended, and the Board has endorsed for consideration of the stockholders, the 
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appointment of R.G. Manabat & Co. as the Corporation’s External Auditor for the fiscal 
year 2024. There being no other nominations, the nominations were closed.  

 
Based on the tabulation of votes, stockholders representing or owning the required 

majority vote approved the appointment of R.G. Manabat & Co. as the Corporation’s 
external auditor for the fiscal year 2024. Thus, the shareholders present and represented 
approved the following resolutions: 
 

“RESOLVED, that R.G. Manabat & Co. is appointed as the external 
auditor of Crown Equities, Inc. (the ‘Corporation’) for the fiscal year 2024; 
 

“RESOLVED, FURTHER, that any one (1) of the President, First 
Vice President or Treasurer of the Corporation be authorized to negotiate 
the terms of the engagement of R.G. Manabat & Co. and to sign, execute 
and deliver any and all documents and to do any and all acts necessary to 
implement the foregoing resolution.” 

 
Stockholders representing or owning 10,285,849,819 common shares approved the 

foregoing resolution. No stockholder objected nor abstained from voting. 
 
IX. OPEN FORUM 
 
 The Chairman proceeded to the open forum. Shareholders were allowed to submit 
their questions through e-mail and the chatbox. The Chairman asked the Host to read the 
questions. There were no questions sent via chatbox or email. 
 
X. OTHER MATTERS 
 
 There were no other matters discussed during the stockholders’ meeting. 
 
XI. ADJOURNMENT 
 
 There being no other matters to be discussed, the meeting was, upon motion made 
and duly seconded, adjourned. 
 

Certified Correct: 
 

 
 

MARK O.VERGARA 
Corporate Secretary 

Attested: 
 
 
George L. Go  
Chairman of the Meeting 


